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FOREWORD 

Since India achieved independence in 1947, political relations 
between India and the United States have never been close, and today a 
number of formidable obstacles hinder progress along the pathway 
toward closer ties between these two populous democracies. To under- 
stand why such obstacles remain, one needs to reviewmamong other 
matters-- the more recent history of India's close ties with the former 
Soviet Union, even as she proclaimed a policy of nonalignment. To 
understand why both governments feel there is hope for improved 
relations today, one should examine the entire history, beginning with 
the World War II and postwar years during which the United States 
supported Indian independence from Great Britain, America's closest 
wartime ally. 

Although several books describing elements of this history have 
been written by Indian and American scholars, no American specialist 
had undertaken the complete story until Ambassador Dennis Kux 
decided to analyze the entire five-decade relationship. In this volume, 
he describes the major issues, events, and personalities that have 
influenced India-US relations from the Roosevelt administration 
through the Bush administration. Although the book is arranged by the 
sequence of US administrations, it clearly addresses audiences in both 
nations. 

Ambassador Kux wrote this book while a Visiting Fellow at the 
National Defense University. It was his feeling--and one we whole- 
heartedly supportmthat  only by understanding the ebb and flow of 
relations over the entire half century may both governments intelli- 
gently address the remaining impediments to friendlier relations. 

PAUL G. CERJAN 
Lieutenant General, US Army 

President, National Defense University 
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AUTHOR'S PREFACE 

In 1957, when I was ready to head overseas for my first 
assignment as a young American Foreign Service Officer, In- 
dia's struggle to develop under the democratic system caught my 
imagination and I asked to be sent there. The vagaries of the 
State Department personnel process assigned me next door, as a 
third secretary and economic officer at the US Embassy in 
Karachi. During two years in Pakistan and a follow-on tour in 
India, I learned much about the problems of the subcontinent 
and the emotion-laden tensions between the two countries. I also 
came to admire and respect the ancient cultures of South Asia--  
a part of the world vastly different in tradition, history, and 
outlook on life from the United States. 

At the time, whether the democratic West could do a better 
job than the Communist East in addressing the "revolution of 
rising expectations" in India and elsewhere in the developing 
world was a question high on the US foreign policy agenda. Now, 
with the Cold War happily history, India has slid down the 
ladder of US priorities, although its continuing effort to develop 
as a democracy does remain significant. One can hardly make 
support for democracy a guiding principle of American foreign 
policy yet ignore what happens to democracy in a country where 
today 860 million people l ive--one out of every six human 
beings on earth. 

For the better part of twenty years, from late 1957 until 
mid-1977, my Foreign Service work mainly concerned South 
Asia, four years on Pakistan and seven on India. During this 
period, one of the things that most puzzled and frustrated me 
was the uneven pattern of US-India relations, the swings be- 
tween periods of cooperation and antagonism, and the often 
emotional character of the relationship. Why was it that these 
democracies seemed to have so much trouble in getting along? 
What caused these two countries to have such volatile relations, 
occasionally friendly, sometimes hostile, more often than not 
estranged? 

xi  



xii  ESTRANGED DEMOCRACIES 

In the decade after 1977, Foreign Service duties sent me far 
afield from South Asia--an assignment in Turkey, responsibili- 
ties for inteliigence and management matters in the State De- 
partment, and then three years as US Ambassador to the Ivory 
Coast in West Africa. But the subcontinent was never far from 
my thoughts. When offered a chance to become a Senior Fellow 
at the National D e f e n s e  University, I decided to use the oppor- 
tunity to write a book exploring the puzzling character of US- 
India relations. 

Once into the research, I found my own knowledge spotty. 
Some periods I knew well from personal observation or previous 
study. Others were largely blanks. Trying to fill in the empty 
spaces, I realized, somewhat to my surprise, that in recent years 
no American had prepared a comprehensive historical account 
of the relationship, although numerous Indians had. Since 
knowing "what" happened before considering "why" seemed 
logical, I shifted course, deciding to tackle the task of telling the 
story of India-US diplomatic relations rather than trying to 
explain what lay behind the many ups anddowns. 

1941, the eve of the US entry into World War II, seemed the 
appropriate starting point for the book. That pivotal year 1941 
was when New Delhi and Washington established direct diplo- 
matic relations, despite India's membership in the British Em- 
pire. It was also the year when the United States first became 
seriously engaged in the subcontinent. The history closes fifty 
years later, in mid-1991, with the assassination of Rajiv Gandhi 
and the end of the Cold War. Since this global struggle between 
the United States and the Soviet Union, as well as the reaction to 
it of the three generations of Nehrus--Jawaharlal, Indira, and 
Rajivmwho led India for 39 of its 45 years as an independent 
nation, was a defining factor in India-US relations, the termina- 
tion of the USSoviet  contest and the passing of the Nehru 
dynasty seemed a fitting point to conclude the book. 

My purpose was not to explain the tangled nature of the 
relationship, but as the story unfolds over the five decades, the 
major reasons for the mutual estrangement become apparent. 
India and the United States were n o t  at odds because, as s o m e  
assert, there was too little dialogue, or a lack of mutual under- 
standing, or were serious misperceptions, or because Indians 
and Americans have trouble getting along with each other. On 
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the contrary, I believe that Washington and New Delhi fell out 
because they disagreed on national security issues of fundamen- 
tal importance to each. In the late 1940s, India decided to pursue 
a neutralist foreign policy, staying apart from the two power 
blocs then emerging; then, after 1954, the US decided to arm 
India's enemy Pakistan as part of a global policy of containing 
communism through a system of military alliances; finally, in 
the late 1960s and especially after the 1971 Treaty of Friendship, 
India decided to establish a close political-security relationship 
with the Soviet Union. India was thus lined up with America's 
principal foe while, at the same time, Washington was itself 
aligned with India's major enemy. Not a recipe for amicable 
relations. 

The narrative focuses on the diplomatic interaction be- 
tween the Indian and American governments and tries to let the 
story largely tell itself without much attempt at theorizing. Other 
facets of the bilateral relationship--economic assistance, trade 
and commerce, and cultural, for example--are discussed mainly 
as they impact on the political-security ties. Although I have 
tried to present the Indian, as well as the American, perspective 
of the story, after three decades as a US diplomat, my under- 
standing of how the United States conducted its diplomacy 
toward India inevitably is greater than my ability to elaborate 
the Indian viewpoint. The fact that declassified US official 
records are far more available reinforced this tendency. (US 
documents are largely declassified through the 1960s). On the 
Indian side--even though New Delhi supposedly follows a 30- 
year rule in releasing documents--little has, in fact, been made 
available after 1948, except for Prime Minister Nehru's letters to 
state chief ministers. Originally sent every two weeks, these are 
of great help for the first decade of independence, but unfortu- 
nately become much less frequent in the late 1950s. One hopes 
India will follow the US lead in opening up its archives so that 
both sides of the relationship can be better understood. 

In keeping with the chronological nature of the study, I have 
organized the history around the terms of US presidents, with a 
chapter for each president from Roosevelt to Bush--and two for 
the busy Eisenhower years. The first six chapters, through the 
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Johnson presidency, are based on declassified official docu- 
ments, mainly American, as supplemented by memoirs, biogra- 
phies, academic studies of various periods or facets of the 
relationship, and interviews. The final five chapters, from 
Nixon through the first two years of the Bush presidency, draw 
more on interviews, my own personal recollections, press ac- 
counts, and other secondary sources. Relatively few US docu- 
ments have been declassified from this period. Although these 
chapters are necessarily more anecdotal, I hope they are not less 
accurate in relating the history of relations. 

I am indebted to many, many people for their help and 
encouragement during the two years I spent researching and 
writing this book. Dr. Fred Kiley, the Director of the National 
Defense University Press, was an ever wise and cheery source of 
editorial advice. I am equally appreciative, for her friendly help 
and counsel, to Dr. Dora Alves, my patient editor at the NDU 
Press. Mr. Bruce Martin and his colleagues were unfailingly 
pleasant and efficient in helping me tap the valuable materials at 
the Library of Congress. 

To Professors Thomas Thornton of the School of Advanced 
International Studies at Johns Hopkins University and Stephen 
Cohen of the University of Illinois, I am enormously indebted 
for their generous review of the chapter drafts and their willing- 
ness to draw on their own profound knowledge of US relations 
with South Asia to suggest ways to improve the manuscript. I am 
similarly appreciative for the many helpful suggestions from 
Walter Andersen, William Barnds, Peter Galbraith, John 
Shultz, George Sherman, Sidney Sober, Ambassador Howard 
Schaffer, Ambassador Jagat Mehta, Ambasador Eric Gonsalves, 
and Professors Joseph Goldberg, Garry Hess, and Raju G. C. 
Thomas, who were kind enough to review all or parts of the 
manuscript. I am especially thankful to Warren Unna, retired 
Washington Post and Statesman correspondent, not only for 
reviewing the manuscript but for making available his news- 
paper files dating back to the 1960s. I owe the phrase "estranged 
democracies" to Dr. Gary Hess, Professor of History at Bowling 
Green University, who employed this in a paper prepared for a 
January 1991 conference on Indo-US Relations in New Delhi, 
and kindly agreed to my using it in the title of the book. Natu- 
rally, I am also deeply grateful to the more than fifty Indians and 
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Americans who agreed to share their remembrances and percep- 
tions with me, almost invariably on the record. Their names are 
listed at the end of the book and their remarks appropriately 
footnoted in the text. 

Finally, I want to thank my wife Marie and my children, 
Leslie, Sally, and Brian, who provided so much help and encour- 
agement, especially during the inevitable periods of discourage- 
ment. Without their support, I am not sure I would have stayed 
the long course involved in preparing this history, which I 
dedicate to them with much love and affection. The opinions 
expressed are, of course, my own and do not reflect the views of 
the Department of State or the US government. 

W a s h i n g t o n ,  D C  
• N o v e m b e r  1992  



INTRODUCTION 

Early in 1992, The New York Times obtained a copy of the 
United States Defense Planning Guide for the post-cold war era. 
The planners in the office of the Undersecretary for Policy at the 
Pentagon had looked about the world for suspicious characters. 
This used to be called threat analysis. At the height of the Cold 
War it would have been "threat analysis in worst possible case 
condition." This time, there were fewer threats on the horizon. 
But wait! There's India! Fearsome hegemon. There's Pakistan, 
beleaguered friend of yore! The draft document declared: 

We will seek to prevent the further development of a nuclear 
arms race on the Indian subcontinent. In this regard, we 
should work to have both countries, India and Pakistan, 
adhere to the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty and to place 
their nuclear energy facilities under International Atomic 
Energy Agency safeguards. We should discourage Indian 
hegemonic aspirations over the other states in South Asia 
and on the Indian Ocean. With regard to Pakistan, a con- 
structive U.S.-Pakistani military relationship will be an 
important element in our strategy to promote stable security 
conditions in Southwest Asia and Central Asia. We should 
therefore endeavor to rebuild our military relationship 
given acceptable resolution of our nuclear concerns. 

This was only a draft. The Undersecretary for Policy had 
not seen it. But it was for that reason even more of an epiphany. 
After half a century of relations between what were now the 
world's two largest democracies, the US government defense 
planners could routinely assume that there was an American 
interest in suppressing Indian "hegemonic aspirations" in South 
Asia, and once again arming its worst enemy and neighbor, 
Pakistan. 

Suppose a comparable Indian document declared a national 
purpose to keep down US hegemonic aspirations in North 
America, and to arm Mexico, possibly with the new Indian 

xvii 
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missile, "Agni." We would not be amused; somehow we are 
always surprised when Indians are exasperated. 

This episode, precisely because it was of so little conse- 
quence, will serve as a metaphor for the half-century of misun- 
derstandings, miscues, and mishaps recorded in Ambassador 
Kux's luminous narrative. At the end ofha l fa  century of formal 
relations, the United States and India, the world's two largest 
democracies--the two largest ever democracies--were still, or 
once again, or soon to be at odds. The term "estranged" nicely 
captures the sense on both sides that affection has not been 
returned, or has somehow lapsed, or has found new outlets. In 
consequence of which the relationship is no longer the same. But 
then it never has been. 

That, at all events, is the general perception. All rather hazy 
and soft as of a summer afternoon. Also, all wrong. The United 
States and India are estranged democracies not because we have 
failed to understand each other, but because of conflicting poli- 
cies we and they have pursued with regard to the most elemental 
of national interests, military security. The supreme virtue of 
Dennis Kux's history is the way in which bedrock reality shows 
through at every stage in a half-century of on and off relations. 

According to its constitution, India is a "sovereign, social- 
ist, secular, democratic republic." It is surely sovereign, and 
defiantly democratic. It has a fair amount of socialism of the 
Fabian sort. The Nehru dynasty, which governed for 37 of the 
first 42 years of Independence, was surely secular. But all this 
leaves out the great fact, which is that with the coming of 
independence, for the first time in nearly a millenium, Islamic 
invaders no longer ruled Hindu India. Well, yes, there had been 
the British. Here and there, and briefly. (The last Moghul em- 
peror was deposed in 1858.) But the great fact was the endless 
succession of nomadic horsemen pouring through the Himala- 
yan passes onto the Gangetic plain. Now it was all over. Rather, 
almost all over, for with the creation of an independent Paki- 
stan, the invaders retained their mountain redoubts and no 
small portion of the plain. Notably Lahore, which Babur had 
secured before marching on Delhi, and a new capital, Islamabad. 

In other words, it was not necessarily over: a millenium of 
subjugation, defeat, near irrelevance. (Much of what is thought 
of in the West as Indian history, as for example the advent of the 
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Moghuls under Babur, is really about the clashes of successive 
Islamic marauders, some of whom settled down.) Partition had 
been traumatic. Something like ten million persoas were killed 
by hand. The aftermath was anything but tidy, with the dispute 
over Kashmir present at the creation, and alive to this day. And 
so when the United States commenced in the 1950s to provide 
arms to Pakistan, estrangement with India was inevitable. In- 
dian fear of Pakistan may have been "irrational", as Ambassa- 
dor Kux suggests. It was no less real. That we had supported 
independence and welcomed it and promptly set about helping 
with the associated chores was something Indians understood 
well enough. Hence, estrangement rather than enmity, but es- 
trangement for certain. 

The United States did not intend this. Our concern, early 
and late, was with the threat, as we saw it, of Soviet expansion. 
We never quite got it clear in our heads whether by expansion we 
referred to the Red Army or the Communist party. But at all 

even t s ,  it had to be contained. Pakistan was on the Soviet 
perimeter and was an early and eager participant in the alliance 
system that developed in the 1950s under President Eisenhower 
and his Secretary of State John Foster Dulles. This did not at 
first imply any disregard for India. When the Chinese Red Army 
crossed her borders in the early 1960s, American military aid 
was promptly offered and accepted. When monsoons failed, 
wheat was forthcoming in continental quantities. There would 
follow moments of intense attachment which can only be de- 
scribed as infatuation. 

Consider this episode. At the height of the Great Society, 
the Johnson administration was looking for projects worldwide, 
not just in Appalachia, or inner cities. There was the Mekong 
Delta to fix up. And there was India to educate. The Indians had 
paid for our wheat in rupees, of which we came to hold a vast 
proportion (something like 20 percent of money in circulation). 
We would use the money to set up a foundation to finance higher 
education. There would be a joint US/Indian board, and an 
American executive director. Americans would end up owning a 
very significant portion of Indian culture as embodied in its 
universities. Here is the conclusion of President Lyndon B. 
Johnson's toast at a White House dinner for Prime Minister 
Indira Gandhi on 28 March 1966: 
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So may we, Madam Prime Minister, with the permission of  
your Government and the American Congress, launch a 
new and imaginative venture. We shall call it an Indo- 
American Foundation. I would propose that this Founda- 
tion be established in India, and that it be endowed with 
$300 million in Indian currency owned by the United 
States. Other foundations all over the world will cooperate, I 
am sure, with an enterprise of  this kind. 

I would suggest that this Foundation be organized as an 
independent inst i tut ion--with distinguished citizens of  
both our countries on its board of  directors. I would propose 
that the new Foundation be given a broad charter to pro- 
mote progress in all fields of  learning--to advance sci- 
e n c e - t o  encourage research-- to  develop new teaching 
techniques on the farms and in the factories-- to stimulate, 
if  you please, new ways to meet old problems. 

The journey to our future is over a very long and very 
winding road. Every mile will be challenged by doubt. But 
together, Madam Prime Minister, we must avoid the de- 
tours that intrude on our safe journey toward a time when, 
as your father promised, life will be better for all of  our 
people. 

So, ladies and gentlemen, let us honor those who are so 
welcome here tonight. Let us ask you to join in honoring the 
Chief o f  State whose wise and gifted Prime Minister we 
have enjoyed so much today,  and that we welcome so 
warmly this evening. 

I should like to ask those of  you who are assembled here 
to join me now in raising your glass in toast to the great 
President o f  India. 

H e r e  is the  conc lud ing  po r t i on  o f  the  P r i m e  Min i s te r ' s  reply: 

India very definitely is on the move. Mr. President, the 
United States has given India valuable assistance in our 
struggle against poverty, against hunger, against ignorance, 
and against disease. We are grateful for this act of  friend- 
ship. But we  also know that our own "'Great Society" must 
and can only rest securely on the quality and the extent o f  
our own effort. 

This effort we are determined to make: we owe it to our 
friends, and even more so we owe it to ourselves. 

Nevertheless, I believe that it is of  the greatest impor- 
tance, to use your own words, to bring into closer union the 
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spirit and courage of  both our countries. I welcome your 
intention to set up an Indo-American Foundation, which 
will give tangible shape and form to this union. 

The present-day world offers the possibility of  bringing 
together one people with another. The young men and 
women of  your Peace Corps are well known and well loved 
in our country. Every endeavor to sustain and enlarge this 
people-to-people partnership is a good effort and is 
welcome. 

Friendship with America is not a new thing for us. 

Those of  us in India who have been involved with the 
struggle for freedom have known from our earliest days 
your own struggle here. We have been taught the words of  
your leaders, of  your past great Presidents, and above all we 
were linked in friendship because of  the friendship which 
President Roosevelt showed us and the understanding 
which he showed during some of  the most difficult days of  
our independence struggle. I have no doubt  it was also this 
understanding and friendly advice given to the British Gov- 
ernment which facilitated and accelerated our own 
freedom. 

But there again the major effort had to be on our own, 
and this is what we want today: that we should bear our 
burden, as indeed we are doing, but that a little bit of  help 
should come from friends who consider it worthwhile to 
lighten the burden. 

Because, Mr. President, India's problems today are her 
own, but  they are also the world's problems. India has a 
position in Asia which is an explosive positign. India, if  it is 
stable, united, democratic, I think can serve a great purpose. 
If  India is not stable, or if there is chaos, if India fails, I think 
it is a failure of  the whole democratic system. It is a failure of  
many of the valueswhich you and we both hold dear. 

That is why, Mr. President, I welcome your words and I 
welcome this meeting with you, which has been most valu- 
able to me. 

I invite you, ladies and gentlemen, to join with me in 
drinking a toast to the President and Mrs. Johnson, our 
friends, the American people, and the Great Society, not 
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just for America, but for all who dream of it, for all who 
struggle to transform those dreams into reality.* 

Not 5 years later, these same two nations looked like they 
were about to go to war. Pakistan broke up. India invaded "East 
Bengal." The President of the United States, Richard M. Nixon, 
would write in his diary of Prime Minister Gandhi's "duplici- 
tous action toward us at the time she saw me in Washington and 
assured me she would not." He sent the carrier Enterprise into 
the Bay of Bengal. The United States Permanent Representative 
to the United Nations, George Bush, acting under orders from 
President Nixon, told the Security Council that India was re- 
sponsible for the war. The Soviets vetoed the American resolu- 
tion of condemnation. Prime Minister Gandhi signed a treaty of 
friendship with the Soviet Union and set offa nuclear explosion. 
After having sent the Peace Corpsmen home. 

Once again, the United States was thinking about the Soviet 
Union and not about India. Pakistan was arranging for Secretary 
of State Henry Kissinger to fly to Peking to prepare for a visit of 
President Nixon that would bring China into play as part of a 
"global balance of power". Hence we would "tilt" toward Is- 
lamabad. The events of the Bangladesh war, as it came to be 
known, are set forth in great detail in Chapter 7. Nor does the 
author hesitate to offer a harsh assessment of the American role. 
In their memoirs, Nixon and Kissinger assert: 

their handling of events scared the Soviets into calling off 
their South Asian proxy, India, from attacking West Paki- 
stan and showed the Chinese that the United States was 
willing to offer steadfast help to a friend during an unpopu- 
lar crisis. Kissinger went so far as to claim that administra- 
tion policy saved "a major American initiative of 
fundamental importance to the global balance of power" 
and that the "very structure of international order was 
endangered by the naked recourse to force by a Soviet 
partner.'" 

* Fortunately for all concerned, on further consideration India 
decided not to go ahead with the foundation for higher education. But 
it had at first seemed a feasible idea. Toasts of the President and Prime 
Minister Indira Gandhi of India, March 28, 1966, Public Papers of the 
Presidents, Lyndon B. Johnson, 1966, Volume I. 
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It is hard to agree with these assertions. Far from a diplo- 
matic victory, the whole affair proved an unnecessary and em- 
barrassing diplomatic setback for the United States. Through 
their misreading of the crisis, and their pro-Pakistan bias, Rich- 
ard Nixon and Henry Kissinger succeeded in needlessly trans- 
forming a regional dispute into one which threatened to. become 
a great power showdown. The main consequences were severe 
and long-lasting damage to US relations with India and en- 
hanced Soviet influence with New Delhi. 

That is about how matters rested for the remainder of the 
first half-century of Indo-US relations. At the end, however, a 
most surprising event occurred. The Soviet Union broke up! 
This was a blow to India, which had invested far more than she 
ought to have done in that relationship. But if  the United States 
were left the world's only superpower, the price of victory was 
considerable. We would have been well advised to learn from the 
subcontinent as we pursued that protracted conflict. By the 
1970s, the United States had opted for a "global balance of 
power" strategy, the sort of thing seminars are made of, but not 
the real world. The strategy simply assumed the continued exis- 
tence and viability of the USSR. Whereas that should have been 
the first question to be raised. Would the USSR remain intact? 
Was it not another of those vast empires that had been breaking 
up all through the twentieth century? Wasn't  the Indian subcon- 
tinent another such empire? Wasn't it breaking up? Along reli- 
gious and linguistic and ethnic lines? (In the interest of full 
disclosure, I should state that by the late 1970s, I was arguing in 
the Senate that the Soviet Union would break up in the 1980s.) 
And mind, ought not India have given some thought to this 
possibility? Prime Minister Gandhi and her son Rajiv Gandhi 
both cruelly, mindlessly assassinated, but not by instrumentali- 
ties of the cold war. Rather, by agents of indigenous 
nationalisms. 

All that is now past. In his dosing chapter, the Ambassador 
remarks that all things considered, "it  is surprising the estrange- 
ment has not been worse." Things surely are better than they 
have been, not least owing to a marvelous migration that has 
brought nearly one million Indians to the United States, with no 
sign of stopping, such is the welcome accorded these remarkably 
gifted individuals. The United States has cut off all military aid 
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to Pakistan; it is hard to imagine any resumption. Certainly, 
there would be no strategic grounds for anything of the sort, 
Pentagon planners to the contrary. Whatever injuries we have 
done India, we never intended them, save possibly in that scle- 
rotic interval in 1971. In a sense, then, it is now India's turn. Kux 
writes: "Relations are unlikely to become more cooperative if 
India decides almost viscerally that opposing the United States 
is the natural state of affairs for Indian foreign policy." May a 
friend suggest that that is a temptation which needs watching. As 
for the United States, there is a related disposition to assume 
that estrangement is the natural state of this relation. It is 
nothing of the sort, and we should watch that  temptation! 

Daniel Patrick Moynihan 
United States Senate 
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Chapter I 

Roosevelt: The United States 
Meets India 

T h i s  history of Indo-US relations begins on the eve of 
America's entry into World War II. Before then, the United 
States had scant contact with India even though, in 1792, only 
three years after he became President, George Washington 
appointed Benjamin Joy as consul in Calcutta, then the capital 
of British India.1 Over the next century and a half, with India 
part of the British Empire, political relations were virtually non- 
existent. Economic relations were also insignificant, except for a 
brief flourishing of trade during the Napoleonic Wars. 2 In the 
late 1930s, for example, US investment in India amounted to 
less than $50 million, with half in missionary schools, hospitals, 
or other non-business activities. 3 US missionaries were, in fact, 
the principal link to India, yet numbered only a few thousand, 
far fewer than the Americans active in China. 

In the period between the two world wars, India's struggle 
for independence won the support of American progressives, but 
did not gain widespread public backing. After Mohandas K. 
Gandhimfamiliarly called the Mahatma, Hindi for "great 
spirit"nassumed the leadership of the Indian National Con- 
gress, the major nationalist organization, his non-violent protest 
campaigns against British rule generated considerable press cov- 
erage. The spindly figure wrapped in a bedsheetlike garb became 
a sympathetic--if rather puzzling--figure for Americans. On 
the negative side, Katherine Mayo's 1927 book, Mother India, 
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dealt a heavy blow to India's image. This withering depiction of 
Indian society as depraved; squalid, and without redeeming 
virtues sold a phenomenal 256,697 copies in 27 editions. 4 

When Franklin D. Roosevelt entered the White House in 
1933, New Deal liberals, influenced by the anti-imperialist tra- 
dition of the Democratic Party, sympathized with India's desire 
for independence. Neither Roosevelt nor Secretary of State 
Cordell Hull, however, actively engaged US influence in support 
of the Indian nationalist cause in the 1930s. On the eve of World 
War II, India remained a country about which the United States 
had limited knowledge and with which the United States had 
had little contact. American images of India flickered between 
exotic Hollywood portrayals of the British Raj and the adven- 
ture tales of Rudyard Kipling. Bejewelled maharajahs and Brit- 
ish colonial sahibs, impoverished beggars and fakirs, massive 
demonstrations of Indian nationalists, and the complex prob- 
lems of untouchability, caste, and Hindu-Muslim communalism 
all made for a bewildering m61ange. 

For Indians, the United States was equally unfamiliar ter- 
rain, a distant land that seemed vastly different from their own 
dusty, impoverished sub-continent. Few people of Indian origin 
lived in the United Statesmas late as 1940, the census counted 
only 2,400mmostly Sikh farmers who had immigrated to Cali- 
fornia from the Punjab in northwest India at the turn of the 
century. 5 

Educated Indians tended to look at the United States 
through the often critical British lens, as a country dominated by 
materialism and crime. Racial discrimination against non- 
whites, especially segregation in the US South, added to the 
unflattering picture. Indians, like other Asians, deeply resented 
US laws barring them from immigrant status and citizenship. 
Well-publicized incidents further tarnished the American im- 
age. Rabindranath Tagore, for example, cut short a lecture tour 
in 1929 when the Nobel prize winner felt insulted by a US 
immigration official. 6 

Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru, who in the late 1920s became one 
of Gandhi's principal lieutenants and foreign policy spokesman 
for the Indian National Congress, 7 initially found the United 
States not only racist, but imperialist. In 1927, the Indian leader 
joined in criticizing US foreign policy toward Latin America at 
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the Brussels International Congress against Colonial Oppression 
and Imperialism. A year later Nehru wrote, "It is the United 
States which offers us the best field for the study of economic 
imperialism."8 

After the Democrats came to power in 1933, Indian nation- 
alists, including Nehru, gradually developed a less negative atti- 
tude. Franklin D. Roosevelt gained popularity in India for his 
New Deal domestic reforms and his anti-colonialist attitude. 
The President's decision to grant independence to the Philip- 
pines in 1946 impressed Indians; Roosevelt's action sharply 
contrasted with British refusal to offer a timetable for Indian 
self-rule. By the late 1930s, Nehru and other nationalists began 
to look to the United States as a potentially powerful supporter 
in their struggle for freedom from colonialism. Nehru, who had 
gained favorable attention in America as an articulate and sensi- 
tive Asian leader through his well-received autobiography, pre- 
sented India's ease for independence for the informed US 
audience in articles in Foreign Affairs in 1938 and the Atlantic 
Monthly in 1940. 

By this time, the British were slowly--and grudginglym 
reforming the Indian political structure to permit greater self- 
government. Following periodic civil disobedience movements 
organized by the Indian National Congress, and lengthy negotia- 
tions with Mahatma Gandhi and other Indian political leaders, 
the Government of India Act of 1935 introduced democratically 
elected governments at the provincial level. Winston Churchill, 
then a Conservative Party backbencher, bitterly opposed the 
reforms. 

After faring well in 1937 in the first provincial elections 
under the reforms, the Congress Party was able to form govern- 
ments in eight of eleven provinces. A brief period of cooperation 
followed between the Congress, assuming genuine responsibility 
at the provincial level, and the British imperial authorities, who 
continued to control the Government of India in New Delhi. 
The chief executive remained the British Viceroy, who in turn 
reported to the Secretary of State for India, a member of the 
British cabinet and head of the India Office in London. 

When World War II broke out between Britain and Ger- 
many in September 1939, the Viceroy, Lord Linlithgow, de- 
clared war for India with little semblance of consultation with 
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nationalist political leaders. Reacting against the Viceroy's uni- 
lateral action, the Congress Party refused to give its blessing to 
the war effort despite the fact that many of its leaders, including 
Nehru, emotionally supported the Allied cause against the Na- 
zis. Congress Party members of provincial governments re- 
signed their posts in protest against the Viceroy's disregard of 
Indian sensitivities. A dour, unimaginative old-style man of 
Empire, Linlithgow thoroughly dislikedmeven despisedmkey 
Indian National Congress leaders like Mahatma Gandhi and 
Pandit Nehru. Leo Amery, the Secretary of State for India, 
shared Linlithgow's staunchly conservative views and his dislike 
for Indian nationalist politicians. 

After the Nazis swept through Western Europe in mid- 
1940--and Winston Churchill succeeded Neville Chamberlain 
as Prime Minister~Britain sought to allay the nationalists by 
offering a pledge of "eventual" dominion status after the war. 
This gesture failed to mollify Congress leaders, who wanted 
more tangible steps toward self-government in return for full 
backing for the war effort. The Indian Congress Party's unwill- 
ingness to support the struggle against Nazi Germany infuriated 
the British, who were fighting for their national survival against 
Hitler. 

Prime Minister Churchill's views on India remained rigid. 
From the start of the war, he warned against "the slippery slope 
of concessions" and welcomed Hindu-Muslim differences as a 
"bulwark of British rule in India. ''9 Even the firmly colonialist 
Secretary of State for India, Leo Amery, was at times critical of 
Churchill's old-fashioned imperialism. "He has never really 
sympathized with the development of self-government in the 
Empire," Amery commented," . . . as regards India (Chur- 
chill) has never got beyond the early Kipling stage. ''10 

The United States Develops an Interest in India 

In Washington, the question of India's status became a 
matter of interest at the senior levels of government in early 
1941. Although anti-war sentiment remained strong in the 
United States, the sympathy of the President and his adminis- 
tration for the allied cause was clear. The initiation of Selective 
Service, the provision of 50 destroyers to Britain, and the start of 
Lend-Lease assistance were all signs that the United States was 
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gearing up to become the "arsenal of democracy" in the fight 
against fascism. 

As American leaders looked more closely at India, they saw 
possibilities of the subcontinent's making a major contribution 
to the war effort, but soon became disenchanted with the British 
attitude. According to Secretary of State Cordell Hull, he and 
President Roosevelt "were convinced that the Indians would 
cooperate better with the British if they were assured of indepen- 
dence, at least after the war." At the same time, however, Hull 
said he and Roosevelt accepted that it was "a delicate question" 
as to how far the United States could push for Indian indepen- 
dence in view of London's sensitivities on this issue. With 
Britain fighting for its life against Nazi Germany, US policy was 
to "take no step and utter no words that would impede her 
struggle." 11 What Hull called the "delicate question" became the 
policy dilemma for US leadership in dealing with India during 
the war: how hard could the United States push the British on 
Indian independence without impairing the alliance? 

In order to facilitate US support for the war effort in In- 
d iamby then ruled eligible to receive Lend-Lease assistancem 
the British in April 1941 took the initiative in proposing to send 
an Indian representative to Washington to deal directly with the 
US authorities. Until  then, the Government of India followed 
the cumbersome procedure of channeling views through the 
India and Foreign Offices in London and then the British Em- 
bassy in Washington. The State Department quickly accepted 
the British proposal, in turn suggesting a reciprocal arrangement 
under which the United States would establish an office in New 
Delhi. Washington found it highly unsatisfactory having to deal 
with the Government of India through the Consulate General in 
Calcutta, nearly a thousand miles away from New Delhi. As US 
interest in India mounted, the United States wanted easier 
access to British authorities and Indian nationalist leaders. 

At first, Lord Linlithgow balked~worr ied that an official 
US presence in New Delhi would be inconsistent with India's 
status as part of the Empire. After a number of exchanges on the 
subject, Washington, London, and New Delhi finally agreed on 
an arrangement conveying something less than full diplomatic 
status to the envoys. In Washington, the Viceroy's representa- 
tive was to be called the Agent-General of India and attached to 
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the British Embassy. In New Delhi, the United States would 
establish an office, the head of which would be called the Com- 
missioner. The Viceroy designated a senior Indian civil servant, 
Sir Girja Shankar Bajpai, as Agent-General in Washington; 12 the 
State Department named career diplomat Thomas Wilson, the 
Consul General in Calcutta, to become US Commissioner in 
New Delhi. In keeping with their unusual semi-diplomatic sta- 
tus, Bajpai and Wilson presented President Roosevelt and Vice- 
roy Linlithgow personal letters of introduction rather than the 
usual diplomatic letters of credence.13 

The first expression of discontent with British policy to- 
ward India came in a May 1941 proposal by Assistant Secretary 
of State for Economic Affairs Adolph A. Berlema New Deal 
liberalmfor pressure on London "to explore the possibility of 
making India equal of other members of the British Common- 
wealth." Berle argued that with India's vast pool of manpower, 
the country could achieve "a dominant position in supplying 
certain strategic war materials" if  it became an "active rather 
than a passive partner" in the war effort. 14 Despite the fact that 
Under Secretary of State Sumner Welles convinced Hull "i t  was 
undesirable to upset the Indian apple cart" by a formal d6- 
marche, Hull informally raised the subject of India with the 
British Ambassador, Lord Halifax. 

Having served as Viceroy from 1926 until 193 l ~ w h e n  he 
was known as Lord I rwin~Hal i fax  was obviously far more 
knowledgeable about India than US officials. Although regarded 
as a liberal Viceroy, in 1941 Halifax shared the prevailing Con- 
servative Party view that it was preferable to stand pat on Indian 
political arrangements and make no political gestures towards 
the Indian National Congress. Halifax's predictable response to 
Hull: it was not "feasible or even necessary now to make further 
liberalizing concessions" to the Indian nationalists.15 

US interest in India, nonetheless, continued to grow. Just 
before the August 1941 mid-Atlantic summit between Roosevelt 
and Churchill, John Winant, the American Ambassador in 
London, suggested urging the British to set a date for granting 
India dominion status. Winant 's recommendation won the 
warm endorsement of Assistant Secretary Berle but foundered, 
like Berle's own earlier suggestion, with Sumner Welles, who 
opposed telling London "what the status of India should be.', 
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Under Secretary Welles commented, "Were the President dis- 
posed to take the matter up, I should imagine he would wish to 
discuss it in a very personal and confidential way with Mr. 
Churchill."16 

The President was quite readyBaccording to his son Elliot 
Roosevelt--to raise the topic of India with Prime Minister 
Churchill when the two leaders met in the mid-Atlantic Ocean in 
August 1941. Roosevelt took the opportunity during an after- 
dinner talk the second evening of the conference to criticize 
British colonialism. 17 British imperial policies, the President 
charged, represented 18th, not 20th, century views, taking re- 
sources out of colonies and giving nothing back to the people. 
When Roosevelt stressed the need to develop industry, to im- 
prove sanitation, and to raise educational levels and standards 
of living in colonies, Churchill's anger rose. Beginning to look 
apoplectic, the Prime Minister growled, "You mentioned 
India." 

"Yes," the President responded, "I can't believe that we can 
fight a war against fascist slavery, and at the same time not work 
to free people from all over the world from a backward colonial 
policy." According to Elliot Roosevelt, the two leaders contin- 
ued to argue over colonialism at length and without agreement.18 

In the closing statement of the conference on 14 August, 
Roosevelt and Churchill issued the Atlantic Charter, the decla- 
ration of principles that served as the basic statement of Allied 
war aims. Their difference over colonialism was apparent in 
later arguments about the meaning of the third article of the 
Charter, dealing with the fight of self-determination. This article 
stated that the United States and Great Britain "respect the right 
of all peoples to choose the form of government under which 
they will live; and that they wish to see sovereign rights and self- 
government restored to those who have been forcibly deprived 
of them." 

The Americans held that the article's concept of self-deter- 
mination had universal application, including the right of colo- 
nies to become independent. The President, Secretary Hull, and 
Under Secretary Welles all made this point in public statements 
the following year. The British took a narrower view. Speaking 
in Parliament on 9 September 1941, Churchill stated tha t - -as  
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far as Britain was concerned--the article applied only to territo- 
ries seized by the Nazis, and not to the Empire. Just before 
entering the House of Commons, the Prime Minister heard a 
plea from Ambassador Winant not to make the statement. Re- 
buffing the US envoy, Churchill proceeded with his restrictive 
interpretation of the Charter.~9 

The Prime Minister's statement caused bitter disappoint- 
ment in India and dissatisfaction in Washington. Although the 
State Department's Near Eastern Division recommended that 
the President press Churchill to extend the Atlantic Charter to 
India, Under Secretary Sumner Welles again proved the stum- 
bling block. Welles agreed the Atlantic Charter should apply to 
India, but argued strenuously that the US government should 
not press Churchill, during that difficult time, to take a step on 
India he consistently opposed5 ° 

US entry into the war in December 1941 vastly raised 
India's strategic importance in Washington as well as American 
willingness to express its views on the Indian political situation 
to the British. US war planners saw the subcontinent as a key 
bastion for supporting China and a potentially enormous source 
of manpower and war goods for the Allied cause. The Assistant 
Chief of the Army's War Plans Division, Dwight D. Eisenhower, 
then a brigadier general, wrote "We've got to keep Russia in the 
war--and hold India!!! Then we can get ready to crack Germany 
through England."2~ 

When Prime Minister Churchill visited Washington during 
Christmas 1941, Roosevelt apparently brought up India "on the 
usual American lines." There is no US record of the discussion, 
but Churchill wrote, "I reacted so strongly and at such length 
that he never raised it (India) verbally again. ' '= Roosevelt's 
closest adviser, Harry Hopkins, said no American suggestions 
during the war were "so wrathfully received as those relating to 
the solution of the Indian problem." 

It was indeed one subject on which the normally broad- 
minded, good-humored, give-and-take attitude which pre- 
vailed between the two statesmen was stopped cold. It may 
be said that Churchill would see the Empire in ruins and 
himself buried under them before he would concede the 
right of any American, however great and illustrious a 
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friend, to make any suggestion as to what he should do 
about India. 23 

Perhaps sensitized to Churchill's outlook, Roosevelt did not 
directly react to Britain's initial refusal to allow India to sign the 
United Nations declaration, although, agreeing with Harry Hop- 
kins, he did not "understand why they don't include it." At 
Hopkins' suggestion, he asked Secretary of State Hull to "'prod 
them a little." Two days later, Lord Halifax advised the State 
Department that the Viceroy and the War Cabinet had changed 
their minds. 24 On New Year's Day 1942, Indian Agent-General 
Bajpai was among the twenty-six signers of the United Nations 
Declaration. 

As 1942 began, officials in Washington continued to worry 
about the prospects for rallying Indian support for the war effort. 
With the allies reeling in Asia, the fall of Singapore on 15 
February triggered new concerns. A Senate Foreign Relations 
Committee hearing ten days later made clear that Congress 
shared administration anxieties. Assistant Secretary of State 
Breckenridge Long, noting a "serious undercurrent of anti-Brit- 
ish feeling;" reported to Secretary Hull that the Senators de- 
manded "India be given a status of autonomy . . . .  The only 
way to get the people of India to fight was to get them to fight for 
India." The Senators declared, "Gandhi 's  leadership became 
part of America's military equipment. ''25 

On 25 February, Roosevelt took the initiative, instructing 
Averell Harriman, his Special Representative in London, to 
sound Churchill out about a "new relationship between Britain 
and India." After talking with the Prime Minister, Harriman 
cabled that the British leader remained strongly opposed to 
"stirring the pot?'  The United States, Churchill asserted, was 
misreading the Indian situation: The war effort was tied to the 
support of the Muslims, not the Congress Party and the Hindus. 
The Prime Minister claimed (wrongly) that 75 percent of the 
Indian Army were Muslims and largely opposed to the Indian 
Congress Party. Making a gesture toward the Congress would 
only offend the Muslims and not aid the war effort, the British 
leader argued. 26 

Appeals from China's President Chiang Kai-shek added to 
the pressure on a reluctant Churchill. During a visit to India in 
mid-February, Chiang strongly urged Britain to grant India 
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independencenmuch to the dismay of the Viceroy Lord Lin- 
lithgow. The presence of the British Labour Party as a coalition 
partner in the war cabinet added further weight to the calls for 
action on India. Long at odds with the Conservatives over the 
pace of colonial reform, Labour Party India specialist and Lord 
Privy Seal, Sir Stafford Cripps, challenged Secretary of State for 
India Amery to rethink the policy of sitting tightJ 7 

Under mounting pressure, the War Cabinet approved the 
ideanpressed vigorously by C r i p p s ~ o f  issuing a firm offer of 
post-war independence and of taking steps to give Indian politi- 
cal leaders a substantially larger governmental role during the 
war. Out of concern for the Muslim minority, about a quarter of 
India's four hundred million population, and the agitation by its 
major political grouping, the Muslim League, for a separate 
homeland~Pak i s t anmthe  Cabinet declaration left open the 
possibility of creating more than one independent state. 28 

The War Cabinet decided to send a senior figure to India to 
discuss the declaration rather than simply issuing the proposal. 
Not one to lack self-confidence, Cripps offered to take on the 
task, reasonably hopeful he could gain the agreement of his 
many Indian friends, including Gandhi and Nehru. In New 
Delhi, the Viceroy heartily disliked the whole idea. Upset that 
the Cabinet in effect pushed him aside by designating Cripps to 
present the proposals, Linlithgow offered to resign. He agreed to 
stay on only after a personal plea from Churchill. The Prime 
Minister explained, "It  would be impossible, owing to . . . the 
general American outlook to stand on a purely negative attitude 
and Cripps' Mission is indispensable to prove our honesty of 
purpose . ' ,  29 

Just before Sir Stafford left for India, Churchill informed 
Roosevelt about the War Cabinet proposals. Hardly sounding 
enthusiastic, the British leader reiterated that Britain must not 
"on any account" break with the Muslims, the main element in 
the army. Churchill commented, "Naturally we do not want to 
throw India into chaos onthe eve of an invasion. ''30 With Burma 
having fallen to the Japanese, an attack on India loomed as a real 
threat. 

Roosevelt's response should have shaken the Prime Minis- 
ter's composure. Disagreeing with the cautious, lawyer-like ap- 
proach of the Cabinet proposals, the President suggested the 
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British should immediately establish a "temporary dominion 
government" on the lines of the US Articles of Confederation. 

Perhaps the analogy of some such method to the travails 
and problems of the U.S. between 1783 and 1789 might give 
a new slant in India itself, and it might cause the people 
there to become more loyal to the British Empire and to 
stress the danger of Japanese domination, together with the 
advantage of peaceful evolution as against chaotic 
revolution. 31 

Surely aware that these words would not make his friend 
Winston very happy, Roosevelt ended his message diplomati- 
cally, "For the love of heaven, don't bring me into this, though I 
want to be of help. It is, strictly speaking, none of my business, 
except insofar as it is a part and parcel of the successful fight that 
you and I are waging. ''32 

The Johnson Mission: Roosevelt Tries 
"To Be Of Help" 

Circumstances soon provided the President a chance "to be 
of help." Discussions about how the United States could aid 
Indian production of war goods, initiated by Indian Agent Gen- 
eral Bajpai, resulted in a decision to send a war production 
mission to India. On 6 March 1942, the State Department 
announced that Colonel Louis Johnson, a former Assistant Sec- 
retary of War and prominent West Virginia Democrat, would 
head the mission, supported by former Assistant Secretary of 
State Henry Grady and three other industry specialists. 33 

Before Johnson departed three weeks later, his role dramati- 
cally changed. Instead of leading the mission, the colonel be- 
came Franklin Roosevelt's Personal Representative to India. 
Although the documentary record is lacking, it is reasonable to 
assume the President switched Johnson's assignment so that the 
United States would play a more active role in helping the 
British and Indians reach a political settlement in order to 
engage Indian energies more fully behind the war effort. 34 

A former national commander of the American Legion and 
Washington wheeler dealer, Johnson was an unlikely candidate 
for a sensitive diplomatic mission--and later an unexpected 
convert to Indian nationalism. A strong supporter of prepared- 
ness as Assistant Secretary of War, Johnson was well qualified 
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for the war production mission. His knowledge of India, how- 
ever, was nil; Johnson admitted the only books he read on the 
subcontinent were Kipling's Kim and Henty's With Clive in 
India.35 

By the time Johnson arrived in New Delhi on 3 April, the 
Cripps Mission seemed near failure. Several weeks of intensive 
talks failed to win the Congress Party's agreement. Mahatma 
Gandhi was the main obstaclemdisliking the loophole permit- 
ting the creation of Pakistan. With the Allied position crumbling 
in Asia, moreover, Gandhi spoke of a British political pledge as a 
check drawn on a failing bank. Although Gandhi had a majority 
within the Congress Party leadership, a substantial minority, 
including South Indian leader C. Rajagopalachari, urged accep- 
tance of the Cripps plan and full support for the war against the 
Axis. Congress President Maulana Azad, a respected Muslim, 
and Jawahaflal Nehru were sitting on the fence. 

About to leave India in failure, a depressed Cripps delayed 
his departure after Shiva Rao, a prominent pro-Congress jour- 
nalist, thought a compromise on the management of India's 
defense might salvage the negotiations. 36 Although not optimis- 
tic, Cripps asked authorization to try to work out a revised 
arrangement on defense, subject to agreement of the Viceroy 
and the Commander-in-Chief of the Indian Army, General 
Wavell. 37 

Churchill replied he would seek agreement of the War Cabi- 
net, expressing satisfaction that Cripps's effort had been "most 
beneficial in the U.S. and in large circles here." By offering the 
proposals, Churchill believed the British received a better press 
in the United States, allaying criticism of Britain's policy toward 
India. 38 One American who did not share the Prime Minister's 
appraisal was President Franklin Roosevelt. Talking with In- 
dian Agent-General Bajpai on 2 April, Roosevelt criticized the 
Cripps proposals as not going far enough, expressing the view 
that the British should have offered India virtually complete 
autonomy. 39 

Roosevelt's Personal Representative in India, Louis John- 
son, was, in any event, not about to give up without a fight. As 
soon as the former Assistant Secretary of War arrived in New 
Delhi, he plunged into the middle of the negotiations. Delivering 
a message from Roosevelt to Congress President Maulana Azad 
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urging acceptance of the British proposals, Louis Johnson found 
the Congressites and Cripps eager for his assistance. Delighted 
to have help, Sir Stafford told a colleague that Roosevelt had 
sent Johnson post-haste, to "lend a hand in achieving an Indian 
settlement. ''40 And lend a hand Johnson did, shuttling between 
Cripps and Pandit Nehru in a desperate effort to shape a com- 
promise. Although the Viceroy at first found Johnson engag- 
ingmhe liked the fact that Johnson bluntly warned the Congress 
leadership that India would lose US support if it rejected the 
British offer--Linlithgow worried that Roosevelt's Personal 
Representative was "concerning himself too closely in detailed 
negotiations between HMG and Indian politicians. ''4~ 

Just two days after reaching New Delhi, Johnson cabled 
Roosevelt and Hull to recommend that the President intercede 
with Churchill. In Johnson's view, both the Viceroy and General 
Wavell opposed an enlarged Indian defense role, a step the US 
envoy believed was the key to an agreement. To save the negotia- 
tions, Johnson believed the President had to deal directly with 
Churchill. The answer from Washington was a polite turndown. 
After considering the Colonel's request, the President decided 
against a further personal appeal to the Prime Minister. Under 
Secretary Welles cabled, "You know how earnestly the President 
has tried to be of help . . . it is feared that if at this moment he 
interposed his own views, the result would complicate further an 
already overcomplicated situation. ''42 

Not easily deterred, Johnson continued his whirlwind ef- 
forts in New Delhi. With Sir Stafford's concurrence, he re- 
drafted the defense proposals to retain full British control but to 
provide a better sounding Indian role. When both sides seemed 
agreeable to the revisions, Congress acceptance suddenly 
seemed possible, indeed likely. Johnson sent off an enthusiastic 
cable to Washington on 9 April stating that Nehru was going to 
accept his modified defense proposal and that Wavell and Lin- 
lithgow also agreed. Ending with a patriotic flourish, Johnson 
cabled euphorically, "Both Nehru and Cripps have expressed 
their appreciation for the revival of negotiations. The magic 
name over here is Roosevelt; the land, the people would follow 
and love, America. ''43 An elated Cripps reported to Churchill--  
in less flamboyant language--that as a result of Johnson's help 
he now hoped to gain Indian agreement. Sir Stafford urged the 
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Prime Minister to send thanks to the President for Johnson's 
assistance. 44 

Neither Johnson nor Cripps realized that Linlithgow, fum- 
ing over being elbowed aside, and increasingly incensed by 
Johnson's involvement, was bombarding London with back 
channel telegrams. The Viceroy was furious that Cripps had 
allowed Johnson to show the revised defense formulation to 
Nehru before the Viceroy saw the proposal. Linlithgow also 
raised a more fundamental problem lurking in the shadows of 
the Cripps discussions: what would the role of the Viceroy be 
under the revised governmental arrangements? Cripps had im- 
plied he would become a constitutional head of state, with the 
cabinet, dominated by Indians, possessing genuine authority. 
Was this really what London wanted, the Viceroy asked? Linlith- 
gow worried that it would be hard for the British to reject the 
Cripps-Johnson formula if the Congress Party leadership ac- 
cepted. "We cannot run the risk of the Governor-General (Vice- 
roy), the (Commander-in) Chief and HMG's being unwilling to 
honour a formula agreed between HMG's emissary and 
Roosevelt's personal representative," an anxious Linlithgow 
cabled the Prime Minister? 5 

At this point, with the prospects for success of the Cripps 
Mission brightening, the fates intervened. Presidential aide 
Harry Hopkins was in London with US Army Chief of Staff 
General George C. Marshall for discussions on wartime strategy. 
The Prime Minister unexpectedly called Hopkins to No. 10 
Downing Street on 9 April to talk about India. Brandishing a 
cable from the Viceroy, Churchill told Hopkins an awkward 
situation had developed in New Delhi. The Prime Minister 
claimed the Indians were going to accept the original British 
proposal, but Cripps and Louis Johnson developed new ideas 
without consulting the Viceroy. This development badly upset 
Linlithgow, who was also disturbed by the fact that Johnson was 
acting and talking as though the President sent him to India to 
mediate an Indian political settlement. It was possible, Chur- 
chill continued, the War Cabinet would reject Johnson's pro- 
posal, something that would be embarrassing for the President. 

Believing it important to downplay Johnson's role rather 
than risk a public relations problem for Roosevelt, Hopkins 
promptly responded that he was very sure Johnson "was not 
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acting as the representative of the President in mediating the 
Indian business." Hopkins said Roosevelt's instructions on In- 
dia discouraged becoming engaged in trying to resolve matters 
unless both sides so requested, and unless India and Britain 
assured him they would accept his ideas. The President did not 
want to be placed in the public position where the contending 
parties turned down his proposals. Hopkins assumed, "Cripps 
was using Johnson for his own ends, Cripps being very anxious 
to bring Roosevelt's name into the picture. ''46 

In Hopkins' presence, Churchill immediately wrote out a 
message to New Delhi that Johnson was not Roosevelt's Per- 
sonal Representative except for munitions questions, and that 
the President was opposed to anything like intervention or 
mediation. Later that day, Churchill persuaded the War Cabinet 
to reprimand Cripps for exceeding instructions and to raise 
questions about the appropriateness of Johnson's role in the 
discussions. 47 

A reined-in Cripps met for a final session with Congress 
leaders Maulana Azad and Pandit Nehru. Instead of crowning 
the negotiations with success, the 1 0 April meeting marked the 
final collapse of  Sir Stafford's mission. When the Indians 
pressed for elaboration on the Viceroy's role under the plan, a 
depressed Cripps could only temporize. He was unable to give 
even verbal assurance that the ministers in the new government 
would possess real authority. Nehru made clear the Congress 
Party's reluctance to work with the Viceroy and the traditional 
Government of India machinerymfor the nationalists the very 
symbol of British imperialism. Cripps left dejected. Nehru, in 
turn, sent a gloomy letter to Johnson, describing the meeting as 
"entirely unsatisfactory" and indicating that the "very prem- 
ises" of the discussions were unjustified. 48 

Apparently unaware of Hopkins' session with Churchill, 
Johnson reported the collapse of the talks to Washington, prais, 
ing Cripps as sincere but lacking authority for even minor con- 
cessions. Roosevelt's Personal Representative charged that 
London, in effect, wanted the Congress to refuse, painting the 
British as defeatists, ready to lose India during the war to reclaim 
it at the peace treaty. Johnson praised Nehru as "magnificent in  
his cooperation with me. The President would like him and on 
most things they agree . . . He is our hope here. ''49 
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Faced with the collapse of the negotiations, Roosevelt re- 
versed field. Although he had rebuffed Johnson's earlier appeal 
for help, he now instructed Harry Hopkins--sti l l  in England--  
to convey a blunt personal message urging Churchill to make 
every effort to prevent a breakdown in the talks. Refusing to 
agree with Churchill's assessment that "public opinion in the 
U.S. believes that the negotiations have broken down on general 
broad issues," Roosevelt stated: 

The general impression here is quite the contrary. The 
feeling is almost universally held that the deadlock has been 
due to the British Government's unwillingness to concede 
to the Indians the right of self-government, notwithstanding 
the willingness of the Indians to entrust technical, military 
and naval defense control to the competent British 
authorities¢ 0 

The President warned that if, after the failure of the talks, 
Japan successfully invaded India, "the prejudicial reaction on 
American public opinion can hardly be over-estimated." Asking 
that Churchill have Cripps postpone his departure, Roosevelt 
reiterated his suggestion that the British offer the Indians some- 
thing like the Articles of Confederation. If the Indians rejected 
this proposal, Roosevelt said responsibility for failure "must 
clearly be placed on the Indian people and not upon the British 
Government."51 

Such a strong message from Roosevelt required a careful 
response from the Prime Minister. Drafted with Hopkins' ad- 
vice, Churchill's reply avoided the main thrust of the President's 
argument--that  the British offer was not good enough. Chur- 
chill, instead, stated (incorrectly) that he could not do anything 
further since Cripps had already left India. 52 Churchill also 
asserted that he would have to place the issue before the War 
Cabinet. "He could not take responsibility for the defense of 
India if everything has again to be thrown into the melting pot at 
this critical juncture." Leaning on the private nature of 
Roosevelt's cable to "the former naval person," the Prime Min- 
ister said he would not bring the message to the Cabinet's 
attention unless the President asked. Appealing emotionally to 
Roosevelt, Churchill said, "Anything like a serious difference 
between you and me would break my heart and surely injure 
both our countries at the height of this terrible struggle. ''53 
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A day later, Roosevelt received his first and only communi- 
cation from Jawaharlal Nehru. Sent through Louis Johnson, the 
message expressed sentiments not far from the President's own 
views. Although Indians preferred full "freedom and indepen- 
dence," Nehru said they were ready to accept a "truly national 
government that "could organize resistance on a popular basis." 
Nehru stressed, "How anxious and eager we were, and still are, 
to do our utmost for the defense of India. Our sympathies," 
Nehru wrote Roosevelt, are "'with the forces fighting against 
fascism and for democracy and freedom. ''54 Roosevelt sent 
Nehru a friendly and prompt reply. Saying he "was deeply 
gratified by the message," the President assured Nehru the 
United States would "to the utmost extent of its ability" help 
India "resist Japanese aggression." Roosevelt, however, made 
no mention of Indian independence. 55 

Although developments clearly upset the President, he felt 
able to press Churchill only so far on India without damaging the 
wartime alliance. When Secretary of the Interior Harold Ickes 
urged support for Indian independence, the President replied, 
"You are right about India, but it would be playing with fire if 
the British Empire told me to mind my own business. ''s6 Perhaps 
had Roosevelt intervened sooner with Churchill, heeding John- 
son's 4 April plea, or had the fates not placed Harry Hopkins in 
England on 9 April, Johnson's compromise formula on defense 
arrangements might have won acceptance. Still the gap between 
what the British were willing to offer and what the Indian 
Congress wanted was so wide--and there was so much mistrust 
between the two sides--that  an agreement over defense matters 
might soon have foundered over more fundamental differences. 
As Nehru told Louis Johnson in a frank private note, "It  is 
exceedingly difficult to find a formula" to satisfy both Indian 
nationalists and the British for "between the two there is inerad- 
icable and permanent conflict." Nehru wrote further, "The two 
cannot exist together or cooperate with each other, for each 
dislikes and distrusts the other. ''Sv 

Quit India: British Arrest Congress Leadership 
The failure of the Cripps mission left everyone despondent, 

except Winston Churchill, pleased that the effort improved the 
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British image in the United States without his having to relin- 
quish any power to the Indians. In India, the nationalists re- 
garded the British offer as inadequate and insincere, a view that 
has been echoed in later assessments by Nehru, Azad, and 
others. 58 Sir Stafford Cripps placed the blame for failure mainly 
on Mahatma Gandhi. Cripps believed the Congress Working 
Committee was prepared to accept Johnson's formulation on 
defense but after a two-hour telephone conversation with Gan- 
dhi voted 8-4 against the proposal. 59 The Labour Party leader 
refused to blame Churchill or Linlithgow for undercutting him, 
either from loyalty to the war effort or from ignorance of what 
happened behind his back. 

Johnson remained in active contact with Nehru during the 
month after Cripps' departure, desperately trying to find some 
way to restart the negotiations. When Washington rejected a 
proposal by Johnson for a statement of Pacific War aims that 
would appeal to Indian nationalists, 60 he again urged the Presi- 
dent to intervene with Churchill. "America alone can save India 
for the United Nations cause," Johnson cabled Roosevelt on 4 
May. 6~ Presumably with his earlier inability to move Churchill 
in mind, the President accepted the State Department's ap- 
praisal that Johnson's proposal was unlikely to succeed and 
would only make matters worse in India. He cabled back a polite 
but firm rejection. 62 

Johnson, who developed medical problems from the dust in 
India, underwent surgery in New Delhi before returning to the 
United States in mid-May to recuperate. 63 Once back in Wash- 
ington, he stressed his opinion that the British, rather than the 
Indian Congress Party, were to blame for the political impasse. 
State Department officials, agreeing that Churchill may have 
been pleased with the breakdown of the talks, questioned that he 
actively undercut Cripps, as Johnson alleged. 64 

Once London got wind of Johnson's criticisms, Churchill 
countered his charges, cabling Harry Hopkins, "Frankly we do 
not think his comments have very much weight . . . .  We do not 
at all relish the prospect of Johnson's return to India." When 
Hopkins replied that Johnson was sick and had no plans to go 
back to India, the British were relieved. 65 Two months later, 
Johnson resigned from the State Department to become head of 
General Dyestuffs Corporation. After the war, in the Truman 
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administration, he returned to public life to become Secretary of 
Defense, losing this job after the start of the Korean War. 

The British were, on the whole, more than satisfied with the 
impact of the Cripps Mission on American opinion, especially 
the shift in the US press from being critical of the British to 
criticizing the Indian Congress for rejecting the proposals. Gra- 
ham Spry, a Canadian member of Cripps' party, toured the 
United States for two months to put across the British view- 
point. In his assessment, Spry asserted that Americans liked the 
Cripps proposals and thought that Congress should have ac- 
cepted them. 66 

One person who seemed not to share this view, however, 
was the President. When Spry called at the White House on 1 
May 1942, Roosevelt pointedly asked if the British Cabine t  
switched instructions during the later stages of the Cripps nego- 
tiations. Regarding Louis Johnson's role, Roosevelt stated he 
sent the Colonel to India to be "helpful." Smiling broadly, the 
President said, "Perhaps some of your people over there thought 
he was interfering. ''67 Roosevelt also criticized the Cripps pro- 
posals when British Embassy Minister Sir Ronald Campbell 
came to lunch at the President's home at Hyde Park during the 
summer. Roosevelt told the British diplomat that London would 
have been wiser not to have proposed a post-war constitutional 
procedure, but--reiterating the view he put to Churchill in 
March--should have followed the American example of an 
interim system settling on constitutional forms only after a 
period of trial and error. The idea of offering parts of India the 
right to secede, the President said, "sounded terrible" to Ameri- 
can ears after the Civil War. 68 

In the wake of the failure of the Cripps Mission, there was a 
widespread sense of gloom among Indians. Reflecting his frus- 
tration, Mahatma Gandhi unsettled Washington by a number of 
critical comments about the United States in his journal 
Harijan. "A never-ending stream of soldiers from America. 

. . amounts in the end to American influence, if not Ameri- 
can rule added to British," Gandhi wrote on 26 Apr i l .  69 A month 
later, the US Mission heard Gandhi was planning to launch a 
mass civil disobedience movement, apparently "unmoved" by 
warnings that such a movement could "cause absolute chaos, 
and make India an easy prey for the Japanese. ''7° A worried 
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Nehru, just back from a holiday in the Himalayas, sent a mes- 
sage to Louis Johnson in Washington, warning that "events 
seem to be marching towards internal crisis. ''71 

On 4 June, Nehru cabled Colonel Johnson that Gandhi did 
not want to "embarrass the present war effort . . . .  American 
opinion should not misunderstand him; he has emphasized 
Indian independence as this is the only way for India and 
progressive nations to utilize India's great resources in cause of 
world freedom. ''72 Fresh calls by Gandhi for the British to with- 
draw their troops from India and criticism of the moral basis for 
American participation in the war because of US race policies 
hardly reassured Washington, whatever Nehru might say about 
Gandhi's intentions. 73 

Apparently aware of the negative impact of his remarks, 
Gandhi began to modify his position in talking with American 
journalists and in his statements. In the 14 June Harijan, he 
wrote that an independent India would permit the Allies to stay. 
Gandhi also asked the United States to use its influence to help 
India with the British and followed up with a personal letter to 
President Roosevelt, which he sent through journalist Louis 
Fischer. Speaking as a "friend and well wisher of the Allies," 
Gandhi reiterated India's willingness to cooperate with the Al- 
l iesmif  given freedom. Gandhi probably spoiled the positive 
impact of his letter by undiplomatically saying Allied support 
for freedom and democracy seemed "hollow so long as . . .  
America has the Negro problem in her own home. ''74 

The President's short reply to Gandhi, dated 1 August 1942, 
skirted the Mahatma's call for help. Roosevelt, instead, ex- 
pressed the hope that "our common interest in democracy and 
righteousness will enable your countrymen and mine to make 
common cause against a common enemy. ''75 By the time the 
President's message reached India, Gandhi was in jail. The letter 
rested for two years undelivered in the US Mission until the 
British released the Congress leader in late 1944. 

As events in India headed toward crisis, the continuing flow 
of unfavorable war news placed an even greater premium on 
Allied unity and reduced the chances that Roosevelt would risk 
Churchill's ire by pressing him to make concessions to the 
Indian National Congress. In the Middle East, General Rom- 
mel's forces were advancing to within 100 miles of Alexandria, 
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threatening to capture the Suez canal. Soviet armies were reeling 
under renewed Nazi attacks. Although the Japanese had yet to 
invade India, the threat remained. 

On 14 July, the Congress Working Committee, despite 
strong opposition by Nehru, decided in favor of the civil disobe- 
dience campaign--known as the Quit India movement. T h e  
next step would be formal adoption of the proposal by the All- 
India Congress Committee. With the United States closely foi- 
l, owing developments, Nehru told US Mission Political Officer 
Lampton Berry that the Congress would be willing to cooperate 
in the war effort if Britain declared India independent and 
established a provisional government. 76 Nehru's ideas sounded 
surprisingly like President Roosevelt's own pet solution for 
India: form a provisional government and work out the 
details later. 

Following up Nehru's comments and remarks to the press 
by Congress President Maulana Azad, the Mission on 2 1 July 
made a last ditch proposal to avert the civil disobedience cam- 
paign. The Mission suggested that the United States stand guar- 
antor to a British pledge of Indian independence immediately 
after the war, and help the Indian political parties in setting up a 
provisional wartime government. 77 The medicine was too strong 

• for the State Department, aware of the President's disinclination 
to challenge Churchill further on India. The proposal never 

m a d e  it out of the Near Eastern Division. 78 Roosevelt gave 
another sign of his unwillingness to intervene over India when 
he rejected a plea from Chiang Kai-shek. 79 The President cabled 
Churchill after turning down the Chinese leader, "We would not 
of course wish to pursue any course which undermines the 
authority of the Government of India at this critical time. ''8° 

Meeting in Bombay on 8 August, the All-India Congress 
Committee formally adopted the Quit India resolution, calling 
on Britain to withdraw or face a mass civil disobedience cam- 
paign. The day before, Acting Prime Minister Attlee informed 
President Roosevelt that the Government of India would arrest 
all Congress leaders as soon as the Congress adopted the resolu- 
tion. 8~ Despite some domestic pressure for US action, Washing- 
ton remained silent about the arrests of the Congress Party 
leadership, in effect acquiescing in the British crackdown. 
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The American leadership could hardly fathom Gandhi's 
tactic of mounting the Quit India campaignmcertain to disrupt 
the war effort--at the moment the struggle against the Axis hung 
in the balance. In US eyes, it was one thing to launch a civil 
disobedience movement as part of a peacetime struggle for 
freedom, quite another in the midst of world-wide war against 
fascism. Harry Hopkins told British Embassy Minister Camp- 
bell several days later that Roosevelt remained anxious about 
India, although he did not see what could be done. Even if 
Pandit Nehru might say all the right things, Roosevelt's adviser 
commented, "It would be Gandhi who would decide, and we all 
knew what Gandhi was. ''82 

In India, the British authorities, to their dismay, faced 
widespread violence and sabotage after the arrests. A shaken 
Viceroy spoke alarmingly of the most Serious challenge to the 
Raj since the 1857 mutiny, s3 By the end of August, however, the 
government regained control, with official statistics indicating 
more than 1,000 dead and 3,000 seriously injured in the Quit 
India disturbances. The British arrested over 100,000 national- 
ists, many for the duration of the war34 The summer of 1942 
marked the high water mark of the Axis powers. On the frontiers 
of India, after the Japanese advance stalled in the jungles of 
Assam, the threat of invasion receded. In the Middle East, 
Montgomery defeated Rommel at E1 Alamein, driving him out 
of Egypt. The Russians stopped the Nazi tide at Stalingrad. 
Preparations went forward for the invasion of North Africa. 

By this time, the US military build-up of India as a major 
staging area to supply the China theater and to reconquer Burma 
was beginning to moveinto gear. The United States established 
the China-Burma-India (CBI) command under the inspired, 
albeit acerbic, leadership of Lt. General Joseph Stilwell. With 
his headquarters in New Delhi, Stilwell planned the campaign 
for China, trained troops for the fight against the Japanese, and 
dispatched supplies for Chiang Kai-shek's forces by air over the 
Himalayan mountains, the famous "over-the-hump" route. By 
war's end, the United States had assigned 250,000 American 
soldiers to India, almost entirely in supply and engineer func- 
tions and mainly concentrated in eastern India, in Bengal, and 
Assam, where they built numerous airfields. Sensitive to poten- 
tial Indian criticism that this large military presence meant US 
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support for British policy, the President approved the State 
Department's statement, on 1 2 August, that US forces were not 
to become involved in Indian internal affairs and were in India 
only to fight the war against the Axis. 85 

Washington found it difficult to deal with this large-scale 
American military presence--by far the most extensive contact 
the United States had ever had with India. Although the war 
effort remained the primary concern, the US government did 
not want the presence of so many troops to suggest support for 
the way the British were dealing with India. Roosevelt never 
really found a satisfactory way around this problemmhow to 
show America's backing for Indian aspirations for indepen- 
dence without offending the British, his principal wartime ally 
and partner. 

Personal impressions of Americans about India and Indians 
of Americans were mixed. Many, like General Stilwell, de- 
pressed by what they found, unfavorably compared the Indians 
and the Chinese. "In China they have their heads up . . . 
appear to have an object in life. India is hopeless," Stilwell 
wrote. 86 Indians, in turn, found the American GIs more ap- 
proachable, friendlier, and informal than the stand-offish Brit- 
ish. They were, however, put offby US racial policies that rigidly 
separated GIs into segregated units according to color. A few 
publicized racial incidents against Indians by white GIs also 
offended Indian sensitivities. 87 

Phillips Mission: "Amazingly Radical for a Man 
L i k e  B i l l "  

While Lord Linlithgow, in New Delhi, had a frosty view of 
Americans after his experience with Louis Johnson, 88 Churchill, 
Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden, and others thought the United 
States could be brought around if properly handled. The Viceroy 
fretted when White House aide Lauchlin Currie, passing 
through New Delhi, met with Shiva Rao, a leading pro-Congress 
journalist. For once, even a diehard like Churchill grew unsym- 
pathetic about the Viceroy's complaints. The Prime Minister 
commented that even though the British could probably block 
visits by Americans, couldn't the Viceroy "captivate and con- 
vert them?" The Prime Minister went on, "I always make a 
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point of seeing these prominent Americans and make sure they 
get a good show, and the results have been most satisfactory. ''89 

Anthony Eden considered Linlithgow's sour reaction to 
Currie mistaken. The Foreign Secretary, indeed, believed the 
United States should send a high-caliber envoy to India to 
replace Louis Johnson. "I am very doubtful whether we can 
expect to get the results we want unless the tale (about India) is 
told to the President and to America by an American," Eden 
wrote Leo Amery, head of the India Office. 9° The War Cabinet 
agreed with the idea of "more authoritative U.S. representa- 
tion" in India on the understanding that the new envoymunlike 
Louis Johnsonmnot  become involved in the Indian political 
situation. 91 

During the fall, the British pressed the idea on Washington, 
and also on the reluctant Viceroy. After the Johnson episode, the 
British had had enough of political emissaries and wanted a 
senior career diplomat, preferably someone with entr6e to Presi- 
dent Roosevelt. London's favored choices were two of 
America's top diplomats, Joseph Grew, former Ambassador to 
Japan, and William Phillips, former Ambassador to Rome, then 
serving as the head of the London office of the Office of Strategic 
Services (OSS), the US wartime intelligence service. Within the 
State Department, officials were urging the same two names on 
the President, who seemed in no hurry to replace Johnson, 
perhapsmas Gary Hess wrotembecause he was unsure how to 
handle India. 92 

In the meanwhile, pressure in Washington for doing some- 
thing about India was building up. Although the US press ap- 
proved the suppression of the "Quit India" movement, public 
opinion shortly swung in favor of a fresh effort by the British to 
negotiate with Indian nationalists. After Churchill virtually 
slammed the door in a bitter attack on the Indian Congress in 
parliament on 10 September, Roosevelt came under increasing 
pressure. 93 In October, the pot boiled over. In a nationwide radio 
address, former 1940 Republican presidential candidate Wen- 
dell Willkie~reporting on his around-the-world tourmfocussed 
attention on India. During his talks in Asia, Willkie said: 

Many asked: what about India . . . by our silence on India 
we have already drawn heavily on the reservoir of good-will 
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in the East . . . They cannot ascertain from our govern- 
ment's wishy washy attitude toward the problem of India 
what we are likely to feel at the end of the war about the 
other hundred of millions of Eastern peoples .  94 

The Willkie speech forced Roosevelt's hand. Talking to the 
press the next day, the President reaffi .rmed that the Atlantic 
Charter's right of self-determination applied to all peoplesm 
those subject to colonial rule as well as to Axis conquest. Secre- 
tary of State Hull told newsmen the United States was looking 
for ways to deal with the Indian problem. The President acted to 
fill the vacancy in New Delhi, selecting William Phillips to 
replace Johnson as his new Personal Representative. In early 
December, Roosevelt announced the Phillips appointment, 
playing down the idea the envoy was on anything than a normal 
diplomatic mission. 95 

If Louis Johnson typified the back-slapping, rough and 
tumble American politician, William Phillips personified the 
American East Coast aristocracy. Having spent his youth in a 
baronial mansion on Boston's Commonwealth Avenue, Phillips 
graduated from Harvard in 1902. He entered the diplomatic 
service a year later as private secretary to Joseph Choate, the 
Ambassador to London. Advancing rapidly up the diplomatic 
ladder, Phillips caught the eye of President Theodore Roosevelt 
and later served Woodrow Wilson as Assistant Secretary of 
State. Phillips and Franklin Roosevelt, Wilson's Assistant Secre- 
tary of the Navy, became friends. 

In the 1920s, Phillips reached the top of tlae career service, 
becoming Under Secretary, the No. 2 post in the State Depart- 
ment, and later serving as envoy to the Netherlands, Belgium, 
and Canada. Roosevelt reappointed Phillips as Under Secretary 
in 1933, and four years later sent the Bostonian to the sensitive 
post of ambassador to Mussolini's Italy. After Phillips retired in 
1941, Colonel William Donovan asked the diplomat to head the 
OSS's London office. Phillips had a reputation as cautious, 
conservative, and pro-British. It was hard to imagine "someone 
less likely than William Phillips to sympathize with the Indian 
nationalist leaders, much less with the masses. ''96 

Before leaving London, Phillips talked with a wide circle of 
Indians and British, including V. K. Krishna Menon, the Con- 
gress Party's representative and a close friend of Jawaharlal 
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Nehru. Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden urged Phillips to "get 
the whole picture and report it to the President. ''97 Winston 
Churchill followed his own advice about giving Americans a 
good show. Hosting a lunch for Phillips, he spoke with "great 
earnestness" about the assignment, saying "much might come of 
it," but offering few specifics. In a personal touch, the Prime 
Minister sent the new envoy his tattered copy of Twenty-one 
Days in India, a book Churchill himself read on the eve of his 
departure for India as a young cavalryman nearly half a century 
before. 98 

Phillips' instructions from Secretary Hull posed a difficult 
challenge: he was to try to move the British toward a political 
settlement with Indian nationalists without appearing to exert 
pressure or to suggest US intervention. Although Phillips 
thought the reference to a political settlement was "naive", he 
recognized that this task was the heart of his assignment. 99 The 
envoy arrived in India in January 1943. When his plane touched 
down at Karachi airfield, at India's western edge, the scope of 

American military operations at the air base surprised Phillips. 

After reaching New Delhi, Phillips spent his initial days in 
viceregal luxury as Linlithgow's guest at the Viceroy's vast pal- 
ace. The Viceroy hosted a formal dinner in Phillips' honor the 
night Of his arrival. With Indian footmen standing behind each 
of the 38 guests at the long dining table, a five-man bagpipe 
orchestra provided music for the occasion. Taken aback, Phil- 
lips wrote in his diary, "Linlithgow had obviously adopted the 
outward forms of royalty to a pronounced degree."1°° 

At first, the Viceroy reacted positively to Phillips. "It  is 
hard," he wrote Amery, "to imagine a greater contrast to John- 
son . . . (Phillips) seems to me better really than anything we 
could reasonably have hoped for. T M  Gradually this attitude 
changed as Phillips developed his personal views on India and 
the British role there. The first jolt came two weeks after the 
American's arrival. In a talk with the Viceroy, Phillips expressed 
his opinion that progress toward a provisional government and a 
political settlement would be a good thing. Phillips added that 
British officials in London encouraged him to help this process 
along. The discussion triggered a frantic exchange of telegrams 
between the Viceroy and India Office chief Amery, who assured 
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the worried Linlithgow that somehow Phillips had misinter- 
preted what he heard in London, namely that the British would 
welcome his views, but not his intervention. 102 

Had the Viceroy been reading Phillips' letters to President 
Roosevelt, Linlithgow would have had even more grounds for 
discontent. Describing his initial impressions, on 22 January 
1943, Phillips wrote that both Hindus and Muslims lacked 
confidence in British promises to free India. Although Phillips 
found many in Britain ready to grant independence if the Indi- 
ans agreed among themselves, he was unsure if Churchill and the 
Viceroym"old colonialists"Eshared this view.t03 

In a February letter, Phillips was gloomier. "Reluctantly," 
he wrote the President, "I am coming to the conclusion that the 
Viceroy, presumably responsive to Churchill, is not in sympathy 
with any change in Britain's relationship with India. ''~04 The 
Ambassador worded that the presence of so many American 
troops in India, as well as his own assignment there, was creating 
the impression among Indians that the United States supported 
British imperialist policy. It was important, Phillips stressed, to 
correct this impression. When Phillips requested policy guid- 
a n c e  from Washington, the State Department replied that the 
President wanted the envoy to return to Washington for consul- 
tations in May. 105 

On 10 February, Mahatma Gandhi who, along with the rest 
of the Congress leadership was in prison, commenced one of his 
famous fasts in order to attract world attention to the political 
situation in India. Despite the fact that Churchill belittled the 
impact that the fast would have in America, official Washington 
became agitated. On 16 February, Hull called in Halifax to 
express concern lest Gandhi die in custody. Two days later, he 
instructed Phillips to make an informal d6marche with the 
Viceroy. Linlithgow took a rigid line; he was convinced "their 
present policy was right" and "faced with equanimity the possi- 
bility of Gandhi's death. ''106 

When doubts mounted about the survival of the 73-year-old 
Gandhi, Secretary Hull called Lord Halifax again to the State 
Department. During that 20 February meeting, President 
Roosevelt telephoned to emphasize his "extreme embarrass- 
ment" about "sitting with hands folded doing nothing on an 
issue that was likely to have grave international reactions." 
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Stressing the undesirable consequences should the Indian leader 
die, Roosevelt wondered if it were not better to release Gandhi 
from prison. Although Halifax urged Hull not to publicize the 
d6marche, the State Department let the press know that the 
Secretary had conveyed US concerns about Gandhi's 
condition.~07 

Writing the President a day after Gandhi ended the fastm 
defying predictions that he would diemPhillips said he was 
deeply moved by Gandhi's willingness to sacrifice himself for 
Indian independence and found unfeeling the Viceroy's cold 
reaction. He added that most Indians, believing Great Britain 
had no intention of granting independence, were turning to the 
United States for help in breaking the deadlock. 

Phillips then proposed that the United States should re- 
spond positively by assisting Indian political groups in settling 
their differences. He suggested that Roosevelt, with British 
blessing, convene an all-party conference. Failure of the meeting 
would show that India was not ready for self-government. Phil- 
lips wrote he would discuss the idea further with the President 
when he returned to the United States. ~08 

Surprised by Phillips' criticism of the British and sympathy 
for the Indian nationalist cause, Roosevelt told Harry Hopkins 
that Phillips' suggestion was "amazingly radical for a man like 
Bill." Although the President did not respond directly, he asked 
Hopkins to show the message from Phillips to the visiting 
Anthony Eden. 109 One can only surmise that Eden, after reading 
the letter, may have regretted having promoted the assignment 
of Phillips so vigorously. 

In order to gain more detailed impressions of India before 
returning for consultations, Phillips traveled widely in March 
and April. The fact that the Congress Party leadership was in j all 
limited the scope of his contacts with the nationalists. The 
American envoy made a point, nonetheless, of seeing Congress 
supporters whenever possible. Before visiting Bombay, Phillips 
requested permission to see Gandhi, who was still in jail. When 
the Viceroy refused, the envoy accepted the turndown in appar- 
ent good grace. 

Among the political figures Phillips met was Mohammed 
All Jinnah, the leader of the Muslim League, the principal 
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political organization for India's 100 million Muslims. Although 
Jinnah impressed the American diplomat as being highly articu- 
late and intelligent during their nearly four-hour session, Phil- 
lips disliked his proposal for Pakistan--the separate Muslim 
homeland that Jinnah was demanding. "The more I studied 
Jinnah's Pakistan, the less it appealed to me as the answer to 
India's communal problem," Phillips wrote, "To break India 
into two separate nations would weaken both. ''11° History has 
proven him right. 

As the date for Phillips' departure drew nearer, he renewed 
the request to see Mahatma Gandhi. Phillips believed a meeting 
with the jailed Indian leader would help "make Indians feel that 
America is with them and in a position to go beyond mere public 
assurances of friendship." Phillips concluded his usefulness 
would be over if the record did not show he seriously tried to 
meet Gandhi.H 

Tipped off to Phillips' intention by the indiscreet American 
Minister in Afghanistan, Cornelius Van Engert, the Viceroy 
informed London he would not agree to a Phillips-Gandhi meet- 
ing. Increasingly exasperated, Linlithgow asserted, "I am quite 
sure that the only possible line to adopt with the Americans over 
this Indian affair is that it is our affair and not theirs." Although 
Linlithgow personally found Phillips friendly and distinguished, 
the Viceroy worried about the envoy's talks with numerous 
Indian political leaders. London reassured the Viceroy. Anthony 
Eden promised to take a tough line during an upcoming visit to 
Washington. Churchill was ready to cable Harry Hopkins. ~12 

In exchanges with the State Department, Phillips was skep- 
tical of the Viceroy's agreeing to his request, but pressed for 
official authorization. He wanted to make clear that America 
and the British were not marching together on the question of 
self-government for India. Sumner Welles remained stubbornly 
negative, arguing that the British would interpret an official 
request for a meeting as a change in US policy toward India. In 
the end, Secretary Hull gave half a loaf, agreeing that Phillips 
make the request to see Gandhi on a "personal" basis. ~3 

Although annoyed by Washington's lukewarm backing, 
Phillips pressed ahead. An unusual opportunity presented itself 
when Linlithgow invited the American for a tiger hunt in the 
Himalayan foothills near the Viceroy's mountain lodge at Dehra 
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Dun. Swaying back and forth together on top of an elephant for 
three hours during the tiger hunt, the envoy pressed Linlithgow 
to agree to his seeing Gandhi. The Viceroy refused to budge 
although he did assent to Phillips' telling the press about the 
request. "My visit to Dehra Dun," the envoy wrote, "had been a 
hunt for Gandhi rather than a tiger. I had failed in my principal 
objective and had to be content with second best. ''114 

Disappointed but not surprised, Phillips returned to New 
Delhi. At a cocktail party for the press before Phillips' departure, 
Herbert Matthews of the New York Times, primed by the envoy, 
asked about the Gandhi meeting. 115 Phillips lost most of his 
guests as soon as he responded that he had asked the Viceroy to 
see Gandhi and had been turned down. "There was an immedi- 
ate rush for the doors to break the news," Phillips wrote, "My 
mission was over. ''1t6 As he hoped, the news of his attempt to 
meet Gandhi received positive press play in India, improving 
the US image as well as Phillips' own. 117 

Nonetheless, the envoy left India frustrated. Phillips 
summed up his pessimistic impressions in a 19 April letter to the 
President. The British were sitting "pretty." They had locked up 
the Congress leaders and would agree to no political change 
during the war. Militarily, the British in India were not likely to 
offer more than "token assistance" for the war effort. The 
United States would have to bear the burden. Looking to the 
future, Phillips worried that, in Asian eyes, America seemed to 
be supporting British imperialism. He voiced concern about a 
"vast bloc o f  Oriental peoples" with a "growing dislike and 
distrust of the Occidental." The only remedy, Phillips argued, 
was "to try with every means in our power to make Indians feel 
that America is with them and in a position to go beyond mere 
public assurances of friendship."~8 

On 14 May, Phillips arrived in Washington, briefly met the 
President, and then drafted a summary report for Roosevelt. 
This report forcefully argued that India was unlikely to cooper- 
ate fully in the war effort unless the British made a major gesture 
toward independence. The United States should have a voice, 
Phillips asserted, not mutely accept the British view that "this is 
none of your business." 119 Roosevelt agreed with Phillips' analy- 
sis, but knowing Churchill's views on India, was reluctant to 
intervene directly. If a year earlier during the Cripps miss ionm 
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when the United States possessed far greater leveragem 
Roosevelt failed to budge the Prime Minister, there was no 
realistic prospect he could do so in May 1943 with the tide 
beginning to turn in favor of the Allies and India no longer in 
imminent danger of invasion. Phillips was sufficiently persua- 
sive that the President agreed to recommend that Churchill send 
Eden to India to take soundings with all leaders, including 
Gandhi. Roosevelt later passed on the idea to British press baron 
Lord Beaverbrook, who agreed to raise it with Churchil lm 
apparently without result.12° 

Since Churchill happened to be visiting Washington at the 
time, Roosevelt asked Phillips to present his views frankly to the 
Prime Minister. Their meeting at the British Embassy was not 
pleasant. After Phillips outlined his ideas, the Prime Minister 
paced back and forth across the room and angrily confronted the 
American: "My answer to you is this: Take India if that is what 
you want. Take it by all means! But I warn you that i f I  open the 
door a crack there will be the greatest bloodbath in all history. 
Mark my words," he said, shaking a finger at Phillips, "I 
prophesied the present war, and I prophesy a bloodbath. ' 'm 
Phillips wrote in his diary, "It  was helpless to argue. It is only too 
clear he has a complex on India from which he will not and 
cannot be shaken. ''122 

After his stormy session with Churchill, Phillips lunched at 
the White House with the President. Although the Ambassador 
was t aken  aback by Churchill's angry reaction, Roosevelt 
seemed "rather amused but glad that I had spoken so frankly." 
Without the President's having to risk a direct clash with Chur- 
chill over India, the message had been put across. That evening 
Phillips saw Roosevelt again over drinks "as two old friends." 
Phillips raised the question of his returning to India, saying he 
saw little point unless a change in the British attitude enabled 
him to be of help in negotiating a settlement, t23 Roosevelt 
agreed; he knew there was little the United States could do as 
long as Churchill continued to dig in his heels. 

Phillips never went back to New Delhi, although he techni- 
cally remained the President's Personal Representative for In- 
dia until his retirement in March 1945, just weeks before 
Roosevelt's death. In the fall of 1943, Phillips returned to 
London, assuming new responsibilities as General Eisenhower's 
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Political Adviser, a function he filled until his retirement. Phil- 
lips maintained an active interest in Indian developments--and 
sympathy for nationalist aspirations. In keeping with 
Roosevelt's policy, he undertook no initiatives with the British 
authorities. TM 

The war produced two unusual US envoys to India, Louis 
Johnson and William Phillips. Despite their radically different 
backgrounds and styles--Johnson, the political wheeler-dealer 
who hardly knew where India was, and Phillips, the consum- 
mate diplomat, four times a US envoy and twice Under Secre- 
tary of State--they reached the same conclusions: Both believed 
the British did not want to give up India. Both thought the 
United States should actively press for Indian independence. 
Both ultimately failed to move President Roosevelt into a battle 
that he was likely to lose with the closest wartime ally of the 
United States. 

1943-1945: Roosevelt Remains Inactive on India 
In Phillips' absence, leadership of the American diplomatic 

mission in New Delhi fell to George Merrell, a more junior 
career diplomat. Even though the staff continued to report 
closely on the Indian situation, remaining critical of the British 
attitude, US diplomats in India--like Phillips in London--were 
passive, rather than active, observers. In late 1943, Linlithgow 
retired, replaced by Lord Wavell, the previous Commander-in- 
Chief. Although more liberal, Wavell was kept on a tight leash by 
Churchill, who remained adamantly opposed to political con- 
cessions. Thus, a new Viceroy brought no change in Britain's 
policy of standing pat on India. 

By the end of 1943, President Roosevelt was becoming 
uneasy about reports in the press and from the Mission in New 
Delhi that the US unwillingness or inability to influence British 
policy--and the large-scale presence of American troops--was 
causing growing anti-American sentiments among Indian na- 
tionalists. To counter this, the President took the initiative on 4 
February 1944 to declare again that the sole reason for the 
American military presence in India was to defeat the 
Japanese. 125 

Roosevelt's action helped to some extent in allaying Indian 
disappointment about US policy. A few months later, a leak of 
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William Phillips' final report to the President gave an even 
stronger boost to US standing with Indians. After columnist 
Drew Pearson on 25 July published parts of the envoy's report to 
Roosevelt, the story created a sensation in India and in Brit- 
ainmalthough it caused little reaction in the United States. 
Phillips' scathing comments about the British and his support 
for nationalist aspirations delighted Indians. The British were 
furious about Phillips' depiction of them as unbending imperial- 
ists scarcely concerned about winning the war against Japan. tz6 

When the British pressed for an official disavowal by the US 
government, Hull successfully argued with Roosevelt against 
this on the grounds that the State Department agreed with 
Phillips' views. 127 The US refusal to repudiate Phillips angered 
the British, boosting US stock further in India. Roosevelt told 
Phillips' wife that  he assumed Sumner Welles was the source of 
the leak. After leaving the State Department in 1943, Welles 

• became highly critical of the British handling of Indiamin con- 
trast to his strongly pro-British stance when he was Under 
Secretary. 128 

Pearson and Senator "Happy" Chandler of Kentucky 
stirred additional controversy by leaking some Government of 
India telegrams, including one that said Phillips would be per- 
sona non grata if he tried to return to India. Word of this 
message~apparently leaked by an Indian member of Bajpai's 
s taff~proved enormously embarrassing to all concerned. When 
Phillips tried to retire in August 1944, supposedly for family 
reasons, Roosevelt decided the envoy should remain as his 
Personal Representative for India in view of the fuss. By under- 
scoring the continuing policy difference with the British, the 
President's refusal to accept Phillips' resignation provided a 
further fillip to US standing in India. 129 

Just before Christmas 1944, the Indian nationalist cause in 
the United States received a substantial boost from the extended 
visit of Jawaharlal Nehrn's sister, Vijaya Lakshmi P a n d i t ~ h e r  
flight to New York arranged by US air force commander Gen- 
eral Stratemeyer with the blessing of the State Department. ~3° 
Although Mrs. Pandit's ostensible purpose was to see two daugh- 
ters at college in New England and to attend a Pacific Affairs 
conference, prominent friends of the Indian nationalist cause, 
such as author Pearl Buck and Time-Life publisher Henry Luce, 
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introduced Mrs. Pandit to many top Americans. Nehru's sister 
also undertook a well-publicized and successful cross-country 
speaking tour on behalf of Indian independence. Partly in re- 
sponse to the pressure Mrs. Pandit generated, the State Depart- 
ment reaffirmed US interest in a political settlement in India. 
Acting Secretary of State Joseph Grew told the press on 29 
January 1945 that the United States "would be happy to contrib- 
ute in any appropriate manner to a satisfactory settlement. We 
have close ties of friendship, both with the British and with the 
people of India. ''131 When the President was attending the Yalta 
conference, Mrs. Eleanor Roosevelt invited Mrs. Pandit to 
lunch at the White Housema further sign of US desire to keep on 
good terms with Indian nationalists. 132 

Just a month before his death, Roosevelt spoke again of his 
concern about colonialism in Asia, this time in a talk with State 
Department adviser Charles Taussig, The President commented 
that much of the Orient is "ruled by a handful of whites and they 
resent it." The President told Taussig, "Our goal must be to help 
them achieve independenceEl,100,000,000 potential enemies 
are dangerous. Churchill doesn't understand this. ''133 

"Churchill Doesn't Understand This" 

These wordsm"Churchil l  doesn't understand th i s " - -  
summed up the problem Roosevelt faced throughout the war in 
dealing with India. Supporting nationalist hopes for indepen- 
dence and worried about post-war Asian attitudes toward the 
United States, the President strongly disagreed with the stand- 
pat imperialism of his ally Winston Churchill. At the time of the 
Cripps Miss ion~when India itself was threatened with inva- 
sionERoosevelt  pressed Churchill hard to grant India de facto 
independence. Their written exchanges over India are among 
the sharpest between the two wartime leaders who so admired 
and respected each other. 

Gandhi 's tacticsEappalling to Amer icansEof  launching 
the Quit India civil disobedience campaign at the height of the 
war in August 1942 and his earlier criticism of the United States 
played into the hands of British hardliners. Winning the war 
came first in Washington. Those opposing the war ef for tEin  
effect what Gandhi was doing although he claimed he was n o t e  
got short shrift. Had the Indian National Congress not launched 



38 ESTRANGED DEMOCRACIES 

the Quit India movement, Roosevelt might have been willing to 
press more vigorously for further negotiations. With the entire 
Congress leadership in jail, there was, instead, little Roosevelt 
could do given Churchill's rigidly imperialist attitude. 

Aware US standing among the nationalists was slipping, 
Roosevelt worried about the implications for future US-Indian 
relations. The President succeededmto some extentmin dis- 
tancing the United States from the British through symbolic 
gestures, such as statements on the role of the US military in 
1942 and 1944, sending Phillips in 1943, and then refusing to 
disown the leaked Phillips report in 1944. 

If  the US attitude toward Indian nationalism was ambiva- 
lent~support  for independence yet disappointment over the 
attitude of the nationalists toward the war ef for t~the  Indian 
reaction to US policy was similarly ambiguous. The Indians 
appreciated the indications of US support for the nationalist 
cause. Johnson's and Phillips' views were known during the war. 
Roosevelt's sharp exchanges with Churchill were revealed in 
later years. At the same time, Indians felt let down by the United 
States, especially after Roosevelt refused to intervene in August 
1942 over the Quit "ndia movement and thereafter remained 
unwilling to press the British to make further political 
concessions. 

Between Indian nationalists and Americans, the priorities 
ultimately differed. For Indian Congress Party leaders, even for 
those like Nehru who were emotionally supportive of the Allied 
cause, the top priority remained that of ending British rule and 
gaining India's independence, For Roosevelt, winning the war 
was the top order of business. Everything else came second, 
including independence for India i f ~a s  was the case - - th i s  
would risk a serious rupture with his British allies. Because 
Indians and Americans expected~and thought they deserved-- 
each other's support, the course of events during the war sharp- 
ened the mutual disappointment. This first extended interaction 
between the United States and India foreshadowed the frustra- 
tions that would follow during the next five decades. 
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Chapter II 

Truman: Dealing with 
Neutralism 

H a r r y  S. Trumanmeven the name sounded un- 
familiarmassumed the presidency with the nation, and indeed 
the world, stunned by the death of Franklin D. Roosevelt, who 
led the United States for twelve difficult years through the 
Depression and World War II. A compromise candidate for Vice 
President, Truman was in office barely a month when he became 
the President. The former Senator from Missouri had little 
experience in foreign affairs and no special knowledge of Asia or 
India. 

One of his first tasks, just ten days after Roosevelt's death, 
was to convene the San Francisco Conference to establish the 
United Nations, the post-war organization on which Roosevelt 
placed such high hopes as a mechanism for keeping the peace. 
Thanks to Roosevelt's pressure in December 1941, India was a 
founder-membernalthough still under British rule in April 
1945. The Indian delegation, selected by the Viceroy Lord 
Wavell, included Indian supporters of the British Raj, but no 
Congress nationalists. Except for Gandhi, released in late 1944, 
the party leadership was still languishing in prison. 

To protest the composition of the Indian delegation, 
Nehru's sister, Vijaya Lakshmi Pandit, who was visiting the 
United States, led a nationalist delegation to San Francisco, 
claiming to be the true representatives of India. Although Mrs. 

47 
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Pandit 's attempt to challenge the official Indian delegation ap- 
pointed by the Viceroy got nowhere, the effort proved a public 
relations success. Representatives of France, the Philippines, 
and, most important, the Soviet Union, called on Mrs. Pandit. 
Soviet Foreign Minister Molotov won friends in India by declar- 
ing her delegation the true voice of India. Although the United 
States gave no sign of support for the nationalists at San Fran- 
cisco, President Truman invited Mrs. Pandit to meet with him 
at the White House before she left for India. The gesture was 
appreciated. 1 

The State Department also accepted the advice of William 
Phillips to urge the British to adopt a more liberal approach 
toward the subcontinent. Secretary of State Edward Stettinius 
and Under Secretary Joseph Grew raised the India question with 
visiting Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden in April and May 
1945. Although the Americans received a noncommittal re- 
sponse, US pressure may have played a role in the British offer of 
an interim government in June 1945.2 

Just before the Allied victory in Europe on 8 May 1945, the 
British released Nehru and other Congress Party leaders from 
jail. During the nearly three years the Congressites were impris- 
oned, Mohammed Ali Jinnah and other Muslim League leaders, 
who remained free, won much increased support for the goal of a 
separate Muslim homelandmPakistan. Two months later, in 
July 1945, after the British Labour Party defeated the Conserva- 
tives, Clement Attlee replaced Winston Churchill as Prime Min- 
ister. Unlike Churchill, Attlee and the Labour Party favored an 
early handover of power in India. 

With Labour in power, Indian independence was no longer 
in doubt. Although the United States continued to follow events 
closely, pressure from Washington on London to end colonial 
rule was not needed. US officials believed it was up to Indian 
political leaders and the British to work out the modalities, and 
did not see the need for trying to influence the process. In fact, as 
the Truman administration grappled with a host of post-war 
domestic and foreign policy problems, South Asia was scarcely 
visible on the radar screen. 

As the US military presence in India wound down after the 
Japanese surrender in August 1945, some GIs found themselves 
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entangled in heightened Indian domestic tensions. One US ser- 
viceman died and more than thirty were injured in riots in 
Calcutta in November 1945 to protest trials of Indian National 
Army (INA) membersmthe captured Indian troops that fought 
for the Japanese. In February 1946 following the conviction of 
an INA officer, some 37 Americans were among 400 casualties 
in Calcutta riots. In Bombay, a mob waving the Congress Party 
flag burned the US Information Service Office. 3 

These troubles were the exception. On the whole, the 
250,000 US troops in the CBI Theater departed India without 
problems. Except for stray racial incidents, they left behind a 
good impression. The GIs seemed friendlier and less standoffish 
than the British. The US soldiers, however, carried away re- 
markably few positive memories from this first extensive con- 
tact between the United States and India. For most GIs, India 
was an ordeal in which the jungles of Assam and the slums of 
Calcutta erased any Hollywood stereotypes of glamour and ro- 
mance in the mysterious East. The India theater during World 
War II, according to political scientist Harold Isaacs, produced 
hardly any nostalgia at all, let alone any significant literature or 
movies. 4 

From New Delhi, American diplomats began to report signs 
of dissatisfaction about post-war US policy toward Asia. After 
President Truman reaffirmed US support for self-determination 
for all peoples in October 1945, Pandit Nehru welcomed the 
statement, but added his hope that it represented "something 
more than an expression of vague goodwill." Although "every- 
where in Asia and Africa people looked up to America," Nehru 
commented critically, "There has been some disillusionment in 
India in regard to American championing independence for 
freedom. ''5 Commissioner George Merrell, who succeeded Phil- 
lips as head of the New Delhi office, kept Washington informed 
regarding on-going Indian criticism of the US failure to press 
British, French, and Dutch allies for decolonization of their 
remaining holdings in Asia. 6 When the Philippines formally 
gained their independence on the fourth of July 1946, Pandit 
Nehru sent a barbed message of congratulations. "Some coun- 
tries that are called independent are far from free and are under 
the economic or military domination of some great power," 
Nehru cabled, "We hope that is not so with the Filipinos. ''7 
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Within the Congress Party leadership, an aging Gandhi 
played a less active role. Nehru and the more conservative 
Sardar Vallabhbhai Patelmlike Gandhi from Gujarat in western 
Indiamemerged as the two senior leaders. Although in domestic 
matters, the two shared authority, in foreign policy, Nehru, 
because of his longstanding position as Congress spokesman and 
his unusually broad knowledge, was unchallenged. During 1946, 
Pandit Nehru was at first somewhat vague in talking about the 
foreign policy an independent India would pursue, but the seeds 
for neutralism were already germinating. "We want to be 
friendly with the three principal powersmAmerica, Russia, and 
England~it is impossible for me to say what military and other 
alliances a free India may approve. Generally speaking, it would 
not like to entangle itself in other people's feuds and imperialist 
rivalries," he told journalists in March. 8 In August 1946, talking 
with the New York Times, he took much the same approach, 
mainly stressing Indian support for decolonization in Africa and 
Asia. 9 A month later, in September, after the formation of the 
Interim Government, in which Nehru served as Deputy Leader 
and Foreign Minister, he was more precise, declaring "India will 
follow an independent policy, keeping away from the power 
politics of groups aligned one against another."1° The concept of 
neutralism was thus articulated a year before independence. 

In the period of intense negotiations in 1946-47 between the 
British, the Congress, and the Muslim League over the future of 
British India, the United States watched with interest and gener- 
ally supported British efforts hoping, like London, that some 
compromise~such as that envisaged by the British Cabinet 
Mission Plan of May 1946--could be found to permit an inde- 
pendent India to remain united. The battle lines were, however, 
sharply drawn following the 1946 Indian general elections. In 
contrast to the balloting in 1937, the League swept the seats 
reserved for Muslims, lending far greater credibility to its de- 
mand for a separate Muslim homelandmPakistan. After the 
British formed an interim government in September 1946, 
which the Congress, but not the League, initially joined, Acting 
Secretary of State Dean Acheson sought and received President 
Truman's approval to raise the US and Indian diplomatic mis- 
sions to full embassy status, a move designed to bolster the 
standing of the interim government.11 
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Technically still under British rule, India made its de facto 
international debut in the fall of 1946. Ironically, Mrs. Vijaya 
Lakshmi Pandi t - -an  outsider in 1945 at San Francisconbe- 
came the leader of the official Indian delegation to the UN's first 
General Assembly session at Lake Success, New York. Her 
instructions from Nehru, her brother and the foreign minister, 
called for India's steering clear of the democratic and commu- 
nist power groups. Although stressing "we have to be on friendly 
terms with both Russia and America," Nehru addednforeshad-  
owing his later slant on nonalignmentm"Personally I think that 
in this worldwide tug-of-war there is on the whole more reason 
on theside of Russia, not always of course. ''~z 

Also revealing of Nehru's sensitivities and pride was the 
advice he gave Asaf Ali, a senior Muslim member of the Con- 
gress Party, who became India's first Ambassador to the United 
States in late 1946. "The United States are a great power," 
Nehru wrote, "and we want to be friendly with them for many 
reasons. Nevertheless I should like to make it clear that we do 
not propose to be subservient to anybody . . . .  We have 
plenty of good cards in our hands and there is no need whatever 
for us to appear as suppliants before any country. ''13 

When the Indian envoy paid his initial protocol call on 
Secretary of State George Marshall on 26 February 1947,14 Asaf 
Ali seemed to have forgotten Nehru's advice. His remarksmas 
recorded by Marshall~were at some variance from the Nehru 
line. AsafAli urged India's political and economic development 
so that "it would be a bastion for the world against the great 
northern neighbor which now casts its shadow over two conti- 
nents, Asia and Europe." Asaf Ali also referred to India's need 
for economic help. "A number of'Tennessee Valley Authorities' 
were projected for India and it was especially in regard to these 
that the Ambassador would call upon me for assistance," Mar- 
shall recalled. 15 

A more accurate preview of the troubled relationship oc- 
curred on 14 January 1947, when John Foster Dul les~a  Repub- 
lican Party adviser to the US delegation to the United N a t i o n s ~  
criticized alleged Communist influence in the Indian interim 
government in a speech to the National Publishers' Association 
in New York City. Nehru reacted with "surprise and regret," 
telling the press Dulles' comments "show lack of knowledge of 
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facts and want of appreciation of the policy we are pursuing."16 
The State Department promptly instructed the New Delhi Em- 
bassy to tell Nehru the US government did not share Dulles' 
views and, indeed, was "favorably impressed with India's 
avowed intention to pursue (an) independent but cooperative 
policy. ''17 In a letter to State Department official Henry Villard, 
Dulles explained he did not mean to suggest India was a Soviet 
puppet but based his comments "on his impression of the Indian 
delegation to the United Nations and particularly of delegate 
Krishna Menon, who he thought a 'confirmed Marxian' and a 
prot6g6 not only of Nehru but of Soviet Foreign Minister Vy- 
acheslav Molotov."ls 

As the impasse between the Congress and the League con- 
tinued, Washington became increasingly concerned about the 
future of India. "Any halt in the constitutional process there 
may well cause widespread chaos similar China which would 
last for many years and could have worldwide repercussions," a 
worried State Department cabled the US Embassies in London 
and New Delhi on the eve of a last-ditch British effort to break 
the deadlock by flying Nehru, Jinnah, and other top Indian 
leaders for talks in London.~9 On 3 December 1946, Dean Ache- 
son, then Acting Secretary, spoke out strongly during a press 
conference in favor of mutual concessions to permit a united 
India. Acheson urged both the Indian National Congress and the 
Muslim League to accept the British Cabinet Mission Plan for a 
federation. Acheson expressed confidence that the plan would 
permit "an Indian federal union in which all elements of the 
population have ample scope to achieve their legitimate political 
and economic aspirations., 2° The Department instructed the 
Embassy in London to convey Acheson's words to Nehru and 
Jinnah, and the Embassy in New Delhi to review the text with 
Sardar Patel. 21 

For the next several weeks, US diplomats in London, New 
Delhi, and Karachi forcefully pressed League leader Jinnah and 
his chief lieutenant, Liaquat All Khan, and Congress leaders 
Nehru and Patel to accept the Cabinet plan without qualifica- 
tions. The efforts led nowhere. Saying it was up to the Congress 
to take the initiative, the League refused to move. The Congress 
leaders, in turn, spurned the nudge from the United States, 
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expressing doubts about the sincerity of the League-- 
and of the British. 22 

In February 1947, disheartened by failure to achieve a 
compromise formula on independence, the British decided 
upon shock treatment. Prime Minister Attlee announced Brit- 
ain's intention to depart from India not later than June 1948 
with or without agreement on the future political structure. He 
named Lord Louis Mountbatten to replace Wavell as the Vice- 
roy to implement the new policy. As a courtesy--and a sign of 
the US global leadership rolemthe British Ambassador in Wash- 
ington, Lord Inverchapel, informed Secretary George Marshall 
of the decision a day in advance and also left a top secret analysis 
of the background to the British decision. 23 Four months later, in 
June 1947, Attlee called in Lewis Douglas, the US envoy in 
London, to give him advance word of the decision to move the 
date of independence ahead to August 1947 and, if  a last try by 
Mountbatten failed to attain agreement on a united India, to 
accept partition into a "Hindustan dominion and a Pakistan 
dominion." Attlee, Douglas reported, was "in sober mood, at 
times tinged with sorrow. ''24 

In the spring of 1947, the State Department sent career 
diplomat Raymond Hare, slated to assume charge of South 
Asian affairs, to spend three months learning about the subcon- 
tinent. Within the Department, the former Near Eastern Divi- 
sion became an Office, covering the Near East, South Asia, and 
Africa, with Loy Henderson, a former specialist in Soviet affairs, 
named as the first Director. Meeting leading political personali- 
ties, the Viceroy, Gandhi, Nehru, Patel, Jinnah, and others, and 
traveling widely through the subcontinent, Hare had an unusual 
opportunity to witness the last days of the British India and to 
ponder how the United States should deal with independent 
India. 

Hare's meeting with Mahatma Gandhi began with a lengthy 
discussion by the Indian leader on the "beneficial mental effect" 
of spinning cotton "in times of emotional stress such as the 
present." When Hare commented he found little enthusiasm in 
his travels for independence, Gandhi replied the American was 
right. "The reason was simple," the Mahatma stated, "It  was 
partition." When Hare asked how sympathies between the 
United States and India could be deepened, Gandhi answered, 
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"'By the employment of "unselfishness, hitherto unknown in 
international relations. ''25 

During talks with Nehru, Hare enquired about India's post- 
independence foreign policy. The Congress leader, expected to 
become India's prime minister, said the country would stay "out 
of entanglement in the current power struggle in the belief that 
such was best for India and best for world peace." Nehru added 
there was "a general fear of American economic penetration," 
but he thought "India would have to depend on the United 
States for certain types of support." Overall, he emphasized 
India's desire for friendly relations with the United States. 26 
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Hare puzzled about what the US role should be in dealing 
with an independent India. His thoughts foreshadowed many of 
the questions that would occupy US foreign policy planners 
dealing with India in later years: 

In the past our policy had been largely a Revolutionary War 
hang-over of anti-imperialism and helping colonial peoples 
to gain their independence; in other words, we had needled 
the British to take a more liberal attitude vis-a-vis the 
Indians . . . .  But things had changed; India was appar- 
ently getting its break but, more important, we had gradu- 
ated from the role of kibitzing and were playing the hand 
ourselves. How should we play the Indian trick? Could we 
do anything to bring them in actively on our side? If not, did 
it make any particular difference? Could the Russians make 
any real headway in India? Might it be too much for them to 
handle as it might be for us? 2v 

When India finally gained freedom on 15 August 1947, 
sadness over the turmoil and bloodshed that followed partition 
mingled with the joy of freedom from British rule. Washington 
paid only limited attention to the dramatic events in the subcon- 
tinent. At the very moment India and Pakistan were emerging as 
independent nations, the United States was shaping the concept 
of containment of communism that became the driving force 
behind US national security policy for the next 44 years. During 
the summer of 1947, the US foreign policy focus lay on the 
mounting difficulties in relations with the Soviet Union. In 
April, President Truman announced the policy of aid for Greece 
and Turkey after Britain decided it could no longer shoulder the 
burden. In June, Secretary of State George Marshall launched 
the economic recovery program for Europe that bears his name. 

India's already expressed desire to have a foreign policy 
independent of the two power blocs that were then forming did 
not create too many worries in the State Department. The main 
American concern in Asia related to t he  sinking fortunes of 
China's Nationalist leader, Chiang Kai-shek, and the growing 
strength of his Chinese Communist rivals. In India, as expected, 
Pandit Nehru, in addition to his duties as Prime Minister, 
continued as Foreign Minister. In his many speeches and writ- 
ings on international issues over the years, and especially in 
1946 and 1947, Nehru had already articulated the broad out- 
lines of the foreign policy India would follow. 
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First, and uppermost at independence, was India's support 
for rapid decolonization--the end of European overseas em- 
pires. Free after its long struggle with the British, India wanted 
the rest of Asia and Africa to gain freedom from Western coloni- 
alism. Foot dragging by the West European colonial powers, 
especially by the Dutch in Indonesia and the French in Indo- 
China--and US reluctance to press its European friends too 
hard--disappointed Prime Minister Nehru. The Indians, on the 
other hand, were pleased by consistent Soviet support on 
decolonization although they recognized this was hardly 
disinterested. 

Second was Nehru's desire that Asia's destiny rest in Asian 
hands and that Europe play a reduced role. Nehru envisaged a 
close partnership with China and its leader Chiang Kai-shek, a 
supporter of Indian independence during the difficult war years. 
The Indian Prime Minister soon became free Asia's best known 
and most articulate spokesman, sponsoring a pan-Asian confer- 
ence in New Delhi in 1947. 

T h i r d  was deep Indian resentment about racial prejudice 
and discrimination, particularly against non-whites in South 
Africa, where a million Indians lived, and also racial segregation 
in the US South. Nehru made South Africa India's top issue at 
the very first UN General Assembly in 1946. 28 

Finally, there was Nehru's desire that India play an active 
role in world affairs without joining either of the two power 
blocs. Nehru favored a policy of"non-entanglement"mthe term 
he used at the t ime-- to  ensure that India would not see its 
independence abridged by joining one of the two blocs, presum- 
ably the US-led Western group. By standing apart, Nehru be- 
lieved India would preserve its freedom of action, increase its 
international stature, and reduce the possibility that foreign 
affairs would emerge as a divisive domestic issue. In any case, as 
the strongest power in South Asia, India did not need external 
support to bolster its foreign policy position. 29 

The first US Ambassador to India was Dr. Henry Grady, a 
businessman and former Assistant Secretary of State. No stran- 
ger to the subcontinent from his service as head of the 1942 war 
production mission, Grady arrived in New Delhi in June 1947, 
two months before independence with the interim government 



/ 

T R U M A N  5 7 

still in office. In a July meeting, Nehru gave Grady his thoughts 
on policy questions: 

• India desired to avoid involvement with either of the 
power blocs, but, at the same time, wished warm rela- 
tions with the United States. 

• The Soviet Union held attraction for India as an exam- 
ple of how a backward country could develop rapidly. 
Politically, however, India disliked the undemocratic 
and totalitarian nature of the Soviet regime. 

• India had concerns American economic power would in 
some way impinge on her sovereignty. At the same time, 
India needed and desired US capital goods to help the 
country's development. 

• India's economy would probably broadly follow the 
British Socialist model. As in Britain, basic heavy indus- 
tries would be nationalized. 30 

Four months after independence, in December 1947, State 
Department officials dealing with South Asia and Paul Alling 
and Henry Grady, the Ambassadors to Pakistan and India, met 
in Washington to review the situation. The record of their 
discussions indicated less concern about US relations with India 
and Pakistan than about their relations with each otherm 
strained by the continued exodus of Hindu and Muslim refugees 
and the outbreak of fighting over Kashmir. The consensus of the 
meeting was that the United States should promote some sort of 
loose economic cooperation between the two states. 31 Beyond 
expressions of good-will and friendship, US policy toward South 
Asia remained nebulous. Independent India was not a matter of 
high priority in Washington. 

The Kashmir Dispute: US Reaction Disappoints India 
Neither the Cold War, dollar diplomacy, nor anti-colonial- 

ism caused the first major bilateral difference between the 
United States and independent India. The problem arose over 
the unfinished business of part i t ionmthe dispute over the 
princely state of Jammu and Kashmir. Under the British ground 
rules, the rulers of the several hundred princely states were 
encouraged to join either India or Pakistan, taking into account 
factors such as geography and the religious make-up of their 
populations. By August 1947, all but three of more than 350 
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states had acceded to India or Pakistan. Two of the three still 
standing apart were, unfortunately, the largest states, Kashmir 
and Hyderabad. 

Strategically located in the Himalayas in the northwest 
portion of the subcontinent, Kashmir had a Hindu ruler and 
Muslim majority population. The natural beauty and cool eli- 
mate of the central valley or Vale of Kashmir had attracted the 
Mughal Emperors and then the British as a haven from the 
searing heat of Indian summers. When the temperature 
mounted in May to over 100 degrees on the plains, the British 
flocked to houseboats on the lakes near the 5,000 foot high 
capital of Srinagar, where the soaring Himalayas provided a 
magnificent backdrop. 

The Hindu ruler of Kashmir, an unpopular despot, hesi- 
tated. Before the British relinquished power, he took a prelimi- 
nary step toward Pakistan but failed to complete the act of 
accession. Communal disorders broke out in many parts of the 
state in mid-summer. In October 1947--two months after inde- 
pendenceBas the Maharajah continued to dither about acces- 
sion, Pathan tribesmen from Pakistan's Northwest Frontier 
Province, known for their fierce fighting qualities and their 
Islamic fanaticism, swept into the state, advancing swiftly to- 
ward the capital of Srinagar. In panic, the Maharajah appealed 
for Indian help. Under pressure from Delhi, he executed the 
documents of accession to India. 

Governor General Lord Mountbatten convinced Nehru 
that Kashmir's accession should be conditional until the people 
of the state could vote on the final status. Mountbatten's accep- 
tance of accession for the Government of India stated explicitly 
that when law and order were restored and the invaders gone, 
"the question of the state's accession should be settled by a 
reference to the people." A few days later, in a 2 November radio 
broadcast, Prime Minister Nehru similarly stated that a plebi- 
scite would settle the state's fate. 3z 

A dramatic airlift of Indian troops secured the Srinagar 
airport, preventing the fall of Kashmir's capital. The Indian 
soldiers then gradually drove back the Pathan tribesman, the 
invaders having failed to seize Srinagar when it lay defenseless, 
wasting their advantage on looting and pillaging. After bilateral 
attempts to end the fighting failed, Nehru--following 
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Mountbatten's counsel--took the issue to the United Nations 
Security Council, believing that India's legal and moral ease 
against Pakistan was strong. 33 Quite apart from political consid- 
erations, Jawaharlal Nehru had a strong emotional attachment 
to Kashmir, his family's homeland. The Indian leader was a 
Kashmiri Pundit, a Brahmin sub-caste that ranked near the top 
of the Hindu social order. Nehru was also a personal friend of 
Sheikh Mohammed Abdullah, the charismatic leader of the 
nationalists in Kashmir, to whom the Maharajah turned over 
effective power after joining India. Politically, the Sheikh had 
close ties with the Indian Congress Party, supported the idea of a 
secular state, and opposed the concept of Pakistan. 34 

Initially, the United States was reluctant to become in- 
volved in the Kashmir problem. When British Commonwealth 
Secretary Noel-Baker presented detailed ideas in January 1948 
for conducting a plebiscite under international control, the State 
Department's response was lukewarm. Near East Office Direc- 
tor Loy Hendersonmsoon to become Ambassador to Ind iam 
urged Acting Secretary of State Robert Lovett to stay out of the 
dispute. He argued the United States was already overcommit- 
ted globally, should avoid "making a choice between giving 
support to the interests of India or of Pakistan," and should not 
through US involvement provide the Soviets an opening to mix 
into the affairs of South Asia. State Department officials were 
also skeptical the United Nations would prove effective in 
resolving the dispute) 5 

The United States, nonetheless, cooperated with the British 
when the Kashmir issue came before the UN Security Council. 
The initial presentations by India and Pakistan made clear the 
enormous gap between the two parties. As Indian political scien- 
tist Sisir Gupta wrote, "Both appeared as the aggrieved parties, 
both as the complainants. To India, Pakistan had committed 
aggression and violated her territory; to Pakistan, India was 
always hostile and was intent on undoing the creation of Paki- 
stan itself. ''36 

With the US and British delegations the prime movers, the 
Security Council on 21 April 1948 adopted a resolution setting 
up the UN Commission for India and Pakistan (UNCIP). The 
Indians reacted sourly, angry that the UN failed to condemn 
Pakistan as the aggressor and seemed to be treating the two 
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countries as equal parties to the dispute. Based apparently on 
what Belgian Ambassador Prince de Ligne told him, Nehru saw 
the US stance on Kashmir as influenced less by the merits of the 
dispute than by US global interests in light of the tensions with 
the Soviets. Expressing great distress to the Viceroy Lord 
Mountbatten, Nehru called the American and British attitude 
on Kashmir, "completely wrong," warning their stance would 
have "far-reaching results in our relations." Writing his sister, he 
charged, "The U.S.A. and the U.K. have played a dirty role." 
Nehru told British Commonwealth Office Under Secretary 
Gordon Walker "the motives of the United States were to get 
military and economic concessions in Pakistan. ''37 

During most of the summer of 1948, UNCIP shuttled back 
and forth between Pakistan and India trying in vain to reach 
agreement on arrangements for a cease-fire and a plebiscite. A 
major hurdle was a basic disagreement over who would control 
Kashmir during the plebiscite. Pakistan wanted a UN-led ad- 
ministration. The Indians wanted Sheikh Abdullah to remain in 
charge of the state, aided by UN observers. When India eventu- 
ally accepted the UNCIP proposal in August, Pakistan rejected 
the plan. 

In October 1948, as UNCIP continued its work, Secretary 
of State George Marshall--at  the urging of British Foreign Sec- 
retary Ernest BevinEdiscussed Kashmir with Prime Minister 
Nehru during the UN General Assembly session in Paris. Ac- 
cording to Marshall, Nehru was touchy during their discussion, 
finding it difficult to remain calm while talking about Kashmir. 
Beyond the issue of Pakistan's aggression, Nehru asserted with 
much emotion that the fate of Kashmir was important for In- 
dia's policy of secular democracy which he contrasted with 
Pakistan's idea of a state based on religion. Eventually calming 
down, Nehru, in the end, said he was "very conscious of this 
problem, was sincerely desirous of having it settled and he hoped 
that some solution could be worked out.'38 

1 January 1949 saw an important step forward as both 
countries accepted a cease-fire. Although there was no agree- 
ment on the arrangements for holding a plebiscite, the Security 
Council appointed Admiral Chester Nimitz, commander of the 
US Navy in the Pacific during World War II, as plebiscite 
administrator. The principal differences related to the pace of 
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withdrawal of Pakistani and Indian forces from Kashmir and 
the control of the Kashmir administration during the voting. 
Unlike the previous year, the Pakistanis gradually shifted their 
position to accept almost all UNCIP proposals. It was India that 
began to dig in its heels in opposition. 

US pressure in support of UNCIP increasingly irked New 
Delhi. On 15 August 1949, reacting to charges India was not 
acting in good faith on Kashmir, Nehru called in Ambassador 
Loy Henderson--who had by then replaced Henry Grady-- to  
complain he was "tired of receiving moral advice from the 
United States . . . .  So far as Kashmir was concerned he would 
not give an inch. He would hold his ground even if Kashmir, 
India, and the whole world went to pieces. ''39 Nor was Nehru any 
happier when President Truman urged him, in a 25 August 
message, to accept arbitration as a way to break the impasse on 
the plebiscite. The Indians rejected Truman's suggestion, along 
with a similar proposal from British Prime Minister Clement 
Attlee. 40 

Kashmir figured prominently in the official talks during 
Prime Minister Nehru's visit to the United States in October 
and November 1949. After President Harry Truman raised the 
issue during a White House meeting--and Nehru agreed on the 
importance of finding a solution--Secretary of State Acheson 
tried and failed in a subsequent talk with Nehru topin the Indian 
leader down on specifics. An exasperated Acheson wrote, "I got 
a curious combination of a public speech and flashes of anger 
and deep dislike for his opponents." Nehru's main points--  
according to Acheson--were that the UN should not deal with 
the merits of the dispute until the Pakistani forces withdrew 
from Kashmir, that a plebiscite on the basis of a religious state 
would be disastrous for the stability of the subcontinent, and 
that the Pakistanis had no legitimate claim to Kashmir. 41 

With UNCIP stymied, the UN Security Council--to India's 
annoyancemdid not drop the dispute. In December 1949, the 
Council asked its President, General McNaughton from Can- 
ada, to try to find some way to break the impasse. On 26 
December, Nehru called in Ambassador Henderson to complain 
that "his Christmas had been spoiled by (the) message from, 
Bajpai (then in New York) 42 outlining McNaughton's proposals 
re Kashmir." Nehru's main complaint related to the details of 
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the troop withdrawal proposals and to the fuzziness of the  
provision for arbitration. 43 In contrast to Nehru's frosty re- 
sponse, the Pakistanis adopted a positive attitude toward Mc- 
Naughton's proposals. 44 

Despite Nehru's negative reaction, the United States con- 
tinued to press for Indian acceptance of McNaughton's ideas. In 
a 9 January 1950 meeting with Mrs. Vijayalakshmi Pandit, who 
had become ambassador to Washington, and External Affairs 
Ministry Secretary General Bajpai, Dean Acheson strenuously 
urged India not again to refuse UN Kashmir proposals. 45 

Angry about the US drmarche, Nehru sharply replied via 
Bajpai that Acheson's message: 

Is not only unfriendly in tone and substance but appears to 
us to be seeking to bring pressure on our government under 
threat of consequences . . . .  It appears to be totally for- 
gotten that we are not the aggressors, but that we are the 
victims of aggression . . . .  I would like to add that it is a 
matter of great personal regret to me that Mr. Secretary 
Acheson should have sent us a message of this kind. 46 

After the failure of McNaughton's effort, the Security Coun- 
cil sent prominent Australian jurist Sir Owen Dixon to South 
Asia to try his hand. Arriving during the oven-like heat of May, 
Dixon toiled through the summer of 1950, working quietly with 
Nehru, Pakistan's Prime Minister Liaquat All Khan, and others. 
When he concluded that a statewide plebiscite was impractical, 
the Australian suggested an approach similar to an idea put 
forward earlier by Girja Bajpai--limiting the vote to the Valley 
while partitioning the rest of the state on religious lines. In the 
end, this proposal failed after Nehru rejected the idea of UN 
control of the Valley during the plebiscite. 47 

The Australian, who perhaps came closer to reaching a 
Kashmir settlement than anyone else, left disappointed at the 
end of the summer. In his report to the Security Council, Dixon 
wrote, "I have formed the opinion that if there is any chance of 
settling the dispute over Kashmir by agreement between India 
and Pakistan it now  lies in partition and in some means of 
allocating the Valley rather than an overall plebiscite." He re- 
commended that the UN not pursue the mediation effort on 
Kashmir, letting the two countries seek a political settlement on 
their own. 48 
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Kashmir Area 

The United States--notwithstanding Dixon's recommen- 
d a t i o n s - d i d  not favor letting the issue drop. In a 17 November 
1950 meeting between Secretary Acheson and Pakistan's For- 
eign Minister Zafrullah Khan, Acheson said, "I needed advice 
and guidance. We had been very discouraged by India's attitude 
and had been trying through our Ambassador to make India see 
what could be done--with what success I do not know." In the 
discussion that followed, Acheson was in basic agreement with 
Zafrullah's position that unless Indian troops were removed and 
a UN administration appointed for the Vale, it would not be 
possible to have a fair plebiscite. 49 

1951 saw a renewed effort to tackle Kashmir with Dr. Frank 
Graham appointed as UN mediator. A former President of the 
University of North Carolina and US Senator, Graham had 
gained an excellent reputation for his work  in resolving 
the Dutch-Indonesia dispute. His approach was to package ideas 
into a series of detailed points and then seek agreement on these 
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by both sides. By October, Graham was down to three outstand- 
ing questions: the number of Indian troops to remain in Kash- 
mir after demilitarization, the length of the demilitarization 
period, and the date for the formal appointment of the plebiscite 
administrator. Although the assassination of Pakistan's Prime 
Minister Liaquat in October 1951 and India's first general elec- 
tions in January 1952 delayed Graham's work, he toiled away. 
Graham impressed the Indians, Nehru describing him as "a 
sincere and earnest man anxious to do what he can to further a 
settlement."50 

Chester Bowles, who replaced Loy Henderson as Ambassa- 
dor in November 1951, quickly injected his own ideas on Kash- 
mir. The contrast between the two American envoys was 
striking. Henderson was a veteran career diplomat, whose ser- 
vice in the Soviet Union helped shape a strong anti-Communist 
bent. Conservative in outlook, he had few hopes that Indo- 
American relations would be smooth. Although Henderson es- 
tablished a good working relationship with Secretary General 
Bajpai, his dealings with Nehru were often tense and blunt. 
Henderson's cables were down-to-earth and terse. 

Bowles came to the job after losing a bid for reelection as 
Governor of Connecticut in the 1950 elections. A pioneer in 
modern advertising in the 1920s and 1930s, Bowles had gained a 
national reputation as the successful head of the Office of Price 
Administration during World War II. He became active in 
politics after the war as a member of the Democratic Party's 
liberal wing. Following the communist takeover of China, 
Bowles felt people would look closely at India to see if  democ- 
racy could provide an alternative to communism as a path to 
economic development in Asia. 5~ 

Once he arrived in New Delhi, Bowles quickly engaged 
himself in recommending a less active US stance in the Kashmir 
dispute. In his messages, Bowles urged the United States to 
restrict its role to serving as a friend to both countries, willing to 
help in solving the dispute without taking sides. Since Bowles 
believed Graham's insistence on a statewide plebiscite was cer- 
tain to fail, he was at a loss to understand why Graham felt 
unable to suggest different approaches. The State Department 
responded unsympathetically to Bowles' views, instructing the 
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envoy to continue giving full and firm support to Graham's 
efforts. 52 

In July 1952, Bowles briefly became the man in the middle 
on Kashmir when, after consultations in Washington, he 
stopped in Karachi on the way back to Delhi. There, Pakistani 
Prime Minister Nazimmudin said he would be willing to make a 
substantial concession on the ratio of Indian to Pakistani troops 
to remain in Kashmir. Bowles was reasonably hopeful this pro- 
posal would be accepted since it was close to what the Indians 
were seeking on troop ratios. 

His optimism was misplaced. When the Ambassador pre- 
sented the idea to Nehru on 8 July, the Indian leader thought 
silently for several minutes and then rejected the proposal. 
Arguing ratios were not the way to deal with the problem of 
troop levels, Nehru refused to budge from the previous Indian 
position. A second meeting found Nehru still unwilling to accept 
the proposal. Bowles reported, "Nehru acting wholly unreason- 
able manner and probably will continue to do so." The Prime 
Minister, Bowles continued, hoped the problem would go away 
since he knew India had a weak position internationally. 53 

At the United Nations, the Russians generally remained 
silent during Kashmir debates until 1952. They abstained from 
voting although their propaganda portrayed the dispute as an 
Anglo-American imperialist plot. By not openly taking sides, 
they presumably hoped to avoid damage in their relations with 
either India or Pakistan. Soviet Delegate Jacob Malik thus 
caused surprise when in January 1952 he sharply criticized Dr. 
Frank Graham's report to the Security Council. Taken aback by 
Soviet support, Bajpai called in the American charg6 d'affaires. 
Stressing that India had not asked the Soviets to intervene, 
Bajpai emphasized that India did not want Kashmir to become 
embroiled in the Cold War. 54 

Graham labored on until early 1953 before giving up. The 
final report, his fifth, reached the Security Council on 27 March 
1953--two months after Dwight Eisenhower succeeded Harry 
Truman in the presidency. Combined with three UNCIP re- 
ports, those of McNaughton and Dixon, and the record of nu- 
merous Council debates, Graham's report added to an 
impressive library of official documentation on unsuccessful 
efforts to resolve the Kashmir dispute. Nothing had been 
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achieved, in fact, since India and Pakistan agreed upon the cease 
fire in 1949. Although there was no progress toward a settle- 
ment, the guns at least had remained silent. 55 

Chronic friction between Washington and New Delhi over 
Kashmir inevitably had a negative impact on bilateral rela- 
t ionsmas Nehru predicted. In October 1952, Nehru wrote G. L. 
Mehta, the Bombay businessman he appointed to succeed Mrs. 
Pandit as Ambassador to Washington, that India has told the 
State Department "in the clearest language that we consider 
their attitude in this matter completely wrong and unfriendly to 
India and that this comes in the way of the development of 
cordial relations between India and America, that all of us 
desire, more than anything else. ''56 

For Indians, the Kashmir question was a central and vital 
foreign policy issue inevitably linked with the traumatic parti- 
tion of British India and the creation of Pakistan. As Josef 
Korbel, onetime chairman of UNCIP, wrote: 

The struggle for Kashmir is in every sense another battle in 
this continuing struggle and by now irrational war of ideals. 
In the minds of Nehru and the Congress, Kashmir is, in 
miniature, another Pakistan, and if this Muslim nation can 
be successfully governed by India, then their philosophy of 
secularization is vindicated. 57 

The United States looked at Kashmir quite differently. 
Washington regarded the problem as a serious dispute between 
tWO countries with which the United States had friendly rela- 
tions, but not as an issue involving vital US interests. Kashmir 
also appeared to be the type of regional dispute that the United 
Nations should be able to resolve, especially as India's original 
suggestion for a plebiscite provided a basis for settlement. The 
concern in Washington was that in the absence of a settlement 
fighting would again break out between India and Pakistan. 
Although at first Washington took no strong position on the 
merits, the United States backed the UN call for a plebiscite and 
gradually became exasperated by Nehru's backsliding on this 
question and by incremental steps New Delhi took to formally 
incorporate Kashmir into the Indian Union. 58 George McGhee, 
Assistant Secretary of State for Near Eastern and South Asian 
Affairs through much of this period, commented that the main 
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US concern was about the possible outbreak of war over Kash- 
mir. "We wanted to avert full-scale war between India and 
Pakistanmthis was always a threat. Our efforts failedmbecause 
ofNehru,"  McGhee asserted) 9 

Bilateral Relations: Mutual Misunderstanding 
Quite apart from Kashmir, the United States and India 

found themselves at odds on many foreign policy questions 
unrelated to the Cold War. International control of atomic 
energy, Palestine, and the creation of Israel, Indonesia, and 
Indo-China were issues on which the two countries differed. 
Although Nehru's insistent independence from the West an- 
noyed US policy makers--Ambassador Grady told him "India 
should get on the democratic side immediately"6°~Washington 
unenthusiastically accepted India's policy not to become entan- 
gled. The overall orientation of Indian policy was not directed 
against the United States. In the late 1940s, India's relations 
with Moscow were frosty. Soviet dictator Joseph Stalin regarded 
Jawaharlal Nehru with suspicion as a "bourgeois democrat" and 
"lackey" of British imperialism. Even though Nehru sent his 
sister as India's first envoy to Moscow, the Soviet leader never 
once received Mrs. Pandit during her two years in the Soviet 
Union. 

On 8 March 1948, when Nehru elaborated India's foreign 
policy before the Constituent Assembly, he made a point to have 
the Ministry of External Affairs inform Ambassador Grady that 
it would be "unthinkable" for India to be on the Russian side in 
the event of a world war. 61 Visiting Washington a month later, 
External Affairs Secretary General Girja Bajpai made the same 
point in meetings with Loy Henderson, then Director of the 
State Department's Office of Near East and South Asian Affairs, 
and Acting Secretary of State Robert Lovett. Bajpai stressed that 
people in the United States, who thought India was in the Soviet 
camp, were wrong. In the event of war, India would side with the 
forces of freedom. 62 

The desire for better relations with Washington paralleled 
the remarkable turnaround in relations between India and Brit- 
ain after independence. Contrary to expectations and the Indian 
Congress Party program, independent India decided to remain 
in the British Commonweal th~a  step which London and New 



TRUMAN 69 

Delhi regarded at the time as of great importance. 63 After having 
improved ties with London, Nehru hoped in 1949 to firm up 
relations with the United States. The Prime Minister wrote his 
friend Krishna Menon, then High Commissioner in Britain, he 
was prepared to "align with the US somewhat" as long it was not 
necessary to become subservient. 

Personally, Nehru had ambivalent feelings about America, 
a country he had never visited. The Indian leader had a consid- 
erable bias that seemed to combine the anti-American social 
prejudices of the British elite and the anti-American policy 
views of the left-wing of the British Labour Party. In foreign 
policy dealings, he found the United States too cocksure about 
the rights and wrongs of the Cold War, too insensitive to the 
aspirations of colonial peoples, and too patronizing in dealing 
with India. Despite disappointments over Kashmir and differ- 
ences on anti-colonial issues, Nehru remained, nonetheless, 
hopeful about relations with Washington, believing the United 
States would be interested in friendly relations with India be- 
cause "it is well recognized today all over the world that the 
future of Asia will be powerfully determined by the future of 
India."64 

A note Nehru wrote on negotiations for a commercial treaty 
with the United States spelled out his ambivalent views: 

America is the most powerful and richest country in the 
world and can certainly help India a great deal. There is no 
reason why we should not get that help and remove causes of 
friction between us. But it is true that America represents a 
reactionary policy in world affairs, I think a policy which 
will not succeed . . . .  The safest policy, therefore, appears 
to be friendly to America, to give them fair terms, to invite 
their help on such terms, and at the same time not to tie 
ourselves up too much with their world or their economic 
policy. 65 

In October and November 1949, the Indian leader paid his 
first visit to the United States. During the three-week trip, 
Nehru traveled from the Atlantic to the Pacific coasts, seeing 
much of America and meeting many prominent figures from a 
broad cross-section of US life. The Prime Minister cut an im- 
pressive figure in numerous public appearances as an eloquent 
advocate of India, explaining its neutralist policies and seeking 
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friendship with the United States without becoming a political 
camp follower or a supplicant for economic help. The public 
generally accorded him a warm welcome as a leading representa- 
tive of free Asia. The liberal press lauded Nehru as the hope of 
Asiamespecially after the fall of China to the Communists. 

The official side of the trip went much less well. Nehru's 
ambivalence toward US policy was matched by the skepticism 
of US leaders toward the Indian approach. The Americans 
found Nehru's views on foreign affairs perplexing and impre- 
cise. They received coolly his suggestions that the West should 
be more reasonable in dealing with the Russians and should 
recognize Communist China. After a three-hour informal pri- 
vate meeting, Secretary of State Dean Acheson wrote: 

I was convinced that Nehru and I were not destined to have 
a pleasant personal, relationship. He was so important to 
India's survival and India's survival was so important to all 
of us, that if he did not exist-- as Voltaire said of God--he 
would have to be invented. Nevertheless, he was one of the 
most difficult men I have ever had to deal with. 66 

If the American leadership found the Indian Prime Minister 
stiff and vague, Nehru, in turn, found both Truman and Ache- 
son condescending. The Prime Minister wrote Dr. S. Radhak- 
hrishnan, the South Indian scholar-philosopher who replaced 
Mrs. Pandit as Indian envoy to Moscow, "They had gone all out 
to welcome me and I am very grateful to them for it and ex- 
pressed myself so. But they expected something more than grati- 
tude and goodwill and that more I could not supply them. ''67 

The Prime Minister was taken aback by the flaunting of 
material wealth and what often seemed a lack of culture and 
good taste in the United States. In New York, for example, the 
hosts at a lunch with businessmen made a point of boasting that 
the companies represented at the table were worth more than 
$20 billion. Nehru al~o found the conversation at the White 
House dinner less than intellectually scintillatingma main topic 
of discussion between President Truman and Vice President 
Alben Barkley concerned the merits of Kentucky bourbon 
whiskey.68 , 

A few months after returning to India, Nehru was annoyed 
by the warm welcome given Pakistan's Prime Minister Liaquat 
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Ali Khan in the United States. Writing to his sister in Washing- 
ton, he carped: 

The Americans are either very naive or singularly lacking in 
intelligence. They go through the same routine whether it is 
Nehru or the Shah or Liaquat All . . . .  It does appear that 
there is a concerted attempt to build up Pakistan and build 
down, if I may say, India. It surprises me how immature in 
their political thinking the Americans are! . . . In their 
dealings with Asia, they show a lack of understanding which 
is surprising. 69 

The positive public relations impact of the trip also proved 
short-lived. In the spring of 1950, the American Embassy in New 
Delhi reported about increased anti-US feelings in India. Al- 
though ostensibly directed at supposed US faults (racial 
prejudice, pro-colonialist policies, etc.), Ambassador Loy Hen- 
derson thought the real causes were: the lack of economic aid, 
the US position on Kashmir, and fears that the United States 
was using its economic muscle to press India to shed its socialist 
policies. With the Communists on the Indian political left fan- 
ning the flames, Henderson thought the upsurge was unlikely to 
dissipate unless the United States backed up its rhetoric about 
friendly relations with concrete action, especially in the area of 
economic aid. 7° 

The State Department replied testilymreflecting growing 
distaste for India-- that  friendly relations had to be based on 
more than loans or gifts. The message argued the best way to win 
Indian friendship was to convince New Delhi that "our objec- 
tives are disinterested (and) constructive as we are confident the 
Inds wld [sic] wish their own to be regarded. Present Ind [sic] 
attitudes subj [sic] these beliefs to serious doubt. ''71 When placed 
alongside similarly pointed comments Nehru was making about 
the United States in his letters to his sister and others, the 
exchange between the State Department and Henderson under- 
scored the troubled nature of relations between India and 
America in the early months of 1950. 

T h e  Korean  War :  I n d i a n  N e u t r a l i s m  P u t  to the  Tes t  

The Cold War became a "hot war" after North Korean 
forces invaded South Korea on 25 June 1950. The initial Indian 
reaction to the outbreak of hostilities pleasantly surprised Wash- 
ington. Sir Benegal Rau, India's UN delegate, voted for the 
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Security Council's condemnation of the invasion, several days 
later, India voted for a second resolution calling for support to 
South Korea to repel the attack. Nehru delayed taking this 
action until the full cabinet could approve the Indian position. 
India appeared, thus, to be standing with the West against the 
Communists on a fundamental issue of war and peace. "There 
could be no doubt that the North Korean Government had 
committed aggression on a large-scale on South Korea," Nehru 
wrote his Chief Ministers, "to surrender to it was wrong and 
would have meant the collapse of the United Nations as well as 
led to other dangerous consequences. ''7~ 

Prime Minister Nehru was, however, extremely uneasy. 
Apart from fear that events would lead to a World War, he 
strenuously disapproved of President Truman's linking the Ko- 
rea conflict with the problems of Formosa and Indo-China. He 
saw US policy as threatening to enlarge the war in the defense of 
Western interests. Favoring Chinese incorporation of Formosa 
and the withdrawal of the French from Indo-China, Nehru saw 
both issues in terms of Asian nationalism, as part of the struggle 
to free the region from Western domination, rather than as a 
contest between pro- and anti-communist forces. 

In early July, Nehru launched a vaguely coordinated peace 
effort with Indian envoys in Moscow (Radhakrishnan), London 
(Krishna Menon), New York (Sir Benegal Rau), Washington 
(Mrs. Pandit), and Secretary General Bajpai in New Delhi all in 
the act. The heart of the proposal was that in return for talks on 
Korea, the Soviets would return to the Security Council and the 
Chinese Communists would occupy the UN seat of the Chinese 
Nationalists. Although Stalin temporized in his reply, Dean 
Acheson--with Truman's blessingmturned Nehru down flatly, 
bruising the Indian leader's feelings. The Indian press, taking its 
cue from the government, blamed Washington for thwarting the 
peace initiative. 73 

Acheson explained in some detail in private correspon- 
dence with Nehru why the United States disagreed with the 
Indian approach. This extremely substantive correspondence 
showed that Washington took India seriously, always important 
for someone as sensitive as Nehru. The exchange also indicated 
American interest in using the Indian Ambassador in Beijing, K. 
M. Panikkar, as a channel to the Chinese Communists. Although 
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Washington regarded Panikkar with suspicion, he was the only 
non-Communist envoy with good access to the Chinese 
leadership. TM 

In September 1950, UN fortunes rose after General MacAr- 
thur's daring Inchon landing broke the back of the North Korean 
military. With the stage set for victory in South Korea, the 
question was whether UN forces should cross the 38th parallel 
into North Korea. India opposed a UN advance above this line 
from fear that the action would bring in the Chinese Commu- 
nists. After the Chinese warned Ambassador Panikkar on 3 
October that they would intervene if UN forces crossed the 38th 
parallel, Nehru pleaded for caution. The United States disre- 
garded the Indian leader. President Truman declared that he did 
not take Panikkar's report "as that of an impartial observer," 
believing the Indian envoy played "the game of the Chinese 
Communists fairly regularly. ''75 

Being fight about the Chinese intervention won Nehru no 
friends in the US press or in the American leadership. The New 
York Times, once full of praise for the Indian leader, was sternly 
critical. "Pandit  Nehru purports to speak for Asia," the Times 
wrote, "but i t  is the voice of abnegation, his criticism turns out 
to have been obstructive, his policy appeasement. ''76 Mrs. Pan- 
dit reported that Truman supposedly told a Congressman that 
"Nehru has sold us down the Hudson. His attitude has been 
responsible for our losing the war in Korea. ''77 At a staffmeeting 
of the US delegation to the UN, John Foster Dulles--serving as 
a Republican advisermsaid that since the Indians were always 
eager to solve someone else's problem, perhaps the United 
States should sit on the sidelines and let the Indians try to solve 
Korea. That might make them less willing to meddle in other 
people's affairs, the future Secretary of State commented. TM 

In early 1951, Secretary Acheson was less than enthused 
about a push by the Indians--supported by the British--for a 
Korea cease-fire resolution that collided with a US-backed drive 
for a UN resolution condemning the Chinese Communist mili- 
tary intervention. After difficult deliberations, Washington 
agreed to go along with the Indian proposal, which the General 
Assembly approved in January 1951. When the Chinese Com- 
munists rejected the resolution, the General Assembly pro- 
ceeded to condemn the Chinese as aggressors by a resounding 
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50-7-8 majority. India and Burma were the only two countries to 
join the Communists in opposing this resolution. Nehru then 
temporarily gave up his peacemaking efforts, writing in exasper- 
ation to his friend Krishna Menon in London that we "failed in 
the end before the big stick of the United States. ''79 

In the summer of 1951 the UN and Communists began 
cease-fire talks at Kaesong in Korea, but these discussions soon 
broke down. The war continued across the waist of the penin- 
sula. Although neither side gained a decisive advantage, the UN 
gradually pressed the Chinese north of the 38th parallel where 
the line stabilized for the next two years. In the summer of 1952, 
prodding from the Americans and Chinese revived Indian inter- 
est in serving as a go-between for a cease-fire. On the US side, 
Eleanor Roosevelt, visiting New Delhi, and Ambassador 
Chester Bowles urged the Indians to tell the Chinese that the 
United States wanted a settlement. 

At this point, a new Indian face appeared on the UN stage in 
New York. This was V.K. Krishna Menon, formerly Indian High 
Commissioner to London and an intimate foreign policy adviser 
to Nehru with whom he had been on close terms since the 1930s. 
Menon left London under a cloud after the British complained 
about leaks from the High Commission to the Communists and 
Menon's mismanagement of the Mission became a political 
embarrassment in New Delhi. When Nehru suggested that his 
friend return to Delhi or go to Moscow as Ambassador, Menon 
balked, having lived away from India most of his adult life. The 
Prime Minister finally found a solution by assigning Menon to 
New York to deal with the Korean issue--a subject on which 
India's permanent representative Sir B. N. Rau sought help. 80 

Highly strung, highly irascible, and highly intelligent, Me- 
non was one of the few Indians Nehru accepted as his intellectual 
equal. The two saw eye-to-eye on the basic approach to foreign 
policy, although Menon stood politically to the left of Nehru. 
Krishna Menon's acid tongue and strikingmalmost diabolic--  
looks soon made him a media celebrity at the United Nations. 
Since his barbed verbal thrusts were more often than not aimed 
at the United States, Menon's presence added a new, and ulti- 
mately heavy, burden to Indo-American relations. 

After Dwight D. Eisenhower swamped the Democrats in the 
November 1952 elections, the Indians and British feared that 
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the incoming Republican administration might widen the war in 
Korea. They were eager to have a cease-fire in placebefore the 
new President took office in January 1953. Seizing the opportu- 
nity, Krishna Menon toiled frenetically to shape a resolution 
that would bridge American and Chinese and North Korean 
differences over the fate of the thousands of communist prison- 
ers of war who did not want to return home. Although Nehru 
agreed on the basic issue of no forced repatriation, Acheson 
found Krishna Menon exasperatingly difficult to negotiate with. 
Reporting to President Truman, the Secretary commented that 
Menon's resolution "as they say in the strike settlement lingo, 
gives us the words and the other side the decision." Menon, 
Acheson told a staff meeting, seemed to be "a master of putting 
words together so that they conveyed no ideas at all." Menon's 
plan, the Secretary asserted, was like a room with only one door, 
"pointing to the north. ''sl 

In the end, Acheson agreed reluctantly to go along with 
Menon's resolution, provided amendments made the text more 
to Washington's liking. After Bowles intervened with Nehru, the 
Indians agreed to modify the draft sufficiently to gain US accep- 
tance. Although the General Assembly adopted the resolution 
with an overwhelming majority, the Indian effort came to 
naught. Russia's Andrei Vyshinksy flatly turned down the pro- 
posal, which he attacked as a device for perpetuating the war. 
Ten days later the Chinese Communists followed the Soviet line, 
announcing their rejection. Nehru had to "confess that I was 
somewhat surprised at the attitude of China and the virulence of 
Russia," as India had remained in touch with them during the 
negotiations, s2 

Running parallel to Indo-American friction over the Ko- 
rean war was the continuing dispute about the recognition of 
Communist China. Even before Indian independence, Nehru 
regarded good relations with China as a fundamental plank in 
India's foreign policy. He saw the two ancient countries and 
civilizations emerging from European domination to become 
pillars of the new Asia. When the Nationalists, with whom he 
had friendly relations, fell from power, Nehru believed the 
Communist victory was due less to the attractiveness of Marxist 
ideology than the shortcomings of the Chiang Kai-shek regime. 
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Nehru argued with American leaders during his 1949 visit 
that Chinese nationalism would prevent the domination of 
China by the Soviet Union. He believed that bringing the new 
China into the family of nations would accelerate this process 
and thought that the US desire to ostracize China would have 
the opposite effect, leading to strengthened Sino-Soviet ties. 83 
Although India had plenty of company in its China policy-- 
including the closest US allies, Britain and Canada, Washing- 
ton's differences with New Delhi over China added to bilateral 
frictions, particularly after the Chinese intervened militarily in 
Korea. 

Another bone of contention between Washington and New 
Delhi was the peace treaty with Japan. Negotiated by John 
Foster Dulles, the treaty was ready for signature in the summer 
of I951. To the dismay of Washington and Dulles, Nehru de- 
cided that India would not sign. The Prime Minister believed 
the treaty should have included the Soviet Union and Commu- 
nist China and was also unhappy about the security arrange- 
ments between Japan and the United States. 84 The US 
leadership, but especially treaty negotiator Dulles, was put out 
by India's insistence on standing apart. Apparently staggered by 
the final Indian turndown, Dulles told Ambassador Pandit, "I 
cannot accept this. Does your Prime Minister realize that I have 
prayed at every stage of this treaty?" The Prime Minister's sister 
was at a loss for words, g5 Nehru recognized that India's decision 
would "naturally cause resentment and some disappointment" 
in Washington. When the US reply "was couched in language 
which is not usual in correspondence between governments," 
the Prime Minister was annoyed but decided against using 
"strong language in our answer. ''86 

In Kashmir, where Indian soldiers shed their blood against 
Pakistan, the US attitude badly upset the government of India. 
In Korea, where US soldiers were shedding their blood against 
North Korean and Chinese Communist forces, the Indian atti- 
tude badly upset the US government. India and the United 
States each wanted aggression punished and basic principles of 
international morality upheld. Fearful of expanded conflict in 
the Far EasL the Indians urged moderation and compromise in 
the case of ?Korea. Fearful of an India-Pakistan War, the United 
States similarly urged moderation and compromise in the case 
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of Kashmir. Neither Washington nor New Delhi won friends in 
each other's capital by playing the peacemaker. 

Economic Assistance to India: A Slow Start 

Although in the 1950s and 1960s, economic assistance be- 
c a m e  a major element of US policy toward India, aid was not an 
important issue immediately after independence. The United 
States had yet to initiate assistance programs for the developing 
world. It was only in 1948 that Washington launched Marshall 
Plan aid for the nations of Western Europe. 

With the United States at the peak of its economic power, 
Nehru and other Indian leaders, nonetheless, looked to America 
for help, Even before the first anniversary of independence, 
Ministry of External Affairs Secretary General Bajpai, during an 
April 1948 visit to Washington, sought aid for hydroelectric 
projects. Bajpai's feelers led nowhere.87 There was also limited 
activity on the part of the US private sector. Despite the fact that 
Washington encouraged investment in India, few US businesses 
took this advice, except for larger concernsnlike the oil compa- 
n iesnalready experienced in the international field. India's 
announced socialist economic policy, corporate ignorance about 
South Asia, and the reputation India soon acqui red~not  only as 
being a terribly poor country but as a difficult place to do 
business~all  acted as dampeners on investment. 

In India, the attitude toward foreign business was ambigu- 
ous. Although New Delhi wanted US investment, there was, at 
the same time, fear the United States would use its economic 
might to interfere with India's sovereignty or to unfairly exploit 
the country's resources. Nehru himself thought the concerns 
were overdrawn. "The question of economic domination of 
India by the U.S.A. is not one that frightens me," he wrote. 88 The 
political left in India was able, nonetheless, to exploit nationalist 
fears about foreign business encroachment deeply rooted in the 
British economic exploitation of India during the colonial 
period. 

In his January 1949 inaugural address, President Truman 
announced the program of technical assistance to help poorer 
countries, known as Point Four. Although the idea--inserted in 
the speech by White House staffers without advance p lann ing~  
generated much interest, little actually happened for more than a 
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year. When the Prime Minister visited Washington in October 
1949, obtaining US aid was high on Nehru's agenda, bu t - -  
perhaps out of pr ide-- in  talking with US leaders, he "men- 
tioned this, though rathe r casually. ''s9 

Just before Nehru arrived, Ambassador Henderson made 
the first serious proposal on aid to India, recommending a five- 
year $500 million program. With economic assistance, India 
might become a "stalwart and worthy champion of the West in 
Asia; without aid, Henderson argued, India "might degenerate 
into a vast political and economic swamp. ''9° Henderson was 
ahead of his time in making the proposal. The Truman adminis- 
tration remained ambivalent about India, uncertain US inter- 
ests warranted an investment on so large a scale and uncertain 
the US Congress would support such a program. Nehru did not 
help the case for economic aid when he failed to press the issue 
seriously during his visit. A month later, in November 1949, the 
State Department informed Henderson his aid proposal was 
rejected. 91 

India's most pressing economic need in late 1949 was for 
food assistance to stave offa possible famine. With this in mind, 
Nehru asked the President for a million tons of wheat to provide 
a stronger food reserve. In spite of the fact that Truman re- 
sponded positively, 92 delays and misunderstandings, includihg 
an attempt to barter the wheat for strategic materials, frustrated 
an accord. The upshot was ill-will. The Indians thought the 
United States stingy, trying to use food aid as a policy lever. The 
Americans complained the Indians never adequately followed 
up after Nehru talked with Truman. As the State Department 
cabled stiffly to Ambassador Henderson, "(The) USG may be 
pardoned if it is puzzled to learn it is criticized for India's failure 
to obtain aid when no firm or formal request was ever made. ''93 

The food situation in India failed to improve in 1950 with 
poor summer monsoon rains again threatening famine. This 
time the Government of India made clear its need, Ambassador 
Pandit formally requesting two million tons of wheat aid from 
Secretary Acheson in December. 94 Ambassador Henderson 
seconded the Indian request, cabling that the shortage and threat 
of famine were real. 95 President Truman at first held back, only 
giving Assistant Secretary of State George McGhee a hunting 
license to test the Congressional waters. In closed Senate Foreign 
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Relations Committee hearings in January 1951, McGhee got an 
earful. Committee Chairman Tom Connally of Texas stated 
point blank, "I  want to tell you fight now you are going to have 
one hell of a time getting this thing through the Congress. ''96 

Despite the unfriendly reaction--confirmation of India's 
unpopularity with many in the Congress--Truman decided to 
proceed with food aid legislation. Enlisting the support of for- 
mer Republican President Herbert Hoover--who won fame for 
his role in feeding Europe after World War I - -Truman sent a 
strong message to the Congress on 12 February, urging two 
million tons of wheat for India on both humanitarian and na- 
tional interest grounds. 97 At first, things went smoothly, but anti- 
Indian feelings led to procedural delays, especially in the Senate 
where Senator Connally refused to schedule hearings. After a 
plea from Truman, the Senator finally relented in mid-April. 
Conservatives in the House of Representative Rules Committee 
then raised new obstacles that threatened to block the bill. 
Annoyed by Congressional foot-dragging and criticism of India, 
Nehru hit back. "We would be unworthy of the high responsibil- 
ities with which we have been charged if  we bartered away in the 
slightest degree our country's self-respect or freedom of action, 
even for something we badly need," the Indian leader stated on 1 
May over All-India Radio. 98 

Nehru's comments prompted an angry response among 
legislators in Washington, who postponed further action on the  
bill until the Indian government clarified whether it, in fact, still 
desired the aid. 99 An additional complication was whether the 
wheat would be provided as a gift--the Truman administration 
and Senate proposal--or as a loanmthe House of Representa- 
tives approach. Realizing the damage he had caused, Nehru 
spoke positively about food aid in Parliament on 10 May, indi- 
cating that, if  given a choice, India preferred a loan rather than a 
gift. Nehru's statement soothed Congressional nerves. The bill 
approving $190 million of wheat as a long-term loan finally 
passed in early June. 100 On 15 June 1951, President Truman 
signed the measure into law, initiating the first of many US food 
aid shipments to India. 

The arrival of US wheat ensured India could avoid famine. 
The extended haggling in the Congress and the outburst of anti- 
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Indian sentiments, however, undercut any public relations bene- 
fits. Nehru commented that despite the best efforts of the US 
administration, "there has been a feeling of resentment in India 
re the long delays and obstructionist tactics of some people in the 
American Congress."~0~ In  contrast, the Soviet Union received 

m u c h  applause for a far smaller food shipment that arrived 
before US wheat.102 

The episode made Ambassador Henderson wary of pro- 
ceeding with a pending request for a regular economic aid pro- 
gram unless the Prime Minister personally gave "firm 
assurances" that India accepted the terms.103 In late May, Nehru 
obliged. After spending over an hour with charg6 d'affaires 
Lloyd Steere, he affirmed India's willingness to accept US aid 
conditions and stated his country was anxious to receive Ameri- 
can economic help.t04 

After Chester Bowles replaced Loy Henderson in Novem- 
ber 1951, the new envoy quickly made a larger bilateral aid 
program one of his major goals. Bowles urged a program for the 
coming year of $150 million, pushing this relentlessly in Wash- 
ington at all levels of the administration, including directly with 
President Truman. In the end, the State Department agreed to 
support a $115 million program request from the Congress. 105 
Not satisfied, Bowles asked for additional funds. When the issue 
was put before the President, Truman agreed with Secretary 
Acheson to sidetrack the proposal to the Budget Bureau. The 
administration thought Bowles was moving too fast, wanted to 
see existing aid programs launched before considering increases, 
and was skeptical Congress would approve an expanded 
e f f o r t .  106 

In the fall of 1952, Bowles renewed the campaign in lengthy 
letters to Dean Acheson, calling for a three-year commitment to 
support India's development plans, including $250 million in 
the coming fiscal year. Bowles' argumentmone that would be 
repeatedly used over the next decade to justify aid to India- -  
linked the fate of India's economic development to US security 
interests in Asia. The choice, Bowles declared, was between the 
current democratic government or, if India failed to develop, 
communism. After the Democrats lost the 1952 elections, 
Bowles' suggestions became superfluous. With one foot out the 
door 2 weeks before leaving office in January 1953, Acheson 
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replied that he agreed with much of what Bowles said but would 
have to pass on his letters to the new Secretary of State, John 
Foster Dulles, and to Harold Stassen, the former Republican 
Governor of Minnesota, whom Eisenhower named as foreign 
aid chief. 1°7 

Although Chester Bowles' first tour as Ambassador to India 
lasted little more than a year, he made an enduring impression. 
A master at public relations, Bowles "sold" America to Indians 
in a way that his predecessor Loy Henderson, a superb profes- 
sional diplomat but no salesman or image maker, could not do. 
Bowles spoke frequently with the Indian press, fielding with 
patience and understanding tough questions about US racial 
discrimination, criticism of US foreign policy, and other sub- 
jects. He traveled widely throughout India, visiting villages and 
impoverished urban areas as well as hobnobbing with the 
wealthy elite. He focussed US aid on India's community devel- 
opment program to help India's rural poor. 

Bowles' enthusiasm and good will had a positive impact, 
helping to offset the policy irritants and frictions between New 
Delhi and Washington. He succeeded in showing Indians that 
America cared about them and their nation's efforts to modern- 
ize within the democratic framework. He also had an impact on 
informed US opinion. When India held its first democratic 
elections on the basis of universal suffrage in 1952, Bowles 
stressed the significance of India's adherence to the democratic 
system. He made some headway, especially among liberals, in 
gaining acceptance for his conviction that India deserved greater 
attention from American foreign policy makers. Bowles' 
achievement--in one short year--was substantial.~°8 

Professionals in the State Department found Bowles per- 
sonally warm hearted and an unusually effective salesman of the 
United States in India. The fact that he also acquired the reputa- 
tion for becoming a salesman of India to the United States 
reduced the impact of his policy recommendations within the 
Truman administration. Bowles' cause was, however, helped by 
the development in Washington of what became known as the 
India lobby--an informal group of liberal activists who strongly 
urged better relations with India despite Indo-US foreign policy 
differences over the Cold War. Democratic Senator Hubert H. 
Humphrey of Minnesota was one of the earliest supporters of the 
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India lobby along with Supreme Court Justice William O. 
Douglas. ,09 

US Military Supply to South Asia: The Beginnings 
After 1954, the US military supply relationship with Paki- 

stan would become a major irritant in Indo-US relationsmfrom 
the Indian perspective the biggest single bar to friendlier ties. 
Although Pakistan first requested arms aid barely two months 
after independence in the fall of 1947, when it received a flat 
State Department turndown," 0 it was, ironically, India that first 
procured arms from the United States. Before the Kashmir War, 
modest sales of military equipment to a former World War II 
ally posed no difficulty for the State Department. The outbreak 
of fighting in Kashmir, however, led President Truman to im- 
pose an embargo on arms exports to either India or Pakistan in 
order to avoid fueling a conflict which the UN was trying to 
stop. i!,After the cease-fire agreement, in January 1949, the ban 
was lifted. 

Pakistan's Prime Minister Liaquat Ali Khan renewed the 
request for US arms without success during a 1948 meeting with 
Secretary Marshall. Liaquat's l inemsimilar to the approach Jin- 
nah used when Raymond Hare called on the Muslim League 
leader in 1947mwas to seek military aid to bolster Pakistan and 
other Muslim states against the Communists.~'z Liaquat contin- 
ued the quest during his spring 1950 visit to the United States. In 
contrast to Nehru, the Pakistani leader made an excellent im- 
pression, voicing his country's support for US foreign policy at 
the same time he urged the United States to provide Pakistan 
military assistance.' 13 

Even if there was no immediate payoff for the Pakistanis, 
the Korean War spurred American interest in containing the 
Soviet threat through a chain of security alliances. As Washing- 
ton became more supportive of a long-standing British proposal 
for a Middle East Defense Organization (MEDO), Assistant 
Secretary McGhee strongly backed the idea of including Paki- 
stan in a Middle East security system. US Ambassadors to South 
Asia, meeting in Ceylon in March 1951, endorsed the proposal 
although noting that until the Kashmir dispute was settled and 
Indo-Pakistan relations improved, the real potential could not 
be realized. 1'4 McGhee pressed the case for Pakistan in talks 
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with the British in London and back in Washington. He told the 
Joint Chiefs of Staff in May, "Without Pakistan, I don't see any 
way to defend the Middle East. ''115 When the British examined 
the Pakistan issue more closely, however, they decided to back 
off, anticipating a negative Indian reaction. Washington by the 
summer of 1951 appeared to come around to the same view. 116 

Henry Byroade, who replaced McGhee as the region's Assis- 
tant Secretary of State in December 1951, shared his predeces= 
sor's enthusiasm for providing arms to Pakistan. A West Point 
graduate, Byroade served in India during the war, building 
airfields in Assam. He became the Army's youngest general 
when General Marshall selected him as his aide for the ill-fated 
mission to China in 1946. After President Truman asked Mar- 
shall to serve as Secretary of State, Byroade resigned from the 
Army to become head of German Affairs in the State 
Department. 

When Byroade shifted to the Near East Bureau, one of the 
issues on the agenda was the question of Middle East defense 
arrangements. It quickly became clear, according to Byroade, 
that the official British proposal for MEDO was going nowhere. 
"The British didn't  seem to realize that the concept, with a 
British commander, belonged to the colonial age. We never said 
no, but just let the idea die by itself. ''I~7 

Still as Byroade looked at the area--so close to the Soviet 
Union and with Persian Gulf oil so important to the West-- the 
Assistant Secretary felt that something should be done to pro= 
vide greater stability. Doubting that most Arab states would 
join, he gradually came to favor some sort of defense arrange- 
ment, involving Turkey, Iran, Iraq, and Pakistan, with which the 
United States would be associated. A student of maps, Byroade 
saw an alliance extending from Turkey to Pakistan as forming a 
natural geographic arc of Muslim states that, with help and 
political support from the United States, might do better eco- 
nomically and become more stable politically. Byroade envis= 
aged this grouping more in political and psychological than in 
military terms. In Byroade's thinking, such an arrangement 
made much more sense than the British idea of MEDO. Two 
years later, with Eisenhower in the White House, the concept 
became a reality as the Baghdad Pact. 118 
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Given India's concerns about possible US arms for Paki- 
stan, the most significant military sales to South Asia during the 
Truman administration were paradoxically not to Pakistan but 
to India. In the summer of 1952, the Indians sought substantial 
numbers of tanks and aircraft to modernize their forces. The 
request for 200 Sherman tanks, worth at the time $19 million, 
received rapid approval. This action promptly drew a strong 
complaint from the Pakistanis who--foreshadowing later In- 
dian complaints about arms to Pakistan--asserted that the 
transaction would adversely affect the military balance in the 
subcontinent. When the Pakistanis said menacingly they would 
regard the sale as an unfriendly act, Byroade asserted they were 
exaggerating the significance of the purchase. 

A parallel Indian request to buy 200 jet aircraft costing $150 
million received less sympathetic consideration. A year after the 
US Congress voted $190 million of food aid and at a time India 
was seeking substantial development aid, officials asked how 
India could justify spending such a large sum for arms. In the 
end, the Indians decided to seek a far less expensive package of 
54 C-119 transport aircraft. The State Department approved 
this request.~9 

Shortly before the end of the Truman administration, the 
British decided to sound out the Pakistanis about membership 
in MEDO, reversing their position of the year before. In inform- 
ing the US Embassy in Karachi about the planned British d6- 
marche, the State Department said the United States was ready 
to support the idea and take this into account in considering 
future Pakistani requests for arms assistance, lz0 From New 
Delhi, Ambassador Chester Bowles shot back a s t rongqbut  
uncharacteristically shortnmessage.  

The arms proposal, Bowles cabled, would be seen by the 
Indians as a new form of colonialism, would confirm a rumored 
arrangement about US bases in Pakistan, would have a bitter 
effect on Indo-American relations, would provide the Commu- 
nists a major propaganda weapon, and would make Indo-Paki- 
stani relations more explosive and harder to settle. 12~ Bowles' 
message--along with a sharp response from Nehru when rumors 
of an arms accord started circulatingnkilled off the proposal. 
The State Department cabled New Delhi on 28 November that 
Washington was aware of the adverse Indian reaction and that 
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no approach had been made to the Pakistanis. 122 In a State/Joint 
Chiefs of Staff meeting the same day, Byroade put the problem 
frankly: Pakistan would probably join an anti-Communist de- 
fense pact if  the United States provided enough equipment. This 
would be a plus, but would run directly into the Kashmir prob- 
lem and the Indians. Sooner or later, Byroade added, the United 
States might have to meet this question head on. ~23 

During the Truman administration, arms for Pakistan thus 
received consideration, but nothing concrete happened despite 
support from senior officials, like McGhee and Byroade. Al- 
though there was some interest in the Defense Department in 
possible US airbases in Pakistan, South Asia did not have a high 
priority in the Pentagon's strategic planning. Funding for mili- 
tary aid was short. Needs and priorities were greater elsewhere. 
Washington also knew arms for Pakistan would encounter a 
severe Indian reaction. A comment by Secretary Dean Acheson 
best summed things up. The Pakistanis, Acheson recalled, "were 
always asking us for arms and I was always holding them off. ''~24 
After John Foster Dulles became Republican Secretary of State 
in January 1953, the situation would change. 

Indo-US Relations: Through The Prism of the 
Cold War 

Once the Korean War started in June 1950, Cold War 
considerations became an even more dominant element in US 
foreign policy. Discussions between Ambassador Henderson 
and Prime Minister Nehru in November 1950 mirrored the 
sharp differences between the two countries on this basic prob- 
l e m - t h e  United States stressing collective security and India 
following a neutralist approach as the best way to preserve the 
peace. 

In December 1950--just after the Chinese routed UN 
forces in North K o r e a ~ a  State Department policy review of 
South Asia made clear that Washington's main concern about 
India was that that country not be "lost" the way China was. 
"With China under Communist domination," the study stated, 
"Soviet power now encroaches along the perimeter of the Indian 
sub-continent. India has become the pivotal state in non-Com- 
munist Asia by virtue of its relative power, stability and influ- 
ence." ~25 The policy paper hoped India would agree "voluntarily 
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to associate itself with the United States and like-minded coun- 
tries opposing Communism," and supported Ambassador Hen- 
derson's recommendation that an aid program be initiated.126 

The following month, in January 1951, after a National 
Security Council (NSC) review, President Truman approved 
NSC document 98/1, the first formal policy for South Asia. The 
Cold War framed the approach. Behind a fog of bureaucratic 
prose, NSC 98/1 stated bluntly that if India were lost to the 
Communists "for all practical purposes all of Asia would have 
been lost". The United States wanted to gain more Indian 
support because of the prestige of the country's leadership, and 
also to have continued access to strategic materials. NSC 98/1 
proposed a more activist policymcloser consultations, an eco- 
nomic aid program, the supply of military equipment--taking 
into account higher priorities elsewheremand continuing efforts 
to improve Indo-Pakistani relations.127 India's importance thus 
rose somewhat in the eyes of the Truman administration from 
the relatively marginal position it had occupied in earlier years. 

The continuing incompatibility of US and Indian views 
was, however, underscored in April 1951 discussions that Assis- 
tant Secretary McGhee and Ambassador Henderson had with 
Prime Minister Nehru in New Delhi. These talks confirmed a 
wide gap between US and Indian thinking on the major foreign 
policy issues of the daymhandling the war in Korea, the Soviet 
Union, and Communist China. As Henderson put it, there re- 
mained "a fundamental difference between us about the aggres- 
sive intent of international communism." 128 

Although official Indian documents have yet to be released 
to the public, Nehru's public remarks and his private letters to 
Chief Ministers, which have been made available, provide a 
good picture of Indian policy views. Justifying neutralism as an 
effective policy to promote peace, Nehru told the Constituent 
Assembly on 8 March 1949: 

Our policy will continue to be not only to keep aloof from 
power alignments, but to try to make friendly cooperation 
possible . . . .  If by any chance we align ourselves defi- 
nitely with one power group, we may perhaps from one 
point of view do some good, but I have not the shadow of a 

• doubt that from a larger point of view, not only of India, but 
of world peace, it will do harm . . . .  Therefore, it becomes 
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all the more necessary that India should not be lined up with 
any group of powers which for various reasons are full of 
fear of war and preparing for war. 129 

Nehru believed firmly that the war in Korea proved that 
India's policy was right--just the opposite of the US view. 
Writing to Chief Ministers in April 1951, Nehru stated: 

I believe the policy we have pursued has been demonstrably 
proved to be good for India and good for world peace. I 
think it has averted or helped in averting the spread of the 
Korean War . . . .  The mere fact that both our friends and 
critics inevitably look to India to take some step to break the 
present impasse in the world is significant of the virtue of 
India's foreign policy. 130 

The Prime Minister remained consistently critical about US 
policy toward Kashmir, continuing to believe this was moti- 
vated by an interest in aligning Pakistan with an Islamic bloc, 
under Western tutelage, against the Soviets--"Pakistan was 
easy to keep within their sphere of influence in regard to wider 
policies, while India was an uncertain and possibly not reliable 
quality. ''13t Still, the Prime Minister doubted the United States 
would push too far, believing "it is thoroughly understood . . . 
in the U.S.A. that India counts far more than Pakistan. 132 

By the end of the Truman years, Indo-American relations 
had fallen into the pattern of chronic friction that has so per- 
plexed observers over the years. Although there were positive 
aspects, especially with Bowles as ambassador, a sense of es- 
trangement was only too evident. With hindsight, the reasons 
are not hard to find. After the Korean War made the Cold War a 
global struggle, US and Indian world views were bound to clash 
sharply--and d i d m o n  fundamental security issues. The United 
States saw a world-wide threat from the Soviet Union and its 
fellow communist states and felt peace could be secured only 
through a strong military posture and collective security. 

India, in contrast, thought the Communist threat over- 
stated and saw both East and West as gripped in mutual fear. 
Nehru's concern was that this security psychosis would end not 
in preserving the peace, but in provoking war. He saw peace best 
preserved through dialogue not force, pursuing this end as ac- 
tively as the United States pursued a stronger security posture. 
Added to this fundamental difference of outlook was the friction 
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over Kashmirman issue of far greater importance to India than 
the United States. Stung and annoyed by India's frequent criti- 
cism of US policies, India's unwillingness to follow through with 
the plebiscite New Delhi itself had proposed seemed to Ameri- 
cans a far  cry from the lofty moralism and principled views' 
Nehru so often articulated. 

Underlying the estrangement was a sense of mutual disap- 
pointment fed by unrealized expectations. Democratic and sec- 
ular India expected the support of the United States on issues 
like Kashmir. The United States as leader of the democratic 
world expected that free and democratic India would back the 
general thrust of US policy in dealing with the Soviet threat. 
Washington did not welcome India's effort to follow a path 
between the Western democratic and Communist totalitarian 
camps, especially after the United States began to shed its blood 
in the war in Korea. And thus it was that Indo-American rela- 
tions got off to a rocky start in the early years of Indian 
independence. 
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Chapter III 

Eisenhower I: Tougher on 
Communism 

D w i g h t  D. Eisenhower became President on 20 January 
1953 with a mandate for change after twenty years of 
Democratic rule. The incoming Republicans favored a more 
conservative approach to the nation's problemsmthey wanted 
less government at home and a tougher policy toward 
Communist adversaries abroad. Above all, Eisenhower pledged 
an early end to the Korean War, increasingly unpopular as the 
conflict dragged on into its third year. 

Relations with South Asia did not rank high on Eisen- 
hower's foreign policy agenda. Prime Minister Nehru was, none- 
theless, uneasy. "The new administration in the U.S.A. has not 
yet come out clearly with its new policy," he wrote his Chief 
Ministers. "All that we know is that it has a certain bent of mind 
which does not take us toward peace. ''1 The emphasis that 
incoming Secretary of State John Foster Dulles placed on collec- 
tive security arrangements worried the Indian leader, concerned 
lest US sponsored military pacts embrace India's principal an- 
tagonist and neighbor, Pakistan. The new Republican adminis- 
tration also appeared more tepid than the Democrats about 
economic assistance to developing countries, a subject of grow- 
ing importance to India as food production continued to lag. 

99 
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India and Korean W a r  P O W  Repatriation 
Soviet dictator Joseph Stalin died in March 1953 shortly 

after Eisenhower took office. When Stalin's successors in the 
Kremlin and the Chinese Communists signaled interest in end- 
ing the Korean War, stalemated roughly along the 38th parallel, 
armistice discussions between the United Nations and the Com- 
munists resumed. The talks inched slowly toward acceptance of 
arrangements for handling repatriation of prisoners of war simi- 
lar to those India had proposed the previous fall. A five-nation 
Neutral Nations Repatriation Commission (NNRC), chaired by 
India with Canada, Sweden, Poland, and Czechoslovakia as 
members, would offer POWs an opportunity to express their 
wishes about returning home. Since the NNRC would take 
decisions by majority vote, neutral India was likely to have a key 
role. There was also talk of India's sending a military force to 
take charge of the POWs until their fate was decided. 

The possible Indian role did not enthuse US officials. U. 
Alexis Johnson, then a senior State Department Far East expert 
and later Under Secretary of State for Political Affairs, told the 
British, "We were, of course, not dismissing India but . . . we 
would not be too happy over such a choice as India all too often 
seemed to consider it necessary to be 'more neutral' towards the 
Chinese Communists than the UN. ''2 South Korea's President, 
Syngman Rhee, was more hostile. "Rhee feels very strongly," 
UN Commander General Mark Clark cabled Washington, "that 
India is not neutral and is opposed to have its (Indian) armed 
forces . . . on his sovereign soil. ''3 

In late May 1953, with the Korean armistice talks still not 
settled, John Foster Dulles visited the Middle East and South 
Asia--the first trip to the region by a US Secretary of State. His 
itinerary included two days in New Delhi for talks with the 
Indian Prime Minister. Like Pandit Nehru, Dulles had a passion 
for international relations. His grandfather, John Foster, served 
as Secretary of State under President Benjamin Harrison in the 
late 1880s. His uncle, Robert Lansing, was Secretary of State 
under Woodrow Wilson. A prominent international lawyer and 
an active Republican, Dulles provided foreign policy advice to 
New York Governor and two-time Republican presidential can- 
didate Thomas E. Dewey. As a sign of bipartisan foreign policy, 
President Truman appointed Dulles to several US delegations to 
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the UN and named him as the negotiator of the Japanese Peace 
Treaty. When Eisenhower was elected President, Dulles was a 
natural choice to become Secretary of State. 

Although Dulles had yet to declare neutralism "immoral", 
he was known for his hard-line views on dealing with Commu- 
nists and his dislike for India's nonalignment. Given their con- 
flicting policy approach, the meetings between Nehru and 
Dulles could not have been very relaxed. Korea was perhaps the 
subject where their views most converged, despite their differing 
appraisals of Communist intentions. Dulles asked India to send 
troops to take custody of POWs not wishing repatriation. Nehru 
expressed willingness, but urged a greater effort to achieve an 
armistice, voicing concern that otherwise the conflict would 
broaden. Dulles responded pointedly, "If  the armistice negotia- 
tions collapsed the United States would probably make a 
stronger rather than a lesser military exertion and that this might 
well extend the area of conflict." Dulles commented in his report 
of the conversation, "I assumed this would be relayed (to the 
Chinese Communists). TM 

The efforts to reach an armistice succeededmon 4 June the 
Communists accepted UN proposals to hand over POWs to the 
Indians for repatriation screening. Obdurately opposed to the 
accord, Syngman Rhee caused an uproar when he orchestrated 
the mass break-out of 40,000 North Korean POWs two weeks 
later. Justifying this action to General Clark, Rhee stated: 

What is uppermost in my mind is the fear that if the Indian 
armed forces, a thousand or more, come to guard these boys 
to help the Communist brainwashers grill them and indoc- 
trinate them for two or three long months, urging them to go 
back to the Communists, the Korean people will not let 
them alone. 5 

US Ambassador Ellis Briggs delivered a stiff message from 
President Eisenhower on 19 June, but the Korean President 
remained bitter about India. He declared that he would not 
permit "even one Indian soldier to enter ROK (Republic of 
Korea) territory in connection with the POWs. TM Nehru, who 
regarded Rhee as an reactionary anachronism, thought the 
United States should have taken a tougher line with the South 
Korean leader instead of trying "to appease him by all kinds of 
assurances for the future. ''7 
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The Prime Minister appointed one of India's top soldiers, 
General K. S. Thimayya, to head the 6,000 man Indian Custo- 
dial Force. His task was to see that the POWs could freely 
express their personal views and that no one was sent home 
against his wishes. Nehru instructed Thimayya to maintain 
strict neutrality in both official duties and unofficial contacts. 
Because of Rhee's antipathy, Indian troops had to fly from the 
port on Inchon to the Demilitarized Zone between Communist 
and United Nations forces, never crossing South Korean 
territory. 

For four months, the Indian Custodial Force had charge of 
22,604 Chinese and North Korean POWs as well as 359 UN 
soldiers, who said they wished to remain with the Communists. 
The Indians did not have an easy time. The Communist observ- 
ers put great psychological pressure on the prisoners during the 
interviews. UN supporters in the POW camp strenuously 
pressed fence sitters to refuse repatriation. In many instances, 
the POWs, especially North Koreans, refused to appear for the 
interviews. 

Neither the Communists nor the UN had success in con- 
vincing prisoners to change their minds. Thimayya thought the 
heavily ideological Communist arguments went over the heads 
of the Chinese and North Korean soldiers, who were mostly 
peasants. Conversely, he found the UN explanations not sophis- 
ticated enough for the politically savvy, pro-Communist UN 
POWs. The Communists were terribly unhappy that 96 percent 
of their prisoners remained firm in refusing repatriation. None 
of the 359 UN POWsm22 Americans, one Briton, and 336 
South Koreansmchanged their minds, s 

As the 120 days agreed upon for prisoner repatriation drew 
to a close, the screening process remained far from complete. 
The Communist insistence on lengthy explanations was one 
problem. Nehru also blamed the UN Command for organizing 
the camps politically in order to exert strong-arm pressure on 
POWs to refuse to appear for the interviews. 9 Rather  than 
continue what had become a painful exercise, the Indians de- 
cided to wash their hands of the affair, handing back the remain- 
ing unrepatriated prisoners to the UN Command on 22 January 
1953. 
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Even though the Chinese Communists were angry, Nehru 
refused to give ground out of concern the POWs would riot 
unless they were released. Thimayya told Ambassador Arthur 
Dean, US Korean peace negotiator, that Chou En-lai had cabled 
Nehru, "They are our prisoners, not yours, and you cannot 
release them. It would be better to let them break out on 23 
January and then you must shoot them whatever happens." The 
Prime Minister reportedly responded to Chou that India would 
have no part in bloodshed and had the duty to see that the 
prisoners were treated in a humanitarian fashion.X0 

The POW issue had become an issue of great symbolic 
importance for both sides of the Cold War. The United States 
regarded the refusal of so many prisoners to return home as a 
major defeat for the Communists.~l During the 21 January 1954 
National Security Council meeting, CIA Director Allen Dulles 
described the POW affair as "one of the greatest psychological 
victories so far achieved by the free world against 
communism."12 

The professional approach of General Thimayya and his 
troops earned respect. Ambassador Arthur Dean expressed his 
"tremendous admiration" for the general and his associates. He 
thought "'the Indian troops were doing a most amazing job in 
extremely difficult circumstances. ''13 US diplomat U. Alexis 
Johnson, skeptical earlier about India's role, praised Thimayya's 
skill in preserving "the principle that every prisoner should have 
the right to choose his future" and lauded Indian troops for their 
professional management of the POW camp. 14 The Indians, 
however, won few plaudits from Syngrnan Rhee, who remained 
bitterly critical. Nehru, in turn, disparaged Rhee's commitment 
to peace, alleging that South Korea was acting in an "utterly 
irresponsible" manner) 5 

In deference to Rhee, Secretary Dulles agreed to oppose 
India's participation in the international conference that was to 
deal with Korea's future. At the United Nations, US Representa- 
tive Henry Cabot Lodge spoke frankly with Krishna Menon, 
explaining that the United States had been unable to persuade 
Rhee to accept India at the Korean political conference) 6 The 
issue split the UN camp, with the countries of the British Com- 
monwealthmexcept Pakistanmsupporting India's presence. In 
the showdown vote, a majority oftlae UN's Political Committee 
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favored India, but failed to muster the two-third's vote needed 
to override US and Latin American opposition. Not without 
justification, Nehru believed that his country, having played a 
major role in bringing about the end to hostilities, had earned a 
seat at the conference. Since he regarded Rhee as an American 
puppet, the Indian leader found less than convincing the US 
explanation that Rhee would refuse to attend the Conference if 
India were invited. 

In a frank 7 October meeting, Dulles and Indian Ambassa- 
dor G. L. Mehta summed up the harmful impact of the Korean 
War on bilateral relations. The Secretary commented that since 
the United States favored "stronger methods in dealing with 
Communism" than New Delhi, Indian policies would "inevita- 
bly not have much popular appeal" to Americans. Acknowledg- 
ing this, Mehta said the reverse was true in India where public 
opinion had come to believe the United States did not want 
peace in Korea. 17 When the Korean conference finally convened 
in Geneva in April 1954, the gathering soon deadlocked. After 
two months of futile discussion, the conference broke up in 
disagreement between the UN and Communist sides. Mean- 
while, the armistice on the ground in Korea continued, the 
military conflict having given way to a hostile and tense peace. 

Quite apart from the Korean War's negative repercussions 
for bilateral relations, the conflict had great importance for both 
US and Indian foreign policies. For the United States, the fact 
that North Korean armies invaded South Korea demonstrated 
to Americans that the danger of Communist aggression was real, 
not simply the imagination of overzealous Cold Warriors. The 
war firmed up the policy of containment as the chosen means of 
countering the Soviet Union and its Communist allies. In the 
wake of Korea, America was looking for allies and military pacts 
to contain what Washington perceived as the global Communist 
threat. After Eisenhower became President, the search for secu- 
rity partners intensified. The quest would shortly envelop South 
Asia, where the United States would enlist India's neighbor and 
foe Pakistan into the Western camp with far-reaching and bane- 
ful consequences for Indo-American relations. 

For India, the Korean War was equally important, putting 
Nehru's concept of neutralism to the test. Staying aloof from the 
two major power blocs, India was able to establish itself as the 
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country in the middle between East and West, able to serve as an 
honest broker and channel of communication between the West- 
ern and the Communist powers. Even though India  received 
little praise and often much criticism from both Cold War 
camps, Indian diplomacy proved successful. India, in the pro- 
cess, gained prestige and influence far beyond its limited mili- 
tary or economic power. Whether one liked it or not in the 
mid-1950s--and usually the United States did no tmlndia  had 
become a factor in international affairs that could not be ig- 
nored, speaking for its four hundred million people and articu- 
lating the desires of millions of others in Asia and Africa 
emerging from Western colonial rule. 

US Military Assistance to Pakistan 
For Indo-American relations, the most important question 

during the May 1953 visit of John Foster Dulles to South Asia 
was not Korea but Pakistan's membership in a pro-Western 
Middle East defense grouping and American military assistance. 
When Nehru mentioned India's concerns about these possibili- 
ties, Secretary Dulles replied with lawyer-like precision that the 
Middle East Defense Organization seemed unlikely to take 
shape as originally projected. He made no mention of the alter- 
native northern tier system that he would discuss in public ten 
days later. 

Regarding arms to Pakistan, the Secretary stated that the 
United States "had no present plans that would bring it into a 
military relationship with Pakistan which could be reasonably 
looked upon as unneutral as regards India." Literally accurate, 
Dulles' statement was misleading, for the Secretary was cer- 
tainly considering providing arms to Pakistan even if  nothing 
yet had been firmly decided. The issue of reasonableness about 
US arms for Pakis tanmon which Dulles and other American 
officials would place importance--was in a sense irrelevant 
since India regarded any US military aid to Pakistan as "unneu- 
tral." In his report of the conversation, Dulles wrote, "Nehru 
expressed satisfaction with this declaration. ''18 One wonders. 

Dulles' next stop after New Delhi was Karachi, then the 
capital of Pakistan. The contrast in the welcome was marked. In 
New Delhi, the Indians were correct, but formal, in greeting 
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Dulles. Nehru saw no reason to butter up visitors from Washing- 
ton. In Karachi, the Pakistanis overwhelmed the Americans 
with the warmth of their reception. Eager to gain US military 
support, the Pakistanis had every reason to court Dulles and his 
party. Like many senior American leaders, the Secretary was 
flattered by Pakistani hospitalitymwith an individual as dour as 
Dulles, no mean achievement. 

The Pakistani leadership, especially Army commander  
General Ayub Khan, forcefully urged US military aid. Ayub 
"reiterated the potential, both in  manpower and bases that is 
available in Pakistan and that his country under the present 
government is extremely anxious to cooperate with the US." 
The United States, Ayub argued, should not be afraid to help 
those countries ready to receive help against the Communists. 
Ayub contended that a strengthened Pakistan would make 
Nehru less intransigent and more likely to agree to a Kashmir 
settlement. 19 

Dulles was impressed. Several days later, the Secretary 
cabled from Turkey that the "genuine feeling of friendship 
encountered in Pakistan . . . exceeded to a marked degree that 
encountered in any country on this trip . . . .  Pakistan is one 
country that has moral courage to do its part resisting commu- 
nism." In Dulles' opinion, "Pakistan would be a cooperative 
member of any defense scheme that may emerge in the Middle 
East and that we need not await formal defense arrangements as 
condition to some military assistance . . .-20 

Dulles reiterated his positive appraisal during a 1 June NSC 
meeting just after returning to Washington. The Secretary de- 
clared that he was "immensely impressed by the martial and 
religious qualities of the Pakistanis. These qualities made him 
and Mr. Stassen, . . . feel that Pakistan was a potential strong 
point for us . . . -21 In contrast, the Secretary's assessment of 
Jawaharlal Nehru was hardly flattering: Dulles described the 
Indian leader as "an utterly impractical statesman. ''22 

The same day, the Secretary spoke about his Middle East 
and South Asia trip over national radio and television. After 
reviewing the various stopsmdescribing Pakistan with notably 
more warmth than Indiamthe final section of his remarks dealt 
with regional defense arrangements. Noting that the Arab States 
were so engrossed in their quarrels with Israel, Great Britain, or 
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France that they paid little heed to the menace of Soviet commu- 
nism, Dulles stated: 

However, there is more concern where the Soviet Union is 
near. In general, the northern tier of nations shows aware- 
ness of the danger. 

There is a vague desire to have a collective security system. 
But no such system can be imposed from without. It should 
be designed and grown from within out of a sense of com- 
mon destiny and common danger. 

While awaiting the formal creation of a security association, 
the United States can usefully help strengthen the interre- 
lated defense of those countries which want strength, not as 
against each other or the West, but to resist the common 
threat of all free peoples .  23 

Assistant Secretary of State Henry Byroade, who drafted the 
speech while accompanying Dulles on the trip, said that the 
address provided the vehicle for getting the Secretary's agree- 
men t  on the northern tier defense concept to replace the still- 
born Middle East Defense Organization. 24 The idea that later 
became the Baghdad Pact was, thus, put on the table for public 
discussion with official blessing. Although Byroade, a strong 
supporter of the northern tier, hoped the concept would become 
a reality, he was unsure and in no hurry to force a decision. 

Apart from the anticipated negative Indian reaction, I ranm 
just recovering from the radical Mossadegh era--was a ques- 
tionable member, a soft spot in the middle of the defense perim- 
eter. Iraq's participation was shaky, given its rivalry with 
Nasser's Egypt, which firmly opposed an alliance with the West. 
How the United States and Britain would associate themselves 
with the security arrangement remained unsettled. With re- 
sources stretched and other regions of higher priority, the Penta- 
gon was, moreover, unenthusiastic about the nebulous northern 
tier concept3 5 

If the United States was in no hurry, the Pakistanis were 
eager to conclude the arms agreement. After the assassination of 
Prime Minister Liaquat All Khan in 19 51, control of the country 
fell into the hands of the conservative military and civil service 
leadership which desperately wanted to bolster Pakistan's secu- 
rity against India through association with the United States. 
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They seized the opportunity presented by Dulles' public discus- 
sion of the northern tier concept to urge a decision by Washing- 
ton on arms aid. When Karachi heard positive sounding words 
but saw no signs of action, General Ayub Khan came to the 
United States in the fall of 1953 in order to press Pakistan's case. 

Tall, handsome, speaking with a dipped South Asian En- 
glish accent, Ayub looked and sounded like someone central 
casting found for a Hollywood production of "The Lives of a 
Bengal Lancer." The Pakistani general lobbied hard with the 
State Department, the Pentagon, and the Congress, saying all the 
right things about the dangers of Communism and the need to 
stand together against the Red threat. Byroade recalled Ayub 
barging into his office to state bluntly: "For Christ's sake, I 
didn't come to the United States to look at barracks. Our army 
can be your army if you want us. But let's make a decision! ''26 

When Ayub met with Dulles, the Secretary assured the 
visiting Pakistani he supported arms aid regardless of the Indian 
reaction. Dulles explained to an impatient Ayub that it would 
take time before the issue could formally be put to President 
Eisenhower. 27 Byroade asked Ayub to avoid premature publicity 
during the time the administration was reviewing the proposal. 28 
Despite the fact that Ayub agreed, he leaked what was going on 
to the New York Times correspondent shortly after returning to 
Karachi. The story, appearing on 3 November, provoked a loud 
public outcry in India. Prime Minister Nehru at first reacted 
only in private, warning Pakistani Prime Minister Mohammed 
Ali Bogra: 

If such an alliance takes place, Pakistan definitely enters 
into the region of cold war . . . .  It must also be a matter of 
grave consequence to us, you will appreciate, if vast armies 
are built up in Pakistan with the aid of American 
money . . . All of our problems will have to be seen in a 
n e w  l i g h t .  29 

Writing to India's Chief Ministers, Nehru roundly criti- 
cized the United States as being unable to "think of anything else 
but of getting bases all over the world and using their money 
power to get manpower elsewhere to fight for them. ''30 Nehru 
asserted: 

A military pact between Pakistan and the U.S. changes the 
whole balance in this part of the world and affects India 
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more especially. The U.S. must realize that the reaction in 
India will be that this arming of Pakistan is largely against 
India or might be used against India, whether the U.S. wants 
that or not . . . .  They imagine that such an alliance be- 
tween Pakistan and the U.S. would bring such overwhelm- 
ing pressure on India as to compel her to change her policy 
of nonalignment. That is a rather naive view because the 
effect on India will be just the opposite, that is, one of 
greater resentment against the U.S. 3~ 

Worried about being politically outflanked by rightists and 
Communists, Nehru soon dropped his restraint and entered the 
fray publiclymdoubtless as Ayub hoped. Nehru warned that US 
arms to Pakistan would bring the Cold War to the region, and 
would have "very far-reaching consequences on the whole struc- 
ture of things in South Asia and especially in India and 
Pakistan."32 

When Indian Ambassador Mehta raised the arms issue with 
Dulles, the Secretary replied that, given India's military superi- 
ority over Pakistan, any possible aid would pose no "reason- 
able" threat to India. Dulles added that the United States could 
not indefinitely postpone strengthening an important region of 
the world just because India and Pakistan were at odds. 33 Hardly 
a heartening response from the Indian standpoint. 

By raising a public fuss, Nehru may have avoided domestic 
political problems in India, but his outcry upset many opinion- 
makers in the United States, where India had relatively few 
prominent political supporters apart from former Ambassador 
Chester Bowles and Senator Hubert Humphreymliberal Demo- 
crats unlikely to carry weight with the Eisenhower administra- 
tion. As the American press considered the issue, the balance of 
opinion swung in favor of aid to Pakistan; even the N e w  York  
T imes  criticized the Indian attitude. Ayub's leak thus achieved 
its purpose, provoking Nehru into making so much threatening 
noise that he backed the US administration into a corner. The 
question became less whether to go ahead with arms for Pakistan 
than whether to back down because of India's protests. 

According to Byroade, the final decision was still not easy. It 
was tempting to back Pakistanma country asking to become an 
a l ly~and  to rebuff Nehru whose brand of neutralism few liked. 
Even though some hardliners, like Vice President Richard 
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Nixon and Senate Majority Leader William Knowland, wanted 
to build up Pakistan as a counterweight to India, Byroade in- 
sisted this was not the administration's purpose. The basic idea 
remained one of providing greater stability to the northern tier 
region through association with the United States, making it 
easier for these countries to deal with the presumed Communist 
threat. Because Washington saw this danger more as political 
and psychological than military, the Defense Department 
played almost no role in the decision-making process. The Pen- 
tagon undertook little serious planning for an arms aid program 
for Pakistan. Byroade himself was thinking of a largely symbolic 
programDperhaps $20 mil l ionDfar less than the amount of 
assistance the United States later provided. 34 

In the hope of reducing the negative Indian reaction, the 
State Department adopted an elaborate, but transparent, 
scheme to suggest that Washington was responding to an initia- 
tive from the countries of the region. According to this arrange- 
ment, the Pakistanis sought and received Turkey's agreement 
for a bilateral defense pact and then supposedly approached 
Washington for arms help. It was understood that Iran would 
join the security arrangement when political conditions 
permitted. 35 

In early December, Vice President Richard Nixon~travel-  
ing on an extensive Asian tour--met  in New Delhi with Nehru. 
The Prime Minister did most of the talking, arguing strongly 
against American arms assistance to Pakistan. He did not im- 
press the Vice President. Nixon described Nehru as "the least 
friendly leader" he met on his seventeen nation t r ip .  36 The Vice 
President was convinced Nehru's objection to US arms for 
Pakistan stemmed in part from "his personal thirst for influ- 
ence, if  not control, over South Asia, the Middle East, and 
Afr ica .  ''37 After the Delhi visit, the New York Times reporting 
that Nixon supported arms aid for Pakistan, quoted an un- 
named source (presumably Nixon) as saying, "The time has 
come to put an end to Washington's patience with Nehru. The 
US should take a firmer course with Nehru who has often 
embarrassed the US."38 

On 4 January 1954, Secretary Dulles reviewed the issue 
with the President. Eisenhower gave his tentative approval, 
"subject, however, to our capacity to present this in a reasonable 
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way which would allay the apprehensions of reasonable people 
that we were trying to help Pakistan against India. ''39 Nine days 
later, Dulles met again with Eisenhower to get a final decision. 
The Secretary stressed the effect that not going ahead would 
have in light of Prime Minister Nehru's strong and public objec- 
tions. If the United States backed down, Dulles believed this 
step would "do a great deal to establish Nehru as the leader of all 
of South and Southeast Asia and nations in that region would 
henceforth be reluctant to proceed on matters with the West 
without obtaining Nehru's support." Eisenhower gave his ap- 
proval but again expressed concern about the Indian reaction.  
He directed that "every possible public and private means at our 
disposal be used to ease the effects of our action on India. ''4° 

On 24 February 1954, Ambassador George Allen, the career 
diplomat the Republicans sent to replace Bowles in New Delhi, 41 
officially informed Nehru of the decision, presenting him a letter 
from Eisenhower supposed to allay Indian concerns. The Presi- 
dent made two principal points: he offered military aid to India 
and pledged to act against any misuse by Pakistan of US military 
assistance against India. After reading Eisenhower's letter care- 
fully, Nehru smiled, looking silently at his cigarette for a few 
moments before responding. When the Prime Minister spoke, 
he adopted a pleasant, almost cordial tone, commenting it was 
not "US motives" that disturbed him but the "possible conse- 
quences of this action," both internationally and internally on 
India and Pakistan. Interpreting Nehru's calm reaction as a 
positive sign, Allen expressed the hope the discussion of "this 
subject will diminish after a few days. ''42 

Notwithstanding the envoy's sanguine report, the intense 
and emotional Indian reaction had a far more profound effect on 
Indo-American relations than anticipated. The US government 
knew the action would cause problems, but, like Allen, policy 
makers hoped the impact would not be too adverse or long- 
lasting. The revised US South Asia policy document, NSC 5409, 
under consideration in tandem with the decision to provide 
arms to Pakistan, reflected this view. NSC 5409, in typically 
qualified US officialese, stated, "A result may be an intensifica- 
tion of differences in U.S.-Indian relations and possibly more 
friendly Indian relations with the Soviet Union, 
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although there would probably not be any major change in 
India's foreign policies. ''43 

The US intelligence community also underestimated the 
impact. A June 1954 National Intelligence Estimate (NIE) re- 
garding the implications of the arms decision concluded that 
although the northern tier security arrangements would: 

In some degree increase Indo-US tensions, it is unlikely that 
an open rift would develop between the US and India as a 
result of this factor alone . . . .  Should Pakistan be materi- 
ally strengthened as a result of US aid, India would also seek 
to build up its own forces. In any event, it is extremely 
unlikely that India would move significantly closer to the 
Soviet bloc. 44 

For Washington, the main consideration was relatively sim- 
ple: through arms to Pakistan, the United States thought it was 
taking an important step in advancing the policy of containment 
of Communism by strengthening the chain of collective security 
arrangements around the borders of the Soviet Union. In the 
administration's eyes, as reflected in NSC 5409, the action 
strengthened the defense of the region against the Communist 
threat and was not intended to "make Pakistan the dominant 
state in South Asia. ''45 The United States gained in Pakistan a 
new ally in the Cold War, a Muslim country with a proud 
military tradition and, on paper at least, a substantial number of 
fighting troops that would be available for the defense of the oil- 
rich Persian Gulf. 

Although Washington recognized Pakistan's primary moti- 
vation was to strengthen itself against India, the US leadership 
believed Pakistan was also concerned about the threat of Com- 
munism. The Pakistanis pointedly played up their alleged wor- 
ries about the danger from the Soviet bloc in talking with 
American officials. 46 Neither Byroade nor John Foster Dulles 
were concerned that US arms would upset the South Asia power 
balance. Because India was far stronger than its neighbor, the 
small amount of arms then contemplatedmNSC 5409 projected 
only $10 million annuallymcould hardly enable Pakistan to 
present a credible military threat to India. 47 Reflecting on the 
decision over three decades later, Henry Byroade acknowledged 
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having underestimated the depth of Indian and Pakistani ani- 
mosity, "We knew they disliked each other. We misjudged the 
intensity of their feelings.'48 

Nehru reacted angrily to the US decision. Despite what 
Washington said, the action psychologically strengthened Paki- 
stan in its dealings with Indiamthis  was, after all, the basic 
reason why Pakistan wanted the ties with the United States. 
Until  1954, the politically and economically weak Muslim state 
lacked any significant external backing. Now, Nehru told his 
Chief Ministers, "Behind Pakistan will stand a great and power- 
ful country, the U.S.A. In fact, the giving of military aid to 
Pakistan is an unfriendly act to India. ''49 

Even if John Foster Dunes claimed no "reasonable" person 
could construe US aid to Pakistan as threatening India, in his 
desire to press ahead with containing Communism, Dulles un- 
derestimated the psychological impact of the nearly six hundred 
years of Muslim dominance of the subcontinent before the 
British gained control. 50 Ingrained in the psyche of South Asians 
was a sense that Muslims were far more martial than Hindus. As 
Winston Churchill emphasized to President Roosevelt in 1942, 
the Muslims were the fighters, not the Hindus. 5~ In 1954, many 
Pakistanismheirs to the martial tradition of Muslim domina- 
tion of the subcontinent--still  believed, and many Indians 
feared, that one Muslim soldier was worth ten Hindus. 

Nehru strongly opposed military alliances in Asia, but espe- 
cially in South Asia. In his view, "the fact that Pakistan aligns 
itself completely with one of the great military blocs necessarily 
makes it subservient to the policy of that bloc. ''52 He saw a "loss 
of Pakistan's freedom and that country's becoming progres- 
sively a satellite o f  the United States. ''53 The amount of aid 
concerned Nehru less than the qualitative change from the arms 
decision. "Pakistan," he stated, "will become definitely lined up 
with the Western powers and a region of cold war now and 
shooting war perhaps later.'54 

Nehru thought that the United States, in deciding to give 
arms to Pakistan, was in part motivated by its opposition to 
Indian neutralism. Until 1954, the Indian leader hoped to de- 
velop an area of peace, a region that stood apart from the two 
power blocs, based loosely on the Arab-Asian group of indepen- 
dent states then emerging from colonialism. Burma, Indonesia, 
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and Egypt were, in Nehru's view, leaning in this direction. By 
accepting US military aid, Pakistanmwhose foreign policy until 
then was mainly concerned with the Kashmir issueR"breaks up 
this Arab-Asian group and enlarges the possible area of war. ''55 

The public reaction in India to news of the arms decision 
was an irate outcry against the United States. Whatever Wash- 
ington might say by way of explaining the action, the US stand- 
ing in India plummeted. The ruling Indian Congress Party at its 
meetings at Kalyani sharply criticized the US decision. Nehru 
became even more disapproving of US foreign policy, stating in 
parliament on 1 March that US military aid amounted to inter- 
vention in South Asia that would have a direct effect on the 
Kashmir issue. 56 Nehru demanded the immediate removal of 
American members of the UN Kashmir truce observer group, 
asserting the United States was no longer neutral because of its 
new relationship with Pakistan. In the end, the Prime Minister 
relented somewhat, permitting the US observers to complete 
their tours but only on the understanding that no Americans 
would be sent as replacements. 57 

Allowing his animus to spill into other areas, Nehru wrote 
his Chief Ministers on 26 April, "We should discourage large 
numbers of people coming here from the United States or going 
to the United States from India . . . .  It is not desirable for us 
to send out students or others to the United States for training, 
except for some very specialized courses. ''58 In a 3 May memo- 
randum, he stated, "I dislike more and more this business of 
exchange of persons between America and India. The fewer 
persons that go from India to America or that come from the 
United States to India, the better. ''59 

In understanding why the United States decided to alienate 
much larger and more important India by entering into an arms 
accord with Pakistan, it is hard to ignore an emotional element 
in US thinking. India's neutralist approach and chronic moraliz- 
ing about US foreign policy, had by 1954 thoroughly tried the 
patience of top levels of the State Department, the Pentagon, 
and many in the Congress, not to speak of Republican leaders 
like Richard Nixon and John Foster Dulles. The decision to 
provide arms to India's unfriendly neighbor, to some extent, 
seemed a subconscious way of hitting back at India. In analyzing 
the action, J. J. Singh, the longtime head of the India League in 
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the United States, believed the US motivation was about equally 
divided between a desire to strengthen Western defenses against 
Communism and a wish to give vent to anti-Indian feelings. 6° 

Whatever the cause, the consequences of the US decision to 
arm Pakistan were far-reaching for relations with India and for 
US South Asia policy. After initially trying to avoid taking sides 
in India-Pakistan disputesmdespite the friction with India over 
Kashmir--Washington opted to develop a close security rela- 
tionship with India's principal enemy. Pandit Nehru wrote 
K.M. Panikkar, then Ambassador to Egypt: 

The United States imagine that by this policy they have 
completely outflanked India's so-called neutralism and will 
thus bring India to her knees. Whatever the future may 
hold, this is not going to happen. The first result of all of this 
will be an extreme dislike of the United States in India. 61 

Kashmir Dispute: Dim Prospects for Settlement 
The Kashmir dispute was deadlocked when Eisenhower 

took office in January 1953. Dr. Frank Graham's try at media- 
tion on behalf of the Security Council ended in failure in March. 
Despite the unpromising outlook, President Eisenhower en- 
dorsed Secretary Dulles' suggestion to send Ford Foundation 
head Paul Hoffman, former chief of the Marshall Plan, as a 
private presidential emissary to South Asia. Eisenhower told 
Dulles, "Our world simply cannot afford an outbreak of hostili- 
ties between these two countries, and I would risk a great deal to 
prevent any such eventuality. ''62 

When Hoffman traveled to the subcontinent in April 1953, 
he made some progress. Nehru, who saw little future in continu- 
ing the UN Kashmir effort, agreed to meet bilaterally with 
Mohammed Ali Bogra, Pakistan's new Prime Minister. "While 
he would not commit himself to any particular solution," Hoff- 
man reported that Nehru "seemed confident that a satisfactory 
answer could be found." In Karachi, Hoffman obtained similar 
agreement for bilateral discussions from the Pakistanis. After 
returning to the United States, Hoffman wrote Secretary Dul- 
les--with more optimism than later proved just if ied--that  the 
two prime ministers, meeting to negotiate on a "neighbor to 
neighbor" basis, were going to persist until a settlement was 
reached.6S 
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The Eisenhower administration initially was less fixed on 
the idea of a plebiscite than its predecessor. During Dulles' visit 
to India, the Secretary told Nehru partition of Kashmir might 
prove a better solution. DuUes noted that plebiscites in the inter- 
war period stirred much emotion while failing to resolve territo- 
rial disputes. Not surprisingly, Nehru agreed that a plebiscite 
was not the desirable solution, commenting that he envisaged a 
Kashmir settlement on the basis of the cease-fire line established 
in 1949 with minor adjustmentsDa posture he would support to 
his death in 1964. After Dulles encountered stiff Pakistani oppo- 
sition to giving up the plebiscite, he backed away from shifting 
US policy on the question. 64 

Nehru's initial discussions with Pakistan's Mohammed Ali 
Bogra were positive in tone, but produced nothing tangible. 
Although Nehru found the new government in Karachi inclined 
toward a less hostile approach toward India than its predecessor, 
the Prime Minister faced a problem of a different sortDrising 
concern in New Delhi about the attitude of Kashmiri Premier 
Sheikh Mohammed Abdullah. Upset by communal agitation 
instigated by Hindu extremists, the Sheikh began to sound less 
eager for the union of Kashmir with India. His talking about the 
possibility of an independent state greatly upset the Indians. 65 
As the dominant political leader in the state, the Sheikh's opin- 
ion carried great weight and could undermine Indian control 
over Kashmir. To prevent this from happening, the Sheikh was 
ousted from power in August 1953 by his deputy, Bakshi Ghu- 
lam Mohammed, and arrested a few days later. 66 

The United States, to its dismay, found itself embroiled in 
Kashmir's internal political crisis. Opponents of Abdullah al- 
leged he was conspiring with Americans, offering bases in return 
for US support for Kashmiri independence. A meeting in May 
1953 with former Democratic presidential candidate Adlai Ste- 
venson was cited as "proof" that Washington was encouraging 
the Kashmiri leader to seek independence. The Indian press 
reported implausibly that Eisenhower was using Stevenson, the 
man he had defeated in a bitter presidential election, as an envoy 
to Abdullah. Ambassador Allen took the criticisms sufficiently 
seriously that he received State Department approval to give 
Nehru a fiat denial.67 Despite this official disavowal, charges 
that the United States was up to no good in Kashmir continued 
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to circulate. The Embassy cabled Washington, "practically ev- 
ery high Indian official and writer has become firmly convinced 
of story manufactured out of whole cloth. ''6s 

Even though Sheikh Abdullah's ouster caused an uproar in 
Pakistan, Mohammed Ali Bogra proceeded with bilateral talks, 
leading a large delegation to New Delhi, where, in keeping with 
the love-hate relationship between the two countries, he was 
warmly received by the populace. Surprisingly, the negotiations 
registered progress. In the 20 August communiqu6, Nehru and 
his Pakistani counterpart agreed to name a new plebiscite ad- 
ministrator by the end of April 1954--something to which the 
Indians previously refused to agree. 69 Nehru reportedly told 
Mohammed Ali he looked to voting in 1955 "provided the 
atmosphere in Pakistan remains good. ''7° 

The improved atmospherics were short-lived. Instead of 
taking advantage of Nehru's more forthcoming attitude to ce- 
ment plebiscite arrangements, Karachi reverted to a tougher 
line. Pakistan was the only member of the Commonwealth to 
vote against Indian participation in the Korean political confer- 
ence, a move hardly likely to sit well with Nehru. The Pakistani 
press, contrary to an accord to tone down criticism, resumed 
strident attacks on India. When Nehrumannoyed by India's 
exclusion from the Korea peace conference and suspicious of US 
activities in Kashmir--balked at having an American replace 
Nimitz, the Pakistanis insisted on having a US citizen as the new 
plebiscite administrator. 71 

The final derailment came after the arms aid decision. 
Nehru warned the Pakistanis that they could not have it both 
ways: US arms would be regarded as an unfriendly act in India 
and the whole issue of Kashmir would change. 72 Mohammed Ali 
replied that a military alliance with the United States had noth- 
ing to do with India, although he told USNews and World Report 
that Pakistan's enhanced military strength would improve the 
prospects for a Kashmir solution. 73 

Senior Indians, including Ministry of External Affairs Sec- 
retary General N. R. Pillai, who succeeded Bajpai, and Dr. S. 
Radhakrishnan, who became India's Vice President after serv- 
ing as envoy to Moscow, urged Ambassador Allen to seek a 
postponement of the arms decision, arguing this step would 
boost the chance for progress on Kashmir and avoid entangling 
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the two issues. Allen refused to recommend a delay to Washing- 
ton, apparently unconvinced Nehru was sincere about seeking a 
Kashmir settlement. 74 Even though it  was far from clear that 
Nehru was really prepared to go forward with a plebiscite~as 
his semi-official biographer Sarvepalli Gopal implied75mhis in- 
tentions were unfortunately not put to the test. 

Once the arms decision was firm, Nehru carried out his 
threat to toughen India's stance on Kashmir. The bilateral dis- 
cussions collapsed. Within the year, the Indians were refusing to 
talk about a plebiscite as a way to settle the dispute .  76 Since then, 
New Delhi's position has remained that the people of Kashmir 
had spoken for India by electing the constituent assembly and 
therefore there was no need for a plebiscite to determine what 
Kashmiris wanted. 

India Edges Closer to Moscow 
Nehru was now prepared to edge India closer to the Soviet 

Union to offset US support for Pakistan. Post-Stalin Moscow 
was only too willing to reciprocate. In a sign of shifting Kremlin 
policy toward India, G. M. Malenkov, chairman of the Council 
of Ministers, in an August 1953 speech, praised India for its role 
in promoting peace in Korea and called for better relations. 77 If 
the United States disliked neutralism as contrary to Western 
policy goals, the new Soviet leadership viewed the Indian ap- 
proach in a much more positive light. Since much of the thrust of 
neutralism was directed against Western colonialism, Moscow 
could cheerfully support the policy without risk to its interests. 
At a time when the West was seeking to contain the Sovietsm 
vigorously trying to limit Moscow's contacts with the newly 
emergent nat ionsmthe chance to expand relations with the larg- 
est nonaligned country was an opportunity the Russians eagerly 
seized. 

As one indication of warming relations, Nehru paid a suc- 
cessful official visit to the Soviet Union in June 1955. During his 
stay, the Indian leader became the first non-Communist leader 
to address the Soviet people on television. Even if Nehru re- 
mained uneasy about the totalitarian nature of the Soviet state, 
he was impressed--as he had been on his first visit in 1928ruby 
signs of economic progress. He also approved of the more prag- 
matic foreign policy approach of the new Soviet leadership, 
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believing their policy shift reduced the chances for global 
conflict. 7s 

In November and December 195 5, Communist Party Gen- 
eral Secretary Nikita Khrushchev and Premier Nikolai Bulganin 
paid a reciprocal state visit to India. They toured the country for 
almost a month, receiving an enormously warm welcome wher- 
ever they went. What was popularly called "the B & K show"m 
because of the colorful antics of Khrushchev--reached its high 
point on 9 December in Srinagar, the capital of Kashmir. To the 
delight of his hosts, Khrushchev dropped Soviet neutrality on 
Kashmir to proclaim support for India's position. The Russians 
seconded the Indian view that the ratification of Kashmir's 
accession by the state's constituent assembly was proof that the 
people of Kashmir had already expressed their will at the ballot 
box. The Communist Party General Secretary declared: 

The question of Kashmir as one of the constituent states of 
the Indian Union has already been decided by the people of 
Kashmir . . . .  Facts show that the population of Kashmir 
do not wish that Kashmir become a toy in the hands of 
imperialistic forces. 79 

K_hrushchev's policy change boosted the Soviet Union's 
popularity in India. If Pakistan could count on the United States 
for support, India now had a powerful friend of its own. The 
Soviet shift also had the practical advantage of making it harder 
for the United Nations to reengage itself actively in efforts to 
settle the Kashmir dispute. India could henceforth rely on a 
Soviet veto to block Security Council moves which New Delhi 
opposed, s0 

During their visit, the Russian leaders won further friends 
on 28 November by calling the existence of Goa, the nearly four- 
century-old Portuguese colony along the Arabian Sea coast in 
western India, "a shame to civilization. ''s~ After the British 
granted independence, the French agreed to hand over to India 
Pondicherry and other small French colonial holdings. Lisbon, 
however, stubbornly refused to give up Goa, asserting the terri- 
tory was not a colony but a province of Portugal. Soviet support 
on Goa contrasted with the ambivalent US position that re- 
fleeted Washington's sensitivities for its NATO ally Portugal. 
The difference between the US and Soviet positions was further 
underscored when John Foster Dulles angered New Delhi by 
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joining the Portuguese foreign minister on 2 December in criti- 
cizing Soviet statements "concerning Portuguese provinces in 
the Far East. ''82 

Khrushchev and Bulganin offered India economic aid as 
well as support on Kashmir and Goa. The Soviets agreed to 
build a million ton public sector steel mill financed by a $112 
million low-interest loan and to provide other economic assis- 
tance for industrial development during the Second Indian Five 
Year Plan, which was slated to commence in 1956. At the same 
time, Moscow and New Delhi expanded cultural and educa- 
tional exchanges and increased trade with India. In deference to 
Nehru's complaints, Moscow ostensibly distanced itself from 
the Communist Party of India, the winner of more than 5 
percent of the popular vote in the 1952 general elections. 83 

Even though the trend in relations pleased Nehru, he re- 
mained somewhat reserved about the Russian embrace, refusing 
a proposal for a nonaggression pact embodying the principles of 
peaceful coexistence. India similarly showed only limited inter- 
est at this point in procuring Soviet military equipment, despite 
the offer of easy financial terms and growing concern about the 
increase in Pakistan's military strength after American military 
aid started flowing in. 84 

Washington watched the Bulganin and Krushchev visit 
with uneasiness. White House adviser Nelson Rockefeller urged 
Eisenhower to send a personal message to Nehru pledging US 
support for India's development efforts. After the State Depart- 
ment threw cold water on the idea--since there were no addi- 
tional aid funds, the gesture would be seen as a propaganda 
move--Eisenhower decided to take no immediate action. 85 By 
then, pressures were, nonetheless, building on the administra- 
tion to increase foreign aid in response to what Washington 
perceived as a Soviet economic and diplomatic offensive in the 
developing world. Eisenhower and his Secretaries of State, De- 
fense, and the Treasury discussed the possibility during an 8 
December meeting at Camp David, the President's weekend 
retreat. 86 

Vietnam, Bandung, and Hindi-Chini Bhai Bhai 
As if to compensate further for the diplomatic defeat India 

suffered when Pakistan gained US military assistance, Nehru 
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worked hard through 1954 and 1955 to buttress Indian foreign 
policy, pressing for a settlement in troubled French Indo-China, 
playing the leading role in the first Afro-Asian summit at Ban- 
dung, and improving relations with Communist China. In a 
speech at Colombo on 28 April 1954, he coined the phrase 
"nonalignment" to describe India's pol icy ,  87 preferring this to 
neutralism since it implied an active rather than a passive 
approach. 

In Indo-China, the Vietminh victory at Dien Bien Phu 
signalled the end of French colonial domination. Pierre Mend6s- 
France came to power in Paris pledging to bring peace to the 
region. In April 1954, Nehru proposed a six-point plan for a 
settlement, which the United States disliked. 88 Even though not 
a formal participant in the Geneva Conference on Indo-China, 
India was forcefully represented by the ubiquitous Krishna Me- 
non. The unofficial Indian envoy shuttled between different 
delegations, with whom he had roughly 200 interviews during 
the three weeks of the conference. Because India was the only 
Asian state present, apart from Communist China, the other 
delegations listened to Menon's views. In the end, the Confer- 
ence asked India, along with Canada and Poland, to serve on the 
three International Control Commissions (ICC) established to 
monitor the Geneva accords in the Indo-China states. Nehru felt 
particularly gratified India could play this role, so in keeping 
with his policy of nonalignment and his desire to promote peace 
in Asia. 89 

Lukewarm about the Geneva accords, the United States 
promoted an anti-Communist collective security pact for South- 
east Asia that became a reality in September 1954 as the South- 
east Asia Treaty Organization (SEATO). Headquartered in 
Bangkok, SEATO's membership underlined its narrow regional 
support--the only Asian countries to join were the Philippines, 
Thailand, and Pakistan. Geographically the oddest participant, 
Pakistan took the initiative to seek membership, eager to 
strengthen its security ties to the United States. Although Dulles 
recognized the problems inherent in including the Pakistanis, 
Washington found itself outmaneuvered by Karachi and in the 
end had to agree to their joining. 9° Quite apart from annoyance 
over Pakistan's membership, Nehru regarded SEATO as "harm- 
ful to Asia as well as the cause of peace." He commented, "The 
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habit of the West to carry the "white man's burden" in the East 
still continued, even though conditions in the world and in Asia 
have changed greatly. ''91 

Although tough on communism at home, Nehru pursued 
closer relations with Communist China, as well as the Soviet 
Union. In the summer of 1954, China's Premier Chou En-lai 
visited New Delhi, where he succeeded in easing Indian worries 
about Chinese policy toward Tibet. The upshot was a new 
Sino-Indian agreement, in which India relinquished the special 
privileges it inherited from the British in Tibet. The preamble 
contained the so-called Five Principlesmin Hindi, Panch Sheel. 
These concepts of non-interference and mutual respect, al- 
though not in themselves new or earth-shaking, soon gained 
wide recognition as the articulation of the desire of Asians to 
shape their relationships on Asian terms rather than simply 
reiterating the language of Western statecraft. 92 Nehru hoped the 
accord would ensure peace along the Himalayan frontiers, ush- 
ering in a long period of friendship between India and China. 
The era of "Hindi-Chini bhai bhai" lasted, however, only five 
yearsmuntil  the Himalayan border dispute became a matter of 
public knowledge in 1959. 93 

In October 1954, Nehru traveled to China where the Com- 
munist leaders arranged for a wildly enthusiastic reception. In 
the bilateral talks that took place Nehru raised a question of 
concern to the Government of IndiamChinese maps showing 
parts of the Ladakh region in northern Kashmir and of the 
Northeast Frontier Agency (NEFA) that India claimed as its 
territory as Chinese. Chou En-lai's response~that  these were 
old maps, which the People's Republic had yet to r ev i se~  
satisfied the Prime Minister. Unfortunately, Nehru did not take 
up Chou's suggestion for a joint communiqu6 at the end of the 
stay. This might have dealt publicly with the map question, 
sparing much grief when India and China later fell out over their 
differing border claims. 94 On his way back to India, Nehru 
visited the four Indo-China states. North Vietnamese leader Ho 
Chi Minh made an excellent impression. "South Vietnam pro- 
duced a completely opposite effect," Nehru stated. 95 

In 1955, Afro-Asian solidarity, a sul~ject dear to Nehru's 
heart, received a major boost with the first gathering of the 
leaders of the independent nations of the two continents at 
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Bandung in Indonesia. Initially lukewarm about the summit for 
fear the gathering would become entangled with the Palestine 
issue, 96 Nehru gradually came around to see Bandung as a means 
to promote his foreign policy aims, by asserting the importance 
of Asian and African views in dealing with the region's problems 
and by stressing the importance of peace. 

In the age of jet travel, multi-nation summits of the non- 
aligned, of the Commonwealth countries, the Communist bloc 
and, in recent years, of the group of seven industrial powers, 
have become commonplace--almost routinemevents. As the 
first of its kind for the twenty-nine nations of Asia and Africa, 
many of which had just attained their independence, Bandung 
was novel, attracting enormous attention in the region and in the 
capitals of the Western and Communist blocs, anxious about 
Afro-Asian attitudes towards their policies. 

India played a leading behind-the-scenes role in the confer- 
ence, but its efforts to maintain solidarity on the communiqu6 
were frustrated when pro-Western states, in particular, Pakistan 
and Ceylon, urged criticism of Communism as well as Western 
colonialism. Very much the father figure at Bandung, Nehru 
was, nonetheless, overshadowed by Chinese Premier Chou En- 
lai who, as Nehru himself acknowledged, attracted the most 
attention since he was previously "rather a mysterious figure 
whom people had not seen. ''97 At Bandung, Nehru spoke with 
eloquence about nonalignment as a way to avoid the war he 
feared threatened humanity if the world divided into two oppos- 
ing blocs. He argued for an Asian and African area of peace that 
eschewed military alliances, instead adopting the policies of 
peaceful coexistence. Well satisfied with the results, Nehru 
praised Bandung as "an historic process" that "opened a new 
chapter not only in Asia and Africa, but in the world. ''98 

In the spring of 1955, Nehru stood at his political peak. He 
was a major figure on the world stage. His foreign policy ap- 
proach of nonalignment was attracting increasing support from 
the new nations of Asia and Africa. Both Western and Commu- 
nist powers accepted India as a peacemaker. At home, after the 
19 5 2 general elections, Indian democracy seemed well launched 
politically. Economically, the country was poised to adopt an- 
other of Nehru's goals--socialist planningmas a means of accel- 
erating economic development and promoting social justice. 



124 ESTRANGED DEMOCRACIES 

Even Nehru's old foe, Winston Churchill, sang the Indian 
leader's praise, "I hope you will think of the phrase 'Light of 
Asia.' It seems to me that you might be able to do what no other 
human being could in giving India the lead, at least in the realm 

• of thought, throughout Asia, with the freedom and dignity of the 
individual as the ideal rather than the Communist Party drill 
book."99 

India-US Economic RelationsmThorium 
Nitrate and Aid 

Meanwhile in Washington, Dwight Eisenhower was un- 
happy about the downturn in Indo-US relations. Eisenhower 
was less antagonistic toward India and more concerned about 
relations with former colonial states than his Secretary of State. 
He worried that if  the West failed to support decolonization and 
economic development, the countries of Asia and Africa would 
become independent anyway and find communism attractive. ~00 

Concern over India's economic development was not a 
popular theme in the early days of the Eisenhower administra- 
tion. One of Secretary Dulles' first decisions regarding India 
was, indeed, to slash the economic assistance request for fiscal 
year 1954 by 30 percent to $140 million. Refusing to sign the 
official letter on aid levels "as long as it carries the sum of $200 
million for India," he told his deputy, Bedell Smith, "I doubt 
that this amount is either justified by the facts or could be 
justified to the Congress."~0~ 

The summer of 1953 saw India and the United States 
embroiled in an acerbic dispute over the Battle Act- -a  US law 
sponsored by Congressman Laurie C. Battle, Democrat of Ala- 
bamambarring American aid to any country that traded in 
strategic goods with Communist China. The trouble arose after 
American officials became aware the Indian Government's Rare 
Earths Corporation had shipped to China a strategic commodity 
called thorium nitrate used in the production of uranium. When 
Ambassador Allen raised the issue with Nehru, the Prime Minis- 
ter reacted vehemently, stating flatly India would never permit 
the United States to tell India with whom it could trade as a price 
for aid. 
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Although Americans officials explained US legislative re- 
quirements tied their hands, the Indians refused to budge. Secre- 
tary General of the Ministry of External Affairs Pillai pleaded 
with Allen to "bear in mind that (the) GOI is young and perhaps 
supersensitive re its sovereignty. ''1°2 Since other developing 
countries accepted Battle Act conditions, Americans were puz- 
zled why India was making such a fuss. The fact that Prime 
Minister Nehru himself authorized the shipmentmadmittedly 
unaware that this violated US lawmfurther complicated 
matters. 

In the end, after much teeth gnashing in the State Depart- 
ment, Secretary Dulles decided not to cut off aid even though 
India remained unwilling to bend. Dulles agreed aid could le- 
gally continue because the thorium nitrate shipment was "not 
knowingly permitted" and an arrangement under which the 
Un i t ed  States bought out all Indian surplus production pre- 
vented future sales of the commodity.103 As Dulles cabled Allen 
on 3 September, he feared a cut-off would hurt India's work as 
the Chairman of the Neutral Nations Repatriation Commission 
in Korea since the action would be seen as punishing India, and 
would provide "a great boost for Communist propaganda." 
Dulles also doubted that aid could be resumed easily if it were 
terminated, putting the United States in the awkward position 
of supporting India's stability and being able to do nothing 
about it. ~04 

The lesson Ambassador Allen drew from the affair was that 
the United States had been too soft with the Indians on aid. 
Instead of insisting on a dear-cut request, Allen felt the United 
States allowed the Indians "to simply let us know how much aid 
they needed without having to ask anyone for anything . . . I 
believe continuation of this essentially dishonest fiction would 
be fraud on American people as well as continue to place US- 
Indian relations on false and therefore unsound basis. ''~05 The 
upper echelons of the State Department applauded Allen's tough 
line but shrank from his recommendations. On reviewing the 
record, it was also realized Allen was wrong in asserting the 
Indians had never asked for aid. The Ambassador was appar- 
ently unaware of Nehru's explicit request made at the insistence 
of Ambassador Loy Henderson in May 1951. Admitting he did 
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not have all the facts, Allen, nonetheless, emphasized his belief 
that the United States should not be thrusting aid on India. 106 

Having few quarrels with Allen's views, the administration 
posture was to maintainmbut  initially not to increasemthe 
bilateral assistance program initiated toward the end of the 
Truman administration. The main focus continued to be on 
agriculture and rural development with the Community Devel- 
opment Program initiated by Bowles the top priority activity. 
Despite the frictions in relations, the administration a year later, 
as part of an overall increase in economic development assis- 
tance, supported a $104 million allocation for India.~07 

In 1954, a new agricultural commodity bi l l~Publ ic  Law 
480--also became law. PL 480, as it was soon known, permitted 
the US government to dispose of mounting surplus farm prod- 
ucts in return for blocked rupees.~°8 For India, struggling to raise 
its food production to keep pace with the mounting population, 
the prospect of US food in return for readily available blocked 
rupees instead of scarce foreign exchange was tempting. New 
Delhi soon sought another large food assistance package. Wash- 
ington was initially slow to respond. 

Although Eisenhower, and even Dul!es, supported the push 
for increased assistance for India, the effort ran into stiff opposi- 
tion. Part of the difficulty was the lack of support for foreign aid 
generally among Republicans, but part was the dislike for India's 
policies. Meeting with Congressional leaders, Dulles responded 
to criticism from arch-conservative Republican Senator Wil- 
liam Knowland of California about rewarding neutralism. "We 
are not rewarding policies we dislike," the Secretary declared, 
"we are simply trying to prevent India from moving towards 
Communism. ''~09 Within the State Department, hard-line anti- 
Communists like Assistant Secretary of State for Far Eastern 
Affairs Walter Robertson also opposed helping India. ~10 An 
internal review in November 1955, chaired by Under Secretary 
of State Robert Murphy, mirrored Congressional criticism. ~ 
The India desk (Burr Smith) urged the increase to help those 
supporting "sounder policies" and thwart Communist efforts to 
penetrate the region. Senior economic specialists (Kalijarvi and 
Prochnow) supported the increase "despite the often-times un- 
friendly or difficult statements of Mr. Nehru." Robertson 
strongly disagreed. Calling Nehru a Communist supporter, he 
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charged aid to India only served to build u p  a government 
unfriendly to the United States.~t2 

During 1955, George Allen left India to replace Henry 
Byroade as Assistant Secretary of State for Near East and South 
Asia. To take his place, Eisenhower selected John Sherman 
Cooper, a former Republican Senator from Kentucky. Con- 
cerned about poor relations with India, Eisenhower wanted 
Cooper to make a special effort to become friendly with Nehru, 
noting that the Indian leader seemed to be swayed as much "by 
personality as by logical argument." The President asked Secre- 
tary Dulles to try to avoid burdening the new envoy with chores 
that would cause problems in his developing rapport with the 
Prime Minister.t~3 

The Cooper-Nehru relationship prospered despite the rela- 
tively short period the Kentuckian spent in New DelhiBafter  a 
year Cooper returned to US politics to win back his Senate seat. 
While in India, Cooper pushed strongly and successfully for a 
second Nehru visit to the United States. Eisenhower, at first, 
flirted with the possibility of making a trip to India himself but 
Dulles talked him out of the idea.~4 In the end, they settled on an 
invitation for Nehru to come to the United States. Scheduled for 
the summer of 1956, Nehru's visit had to be postponed until the 
fall after Eisenhower suffered a heart attack. 

In early March 1956, during a stop in New Delhi by Secre- 
tary Dulles, Ambassador Cooper proposed a larger aid program 
to provide susbtantial US support for the just announced Indian 
Second Five Year Plan. Cooper's ideas, "A Feasible Program of 
US Economic Assistance for India," called for $500 million 
development aid and $300 million food aid over the five-year 
p e r i o d n a n  annual total of $160 million. Cooper justified the 
boost in assistance in terms of countering the increased Soviet 
effort to penetrate South Asia and of supporting India's efforts 
to develop her economy by democratic means. ~ ~ 5 

Secretary DuUes set up a special study group, which agreed 
with some but not all of Cooper's recommendations. The result 
was an administration request for $80 million in development 
aid and approval for proceeding with a new PL 480 agree- 
ment. tt6 Signed in August 1956, the food accord was the first 
concrete indication of the upswing in assistance. The agreement 
envisaged up to 5 million tons of foodgrains over three years. 
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More than twice the size of the 1951 wheat loan and worth $360 
million, the agreement was the largest PL 480 transaction until 
then. 117 

Despite Cooper's friendly relations with Nehru, relations 
between New Delhi and Washington remained strained as Ei- 
senhower's first term neared its end. For many Americans, 
Krishna Menon, now a fixture at the United Nations, had be- 
come the symbol of India- -a  country that preached nonalign- 
ment and high moral principles in international affairs but 
hypocritically favored the Communists and coldbloodedly pur- 
sued its interests in Kashmir in disregard of UN resolutions. A 
typically negative reaction was that of President Eisenhower, on 
whom Krishna Menon called at the White House in March and 
June 1955 to discuss Indian efforts to help reduce tensions 
between the United States and Communist China. Eisenhower 
described the peripatetic Indian emissary as a "menace and a 
b o o r . "  118 

For Indians, Menon's American counterpart was John Fos- 
ter DuUes. Although hardly in Menon's league when it came to 
sarcasm and vituperation, the Secretary of State was given to 
sermonizing on the global struggle between good (the Free 
World) and evil (the Communist bloc). DuUes barely concealed 
his disdain for India's foreign policy; indeed on 9 June 1956, the 
Secretary spoke his mind plainly, telling an Iowa State Univer- 
sity audience that "except under very exceptional circum- 
stances," neutralism was "an immoral and shortsighted 
conception. T M  Dulles' role as the architect of Pakistan's alli- 
ance with the United States added to Indian dislike of the 
Secretary of State. In December 1955, Dulles further roiled the 
waters by appearing to support the Portuguese position on 
Goa.~20 

When the Secretary visited New Delhi in March 1956, he 
was so unpopular that special police protection was necessary to 
prevent unfriendly demonstrations. Not looking forward to see- 
ing DuUes, Nehru wrote, "The most we can expect out ofhis visit 
here is that he has got some idea into his rather closed head as to 
what we feel about various things. ''~21 The talks only confirmed 
the wide gap between the two leaders. Nehru was optimistic on 
the prospect of change in the Communist world, shaken by 
Khrushchev's sensational attacks on Stalinism during the 20th 
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Although Nehru  did not  know it, one impor tant  point  d id  
get through to Du l l e smthe  extent o f  India 's  anxiety about P a k i -  
stan. Cabling President  Eisenhower f rom Colombo a day after 
his talks with Nehru,  Dulles stated: 

The one distinct impression that I gained is their almost 
pathological fear of Pakistan. I knew, of course, that they 
did not like our alliance with, and armament program for, 
Pakistan, but I never appreciated before the full depth of 
their feeling . . . .  I do not think we can alter our Pakistan 
relationship which is of great value, but I do think we must 
try to handle it in ways which give maximum assurance to 
India that our military aid will be only used for purely 
defensive purposes.lZ~ 

After his discussions with the Secretary, Nehru  also re- 
flected on bilateral relations with the Uni t ed  Sta tesmhis  mus- 
ings very different f rom those of  Dulles. The "singularly 
misconceived and harmful"  US positions on Kashmir  and  Goa 
"have  come in the way of  better  relations between India  and the 
U.S.A. more  than anything else," Nehru  wrote the Chief  Minis- 
ters.[Z7 Some believed relations depended  on how much aid the 
Uni ted  States gave, but this was "a  complete misapprehension,"  
Nehru  stated. 

Whether the U.S. give us much or little or nothing at all, our 
relations with them will not be affected much, provided 
other factors are satisfactory. It is these other and political 
factors that are constantly coming in the way. Our general 
approach to the world situation differs from that of the U.S. 
which is based largely on military Considerations. We think 
that there can be no solution of the major problems of the 
world if the approach is chiefly a military one. Indeed we 
have seen a progressive deterioration because of this mili- 
tary approach.12s 

Bilateral relations thus sank to a low point  during Eisen- 
hower 's  first te rm in the White  House under  the burden  of  policy 
differences between Washington and New Delhi.  As in the Tru- 
man  years, the frictions focused on conflicting Indian  and US 
perceptions of  the Communis t  threat  and the differing policy 
responses. Dur ing Eisenhower 's  first term as President,  how- 
ever, the US response to the Communis t  t h r e a t m b y  establishing 
a mili tary supply relationship with India 's  enemy Pakistan in 
1954indirect ly affected South Asia, India 's  home  teritory. 
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For most Indians, differences over the containment policy 
and nonalignment involved abstract concepts that were of inter- 
est mainly to the educated elite. Anything touching on the 
relationship with Pakistan, however, just seven years after the 
trauma of partition, was a different matter, striking a deeply 
emotional nerve throughout the Indian body politic. Washing- 
ton  knew the arms decision would upset the Indians but mis- 
judged the extent of the response. The United States believed the 
gains in acquiring a new ally, Pakistan, would more than offset 
the losses sustained with India. Eisenhower would shortly call 
this judgment in question, but could not reverse history. 
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Chapter IV 

Eisenhower II: Improved 
Relations 

I n  November 1956, Eisenhower easily won reelection, 
overwhelming Democratic candidate Adlai Stevenson for the 
second time. Dramatic overseas eventsmthe simultaneous Suez 
and Hungary crisesmalmost pushed the presidential election off 
the front page. In the case of Suez, Nehru reacted rapidly, angrily 
condemning the Anglo-French-Israeli attack on Egypt as a 
flagrant violation of the UN Charter: "I  cannot imagine a worse 
case of aggression," Nehru cabled Dulles, "The whole future of 
the relations between Europe and Asia hangs in the balance. ''1 
Eisenhower's insistence that the British, French, and Israelis 
withdraw impressed Nehru. He had not expected the United 
States to take such a firm stand against its allies in favor of 
Nasser, a neutralist with whom Washington had poor relations. 

In contrast, the Indian leader was slow to react critically to 
Russian use of force in Hungary. In a 1 November speech in 
Hyderabad, Nehru pilloried Britain and France for their attack 
on Suez, but said nothing about the Red Army's crushing the 
anti-Communist revolt in Budapest. On 4 November at the 
United Nations, India abstained on a resolution calling for the 
withdrawal of Soviet troops. In a 9 November speech in Cal- 
cutta, Nehru seemed to accept Soviet explanations of their 
actions in Budapest, describing the crisis as an internal Hun- 
garian affair. The same day at the United Nations, Krishna 
Menon voted against a resolution calling for the withdrawal of 

139 
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Soviet troops from Hungary. India was the sole non-Communist 
country to cast a negative vote. 2 

Around the globe, reaction to India's tepid response on 
Hungary was loud and disapproving. The West accused Nehru 
of following a blatant double standard. Nehru's conduct of 
Indian foreign policy also came under sharp domestic criticism. 
Jayaprakash Narayan, onetime heir-apparent to Nehru, who 
had left the Congress to join the opposition Socialists, blasted 
the Prime Minister, characterizing his reaction on Hungary as 
unworthy of India. Narayan warned Nehru, " I f  you do not speak 
out you will be held guilty of abetting enslavement of a brave 
people by a new imperialism more dangerous than the old 
because it masquerades as revolutionary. ''3 Bruised at home and 
abroad, Nehru retreated, condemning the Soviet repression in a 
14 November statement with the Prime Ministers of Indonesia, 
Ceylon, and Burma and in a 19 November statement in the 
Indian parliament? Nehru's about-face, somewhat weakly ex- 
plained by his having received fuller information about the 
Hungarian situation, repaired some of the damage done to his 
reputation as a statesman who stood for high principle and 
morality in international relations. 5 The Hungary episode, none- 
theless, left a bad aftertaste. 

A month later, in December 1956, Nehru paid his second 
visit to the United States. Apart from his interest in reviewing 
world affairs and discussing South Asian developments with 
President Eisenhower, the Prime Minister was well aware that 
India needed more economic assistance from the United States 
to bolster its development efforts. In contrast to Nehru's 1949 
talks with Harry Truman, the 1956 visit was a success. 

Understanding that the Indian Prime Minister placed con- 
siderable emphasis on personal relationships, Eisenhower made 
a point of ensuring ample time for them to meet alone without 
aides. The two leaders spent a day and a half together at Eisen- 
hower's farm in Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, where they were able 
to have fourteen hours of private talks in an informal setting. 6 
The President kept India's b~te noire, John Foster Dulles, in the 
background. The Indian leader, in turn, saw to it that Krishna 
Menon, the US b~te noire, stayed away from Washington. 

In their substantive talks, Eisenhower and Nehru broke 
little new ground, essentially restating the clashing policy views 
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17 December 1956, President Eisenhower and Prime Minister  Nehru about to 
depart for the President 's Farm at Gettysburg. 

of their two governmentsmin particular, on the dangers of 
communism. In contrast to his initial soft position on Hungary, 
however, Nehru "described his horrified reactions" to the So- 
viet repression. He told Eisenhower that Hungary signalled the 
eventual death knell for communism--a  system which had 
failed to take roots against nationalism. Nehru, however, re- 
fused to agree with the President that the Soviet Union was 
seeking world domination or represented a new form of coloni- 
alism. Not denying the logic of this view, Nehru believed that, 
over time, communism would defeat itself. The President ob- 
served, "It  was rather cold comfort to realize that the historically 
inevitable doom of dictatorships often occurred only after the 
passage of much time, the loss of life, the postponement of 
p e a c e .  ' '7 

The two leaders continued to differ on Communist China. 
Nehru argued for Peking's acceptance into the family of na- 
tions. He thought it only a matter of time until Formosa fell. 
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18 D e c e m b e r  1956,  President Eisenhower a n d  P r i m e  Minister Nehru touring 
the Gettysburg farm. 

Eisenhower believed the Chinese Communists needed to follow 
basic norms of international conduct before they joined the 
United Nations. 8 Regarding India's nonalignment, Nehru em- 
phasized that this approach helped keep defense expenditures 
down since the policy minimized the chances of conflict on the 
Himalayan borders, the only logical security threat to India. In 
an argument that impressed Eisenhower, Nehru asserted that, 
given his country's economic weakness, having India as an ally 
would "serve to weaken rather than strengthen" the 
Western bloc. 9 

The Prime Minister took a tough line on Pakistan. Touch- 
ing on Indian worries about US arms aid, Nehru said that many 
of his countrymen felt Pakistan was going to attack India, an 
idea fanned by "fanatics." He called partition an "'egregious 
blunder," arguing that the Pakistanis got their independence 
only through the successful struggle of Indian nationalists. 
Nehru claimed the people of Kashmir wanted to belong to India, 
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but he did not have to justify his opposition to a plebiscite as 
Eisenhower forgot to ask about this point. 1° Nehru gained the 
impression Eisenhower agreed that no good would be served by 
stirring up public interest regarding Kashmir in the near 
future.11 

On economic assistance, Nehru reported that Eisenhower 
was enthusiastic in offering American support for India's falter- 
ing economic development plans. Eisenhower's version of the 
talks was different, indicating that Nehru did not directly ask for 
American aid but talked at length and eloquently about India's 
development hopes. 12 The President must have been listening to 
the Prime Minister; a few weeks later he was well versed about 
Indian economic plans during a spirited discussion in the NSC 
with Secretary of the Treasury George Humphrey, an opponent 
o f  aid to India. Showing far more knowledge than Humphrey, 
Eisenhowcr stoutly defended US assistance and sympathetically 
explained India's plans to develop public sector industries.~3 

Although the Eisenhower-Nehru talks yielded no specific 
agreements, both leaders came away with more respect for each 
other as well as a better understanding of their countries' differ- 
ing positions on the major issues of the day. Eisenhower liked 
Nehru even though he found him "a personality of unusual 
contradictions." He believed the Prime Minister "sincerely 
wanted to help his people and lead them to higher levels of living 
and opportunity."14 He was puzzled, however, by Nehru's "tol- 
erance, relatively speaking, of Soviet attitudes"udespite his 
opposition to their methods. Eisenhower attributed Nehru's 
attitude to resentment toward the West's "condescension to- 
ward his people" and possibly a sense of identity with the 
Russians as a non-European people who also suffered from the 
West. The President thought millions in Asia and Africa proba- 
bly shared Nehru's attitude.15 

Even ifNehru disliked much about Eisenhower's policiesu 
the emphasis on a military response to Communism and, espe- 
cially, the program of arms aid to Pakistanmhe respected the 
President for his achievements in World War II against the 
Nazis, for his genuine desire for world peace, for his understand- 
ing of the developing world, and for his sympathy for India. In 
Dwight Eisenhower--unlike Harry Truman--Nehru found an 
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American sincerely interested in India, its history, its aspira- 
tions, and its development efforts. The 1956 Nehru-Eisenhower 
meetings were perhaps an exception to the frequently ritualistic 
exchange of views when heads of government meet. As a result 
of their talks, both the President and Prime Minister seemed to 
have a better understanding, as well as kinder thoughts, about 
each other's policies. Indo-American relations began to 
improve. 

"New Forces and New Nations Were Stirring" 
In his second inaugural address in January 1957, Eisen- 

hower signalled his concern that Communism would prove at- 
tractive to the newly emerging nations unless they enjoyed 
adequate economic development. "New forces and new nations 
were stirring across the earth . . . one-third of all mankind has 
entered an historic struggle for a new freedom: the freedom from 
grinding poverty," the President declared. 16 To counter the So- 
viets and their allies more effectively in the developing world, 
Eisenhower sought a substantial increase in foreign aid during 
his second term, arguing strongly that such a step was in the US 
national interest.~7 

As the "winds of change" signalled the demise of European 
colonialism, many newly independent nations followed India's 
lead in adopting a nonaligned policy, in trying to walk a middle 
road between the Western and Communist camps. With Europe 
and the Far East stablemdespite periodic crises at flash points 
like Berlin and the Taiwan Straits--the Cold War focused in- 
creasingly on the uncommitted nations. '8 To a considerable 
extent, the East-West contest seemed to turn on how best to 
pursue economic development, to meet what was called at the 
time "the revolution of rising expectations." A group of US 
economists and social scientists at the Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology's Center for International Studies (CENIS), led by 
Professors Walt Rostow and Max Milliken, developed a theoret- 
ical underpinning to support the view that a substantial input of 
foreign aid would permit countries such as India to "take off '  
for self-sustaining economic growth under democracy and free 
enterprise. 

Rostow and Milliken, in their influential A Proposal: Key to 
an Effective Foreign Policy, that appeared in 1957, offered a 
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comprehensive argument for expanded foreign aid. Rostow, 
Milliken, and their colleagues asserted that more economic as- 
sistance could spur development, lead to stable societies, and 
thwart Communist efforts to gain the upper hand in the develop- 
ing world.19 India, because of many factors--its size and popula- 
tion, the use of English, Nehru's prestige, the country's 
economic planning (then much in vogue), and its adherence to 
democracymbecame the model for many of the MIT theoretical 
studies. As Rostow wrote, "Rightly or wrongly, we believed the 
success or failure of India with respect to both its development 
and its politics would be widely influential. ''2° 

In 1957, India held its second democratic elections since 
independence. Nehru's Congress Party again won a sweeping 
victory, although the opposition parties on the left, the Socialists 
and the Communists, increased their share of the vote. The 
election shocker, which rang alarm bells in Washington, was the 
Communist victory in Kerala, a southern Indian state with 
India's highest level of literacy and its largest Christian popula- 
tion. The Kerala election marked one of the rare times a Com- 
munist government gained power in a free vote. The lesson 
Washington drew was that the Communists won in Kerala be- 
cause the economy failed to improve rapidly enough to satisfy 
the population's expectations. US experts feared that if Pandit 
Nehru's Indian Congress Party failed to achieve adequate eco- 
nomic growth, Communist strength would continue to expand, 
presenting a real, if long-term, danger. Preventing additional 
Keralas became an important argument for augmenting US 
assistance to India. 21 

With the adoption in 1956 of"socialism" as a formal goal 
by the Congress Party, the emphasis of the Indian Second Five 
Year Plan (covering the years 1956-1961) lay on industrial 
development, especially for public sector industries such as 
steel, coal mining, and electric power. The ambitious Plan called 

r for an expenditure of nearly $15 billion, more than double the 
size of the First Plan. It became evident by early 1957, however, 
that India lacked the foreign exchange to finance imports called 
for by the Plan. Unless New Delhi received fresh infusions of 
external financing, the centerpiece of the Congress Party's do- 
mestic platform risked failure. Nehru's biweekly letters to his 
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Chief Ministers during this period made clear his awareness of 
the economic straits India faced. 

In contrast to other occasions, New Delhi was not diffident 
in seeking foreign help. In Washington, Ambassador G. L. 
Mehta urged Douglas Dillon, the Wall Street banker who be- 
came Under Secretary of State for Economic Affairs in 1957, to 
agree to an early start of talks about increased assistance, hoping 
to avoid a repeat of the controversy over the 1951 emergency 
wheat loan. Dillon was sympathetic, but emphasized the admin- 
istration would not know for some time how much money it 
could make available. 22 India's top foreign a id  official, Braj 
Kumar Nehru, a cousin of the Prime Minister, hurried to Wash- 
ington in May to underscore the urgency of the situation. Esti- 
mating the shortfall at $700 million, B. K. Nehru stressed New 
Delhi's hope the United States would help fill the gap. 23 Al- 
though President Eisenhower wanted to respond positively, the 
administration was short of funds and reluctant to approach 
Congress for special legislation. There was sympathy and a 
recognition of India's importance on Capitol Hill, despite great 
resentment about Krishna Menon. 24 

In September 19 57, T.T. Krishnamachari, India's Finance 
Minister--a prominent member of the Congress Party from 
South Indiamcontinued the quest for emergency assistance. 
TTK, as he was familiarly called, made a point with Secretary 
Dulles to request aid officially, stating (incorrectly) that "hith- 
erto India has never asked for assistance from anyone." DuUes 
responded dryly that India should only request aid if it knows 
the response will be favorable. "Although the two governments 
might differ in their approaches to several matters," Dulles said, 
"it  was important for India to demonstrate economic progress 
under freedom and democracy." When Dulles referred to past 
US help, the Indian Finance Minister effusively expressed "sin- 
cere appreciation" for this aid. 25 

Two weeks later, the Indian Finance Minister received a 
warmer reception from President Eisenhower. The Chief Execu- 
tive stressed he was "sincerely interested in helping" India but 
warned that t he  US Congress would largely determine what 
could be done. Eisenhower emphasized he "had a substantial 
understanding of the Indian problem and had constantly 
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pleaded for an understanding on the part of others. ''26 In No- 
vember, Ambassador Bunker summed up the argument for re- 
sponding positively in a letter to Eisenhower. 

We have only to consider what our failure to act decisively 
and in time in the case of China has cost us in treasure and 
in lives, and what we would be willing to spend to reverse 
the process there to find the answer to what we ought to do 
in India. We differ with India, of course on many points of 
foreign policy, but it seems to me that these are not signifi- 
cant when viewed in the context of our overall objectives 
and our grand strategy in this part of the wor ld .  27 

On 12 November 1957, President Eisenhower considered 
the India aid question with Vice President Nixon, Secretary of 
State Dulles, and Secretary of the Treasury Robert Anderson, 
who had replaced George Humphrey. Both Dulles and Ander- 
son were critical of the Indians on political and economic policy 
grounds. They also expressed dissatisfaction that other coun- 
tries, especially Germany, were not doing enough to help. In the 
end, the decision was, nonetheless, to agree to an additional 
$225 million assistance, cobbling the package together from the 
newly created Development Loan Fund, the Export-Import 
Bank, and further PL 480 food aid. The group decided not to 
seek a supplemental appropriation from the Congress. Because 
of India's unpopularity, Secretary Dulles feared there was "the 
danger of a spectacular defeat. ''28 

Although noting that helping India would mean Pakistan 
and Turkey "would immediately be in for aid," Vice President 
Nixon argued, "If  we do not, the cost will be the disintegration of 
India and its orientation toward the Communists. ''29 Having 
decided to respond positively to India, the administration took 
the initiative in pressing America's allies to increase their help. 
Eisenhower sent special messages to West German and British 
leaders, urging that they make a special effort to provide more 
assistance. The US government also asked the World Bank to 
explore ways to boost its lending to help India out of the eco- 
nomic bind. 3° 

) 

By the spring of 1958, interest in doing more for India 
spilled over into the Congress. On 25 March, Democratic Sena- 
tor John F. Kennedy of Massachusetts and Republican John 
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Sherman Cooper of Kentucky asked the Senate to adopt a reso- 
lution urging the United States "to join with other nations in 
providing support of the type, magnitude, and duration ade- 
quate to assist India to complete successfully its current program 
for economic development. ''31 The initiative for the bipartisan 
resolution came from Kennedy although Cooper, as former US 
Ambassador to India and a supporter of increased aid, willingly 
joined forces. Kennedy eared about what he called the "uncom- 
mitted world," but also wanted to improve his standing with the 
liberal wing of the Democratic Party as he considered a run for 
the 1960 presidential nomination. 32 In 1957, the  Massachusetts 
Senator spoke out in support of Algerian independence from 
France. Now he pressed the Eisenhower administration to do 
more for India's economic developmentma cause in which he 
believed quite apart from the personal political calculations. 33 

After describing India in an October 1957 Foreign Affairs 
article as "the leading claimant for the role of a broker middle 
state in the larger bipolar struggle . . . and a centerpiece in a 
middle zone of uncommitted nations extending from Casa- 
blanca to Djakarta, ''34 Kennedy worked over the winter with 
Rostow, Milliken, and others at MIT to sharpen his ideas. The 
resultwas the 8,000-word speech he delivered on 25 March in 
support of the aid to India resolution. 

Kennedy stressed the need for the West to associate itself 
constructively with the "uncommitted world," saw India as a 
critical ease, described US aid as inadequate, and proposed that 
a team of international experts assess India's foreign exchange 
needs to complete the Second Plan. "India today represents as 
great a hope, as commanding a challenge as Western Europe did 
in 1947," the Senator declared, "and our people are still, I am 
confident, equal to the effort. ''35 Although the Kennedy-Cooper 
resolution passed the Senate in 1958, it lacked support in the 
House of Representatives and died in the Joint Senate-House 
Conference. The resolution, nonetheless, proved a major spur to 
the aid India effort. 

As Indfa's short-term economic troubles continued in mid- 
1958, B. K. Nehru pleaded for more help from Under Secretary 
Dillon, who was sympathetic but underscored the reality that the 
US Congress would ultimately decide on appropriations. When 
Dillon stressed the Congress would be influenced by Indian 
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actions and statements on world affairs, Nehru said his govern- 
ment would do all it could, short of changing its foreign policy, 
although as a democracy it could hardly gag people. 36 In looking 
for additional assistance funds, Dillon encouraged World Bank 
President Eugene Black, whom B. K. Nehru also approached, to 
promote a gathering of aid donors under World Bank sponsor- 
ship in an effort to raise more money. The response was positive. 
The donors--at the time the United States, United Kingdom, 
and West Germany were the main participants--agreed to pro- 
vide an additional $350 million in short-term assistance. The 
Indians were delighted37 The successful August 1958 gathering 
became the model for the consortium technique that the World 
Bank has used in promoting and coordinating foreign assistance 
for India and numerous other developing countries during the 
past three decades. 

In 1959, prospects for increased assistance to India substan- 
tially improved. The Democratic sweep in the November 1958 
elections brought many pro-aid liberals, including former Am- 
bassador Chester Bowles, to Congress. After Kennedy and 
Cooper reintroduced their resolution in February, both Houses 
readily adopted the measure. In order to gain backing from the 
Eisenhower administration, the senators agreed to broaden the 
resolution to speak of South Asia rather than merely India. 3s 

On 4-5 May 1959, a remarkable gathering, "The Confer- 
ence on India and the United States," took place in Washington. 
Some 88 Indian and American experts met with 724 business, 
political, academic, and international affairs leaders to discuss 
India. Sponsored by the Committee on Economic Development, 
the conference began with bipartisan opening remarks by Vice 
President Richard Nixon and Senator John Kennedy and words 
of welcome from Indian Ambassador Mohammed Ali Chagla 39 
and B. K. Nehru, now assigned as Ambassador-at-Large and 
Commissioner General for Economic Affairs. Although the In- 
dia lobby had no formal organization, the Conference assembled 
the different threads of support that, in effect, comprised the 
lobbymspanning the political spectrum from liberals like 
Bowles and Humphrey to moderates like Kennedy and Cooper. 
Combining humanitarian concern that the poor of India achieve 
a better life, political concern that India's fledgling democracy 
survive, and strategic concern that communism not gain ground 
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in the developing world's largest non-Communist nation, the 
Conference marked a high point in generating support for addi- 
tional help for India. 40 

The effort succeeded. During Eisenhower's second term, 
US assistance grew substantially, surging from about $400 mil- 
lion in 1957, to a record $822 million in 1960, Eisenhower's last 
year in office. In May 1960, Eisenhower and Indian Agriculture 
Minister S. K. Patil, the Congress Party political boss of Bombay 
and an outspokenly pro-American voice in the Indian cabinet, 
signed a mammoth $1.276 billion PL 480 food agreement. The 
accord called for the export of 12 million tons of US wheat over a 
four-year period, providing India a badly needed cushion in the 
face of continued slow progress in raising food production. 41 

The smooth work of B. K. Nehru, the man New Delhi sent 
to Washington to find additional aid funds from the United 
States, Western Europe, and the World Bank, greatly aided the 
process. Adopting a non-contentious and straight-forward ap- 
proach, the Indian envoy established excellent working relations 
with Senator Kennedy, Under Secretary Dillon, World Bank 
President Black, and other key Washington figures. When Ken- 
nedy became President, the Prime Minister took advantage of 
his cousin's friendly ties with the new President to name him 
India's Ambassador to the United States. 

On the US sidemin addition to the interest of President 
Eisenhower and Senator Kennedy--another important factor 
was the positive attitude of Christian A. Herter, the former 
Republican Governor of Massachusetts. Herter became Under 
Secretary of State in 1956 and then the Secretary after John 
Foster Dulles died of cancer in 1959. Unlike his predecessor as 
Under Secretary of State, Herbert Hoover, Jr., or Dulles himself, 
Herter strongly supported foreign assistance for India and, along 
with Douglas Dillon, worked inside the administration to pro- 
mote the large increase in the India program. 4a 

In addition to boosting bilateral assistance, the United 
States became the major source of funding in implementing the 
Indus Waters Agreement, for which the World Bank succeeded 
in obtaining India and Pakistan's agreement in 1959. 43 US funds 
covered half the $1 billion worth of dams, irrigation works, and 
other construction projects envisaged under the accord. 44 Bank 
President Eugene Black worked closely with Under Secretary 
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4 May 1960, Indian Agriculture Minister S. K. Patil and President Eisenhower 
signing the 12 million ton PL 480 agreement. Indian Ambassador M. C. Chagla 
is seated on the President's left. Those standing include Secretary of Agriculture 
Ezra Taft Benson and Under Secretary of State Douglas Dillon. 
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Dillon, who in August 1959 got President Eisenhower to ap- 
prove a $517 million US contribution. The World Bank funded 
about $250 million, with other donors providing the remaining 
$250 million. 

Although Dillon correctly regarded the Indus Waters agree- 
ment as a major step in improving relations between India and 
Pakistan, he was overly optimistic in telling an April 1960 NSC 
meeting that the accord showed that the Kashmir dispute could 
also be settled. 45 Dillon overlooked an essential difference be- 
tween the two disputes. The World Bank was able to make both 
India and Pakistan winners in the Indus Waters settlement, 
since each country received more irrigation water as a result of 
the agreement. In the case of Kashmir, as long as both India and 
Pakistan coveted Srinagar and the Valley and saw the dispute in 
highly emotional and ideological terms, any conceivable settle- 
ment would inevitably make one side or the other conclude itself 
the loser. 

As the size of bilateral aid increased, US officials paid more 
attention to the program's impact, especially in comparison to 
that of Soviet economic assistance. A May 1959 Embassy New 
Delhi airgram reported Moscow was prepared to give New Delhi 
virtually everything the Indians sought on favorable repayment 
terms, including a pledge of up to $1 billion for India's Third 
Five Year Plan. The Soviet emphasis on big "show projects" and 
aid to Indian public sector industries was likely, in the Em- 
bassy's view, to earn the Russians much credit with Indian 
public opinion. To counter the Soviets, Embassy New Delhi 
urged US assistance to Indian public sector projects, including a 
million ton steel mill, to be built at Bokaro in eastern India. 46 

The question of US aid to an Indian government-owned 
steel mill (the Soviets, British, and West Germans were already 
undertaking similar steel mill projects) became a sensitive issue 
for a number of years. Symbolically, for many Indians, and some 
Americans, US willingness to fund Bokaro became a litmus test 
of US support for India's industrial development. Other Ameri- 
cans, including most Republicans, opposed using US tax dollars 
to pay for Bokaro. Questioning the wisdom of India's socialist 
economic policies, they did not think competition for favor with 
the Soviets provided a sufficient reason for Uncle Sam to fund a 
public sector steel mill. Although Bokaro received considerable 
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high level attention in Washington during the Eisenhower ad- 
ministration, the Republicans reached no decision, passing the 
issue on to their Democratic successors. 

Less in the public eye was possible US financing for an 
atomic power plant. After President Eisenhower proposed the 
Atoms for Peace program in 195 5, India's Atomic Energy Chair- 
man Homi Bhabha, a gifted scientist and energetic administra- 
tor, sought to interest Washington in building a nuclear power 
plant in India as a dramatic way of demonstrating US support 
for peaceful uses of atomic energy in the Third World. Ambassa- 
dor Bunker argued in favor of the project, stressing that India 
needed the power and would get the plant from the Soviets 
should the United States refuse. 47 

The US Atomic Energy Commission, at first, doubted the 
economic feasibility of the project and also questioned whether 
India was technologically ready. The AEC agreed to consider the 
power plant seriously only after Prime Minister Nehru raised the 
subject during Eisenhower's visit to India and the State Depart- 
ment strongly supported sending a survey mission. 48 The team 
was impressed by the Indian atomic energy program, found the 
costs of nuclear power production in India competitive with 
conventional power, and concluded the project made sense. 
Washington agencies had the proposal under consideration 
when the Eisenhower administration left office in January 1961. 

The aid element in the bilateral relationship, thus, radically 
changed during the course of a decade. In 1949, the Truman 
administration's Asia policy review pointedly refused to under- 
write India's economic development. 49 Chester Bowles was able 
to expand a small technical assistance program into meaningful, 
but modest, support for India's rural development. The Eisen- 
hower administration initially trod water, skeptical about for- 
eign assistance in general and not enthusiastic about expanding 
the India program. As the Soviet Union increased its economic 
activities in the developing world, especially in India, the ad- 
ministration shifted gears. After 1957, expanded foreign assis- 
tance became an important foreign policy goal. Supported by a 
broad bipartisan coalition, the administration pushed through a 
major expansion of US assistance to India and energized the 
World Bank and US allies to increase their help. The Eisenhower 
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administration, ironically, ended up with the type of commit- 
ment to India's development program that Chester Bowles had 
proposed in vain in 1952. 

N S C  5701: Neutralism Not Against American 
Interests 

By 1957, President Eisenhower concluded that India's neu- 
tralist policy was not against American interests. Quite the 
contrary, Eisenhower told his advisers on a number of occasions 
that he supported India's staying nonaligned. 50 Echoing a varia- 
tion on what Pandit Nehru told him, Eisenhower stated--dur- 
ing a January 1957 NSC review of South Asia policy--there 
would not be enough money in the United States to support 
India should that country become an ally. Further standing US 
policy on its head, Eisenhower criticized "our tendency to rush 
out and seek allies" as "not very sensible." The President called 
the accord with Pakistan "perhaps the worst kind of a plan and 
decision we could have made. It was a terrible error, but we now 
seemed hopelessly involved in it. ''51 

NSC 5701, a revised South Asia policy that Eisenhower 
approved on 10 January 1957, marked a shift in emphasis from 
the 1954 policy contained in NSC 5409, even if the new policy 
did not fully reflect the President's outburst over the conse- 
quences of arming Pakistan. NSC 5701 characterized South 
Asia as an important Cold War front where the Soviet Union 
was seeking to roll back support for the West through a vigorous 
diplomatic, economic, and propaganda assault. Perceiving the 
competition between India and China as a struggle between 
democratic and totalitarian development models, NSC 5701 
concluded that despite India's frequent opposition to US 
policies: 

The risks to US security from a weak and vulnerable India 
would be greater than the risks of a stable and influential 
India . . . .  A strong India would be a successful example 
of an alternative to Communism in an Asian context and 
would permit the gradual development of the means to 
enforce its external security interests against Communist 
Chinese expansion into South and Southeast Asia. 52 

On the issue of arms assistance to Pakistan, the revised 
policy accepted past US promises of aidmthese having resulted 
in a "symbolic" $10 million annual program projected in NSC 
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5409 ballooning into a substantial $471 million by 1957rebut 
opposed further increases in aid levels. 53 Reflecting the adjust- 
ment in policy that was then in train, NSC 5701 stressed better 
relations with India and placed greater emphasis on economic 
rather than military means in meeting the Soviet challenge. 

The handling of South Asia illustrated the way Eisenhower 
directed the foreign policy process through the highly structured 
National Security Council machinery. The NSC system ran 
much like the military organization in which the President spent 
practically all his adult life. Formal policy papers, such as the 
ones on South Asia, NSC 5409 and 5701, tended to be compre- 
hensive and detailedmalmost akin to operational military 
plansmthan the more general policy statements prepared during 
the Truman administration. The Operations Coordinating 
Board, a sub-group of the NSC, monitored implementation of 
policy papers and submitted periodic progress reports. Under 
Eisenhower, the NSC did not play the operational role that later 
developed under Kennedy and Nixon. The NSC served as a staff 

Courtesy of the Dwight D. Eisenhower Library, White House album 

17 January 1957, President Eisenhower and US Ambassador to India E!lsworth 
Bunker. 
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arm for the President with operations remaining the preserve of 
the cabinet departments. 54 

During Eisenhower's second term, the attitude toward In- 
dia gradually mellowed. This process was helped along by Ells- 
worth Bunker, whom Eisenhower named as successor to John 
Sherman Cooper as Ambassador to India. A businessman and a 
Democrat, Bunker won praise as Harry Truman's Ambassador 
to Argentina and Italy and later as the President of the American 
Red Cross. Dulles suggested his nomination to India after Eisen- 
hower said he would be glad to "send a Democrat to one or two 
diplomatic posts," a somewhat unexpected step during a period 
of considerable partisanship) 5 During his four years in India, 
Bunker, a reserved New Englander, added to his reputation as a 
highly effective diplomat. One measure of his skill was Bunker's 
ability to earn the respect of Nehru and other Indian leaders 
without losing credibility in Washington. 

The warming in Indo-American relations even survived a 
testy period during and after a January 1957 UN Security Coun- 
cil debate on Kashmir, when Krishna Menon delivered an im- 
passioned two-day defense of the Indian position. Nehru was 
annoyed the United States agreed to have Kashmir come before 
the Council and continued to support the idea of a plebiscitem 
contrary to the impression he received from Eisenhower during 
their talks. 56 The vitriolic UN debate provided Menon a plat- 
form to gain popularity in India and to stir even deeper antipa- 
thy among Americans. Flinging sarcasm and venom at Pakistan 
and acidly attacking the United States and Britain for challeng- 
ing India's right to Kashmir, Menon spoke vituperatively for 
two days, interrupted only twice whenmwith theatrical flour- 
ishmhe fainted) 7 After the Soviets vetoed a resolution calling 
for the stationing of UN troops in Kashmir, the Council agreed 
to send its President, Sweden's Gunnar Jarring, to the subconti- 
nent. Jarring traveled to South Asia, talked with Indian and 
Pakistani leaders, andmto  no one's surprise~reported back to 
the Council that the Kashmir dispute remained deadlocked. 

Later in 1957, the Pakistanis again brought Kashmir to the 
Security Council. On this occasion, Nehru instructed Krishna 
Menon to tone down his comments after the United States 
complained about some of his remarks. 58 The result of the 
debate was Security Council approval for another mission to 
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South Asia by Dr. Frank Graham, who had tried unsuccessfully 
in the early 1950s to mediate the dispute. Graham's effort 
proved as fruitless as his earlier attempt at finding a settlement. 
In Karachi, he found the Pakistanis willing to accept any ar- 
rangement that permitted a plebiscite. In New Delhi, Graham 
ran into a stone wall. In so many words, the Indians told the UN 
representative, "The matter is settled. Kashmir is ours. ''59 

After the 1954 arms pact with Pakistan, an unenthusiastic 
United States found itself under periodic pressure to keep the 
Kashmir issue alive internationally through discussion in the 
United Nations and by mention in SEATO and Baghdad Pact 
communiqu6s. Although this process in no way improved the 
chances for solving the disputemDulles frankly admitted as 
much in talking with Pakistan's Foreign Minister Feroz Khan 
Noon in November 195760mcontinued attention kept the issue 
on the international agenda and showed the Pakistanis that their 
American friends, at least rhetorically, supported them. At the 
same time, Karachi was not unhappy that discussion of the 
Kashmir issue in international fora served as a chronic irritant 

• in Indo-American relations. 61 

Despite the difficulties, Eisenhower persisted in pressing 
for better relations between India and Pakistan. To American 
observers looking at the subcontinent, one conclusion struck 
home: the enmity between India and Pakistan rendered South 
Asia vulnerable to external threats, especially from the Soviet 
Union or Communist China. A closing of ranks between the two 
antagonists seemed the logical step. Eisenhower made his views 
clear when India's Vice President Sarvepalli Radhakrishnan, the 
distinguished philosopher and former Ambassador to Moscow, 
met the President during a March 1958 visit to Washington. 

Recalling his discussions with Prime Minister Nehru, Ei- 
senhower said "to his mind it was incomprehensible that there 
had not been a settlement of the issues between India and 
Pakistan . . . .  Nothing could be more wonderful for peace 
than a rapprochement." Eisenhower added that the United 
States was trying to be friends with both countries and not take 
sides between them.62 Secretary of State Dulles had rather differ- 
ent sentiments. When he met Pakistan's Finance Minister 
Amjad All and General Ayub Khan in April 1958, he said that 
US "feelings for Pakistan were, in a sense, totally different from 
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those for India . . . .  The basic relationship with India was 
intellectual in contrast to its relationship with Pakistan which 
came from the heart. ''63 

To help the process of rapprochement along, the adminis- 
tration launched a sincere, if ill-fated, initiative to tackle out- 
standing India-Pakistan differences. Originally suggested by the 
American Embassies in Pakistan and India, the proposal linked 
together in a single basket the three major areas of Indo-Paki- 
stani frictionmKashmir, the military competition between the 
two nations, and their dispute over the use of the major rivers of 
the Indus Valley. The strategy called for using US leverage, 
mainly through economic assistance programs, to press for a 
simultaneous solution of all three problems. When Secretary 
Dulles put the "basket proposal" to Eisenhower, the President 
reacted positively: He was "all for" the initiative and ready to 
help personally. "There is no inconvenience at which I would 
balk," Eisenhower responded, "For example, I'd be ready to 
welcome and entertain the Prime Ministers simultaneouslymI 
would even go out there. ''64 

In April 1958, frustrated by political infighting within his 
Congress Party and tired after eleven years as Prime Minister, 
Pandit Nehru threatened to retire from office. 65 The possibility 
of Nehru's departure from the political stage caused shock waves 
not only through the body politic in India, but in Washington as 
well. On hearing the news, Eisenhower instructed Dulles to send 
a personal word urging Nehru to stay on. The President's mes- 
sage, apparently drafted by Dulles himself, read: 

You, if anyone, Mr. Prime Minister, deserve a long and 
restful vacation after all these years that you have guided 
your vast country toward economic, political and social 
progress. However I and countless others hope that you will 
not go too far away or for too long a time . . . .  It would 
indeed be a misfortune, perhaps for all of us, if at what may 
prove to be a critical formative period, your own influence 
were not actively present over any really protracted 
period. 66 

Ambassador Bunker thought Nehru was visibly touched by 
Eisenhower's note, the only one of its kind received. "I am 
convinced," Bunker wrote the President, "it has measurably 
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advanced the friendly atmosphere here. ''67 Improved atmo- 
spherics and good personal relations with Eisenhower were, 
however, not enough to get Pandit Nehru to say "yes" to the US 
basket proposal. When Bunker presented the idea, the Indian 
leader questionedmprobably accuratelymwhether the wobbly 
Pakistani government, then staggering from crisis to crisis 68 
would be able to undertake serious negotiations. Nor did  he see 
much hope in reaching a settlement as long as the Pakistanis 
continued their "attitude of hate" toward India, a stance Nehru 
claimed was abetted by the military alliances and the Western 
attitude on Kashmir. 69 

For Nehru, the underlying India-Pakistan problem was the 
"communal conflict and hatred and violence" rather than spe- 
cific issues like Kashmir, 

I see no solution till that basic conflict in the minds of the 
people of Pakistan and India is resolved . . . .  Great Pow- 
ers like the United States and the United Kingdom talk 
piously of goodwill and India and Pakistan making up their 
quarrel. But they ignore deliberately the cause of that quar- 
rel and the consequences of it. And so, they do not find 
so lu t ions .  70 

Although disappointed by Nehru's attitude, Eisenhower 
continued to extend his hand in friendship. In November 1958, 
he wrote effusively to the Indian leader after Paul Hoffman, the 
former Marshall Plan administrator who served as a private 
emissary on Kashmir in 1953, returned from a visit t o  the 
subcontinent. "Universally," the President wrote Nehru, "You 
are recognized as one of the most powerful influences for peace 
and conciliation in the world . . . .  Your influence is particu- 
larly valuable in stemming the global drift toward cynicism, 
mutual suspicion, materialistic opportunism and, finally, disas- 
ter. ''7~ During much of this period, Nehru and Eisenhower were 
in touch about various efforts to lower international tensions 
through disarmament and reduced nuclear testing, issues both 
regarded as of utmost importance in maintaining world peace. 

Soviet tactics in Hungary shook the humanist in Nehru and 
made him more chary about the Soviets. 72 Although the setback 
to  drtente between the United States and the USSR depressed 
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him greatly, Nehru tended to be somewhat less critical of Wash- 
ington than before his talks with Eisenhower. India was, how- 
ever, once more upset with the United States over Pakistan. 
After the Baghdad Pact collapsed--following the July 19 58 coup 
in Iraq by the anti-western Abdul Karim Qasimmthe northern 
tier defense grouping reemerged in the form of the Central 
Treaty Organization (CENTO), with Turkey, Iran, and Pakistan 
as regional members and headquarters in Ankara. In early 1959, 
the United States concluded a bilateral defense agreement with 
Pakistan to buttress the security relationship. Eisenhower was 
frank in telling Indian Ambassador M. C. Chagla that he found 
himself on the horns of dilemma between providing arms for an 
ally, Pakistan, and damaging US friendship with India. 73 

About this time, a development occurred that influenced 
US policy toward the subcontinent over the next half dozen 
yearsmPakistan agreed to provide the United States facilities 
for sensitive US intelligence operations near the city of Pe- 
shawar~just  a few miles from the Khyber Pass and Afghani- 
stan. The Peshawar airfield provided the take-off point for secret 
overflights of the Soviet Union by CIA's U-2 aircraft, capable~ 
the United States thought--of  flying above the range of Soviet 
anti-aircraft defenses. In the days before satellite imagery, U-2 
missions provided unique photographic intelligence about So- 
viet military dispositions and capabilities. The Pakistanis also 
permitted the United States to establish an electronic listening 
post, supposedly a US air force communications facility outside 
Peshawar. Because of its geographic location, the Peshawar base 
also enabled the United States to monitor electronically Soviet 
missile tests, the facility forming part of the chain of electronic 
listening posts through which the United States kept tabs on 
Soviet missiles. The fact of the Peshawar facility boosted Paki- 
stan's value to US national security interests. Although CENTO 
and SEATO seemed of diminishing significance, the intelligence 
facilities were important assets that Washington was wary of 
losing. 

Mounting Tensions Between India 
and Communist China 

If Pakistan's willingness to provide facilities for US intelli- 
gence operations increased its importance to US national secu- 
rity, mounting tensions between India and Communist China 
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The India-China Border 

added a iaew dimension to Washington's relations with New 
Delhi. TM By 1959 it was evidentmeven though Nehru had man- 
aged to minimize publicitymthat serious differences existed 
over the India-China border. The difficulties were not just a 
problem of outdated maps that the Communists had yet to 
correct as Chou-En lai suggested earlier. 

In Ladakh, in the north of Kashmir, both India and China 
claimed a desolate and uninhabited 16,000 foot-high plateau 
called the Aksai Chin. The area had no intrinsic importance for 
India, but for China provided a valuable link between Sinkiang 
province and Tibet. In 1957, the Aksai Chin's significance grew 
after the Chinese completed a road across the plateau permitting 
direct communication between the two regions. The Indians 
only learned of the road through a report in the Chinese press. In 
the eastern portion of the frontier, the two countries disputed 
the borders between India's Northeast Frontier Agency (NEFA) 
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and Tibet. India claimed that this frontiermthe so-called Mac- 
Mahon Linemwas fixed by the Simla convention signed in 
1914. The Chinese, while implying willingness to accept the 
MacMahon Line, believed as a matter of principle India and 
China should formally negotiate the border delimitation rather 
than adopt a demarcation imposed by the British at a time when 
India was a British possession and China weak. 

In December 1958, after tensions along the border mounted 
following the Chinese capture of an Indian military patrol in the 
Aksai Chin, Nehru sent a detailed letter to Chou-En lai trying to 
smoke out the Chinese. The Prime Minister emphasized the 
view that "India's boundaries were fixed and well-known." 
There was no question of "large parts of India being anything 
but India. ''Ts Chou's 29 January 1959 reply disagreed that the 
borders were fixed, stating that "the Sino-Indian boundary has 
never been formally delimited. Historically no treaty or agree- 
ment on the Sino-Indian boundary has ever been concluded 
between the Chinese Central Government and the Indian Gov- 
ernment." Chou suggested negotiations. 76 

Two months later in March 1959, the situation became far 
more complicated politically after Tibet revolted against the 
Communists. When the Chinese military suppressed the upris- 
ing, the Dalai Lama, Tibet's spiritual and temporal leader, fled 
to India, and, on 31 March, received political asylum. These 
events caused an emotional surge of anti-Chinese sentiments in 
India that shattered the policy of friendship Nehru had so care- 
fully nurtured. Although Nehru tried to temporize, following 
inherently conflicting goalsmhelp for the Tibetans and contin- 
ued friendship with Chinamhis  policy ofHindi-Chini bhai bhai 
was dead five years after the Nehru-Chou 1954 meetings. 

For their part, the Chinese were angered by the Indian 
attitude toward Tibet, assuming~perhaps incorrectly--that 
Nehru was collaborating with the Chinese Nationalists and the 
US Central Intelligence Agency in providing covert assistance to 
the Tibetan resistance movement. The Chinese stance on the 
border stiffened. They reaffirmed their earlier maps which 
claimed the entire Northeast Frontier Agency~some 40,000 
square mi les~as  Chinese and rejected the Indian position that 
the border was fixed along the MacMahon Line. A Chinese 
ambush of an Indian patrol killed four Indian soldiers and left 
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five others wounded. Ten Indian soldiers were taken prisoner. 
This event caused an uproar in New Delhi. Under great political 
pressure in parliament, Nehru released the diplomatic ex- 
changes with China over the border dispute, making plain how 
serious the differences were. 

The result was a renewed surge of nationalist and anti- 
Chinese sentiments that thereafter limited Nehru's ability to 
maneuver in diplomatic dealings with Beijing. A compromise on 
the border disputemswapping Indian desires to establish the 
MacMahon Line along the crest of the Assam Himalayas as the 
border in the east for Chinese desires to control the Aksai Chin 
in Ladakh--might have been possible earlier. After October 
1959, Indian public opinion made such a deal politically diffi- 
cult, if  not impossible. 

With trouble on its northern borders, as well as continued 
tensions with Pakistan, India began to step up its defense build- 
up. Responsibility for this lay in the hands of Krishna Menon, 
Defense Minister since 1957. Although Nehru continued his 
staunch support for his friend, Menon ultimately proved a disas- 
ter, politicizing and demoralizing the top ranks of the military. 
Those that refused to play Menon's game, like General 
Thimayya were, in effect, forced out and replaced by "political" 
generals like Lt. General B. N. Kaul, willing to bend to Menon's 
will. Menon minimized the significance of the troubles with 
China, asserting that Pakistan remained India's major security 
danger. Menon, to Washington's great concern, also pressed for 
the acquisition of Soviet military equipment to break the British 
and French dominance over Indian military procurement. 

As the Sino-Indian rift deepened, the reaction in the West, 
especially of the United States, was entirely supportive of India, 
even though the State Department took no official position on 
the disputed McMahon Line border claim. Given the decade- 
long animosity with Communist China, Washington readily 
accepted the Indian version of eventsma view consistent with 
the US perception of China as an aggressive bully. To Nehru's 
great satisfaction, the Soviet Union adopted a neutral stance. 
Nehru saw Soviet neutrality as a further vindication of his 
nonalignment policy as well as strategically important in India's 
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border dispute with China. Moscow's position angered the Chi- 
nese and became an element in broader Sino-Soviet tensions 
then mounting between the two Communist powers. 

Some in Washington regarded Sino-Indian tensions as 
opening the way for far closer US relations with New Delhi, with 
the possibility o f  even making India a strategic counterweight 
against China. When the NSC considered this idea in May 1959, 
President Eisenhower strongly disagreed. "India," the President 
stated, "had never announced any readiness to align itself with 
the West as an opponent of communism, as Japan for instance 
has. We could not talk of a counterweight if the nation in 
question refuses to be a counterweight." Eisenhower com- 
mented that if  the United States were actually to try to make 
India a counterweight to Communist China, the task would be 
so great that America would probably bankrupt itself in the 
process. The President argued the US goal should be to "give 
India a chance to grow as a free and democratic country." 
Eisenhower also reiterated his felling that "the Indians were wise 
to adopt their attitude of non-alignment. ''77 

Mounting tensions between India and China, thus, added a 
new dimension to Washington's relations with New Delhi, and 
vice versa. For once, the two countries shared a common posi- 
tion on an important security issue: both had bad relations with 
Communist China. 

"My Desire to See That Country for Myself" 
Dwight Eisenhower wrote in his memoirs, "During Prime 

Minister Nehru's visit to the United States in 1956, I had 
become so intrigued by the picture he painted of the region, its 
people, and their aspirations that my desire to see that country 
for myself became the stronger."78 In December 19 59, the Presi- 
dent realized this wish, as he became the first US President to 
visit independent India. 79 Eisenhower told Lord Plowden, Brit- 
ish Atomic Energy chief, he arranged his three week Europe and 
Middle East trip "just to get to India. ''8° Air Force One, the new 
Boeing 707 presidential jet, which the President used for the first 
time on the trip, made the extensive journey feasible, enabling 
Eisenhower to cover far greater distances in greater comfort than 
had the propeller driven aircraft he had used for earlier travels. 
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Courtesy of the Dwight D. Eisenhower Library, Collection of James C. Hagerty 

President Eisenhower garlanded on arrival in New Delhi 10 December 1959. 
Left to right, Ambassador Bunker, Congress Party President UN Dhebar, Prime 
Minister Nehru, Vice President Radhakishnan, Indira Gandhi, President Ei- 
senhower, and President of India Rajendra Prasad. 
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When the President arrived in New Delhi at dusk on 10 
December 1959, he was received "with tremendous enthusiasm 
and emotion." In Nehru's words, "We had a expected a great 
welcome for the President. But even our anticipations were 
exceeded. ''81 Millions mobbed the streets to see Eisenhower. 
With the largest crowds since the celebration of Indian indepen- 
dence, the motorcade was swallowed up in the sea of people and 
totally gridlocked for over an hour in downtown New Delhi. 

During his four days in India, Eisenhower spoke to parlia- 
ment, joined Nehru in addressing a vast throng in front of the 
Red Fort in Old Delhi, fulfilled a childhood dream of visiting the 
Taj Mahal, and held extensive discussions with the Prime Minis- 
ter. Wherever Eisenhower went, he drew enormous crowds, 
showing that the phenomenon of "I like Ike" was as true in India 
as the United States. Eisenhower charmed India with his broad 
smile and friendly, open manner. The trip was a public relations 
triumph. 

As in 1956, the private talks between the two leaders went 
well. They "had long discussions and covered almost all the 
current problems of Asia, Europe and even Africa.'82 In discuss- 
ing the border trouble with China, Nehru explained Indian 
perceptions, commenting he could not understand Chinese mo- 
tives. Having extended the hand of friendship, Nehru was hurt 
and perplexed by the hardening of the Chinese position on the 
Himalayan frontiers. Eisenhower did not dwell on the border 
dispute, saying simply that he hoped it could be resolved 
peacefully. 83 

On India and Pakistan problems, Eisenhower stressed how 
"perplexed" he was between his desire to provide military 
equipment for Pakistan and "an equal wish not to cause embar- 
rassment or anxiety to India." He argued that Indian deploy- 
ment of troops in Kashmir was wasteful and  weakened the 
subcontinent's defenses. Eisenhower insisted that the United 
States would never permit the Pakistanis to use US equipment 
to attack India. The President informed Nehru that the Pakis- 
ranis, in any case, had limited amounts of ammunition since the 
United States provided them with only one week's supply. 84 

During the last evening in New Delhi, the President and the 
Prime Minister dined alone. Enthralled by Nehru's description 
of "India, her history, her needs, her principal problems, both 
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domestic and foreign and of his hopes for her," Eisenhower 
found the Indian leader's views "palpably honest and sincere. ''s5 
In their talk, the Prime Minister stressed his interest in some sort 
of declaration that India and Pakistan not use force or war to 
settle their differences. If  Pakistan gave this assurance, Nehru 
said India would be less concerned about US arms to Pakistan. s6 

Eisenhower promptly followed up, instructing Ambassador 
William Rountree in Pakistan to raise Nehru's no-war idea with 
President Ayub Khan. Eisenhower wanted to make sure that 
Ayub understood "the great opportunity this could give him in 
modernization of his army. ''sT As Rountree anticipatedNsince 
Nehru had proposed mutual pledges not to use force as long ago 
as 1949NAyub flatly rejected the suggestion. Were he to accept, 
Ayub told Eisenhower, the people of Pakistan would say he had 
handed Kashmir on a silver platter to the Indians. Ayub asserted 
he was not against the "no war" declaration but wanted a 

Courtesy of the Dwight D. Eisenhower Library. Collection of James C. Hagerty 

President Eisenhower and Prime Minister Nehru meet with Indian Girl Scouts. 
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parallel agreement on principles for solving the Kashmir dis= 
pute. Without this linkage, Ayub believed the "no-war" declara- 
tion was a ploy to enable Nehru to avoid doing anything about 
Kashmir. 8s 

Even though Eisenhower was not able to bring India and 
Pakistan closer together--probably no one could have suc- 
ceeded in this taskmhis visit was a tremendous success. "We 
were not out to get anything from each other," Nehru wrote the 
Chief Ministers, "but rather to understand, and I think both of 
us succeeded to some extent . . . .  I believe there is a greater 
mutual understanding between these two countries now. ''s9 US- 
Indian relations had rarely been warmer. 

Sidewinder Missiles for India: Eisenhower Changes 
His Mind 

In April1960, Ambassador Bunker, during consultations in 
Washington, met with the President to review South Asian 
developments. Eisenhower expressed pleasure about his trip and 
the apparent improvement in Indo-Pakistani relations, saying 
he found Nehru was taking a "more realistic" view of world 
developments. Bunker commented that Eisenhower's strong as- 
surance that US arms would not be used by Pakistan against  
India made a considerable impression on Nehru and others in 
the Government of India. 

The discussion turned to a US decision to provide F-104 
fighter aircraft to Pakistan, an action that was arousing new 
concerns in India. No longer questioning US motives, Bunker 
said the Indians worded that the F-104s would render their own 
air force obsolete. After Bunker observed that the Indians would 
find it harder to object to military aid to Pakistan if the United 
States offered similar equipment to India, Eisenhower re- 
sponded that he saw no reason not to do so. "In fact," the 
President added, "we should do so." Eisenhower asked Bunker 
to informthe State Department of his views. 9° 

Two weeks after the Bunker-Eisenhower conversation, the 
Indians for the first time in a number of years turned to the 
United States for military equipment. In early May, Defense 
Minister Krishna Menon approached Bunker about buying 29 
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Fairchild C-1 1 9 transport aircraft to help in supplying the Hi- 
malayan defenses. Bunker cabled Washington he was en- 
couraged by the request, arguing it was "clearly in our interest to 
do everything possible stiffen GOI posture vis-a-vis Chinese 
Communists. ''91 The US Government quickly approved the 
sale. 92 

Later in the month, during a visit to Delhi by Secretary of 
the Air Force Sharp, Krishna Menon asked if India could buy 
Siffewinder missiles, an advanced weapons system the United 
States promised to supply to Pakistan. Bunker urged approval, 
recalling that President Eisenhower was in accord with the idea 
of selling India the same equipment the United States was giving 
Pakistan. 93 After careful deliberation, the State Department's 
Near East Bureau, then headed by career diplomat G. Lewis 
Jones, recommended to Secretary Herter that the Indians be 
urged to purchase their missiles from Britain. Jones opposed 
selling Sidewinders to India because of the "present delicate 
state of our relations with Pakistan." Herter concurred and later 
discussed the question with President Eisenhower, who--re-  
versing the position he took with Bunkermagreed to turn the 
Indians down. 94 

Disappointed, Ambassador Bunker argued the case again--  
to no availmwith Assistant Secretary Jones. In his 1 3 July reply, 
Jones defended the decision politely but firmly. His main point 
was that Pakistan, as a n  ally, deserved better treatment than 
nonaligned India. Jones wrote: 

In becoming our wholehearted ally, Pakistan has under- 
taken real responsibilities and risks, making its territory 
available to us for a series of projects highly important to 
our national security . . . .  The hard fact remains that, if 
our mutual security system is to remain intact, we must 
show Pakistan . . . that substantial benefits flow from a 
military alignment with us against the Communist bloc. 95 

The Sidewinder episode--notwithstanding what Eisen- 
hower told Ambassador Bunker--made clear that the United 
States was not willing to equate India and Pakistan in military 
supply matters. Washington did not want to put at risk the 
recently acquired intelligence facilities at Peshawar in a dispute 
over arms to India. The United States was also reluctant to do 
anything that would bolster the position of Krishna Menon, 
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enabling the Defense Minister to claim he could obtain sophisti- 
cated weapons from Washington as well as from Moscow. 

Even though the United States refused to sell Sidewinders 
to India, it remained uneasy about India's procuring increased 
quantities of military equipment from the Soviet Union. Only 
with great difficulty were the Americans and the British in 1957 
able to dissuade Nehru from buying Soviet bombers instead of 
British Canberras. 96 By 1960, the combination of pro-Soviet 
Krishna Menon as Defense Minister, the bargain basement ru- 
pee payment terms Moscow offered, and Nehru's perception 
that closer ties with Moscow were helpful against China made 
the situation more favorable for an expanded Soviet military 
supply relationship. 

In the summer, the possible purchase of Soviet helicopters 
worried Washington and the American Embassy in New Delhi. 
Although the Embassy saw preventing this sale as being of 
"paramount importance," the conclusion at an August inter- 
agency meeting in Washington was that the United States could 
do little to head off the transaction. Underlining US concerns, 
the Defense Department later changed its mind, proposing that 
the Air Force subsidize an offer of US helicopters to the Indians, 
Time ran out before the Eisenhower administration could make 
a decision. The proposal died in the transition to the Kennedy 
administration. 97 

The US attitude on arms to India was thus ambivalent. 
Washington did not want India to obtain more Soviet arms, 
fearing this would increase Soviet influence. At the same time, 
the United States was unwilling to sell sophisticated weaponry 
to India for fear of upsetting US ally Pakistan. The preferred 
approach was to direct the Indians toward the British, their 
traditional supplier, in the hope that this would suffice to keep 
the Soviets out. In 1957, this approach succeeded in averting the 
purchase of Soviet bombers. By 1960, it no longer worked. 

Final Eisenhower-Nehru Meeting, September 1960 
The year began with high hopes for a Big Four summit to be 

followed by an Eisenhower visit to the Soviet Union to recipro- 
cate Khrushchev's 1959 trip to the United States. In May 1960, 
expectations for further progress toward disarmament and 
d6tente were dashed after the Soviets shot down a CIA U-2  spy 
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plane that had taken off from Peshawar. The United States 
waffled at first, but eventually Eisenhower took full responsibil- 
ity for the incident. Khrushchev's angry reaction was to stomp 
out of the Big Four meeting in Paris and cancel Eisenhower's 
visit. In the fall U N  General Assembly session, the Soviet chief 
continued his theatrical performance, undiplomatically leading 
the Soviet delegation in pounding their shoes on the delegate 
desks. The Soviet leader also proposed a drastic reshuffle of the 
U N  Secretariat to reduce the powers of the Secretary General by 
replacing his position with a troika or three-headed leadership. 

Eisenhower and Nehru, both in New York for the U N  
session, met in late September for the last time. Weary from five 
days in Pakistan where he had signed the Indus Waters Treaty, 
Nehru seemed tired throughout the discussion. Eisenhower ex- 
pressed astonishment at Khrushchev's conduct: Destroying the 
U N  would be terrible, especially for smaller countries. Nehru 
agreed the UN's  break-up would be catastrophic. He had yet to 
see Khrushchev but hoped the Soviet leader would calm down. 

The President stressed his desire for progress on disarma- 
ment, but was pessimistic about the prospects. He reviewed at 
some length US-Soviet differences on verification questions, 
obtaining Nehru's agreement that verification was an essential 
part of any disarmament accord. The two leaders also talked 
about Africa, where the Congo was falling into chaos after the 
hurried grant of independence by Belgium. The U N  was trying, 
with limited success, to prevent civil war between different 
factions vying for power. 

Turning to India's border dispute with China, Nehru said 
there was unfortunately no progress toward a solution. Chou En- 
lai visited New Delhi in April 1960, but to little avail. The Prime 
Minister said that as the two sides in these talks even disagreed 
on the basic facts of their border claims, officials were seeking to 
clarify these points. Militarily, Nehru commented, the Chinese 
were better able to support forces in the Himalayan border areas 
than India because of the nature of the terrain and their superior 
road system. 9s 

Although the two leaders did not meet again, Nehru man- 
aged to miff Eisenhower later in the U N  session by failing to 
consult before joining other major nonaligned leaders (Nasser of 
Egypt, Tito of Yugoslavia, Nkrumah of Ghana, and Sukarno of 
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Indonesia) in publicly proposing a US-Soviet summit on dis- 
armament. Eisenhower turned the idea down because he felt the 
Soviets were intransigent on arms control questions, explaining 
his reasons in a lengthy letter to the Prime Minister. 99 

Indo-US bilateral relations might have  substantially im- 
proved, but- -as  the nonaligned episode showed--plenty of dif- 
ferences remained. Still one sensed that the edge was offNehru's 
distrust of the United States during Eisenhower's second term. 
The good personal chemistry between the two leaders in part 
explained this. Eisenhower's clear concern for preserving world 
peace--always a critical factor in Nehru's thinkingmwas an- 
other element. The Soviet handling of the Hungarian revolt, 
especially the execution of Premier Imre Nagy, made Nehru 
more critical of the Russians--and perhaps less critical of the 
United States. 

US-Indian Relations: "Increasingly Cordial" 
In 1956, the NSC's Operations Coordinating Board 

(OCB)mcharged with monitoring implementation of US policy 
around the worldmreported gloomily that there had been little i f  

a n y  improvement in Indo-American relations. 100 Despite Am- 
bassador Cooper's having established friendly relations with 
Prime Minister Nehru and somewhat better atmospherics, the 
OCB concluded that basic policy differences remained 
unresolved. 101 

Four years later, as the Eisenhower presidency was drawing 
to a close, the OCB assessment sounded much more positive 
notes. Indo-US relations were "increasingly cordial." The Presi- 
dent had enjoyed an extraordinarily successful visit to New 
Delhi. Large-scale American aid to India had become an impor- 
tant l~ositive factor in relations. Growing troubles between India 
and its erstwhile friend Communist China added a new element 
to bilateral ties. Indo-Pakistani relations, if not friendly, 
were at least improved as a result of the settlement of the Indus 
Waters dispute. 102 

When Eisenhower left office in January 1961, he could take 
satisfaction in his dealings with South Asia. Despite the fact that 
the President failed to effect a rapprochement between India 
and Pakistan, he was able to put bilateral relations with India on 
a firmer and friendlier footing. Just as India achieved good 
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relations with both the Un i t ed  States and the Soviet Union ,  the 
Eisenhower  adminis t ra t ion  had  succeeded in main ta in ing  
friendly relations with both India  and Pakistan. 

On the Ind ian  side, there was also satisfaction about  the 
t rend  in relations, even if  US arms for Pakis tan remained  a 
problem. US economic  aid was for thcoming in increasing 
amounts .  As trouble brewed with China,  the implici t  Support of  
the Un i t ed  States was a comfort ing factor. India 's  nonal ignment  
no longer seemed an ana thema  to the Uni t ed  States. Nehru  
could tell his Chief  Ministers after the 1959 talks with Eisen- 
hower,  " H e  appreciated and  unders tood our  desire to keep out  
o f  mil i tary alliances; indeed he would  not  have it otherwise. ''~°3 
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Chapter V 

Kennedy: "Neither Kashmir 
nor India" 

T h e  1960 presidential election race between Vice 
President Richard M. Nixon and Senator John F. Kennedy, one 
of the closest in American history, was watched closely around 
the globe, but especially in India and Pakistan. 

Pakistan saw Nixon as a good friend. ~ India regarded the 
Vice President, unlike President Eisenhower, as an unrepentant 
Cold Warrior and a foe of Indian nonalignment. Kennedy 
caused uneasiness in Pakistan and stirred hopes in India. As a 
Senator, he co,sponsored the 1958 Senate resolution calling for 
increased economic aid for India and criticized the Republican 
policy of relying on military pacts to meet the Communist threat 
in the Third World. Kennedy appeared considerably more sym- 
pathetic than Nixon to the aspirations of developing nations and 
less antagonistic toward nonalignment. The fact that Kennedy's 
foreign policy adviser during the 1960 election campaign was 
none other than former Ambassador Chester Bowles was an- 
other big plus in India and a minus in Pakistan. 

The appointment of Bowles as Under Secretary of State, the 
naming of Phillips Talbot, a scholar-journalist specialist on 
India, as Assistant Secretary of State for Near East and South 

• Asian Affairs, 2 and the selection of Harvard Professor John 

181 
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Kenneth Galbraith, a friend of President Kennedy, as the Am- 
bassador in New Delhi, raised Indian optimism and stirred 
Pakistan's anxieties even more. 

With Bowles' experience as Ambassador to India, Talbot's 
understanding of India dating back to his days as an exchange 
student in 1939, and Galbraith's own knowledge from extended 
stays in the mid-1950s, the new team gave the Kennedy adminis- 
tration a depth of knowledge about South Asia, and especially 
India, unequalled before or since. Incoming Secretary of State 
Dean Rusk, while no expert on South Asia, was familiar with the 
territory from wartime service at the China-Burma-India thea- 
ter headquarters in New Delhi. 

As a Senator, Kennedy took the initiative in 1958 to spon- 
sor the resolution urging more economic aid for India, although 
his personal contact with Nehru was less than sparkling. The 
Prime Minister showed little interest in talking with the young 
Massachusetts Representative when he visited India in 1951. 3 
Nehru's preachy neutralism put Kennedy off somewhatmit was 
not his s ty leqbut  he respected the Prime Minister as one of the 
great political leaders of the 20th century and praised "the 
soaring idealism of Nehru" in his first State of the Union address 
30 January 1961. Kennedy regarded India with its vast popula- 
tion, economic potential, and democratic aspirations as the 
centerpiece of the developing world worthy of major attention 
by the United States. 4 

Even if Kennedy did not accept the policy recommenda- 
tions of Chester Bowles--simply to ditch Pakistan and back 
India to the hi l t - -he Was willing to support the approach advo- 
cated by Galbraith, Talbot, and Robert Komer, his National 
Security Council staffer for South Asia, 5 of trying to develop 
closer and more cooperative relations with India. Well aware of 
intense India-Pakistan differences, Kennedy and his aides 
thought the United States could achieve friendlier ties with New 
Delhi without doing irreparable damage to relations with Paki- 
stan. This was the administration's basic policy goal in 1961.6 

Kennedy's policy toward South Asia marked a continuation 
of the shift in emphasis toward India already begun in Eisen- 
hower's second term. While the approach may have been simi- 
lar, the contrast in operating styles between the two 
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administrations was striking. With the "New Frontier" empha- 
sis on youth and action, Kennedy promptly disbanded the elabo- 
rate NSC machinery used by Eisenhower. Kennedy's NSC, 
headed by Harvard academic McGeorge Bundy, was a much 
smaller, informal, and collegial body. Unlike Eisenhower, Ken- 
nedy became personally engaged in the details of issues that 
interested him, such as India and Pakistan. According to Talbot 
and his deputy James P. Grant, the President frequently called 
them directly to discuss current problems, bypassing the formal 
organizational structure. NSC staffers like Robert Komer, 
speaking for the President, played an active and energetic role 
along with State, Defense, AID, and CIA representatives in 
shaping and implementing South Asia policyJ 

The Congo and Laos Crises 
Among the first issues confronting the new administration 

was the on-going Congo crisis, in which India played an impor- 
tant role as the source of the largest contingent of soldiers to 
implement the UN effort to calm the strife-ridden African na- 
tion. Kennedy modified US policy to place more emphasis than 
Eisenhower on using UN machinery in order to ensure genuine 
independence for the Congo and to keep the struggle out of the 
Cold War. Seeking active Indian cooperation in shaping the UN 
mandate, Kennedy detailed US hopes for the Congo operation 
in a lengthy cable he sent Nehru on 18 February 1961. 

Kennedy's message ended with words Nehru himself could 
have written, "If  we and those who share our view move forward 
together in the support of the United Nations in the Congo, it 
will succeed--and with it the opportunity for every nation, even 
the smallest, to work out its destiny. ''8 To meet a voting deadline 
at the United Nations, Nehru sent a hurried response. Although 
he did not agree on all points about the UN mandate, Nehru's 
reply was positive in tone. "I need not tell you," he cabled, "how 
much we welcome our cooperating with the United States in 
order to find a solution of this difficult problem of the Congo. ''9 

The Congo became even more difficult after the murder of 
flamboyant nationalist leader Patrice Lumumba, attempts by 
pro-Belgian groups to seize control of mineral-rich Katanga 
province, tensions between the United States and the Soviet 
Union, and on-the-ground friction between US Ambassador 
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Claire Timberlake and the UN Secretary General's representa- 
tive Rajeshwar Dayal, a senior Indian civil servant. Despite 
these formidable difficulties, Washington and New Delhi suc- 
cessfully worked together in shaping and implementing a 
strengthened UN mandate. 

India provided the backbone of the UN force in the Congo, 
sending a full army brigade of 5,000 soldiers--the first contin- 
gent flown from the subcontinent to Africa by the US Air 
Force. 10 With much patience, and also tragedy--including the 
death of UN Secretary General Dag Hammerskjold whose plane 
mysteriously crashedmCongo unity was eventually preserved. 
The United States deemphasized Cold War considerations. In- 
dia rebuffed pressure for less measured action from Ghana and 
more radical nonaligned states, as well as from Moscow. ll In 
keeping with his hopes for Indo-US cooperation and his infor- 
mal style, Kennedy took the unusual step of calling in the Indian 
Embassy Deputy Chief of Mission D. N. Chatterjee, then leav- 
ing Washington to become India's envoy to the Congo. The 
President emphasized to Chatterjee, whom he had gotten to 
know as a Senator, his desires that the United States and India 
work together closely in trying to solve the Congo problem. 12 

Yet cooperation over the Congo was deceptive. In dealing 
with a problem caused in large part by former Belgian colonial- 
ists, American and Indian interests converged. On other issues, 
such as Southeast Asia and nuclear testing, there was less com- 
mon ground. A decade of nonalignment made Nehru leery of too 
close a working relationship with the United States, even with an 
administration whose ideals he found appealing. Nonalignment 
itself had considerably evolved from the early 1950s when India 
was the dominant voice. As a host of new nations gained inde- 
pendence in Asia and Africa, nonaligned ranks swelled. India 
had to share leadership with others, with Indonesia, Egypt, 
Yugoslavia, and Ghana most prominently. Somewhat against 
Nehru's better judgment the Non-Aligned Movement began to 
take semi-formal shape. Although often divided among itself by 
conflicting regional interests and conflicts, the Non-Aligned 
Movement tried to achieve a consensus before taking positions, 
a procedure that restricted Indian room to maneuver. 

The Laos crisis, which followed quickly on the heels of the 
Congo problem in the spring of 1961, was intrinsically more 
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dangerous, for the dispute directly threatened Great Power con- 
frontation. The trouble arose after the delicate balance between 
pro-West, pro-Communist, and neutralist factions in the small, 
landlocked Indo-China kingdom, appeared to collapse. The pro- 
Communist faction, supported by the Soviet Union, sought a 
monopoly of power. Although Eisenhower had considered send- 
ing in American military forces, Kennedy concluded Laos was 
not worth a major showdown with the Soviets. He elected in- 
stead to seek negotiations in the hopes of restoring the internal 
political balance. 13 

The Kennedy administration believed India could be help- 
ful in Laos because of its good relations with the Soviet Union 
and its role as Chairman of the then moribund International 
Control Commission for Laos. Kennedy sent Secretary Rusk 
and Averell Harriman, who was once again active in foreign 
affairs at the age of 71, to see Nehru, also 71 at the time.14 "If  you 
can take diplomatic action to halt the fighting pending political 
discussions, you will perform a great service," Kennedy told the 
Prime Minister in a 23 March message. 15 In his reply, sent after 
Nehru met the US envoys, the Prime Minister confirmed he had 
urged Khrushchev to cooperate in seeking peace in Laos. 
Nehru's letter touched also in a restrained manner on the Bay of 
Pigs disaster. The Indians reacted with relative calm to the failed 
US-sponsored invasion of Cuba, reflecting the improvement in 
relations between New Delhi and Washington.16 

In Laos, the Indians proved willing to be helpfulwup to a 
point. Nehru was, however, unwilling to work in harness with 
the United States against the Communists in Southeast Asia. He 
remained wary of US intentions in the region and did not want 
to cross the Soviets. As Galbraith wrote Kennedy: 

I am trying hard to persuade the Indians that once we accept 
neutrality they cannot be less concerned to protect it than 
we. If neutrality means that Laos goes to the Communists, 
the word will stink and everyone will attribute the failure to 
acceptance of an Indian policy.~7 

In keeping with his reluctance to become too closely identi- 
fied with Washington, Nehru listened politely in late May 1961 
to the entreaties of Vice President Lyndon Johnson, during his 
visit to New Delhi, for India to offer "counsel" and take more of 
a "lead" on Indo-China, but would not commit himself to a 
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more active role. In the end, mention of Indian "counsel and 
leadership" in promoting peace in Southeast Asia was omitted 
from the communiqu6 issued after the Johnson visit.18 

U S  Aid to India: Record Levels of Assistance 
Even before entering the White House in January 1961, 

Kennedy appointed a task force to consider economic assistance 
to  India. In line with the thrust of the Kennedy-Cooper resolu- 
tion on aid to India, the task force set the goal of ensuring 
sufficient foreign financing for India's Third Five Year Plan due 
to start in 1962. To achieve this, the group proposed--and the 
Kennedy administration agreed--that the United States com- 
mit $1 billion annually for the first two years of the Third Plan 
on the understanding that other countries match the US contri- 
bution. The aid planners envisaged half the US share, or $500 
million, in development loans or grants and the remainder in PL 
480 food assistance. The Kennedy administration thus called for 
a tripling of US development lending from the $135 million the 
Eisenhower administration provided in 1960.19 

In parallel with the ambitious Alliance for Progress 
launched to promote economic development in Latin America 
and the sending of young and idealistic Peace Corps volunteers 
to developing nations, the administration pressed ahead to 
achieve the ambitious target set for aid to India. At the April 
1961 meeting of the India Aid consortium, the United States 
pledged a massive $1 billion in development assistance for the  
first two years of the Third Plan. Together with pledges from 
other donors, India's essential foreign exchange needs for these 
two years were met. India also received promises that the con- 
sortium would make available adequate financing for the Plan's 
final three years. On 13 May, Nehru thanked Kennedy effu- 
sively, writing: 

Our task, great as it is, has been made light by the goodwill 
and generous assistance that has come to us from the United 
StateS. To the people of the United States and more espe- 
cially to you, Mr. President, we feel deeply grateful. 20 

On the basis of the consortium success, India closed up its 
Commission-General for Economic Affairs in Washington and 
named B. K. Nehru, the capable Commissioner-General, as its 
Ambassador to the United States. 2~ Already friendly with the 
President, Nehru enjoyed easy access to the White House during 
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the Kennedy years. Nehru's access to the President was paral- 
leled by the unusual access Galbraith had to the Prime Minister 
in New Delhi. 

In May 1961, the Director of the fledgling Peace Corps, 
Sargent Shriver, Kennedy's energetic brother-in-law, traveled to 
India to sell the program to Nehru. Galbraith urged caution, 
fearing Nehru might be touchy about having young Americans 
as "development missionaries" in rural India. To Galbraith's 
surprise, the Prime Minister responded enthusiastically. 22 By 
the end of 1961, the first two dozen Peace Corps volunteers 
reached India. The program soon grew to several hundred vol- 
unteers whose work complemented India's rural development 
programs in addition to proving a plus for the US image. 

If quantitatively, the Kennedy administration made good 
on its hope for a major increase in US aid levels, qualitatively, 
Ambassador Galbraith remained uneasy that US assistance was 

Courtesy of the John F. Kennedy Library 

12 September 1961, Indian Ambassador Braja Kumar Nehru presenting his 
credentials to President John F. Kennedy. 
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being spread too thin, with public relations gains not commen- 
surate with the $1 billion a year Washington was providing. US 
officials continued to worry that the Soviets, spending much less 
on a few highly visible public sector industrial projects, were 
winning more friends than the United States. Less visible US 
assistance was scattered around the country, often in physical 
and human infrastructure activities like education, agriculture, 
health, and transportation. 

To generate more publicity, Galbraith spent two weeks in 
October 1962, traveling by special train, accompanied by a 
platoon of American and Indian newsmen, to US AID projects 
in the four comers of India. The trip began in Kanpur, the north 
Indian industrial center, where AID was funding an Indian 
Institute of Technology, an effort to recreate an MIT-style engi- 
neering institute, staffed with American professors. The train 
then chugged eastward across the Ganges plain to Bokaro in 
Bihar, where Galbraith hoped AID would finance the million- 
ton public sector steel mill, and on to the coal rich Damodar 
Valley to inspect a US-funded coal washery. 

In central India, Galbraith visited a "package" agricultural 
program, under which AID was trying to increase farm output 
by concentrating experts, farm equipment, and agricultural in- 
puts. At Nagarjunasagar, near the city of Hyderabad, the group 
observed over a hundred thousand workers building--mostly by 
hand labor--one of the world's largest earthen dams. USAID 
provided technical assistance and large grants of rupees gener- 
ated by the PL 480 program. At Bombay, India's metropolis on 
the Arabian Sea, Galbraith saw the US AID-financed Central 
Training Institute, watched the unloading of 19,000 tons of PL 
480 wheat, visited t h e  site of a massive fertilizer plant, and 
inspected the Premier Automobile factory, an AID-assisted pri- 
vate sector industry. The final stop was Kotah in arid Rajasthan 
in western India, where US aid was helping construct an irriga- 
tion system. 13 

Galbraith continued to push hard in Washington to win 
approval for two major "impact" projectsmthe public sector 
steel mill at Bokaro and the nuclear power station at Tarapur 
near Bombay. Galbraith strongly supported Bokaro as a symbol 
of US commitment to Indian industrialization. 24 While many 
Democrats did not share the doubts of their predecessors about 
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US aid for Bokaro, the Kennedy administration was unable to 
overcome opposition to the project on Capitol Hill. 

In Congress, where India remained unpopular with many 
members because of its foreign policy, conservative Democrats 
and Republicans were unenthused about spending $900 million 
for Bokaro, until then the largest aid project proposed. Adding to 
the administration's difficulties was the opposition of General 
Lucius Clay, whom President Kennedy asked to undertake a 
detailed review of economic assistance. Clay could not see why 
the US taxpayers should finance a steel mill in the Indian public 
sector. Galbraith stuck to his guns, however, gaining President 
Kennedy's public backing for Bokaro. "The Congress may have 
other views," Kennedy stated in an 8 May 1963 press confer- 
ence, "but I think it would be a great mistake not to build it. 
India needs the steel. ''25 With the President's support, Bokaro 
stayed al ivemat least for the time being. 

Galbraith had more success with the nuclear power plant to 
be located at Tarapur near Bombay. The size of the p ro j ec tn  
$80 mi l l ionnwas  far more manageable. There was no ideologi- 
cal objection to cooperating with the Indian Atomic Energy 
Commission on nuclear power. US atomic energy specialists 
concluded the project was feasible given comparative fuel costs 
in India and the technical competence of the Indian AEC. The 
Kennedy administration gave the green light for going ahead. All 
that remained was for India and the United States to agree on 
mutually satisfactory safeguards to ensure that sensitive nuclear 
materials were not diverted for military p u r p o s e s .  26 

The Indians proved sticky negotiators, extremely sensitive 
about any agreement on foreign controls and inspections that 
suggested any infringement on their sovereignty. After pro- 
tracted negotiations, the US and Indian AECs finally worked out 
an arrangement under which India agreed to use only US-sup- 
plied enriched uranium in the Tarapur plant and, in return, 
accepted sufficient controls to satisfy Washington. It was not 
until May 1963~just  before Galbraith left Indiamthat  the Am- 
bassador was able to announce official approval for the project. 
Ironically, the Tarapur power plantmintended as a showpiece of 
US high technology assistance to Ind ia~became the focus for 
bitter controversy in the 1970s after India exploded a nuclear 
device. 
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Official Visits: Lyndon Johnson and Ayub Khan 
The first senior US visitor to South Asia during the Ken- 

nedy administration was Vice President Lyndon Johnson, who 
swung through Southeast Asia and the subcontinent in May 
1961. Because Johnson was the sort of earthy, backslapping 
American politician most likely to set Nehru's teeth on edge and 
cause one of his moody silences, Galbraith was worried how the 
Vice President's India visit would go. Fortunately, Nehru was on 
his best behavior after the announcement of the major US 
economic assistance pledge for the India aid consortium. The 
Prime Minister got the visit offto a good start, breaking protocol 
to greet Johnson personally at the airport. The two leaders had 
several friendly discussions about India's development pro- 
grams. Johnson, in turn, seemed to enjoy himself, especially a 
day in the countryside where he made several well photographed 
stops in Indian villages. 27 

The Vice President's trip report to Kennedy spoke of In: 
dia's being favorably inclined toward the new administration. 
Johnson commented: 

This, in my judgment, should be exploited not with the hope 
of drawing India into our sphere--which might be unneces- 
sary as it would be improbablembut, chiefly, with the hope 
of cementing under Nehru an India-U.S. friendship which 
would endure beyond any transition of power in India. 28 

Perhaps more significant than this unexceptionable sugges- 
tion was the impression President Ayub Khan of Pakistan made 
on the Vice President. Like most US leaders whether Democrat 
or Republican, Johnson was taken with Ayub. 29 Johnson told 
Kennedy the Pakistani President was "the singularly most im- 
pressive and, in his way, responsible head of state encountered 
on the trip." The Vice President further recommended that the 
United States seek ways to modernize Pakistan's military, as- 
serting Ayub "wants to resolve the Kashmir dispute to release 
Indian and Pakistani troops to deter the Chinese rather than 
each other. ''30 

In mid-summer 1961, President Ayub Khan himself trav- 
eled to Washington. Nervous about the shift in emphasis of US 
South Asia policy, Ayub sent up warning signals in the Pakistan 
press and in interviews with American newsmen before leaving 
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Pakistan. "Can it be," Ayub asked the Associated Press corre- 
spondent, "the United States is abandoning its good friends for 
the people who may not prove such good friends? ''3~ After 
arriving in Washington, Ayub maintained a bold public front. 
Addressing a joint session of Congress, he said bluntly Ameri- 
cans might not like everything Pakistan did, but his country was 
the best friend the United States had in Asia. 32 

During talks with Kennedy, Ayub worked hard- -and  sue- 
cessfullymto convince the President that Pakistan was, indeed, 
a good friend and ally of the United States, ready to help in 
Southeast Asia and elsewhere. Ayub discussed Kashmir, but did 
not belabor his country's troubles with India. His main stress lay 
on getting US aid to deal with the tough problem of waterlogging 
and salinity, then causing enormous damage to West Pakistan's 
richest agricultural lands in the Punjab. 33 Although Ayub failed 
to get Kennedy's agreement to use US economic aid as leverage 
to press India for a Kashmir settlement, the President agreed to 
support further UN discussion of Kashmir should there be no 
bilateral progress. Kennedy also said he would implement the 
Eisenhower administration's promise to provide Pakistan with 
F- 104 fighter aircraft. 34 

Unlike the Indians, who rarely made an effort to play up to 
Americans, Ayub and the Pakistanis were careful--regardless of 
whatever they might say to the pressmto cultivate close personal 
relations with US leaders. Ayub cleverly scored points with the 
Kennedys by presenting Jackie Kennedy with a magnificent 
stallion. 35 Capped by a glittering dinner at Mount Vernon, 
the Ayub visit was successful both in terms of public relations 
and in refurbishing Pakistan's credentials with a skeptical 
administration. 36 

Quite apart from the opposition of the Pakistanis and their 
American supporters~the unofficial Pakistan lobby was strong 
in the Pentagon, the intelligence community, and among con- 
servatives in the CongressDthose favoring a shift in South Asia 
policy toward India did not get much help from New Delhi. On 
25 August 1961, Nehru hurt India's standing with Kennedy 
when, in the middle of a crisis over Berlin, he called Western 
access to the German  city a "concession" rather than a right. 
Galbraith lamented, "This has put the skunk in the air condi- 
tioner. Washington is raving. ''37 The Ambassador was able to get 
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Nehru--who seemed not to realize the import of his words--to 
"clarify" his remarks38; still the damage was done in 
Washington. 

Nehru's cavalier treatment of a matter of vital importance 
to the United States did not sit well with senior Kennedy admin- 
istration officials. The anti-American tactics ofKrishna Menon, 
who continued to represent India at the UN while serving as 
Defense Minister, also remained a chronic source of trouble. 
During the summer of 1961, Menon infuriated Washington by 
misrepresenting American and Soviet nuclear disarmament pol- 
ic ies-portraying the United States as more and the Soviet 
Union as less bellicose than was in fact the case. 39 

When the nonaligned, now totalling 25 nations, gathered in 
Belgrade for their first heads of state meeting as a "movement"  
in September 1961, Nehru was initially reluctant about the idea 
of the summit, but in the end went along. With nuclear testing a 
major focus of attention, the results of the Belgrade meeting 
disappointed the US administration. Washington found the 
communiqu6 too soft on the Soviets, especially as Moscow had, 
in effect, thumbed its nose at the nonaligned by resuming nu- 
clear testing just before the gathering. 40 

The balance sheet in the fall of 1961 on Kennedy's South 
Asia policy seemed mixed. On the economic side, the United 
States dramatically increased its economic assistance for India, 
meeting the ambitious targets the pre-inauguration task force set 
and helping India harvest a foreign aid crop that met its most 
optimistic hopes. With Kennedy as President, India saw the 
United States as a friend. Senator Cooper, after a visit to New 
Delhi, told Kennedy "relations between India and the United 
States (were) the best I have ever known. ''41 This did not, how- 
ever, translate into broader political cooperation between the 
two countries. The two countries worked together in the Congo, 
but on most other issues, Indian and US positions continued to 
reflect conflicting approaches to the Cold War. Kennedy admin- 
istration officials hoped the visit of Prime Minister Nehru to 
Washington in November 1961 would open the door to a better 
partnership between the two countries. 
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Official Visits: An Aging Nehru Disappoints 
the N e w  F r o n t i e r  

On 5 November 1961, the seventy-one-year-old Nehru ar- 
rived in New York for his fourth and last trip to the United 
States. After appearing on "Meet the Press," the television news 
program, he flew to Cape Cod accompanied by Ambassador B. 
K. Nehru for private talks with Kennedy in an informal family 
setting. During lunch, the President turned the conversation to 
Southeast Asia to seek Nehru's advice on how to deal with South 
Vietnam. "Here is the situation we face in Vietnam," the forty- 
four-year-old Kennedy said, "We have little experience in Asia. 
You, Mr. Prime Minister, are a great Asian statesman. Tell us 
what to do. ''42 Ambassador Nehru recalled that the Prime Minis- 
ter did not really reply. Kennedy brought the discussion back to 
Vietnam several times in the hope of eliciting Nehru's views. 
The Indian leader still gave no coherent response, instead falling 
"into remote silence. ''43 

Things did not improve after the President and Prime Min- 
ister traveled together to Washington for the formal part of the 
visit. Nehru's principal business meeting at the White House 
with the President and senior American advisers went poorly. 
Kennedy did virtually all the talking, laying out in detail US 
policy concerns and goals. Nehru listened, saying almost nothing 
and leaving the President puzzled and uneasy. 

Although in a private session with Kennedy the Prime 
Minister unbent a bit, he had little to say on the major issues 
confronting the superpowers: Vietnam, Berlin, and disarma- 
ment. Nehru got down to specifics only on Kashmir where he 
reiterated his long-standing willingness to settle the dispute on 
the basis of acceptance of the cease-fire line as the international 
boundary. 44 Kennedy at times had trouble keeping the conversa- 
tion going. Nehru remained passive. The President said later, "It  
was like trying to grab something in your hand, only to have it 
turn out to be fog.  ''45 

A morning coffee that B.K. Nehru arranged at the Indian 
Embassy for the Prime Minister to meet informally with the 
cream of the New Frontier proved a further disappointment. 
Since the Indian leader usually enjoyed this sort of gathering, the 
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16 November 1961, Mrs. John F. Kennedy, Mrs. Indira Gandhi, Prime Minister 
Nehru, and President Kennedy during Washington arrival ceremony. 
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Ambassador was taken aback by Nehru's performance. He ar- 
rived about twenty minutes late, in itself unusual. When Arthur 
Schlesinger began by asking about the role of intellectuals in 
India, Nehru just waffled, talking in circles and not answering. 
Other questions drew similarly vague responses. "The meeting," 
according to Ambassador Nehru, "was a disaster."a6Schlesinger 
had a similarly negative reaction, "I had the impression of an old 
man, his energies depleted, who heard things at a great distance 
and answered most questions with indifference. ''47 

In his Thousand Days, Schlesinger quoted Kennedy as 
describing the Nehru visit as "the worst state visit I have had. ''48 
Thirty years after the fact, B. K. Nehru agreed the trip had been 
terrible. The ambassador knew Nehru was aging, but had not 
realized he was also tired and ailing. A younger and healthier 
Nehru would have enjoyed the busy schedule and crossing wits 
with the New Frontiersmen. Unfortunately, by November 196 1, 
Nehru was no longer the man he once w a s .  49 

After the disappointing visit, B. K. Nehru felt that Kennedy 
"wrote Nehru off as finished." Although the President himself 
never said this, the Ambassador drew the conclusion from his 
excellent contacts within the administration. 50 Komer and Tal- 
bot blamed Galbraith for failing adequately to alert Washington 
about Nehru's condition and also overselling the prospects for 
political cooperation with India, especially in Southeast Asia. 5~ 
Conversely, Galbraith, who was carrying on a running feud with 
Talbot and his boss, Secretary Dean Rusk, claimed Washington 
was unrealistic in its expectations about the help India might 
offer the United States. 52 

Nehru's physical decline had its direct impact on the energy 
level of Indian foreign policy. In earlier years, his enormous 
capacity for work and his extraordinarily broad background in 
foreign affairs enabled Nehru to carry out the trying duties of 
Prime Minister and at the same time serve as a hyperactive 
Minister for External Affairs. Using Krishna Menon as his 
sounding board and roving emissary to deal with the most 
critical problems, Nehru also worked closely with the top eche- 
lon of the Ministry of External Affairs, the Secretary General, 
and the Foreign Secretary. They, however, served as policy 
implementers not policymakers. Apart from Menon, no one had 
much leeway or independence. 
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Because Nehru kept foreign affairs as his personal, almost 
private, domain, he failed to develop the institutional experi- 
ence in the Indian Foreign Service and Ministry of External 
Affairs needed to maintain the activist foreign policy India 
pursued in the heyday of nonalignment. As Nehru began to fade, 
India found itself hampered in continuing the global foreign 
policy that the Prime Minister successfully established in the 
early 1950s. Too  much depended on Nehru's personal input, 
energy, and prestige. The upshot was that when the US foreign 
policy machinery was crackling with the activism and can-do 
spirit of Kennedy's New Frontier, India's foreign policy was 
beginning to creak. Nehru sadly stayed on beyond his time. 

Goa, US Aid, and MiGs 
Although Goa was only mentioned in passing during 

Nehru's visit to the United States, a crisis developed a month 
later. In the past, Nehru always rebuffed proposals to use force to 
seize the Portuguese colony, despite Lisbon's stubborn refusal to 
give up the territory. In December 1961, he changed his mind, 
apparently under pressure from Defense Minister Krishna Me- 
non, perhaps eager to deflect attention from his handling of the 
Himalayan border problems with China. Galbraith, at first, 
doubted the Indians would mount a military action against Goa. 
After the press worked itself into a frenzy about Portuguese 
"provocations"--alteged attacks on Indian fishing vessels, in- 
ternal crackdown on pro-Indian elements, and threatening Por- 
tuguese troop movementsmthe ambassador realized something 
w a s  u p .  53 

Under instructions from Washington, he made an 1 l th- 
hour effort to get Nehru to agree to a six months' delay to give 
diplomacy a chance to solve the problem peacefully. When the 
Prime Minister became evasive and sought to put off the discus- 
sion, Galbraith concluded it was too late to do anything. 54 Indian 
troops were, in fact, already on the move although Nehru was 
unaware of this since Krishna Menon kept the actual timing of 
the attack from the Prime Minister. 55 A day later, Indian forces 
completed the seizure of the territory, with the Portuguese sur- 
rendering without much of a fight. 56 

If  the military action was brief and almost bloodless, this 
was not the case for the diplomatic encounter at the United 
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Nations.  There  the  U n i t e d  States vociferously d i sapproved  that  
India,  o f  all countr ies ,  resorted to the  use o f  force. US delegate 
Adlai  S tevenson pa id  Kr ishna  M e n o n  back in k ind  for his m a n y  
rancorous  an t i -Amer ican  tirades. As Ar thur  Schlesinger wrote,  
" T h e  contras t  be tween  Nehru ' s  incessant  sanc t imony  on the  
subject  o f  non-aggression and  his brisk exercise in mac  h tpol i t ik  
was too comic  no t  to cause c o m m e n t  . . . .  It  was a lmost  too 
m u c h  to expect the targets o f  Nehru ' s  past  se rmons  not  to 
r e spond  in kind.  ''57 

The  Indians  were fur ious over  Adlai Stevenson 's  at tacks 
and  hur t  by US c o n d e m n a t i o n  o f  their  action. A testy exchange 
be tween  N eh ru  and  K e n n e d y  followed. In  a discursive seven- 
page letter, Neh ru  regret ted acting against US  advice, bu t  argued 
inact ion  would  have  been  worse. Ne h r u  asserted the  m o v e  won 
the approval  o f  all India,  including,  " even  the  Cardinal  Arch- 
b ishop o f  Bombay,  the  highest  digni tary o f  the  R o m a n  Cathol ic  
Church  in Ind ia . "  Contras t ing  praise f rom Afro-Asian countr ies  
wi th  US and  Brit ish disapproval ,  Ne h r u  asked: 

Why is it that something that thrills our people, should be 
condemned in the strongest language in the United States 
and some other places? . . . We could understand the dif- 
ference of opinion on this Goan issue, but I confess that I 
have been deeply hurt by the rather extraordinary and bitter 
attitude of Mr. Adlai Stevenson and some others . . . .  I 
had hoped that in the United States there would be a broad 
realisation of how Goa appeared to Indians. 58 

Pres iden t  Kennedy ' s  briefer  response was sharp and  per- 
sonal. Voicing his sympa thy  about  " the  colonial  aspects o f  this 
issue," the Pres iden t  c o m p a r e d  British rule in I re land and  India:  

And I can claim the company of most historians in saying 
that the colonialism to which my immediate ancestors were 
subject was more sterile, oppressive and even cruel than 
that of India. The legacy of Clive was on the whole more 
tolerable than that of Cromwell. 59 

Expressing regret that  Ne h r u  failed to alert h im  to a possible 
Goa  action,  K e n n e d y  wrote: 

My major concern was and continues to be the effect of the 
action on our joint tasks, especially in terms of  its impact on 
American opinion. Unfortunately the hard, obvious fact for 
our people was the resort to forcemand by India. This was a 
shock to the majority who have admired your country's 
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ardent advocacy of  peaceful methods, and a reinforcement 
to those who did not enjoy what they called "irresponsible 
lectures" . . . . It is not an accident that the men who are 
taking most advantage of the Goa matter here are the same 
men who are already attacking our aid programs and our 
support for the UN. 6° 

In private,  Kennedy  told India 's  Ambassador  he was an- 
noyed  less by India ' s  act ion than  by Nehru ' s  not  having said 
anything about  Goa  when  he was in the  U n i t e d  States. Kennedy,  
in fact, f ound  the  event  somewhat  amusing.  B.K Nehru  recalled 

t h e  Pres ident ' s  saying: 

My only point is why didn't you do it before, 15 years 
before? But Mr. Ambassador, you spent the last 1 5 years 
preaching morality to us, and then you go ahead and act the 
way any normal country would behave and now that you 
have done what you should have done long ago, people are 
saying, the preacher has been caught coming out of the 
brothel. And they are clapping. And Mr. Ambassador, I 
want to tell you, I am clapping too. 61 

The  Pres ident  m a y  not  have been very concerned,  but  for a 
couple o f  m o n t h s  Goa  st irred up  US public  op in ion  against 
India .  The  episode left scars, mar r ing  Nehru ' s  s tanding as the 
spokesman  for peaceful se t t lement  o f  disputes  and  weakening 
the  pos i t ion  o f  those in Washing ton  who wanted  to favor India  
over  Pakistan.  62 Because o f  the  ruckus,  the visit  to the  subconti-  
nen t  by the  Pres ident ' s  wife, Jackie Kennedy,  was pos tponed  
unt i l  March  to allow tempers  to subside. Her  trip, when  it took  
place, was a great success; the  harsh words  over  Goa  faded f rom 
memory .  

An  ini t iat ive by Ke n n e d y  to sidestep a Kashmi r  debate  in 
the  U n i t e d  Nat ions  had  a less posi t ive ou tcome.  In an effort to 
avoid  having the issue surface again in New York, Kennedy  on 
20 January  1962 p roposed  that  fo rmer  Wor ld  Bank Pres ident  
Eugene Black visit  South  Asia to see what  he could do toward  
p romot ing  a set t lement .  63 After  his success in solving the  Indus  
Waters  d i s p u t e m a n d  his good  contacts  with both  Nehru  and  
A y u b m B l a c k  seemed  a logical choice. Once more,  the Pakis- 
tanis p rompt ly  agreed. India  said,  " No . "  



K E N N E D  Y 199 

Courtesy of the John F. Kennedy Library 

March 1962, Mrs. John E Kennedy accompanied by Prime Minister Nehru 
during her visit to India. 
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In fact, according to B. K. Nehru, the Prime Minister ini- 
tially adopted a more positive attitude, instructing him to ex- 
plore the Black proposal with the State Department. Before the 
envoy could do so, he received new instructions from New Delhi 
that flatly turned down the US proposal. Puzzled, Ambassador 
Nehru later learned that Krishna Menon, after he found out 
about the original decision, talked the Prime Minister into can- 
celing the instructions to Washington. 64 More generally, B. K. 
Nehru described as "unbelievable" Krishna Menon's role as a 
spoiler. "Whenever there was a possibility of putting a spoke in 
the wheel of either Indo-American or Indo-Pakistani relations, 
Krishna Menon did it, he came along and did something that 
would spoil the relationship," Nehru declared. 65 

There were no lack of spoilers in Washington as well. 
Throughout the Kennedy years, many in Congress and else- 
where were unhappy about expanded economic assistance for 
India. Some just disliked foreign aid. Others remained dis- 
enchanted with India's foreign policy and the administration's 
tendency to favor India over Pakistan. Reflecting this attitude, 
Senator Stuart Symington, a respected Missouri Democrat and 
former Secretary of the Air Force, tried to slash aid to India by 
25 percent in May 1962. In a hard-hitting memorandum to 
Kennedy, Symington zeroed in on India's foreign policy: 

The policies of no other non-Communist nation have been 
more critical of, and therefore more embarrassing to, the 
United States than the policies consistently espoused by 
India. We cannot expect recipients of aid to always support 
us in international discussions and disputes, But especially 
because it is giving us increasing difficulties with our true 
friends, why should we continue to give billions to India 
despite the steady opposition and criticism, often bordering 
on contempt, which we have received from the principal 
leaders of that country?66 

Kennedy was able to beat back Symington's challenge in the 
Senate, but only after extensive lobbying. Once more, India did 
not make the task easier for its friends in Washington. Just as 
Symington was mounting his challenge to aid levels, Defense 
Minister Krishna Menon gained Nehru's acceptance in princi- 
ple for the procurement of MiG-2 1 fighter aircraft from the 
Soviet Union. This marked a major breakthrough by the Soviets 
who would displace the British as the principal supplier of 
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fighter aircraft to the Indian Air Force. Upset  by the prospect of  
the MiGs, Washington,  in collaboration with the British, coun- 
tered with a variety of  proposals designed to s.way New Delhi  
against the Soviet deal. Since Moscow was offering extremely 
generous terms, the Western countries could not match  the 
Soviet offer. 67 Galbrai th commented:  

The timing of the combination could hardly have been 
worse. The Senators thought the MiG purchase was a reac- 
tion to the cut. The Indians thought the cut was punishment 
for the MiG deal. Since the latter leaked out, no one could 
say which came first. 6s 

The U N  Kashmir  debate that  Kennedy  tr ied to avoid took 
place in June 1962. When  the Uni ted  States supported the call 
for implement ing earlier U N  resolutions by holding a plebiscite, 
the Soviet Un ion  vetoed the resolution. 69 The episode predict- 
ably added to frictions between Washington and New Delhi, 
especially as Nehru  criticized the US stance in parl iament ,  while 
also complaining about pressures on India  not to buy MiGs. TM 

Yet, in his private correspondence with Chief  Ministers, Nehru  
dampened  his crit icism of  the Uni t ed  States and Uni t ed  King- 
dom,  "They  have helped us greatly in the past and we should be 
thankful  for it," he wrote his colleagues on 10 July 1962, "I  
would earnestly hope that we . . . cont inue to have friendly 
feelings with these great countries even though they might not  
fall in with our wishes occasionally. ''7~ 

The Sino-Indian Border Conflict 
In his 10 July letter, Nehru  also spoke about the border  

troubles with China: 

We have gradually been building up our position and in- 
creasing our posts in Ladakh, etc . . . .  The result is that 
we are in a somewhat more advantageous position than we 
were a year or two ago . . . .  The Chinese Govern- 
ment . . . has lately become more aggressive in tone in its 
statements made to us. I do not know what this signifies, 
and we have to be wide awake and careful. 72 

The previous year, in November  1961, India  had adopted a 
"forward po l i cy"msend ing  patrols and establishing Indian 
posts beh ind  Chinese positions in the disputed Aksai Chin 
plateau in nor thern  Ladakh. Nehru ' s  strategy was to build up 
India 's  strength in the disputed border  region in order  to pave 
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the way for an eventual diplomatic settlement after the two sides 
were on more equal military terms. 73 Although India's tactic 
increased the chance for border clashes, neither Washington nor 
New Delhi anticipated serious combat between the world's two 
most populous nations. Practically no one expected the Chinese 
would inflict so staggering a defeat on the Indian military. 
According to Galbraith, the US Embassy had no idea how 
disorganized the Indians were. "We knew the terrain was diffi- 
cult," he said, "but assumed the Indians knew what they were 
doing. Obviously they didn't. ''74 NSC staffer Komer com- 
mented, "We were flabbergasted when the Chinese wiped the 
floor with the Indians. ''75 

When the Chinese Communists initially refrained from a 
military response to the "forward policy," the Indians incor- 
rectly concluded that this meant China would not seek to turn 
the frontier stand-off into a test of arms in the Himalayas. TM 

Despite the military advantage China possessed, Nehru doubted 
China would risk serious fighting in the Himalayas. He believed 
that such a conflict would not remain localized, but would 
become a broader struggle involving other powers. 77 

After July 1962, the Chinese began to stiffen their stance, 
threatening a forward policy of their own in the Northeast 
Frontier Agency, if India continued to refuse to back off in the 
Aksai Chin. According to Allen Whiting, then the State Depart- 
ment's senior China intelligence officer, the Chinese acted to 
"assure victory in combat should deterrence and diplomacy fail 
in halting the forward policy and bringing Nehru to the confer- 
ence table.'78 In late summer, near the j unction of India, the tiny 
mountain kingdom of Sikkim, and Tibetman area where the 
location of the MacMahon Line was itself in disputemChinese 
troops for the first time moved south of the Indian version of the 
frontier to occupy Thagla ridge, a key terrain feature. 

In September, the Indians countered by sending a brigade 
onto the disputed ridge. The Chinese, in turn, riposted by de- 
ploying superior forces around the Indian position. Nehru inter- 
preted the Chinese move as a direct challenge: his response was 
to order the military to drive the Chinese offthe disputed ridge. 
New Delhi ignored a series of Chinese warnings that trouble was 
brewing if India failed to pull back. Although unclear about 
Chinese intentions, Nehru alerted Chief Ministers a few days 
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before the outbreak of fighting, "This situation in the North East 
Frontier is definitely a dangerous one, and it may lead to major 
conflicts. ''79 

In the disputed sector, the Chinese substantially outnum- 
bered the Indian forces, could easily resupply their troops from 
roads just a few miles away in Tibet, and were well equipped and 
acclimatized for the 15,000 foot high altitude. The Indian forces 
were supported by a single narrow and steep mountain road that 
climbed through the thickly forested Assam Himalayas. They 
relied mainly on inefficient air drops for resupply. The Indians 
had little time to become accustomed to the heights, and were 
poorly equipped in terms of weapons or clothing for winter 
combat in the mountains. 

Intimidated by Defense Minister Krishna Menon and his 
protrgr, Lt. General B. M. Kaul, Indian commanders in the 
eastern sector failed to tell New Delhi the truth about their 
untenable position in the disputed Thagla ridge sector, s° There 
was, however, enough dissonance in response to the order to 
drive the Chinese out that General Kaul flew east for a personal 
reconnaissance. When he saw the terrain and the respective 
military dispositions, Kaul realized the impossibility of ousting 
the Chinese. As if to underscore the problems of acclimatization 
at 15,000 feet, Kaul was himself stricken with altitude sickness. 

An ill Kaul flew back to New Delhi for a meeting the night of 
11 October with Nehru, Menon, and the top military leadership. 
The upshot was confusion: the Indian attack was called off, but 
the brigade, although badly exposed, was left in place. 8, To make 
matters worse, when Nehru enplaned for Ceylon the next day, he 
made some offhand remarks to newsmen which the press inter- 
preted as a call to battle. "Our instructions," Nehru was quoted 
as saying, "are to free our territory. I cannot fix the date, that is 
entirely for the Army. ''82 

It was the Chinese, not the Indians, who fixed the date, 
striking with overwhelmingly superior forces on 20 October 
against the Indian brigade on Thagla ridge sector and launching 
attacks against Indian posts, established under the forward pol- 
icy, in Ladakh. The Indian positions quickly collapsed. In 
Ladakh, the small isolated posts fought hard, often to the last 
man, but were wiped out. On Thagla ridge, despite desperate 
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defense by some elements, poor communications and the diffi- 
culty of the terrain rendered the brigade helpless. The force 
disintegrated, after suffering heavy casualties. Many prisoners 
were taken, including the brigade commander, J. S. Dalvi. 83 

The sudden defeats in Ladakh and NEFA had a shattering 
effect on New Delhi. Nehru's political position was weakened 
and, for the time being, his policy of nonalignment undermined. 
Because of who he was, Nehru was able to ride out a storm that 
would have sunk most other political leaders. Admitting errors, 
the Prime Minister in oft-quoted remarks told the nation, "We 
were getting out of touch with reality in the modern world and 
we were living in an artificial atmosphere of our own creation. ''84 
In private, he accepted responsibility, writing Krishna Menon 
on 28 October, "It is not much good shifting about the blame. 
The fact remains we have been found lacking and there is an 
impression that we have approached these things in a somewhat 
amateurish way. ''85 

Giving ground to his critics--and to the enormous satisfac- 
tion of WashingtonmNehru removed Menon, who had become 
the principal scapegoat and target for criticism, from the De- 
fense Ministry. He initially named his friend to a newly created 
post of Minister of Defense Production, but on 7 November 
dropped Menon entirely from the Cabinet when it became clear 
Nehru's own position was under threat unless he let Menon go. 86 

India's nonalignment seemed to be a thing of the past. In the 
face of India's glaring military weakness, Nehru reversed policy 
180 degrees to seek military assistance from the United States, 
Great Britain, and other Western countries. President Kennedy 
promptly made clear American willingness to aid India: "I want 
to give you support as well as sympathy," he wrote Nehru on 28 
October. Nehru responded the next day, "I am deeply grateful to 
you for what you have written and for the sympathy and the 
sympathy of the great nation whose head you are at a moment of 
difficulty and Crisis for us. ''87 The same day, Nehru made a 
formal request to Galbraith for military assistance, asking al- 
most plaintively that the United States not insist on a military 
alliance as a quid pro quo. 88 

For the United States, the border conflict, which coincided 
with and initially was overshadowed by the Cuba missile crisis, 
seemed to provide an unexpected opportunity to achieve the 
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basic goal of the Kennedy administration in South Asiammov - 
ing to better and closer relations with India without running 
afoul of Pakistan. Given a conflict of uncertain proportions, the 
administration stood ready to do what it could to help Indian 
defenses against Chinese incursions. By coming promptly to 
India's aid, the US government wanted to demonstrate to 
friends in Asia that Washington was ready and able to assist 
against Chinese Communist aggression. 89 

If Nehru was gratified by the positive response from the 
West, the Soviet Union's response proved disappointing. Once 
fighting broke out, Moscow shifted from neutrality toward the 
Chinese position. Presumably concerned about Beijing's atti- 
tude toward the Cuba missile crisis, the Russians advised New 
Delhi to accept Chinese proposals for  further talks on the bor- 
der. Moscow also informed the Indians MiG-21 deliveries were 
off--for the time being, at least. Most nonaligned countries were 
similarly standoffish in their reactions. Except for Nasser of 
Egypt and Tito of Yugoslavia, none proved very forthcoming in 
backing New Delhi against Beijing. 9° 

Military aid to India immediately provoked grave difficul- 
ties in US relations with Pakistan although Washington hoped 
that India's neighbor would suspend its hostility as India battled 
against the Chinese incursion. Defense against the Communist 
threat was, after all, the supposed purpose for which the United 
States gave arms aid to Pakistan in 1954. Mindful of Pakistani 
sensitivities, Kennedy wrote Ayub Khan on 28 October, advis- 
ing that any military aid would be for India's "immediate 
needs" and "for use against Chinese only." The President urged 
Ayub to take a broad, not parochial, view of the situation. 91 

Ayub spurned the President, objecting strongly to US arms 
shipments for India. He downplayed the seriousness of the 
conflict, which he described as a limited border affair rather 
than a broader Chinese military challenge. Ayub also com- 
plained that Washington had reneged on a promise to consult 
before providing arms to India. When US Ambassador Walter 
McConaughy tried to deliver a further presidential letter to 
Ayub before Washington took a final decision on military aid, 
the Pakistani leader chose not to be available, going off on a 
hunting trip. Unwilling to wait for Ayub's return, Kennedy 
proceeded with a positive response to the Indian arms request. 92 
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Washington was careful, however, to send equipment--mostly 
light arms, ammunition, and communications equipment-- that  
would be primarily useful in mountain warfare rather than 
against the Pakistanis. 93 

As the foreign response to the frontier crisis became clearer, 
the popularity of the United States and the West soared in India, 
that of the Soviet Union and nonaligned countries slumped. 
Galbraith related as typical a visit by an elderly Indian Congress 
Party leader who said, "They were busy reconsidering the non- 
alignment policy." The envoy's standard reply, taking a leaf 
from Eisenhower, was that "we might find alignment with India 
too expensive." More astonishing, but an indicator of how far 
things had gone, the editor of the long-time pro-Communist and 
fiery anti-American weekly Blitz advised it would be switching 
to a pro-American pol icy .  94 

For several weeks, there was a lull on the fighting front. The 
Chinese held their gains without trying to advance further. India 
regrouped its forces in the east with an eye to defensive opera- 
tions during the winter snows. Emergency American and British 
military aid began to arrive by air, boosting Indian morale and 
raising Western popularity even higher although not having any 
immediate impact on Indian defensive capabilities. 

On 14 November, the Indians launched an attack on the 
eastern end of the MacMahon Line near a place called Walong. 
The Chinese promptly counterattacked, routing the Indian 
forces, and also launched a full-scale attack against regrouped 
Indian troops at the western end of the MacMahon Line. Al- 
though the Indians had used the lull to reinforce their positions 
in this sector to division strength, inept military leadership 
triggered a retreat that soon became a rout. Some Indian units 
fought well, but the major force, the 4th Division, crumbled 
under the Chinese assault. Outflanked and bypassed, the divi- 
sion ceased to exist as an effective military unit. Its men fled in 
disorder through the forests and jungles of the Assam 
Himalayas. In a matter of three days, as Indian defenses col- 
lapsed, Chinese troops swept south from the mountains to the 
edge of the plains, gaining virtual control of the entire 40,000 
square miles claimed as Chinese territory. In Ladakh, where 
Indian troops were better acclimatized and New Delhi let the 
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field commanders alone, the Indians performed credibly. Even 
though forced back, they were not routed. 95 

In New Delhi, a state of panic reigned on 19 November 
1962. The government feared the Chinese would strike against 
Calcutta. The loss of the province of Assam and perhaps all of 
eastern India was dreaded. In this mood of crisis, the Prime 
Minister sent off two startling letters to President Kennedy, 
asking that the United States intervene militarily to provide air 
support for the struggle against the Chinese. 96 Nehru asked for a 
dozen squadrons of US fighter aircraft and air defense radar and 
related communications equipment to protect India's major 
cities, thus freeing the Indian Air Force to attack Chinese forces. 
He also sought two squadrons of B-47 bombers to strike posi- 
tions behind the front, asking that US pilots fly the B-47s until 
Indians could be trained to replace them. 97 

The two letters, presumably drafted by Foreign Secretary 
M. J. Desai, were discussed with but not shown to key cabinet 
members. They were sent with unusual secrecy, suggesting 
Nehru was aware that his action would effectively undermine 
his cherished policy of nonalignment. In a departure from stan- 
dard procedure, the Ministry of External Affairs did not receive 
copies of the letters which apparently no senior official, other 
than Nehru and Desai, actually saw before their d i s p a t c h .  98 
When Ambassador B. K. Nehru received the messages in Wash- 
ington, he was embarrassed at "being the unfortunate that had to 
deliver" letters that ran so totally against the grain of Indian 
policy. He showed them to no one in the Indian Embassy, 
keeping the messages in his personal desk. The Ambassador 
believed Nehru was psychologically finished off by the m i d -  
November military disaster and "not  himself" when he signed 
the two l e t t e r s .  99 

As Kennedy considered a response, the US Navy dis- 
patched an aircraft carrier task force into the Bay of Bengal, a 
move Galbraith recommended to steady Indian nerves.l°° Ironi- 
cally, the carrier was the USS Enterprise, the same warship that 
became the symbol of US hostility toward India when Nixon 
sent the carrier toward the Bay of Bengal during the 1971 
Bangladesh crisis. Before Kennedy reached a decision, the Chi- 
nese announced a unilateral cease-fire effective 22 November 
and a pullback of their forces 20 kilometers north of their 
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version of the MacMahon Line in the east and their border claim 
in Ladakh. The Chinese relinquished control over practically all 
the territory their Army gained in the east, but maintained their 
grip over the area of strategic importance to them, the Aksai 
Chin portion of Ladakh. 

In what proved a political master stroke, the Chinese made 
clear by their actions that their aims in the border conflict were 
limited. Rather than occupying additional territory, the Chinese 
underlined their ability to impose by force of arms the compro- 
mise border settlement they proposed earlier: their acceptance 
of Indian claims in the east in return for Indian acceptance of 
Chinese control over the Aksai Chin. Because of the crushing 
Indian military defeat, the Chinese achieved much more than 
they probably expected in launching the border offensive. 

The first casualty was Jawaharlal Nehru himself. The In- 
dian leader never recovered from the staggering psychological 
blow. Until mid-October 1962, Nehru, although aging, was still 
a towering international political figure, the revered founding- 
father of the world's largest democracy, the spokesman for 
decolonization and human rights and the founder-leader of the 
nonaligned movement. A month later, Nehru was a beaten old 
man, his country seemingly dependent on the military support 
of the United States, his policy of nonalignment in shreds. 
Ambassador Galbraith wrote President Kennedy, "One of the 
worst problems here is that the Chinese attack strikes the coun- 
try with a very tired leader whose principles and ideas also have 
been badly shattered by the event. ''~0~ 

A second casualty was India's international reputation. Her 
proud army humbled in the Himalayas, India was no longer a 
plausible rival to China for leadership in Asia. Indian national 
pride suffered a deep emotional wound from the military disas- 
ter in the Himalayas. It took many years until India could 
recover its national pride from the humiliating defeat in the 
border war. India would, henceforth, play a diminished role on 
the world stage. 

US Arms for India and Kashmir Talks 
The unilateral cease-fire left Washington--and New 

Delhimunclear whether the Chinese move marked the end of 
the conflict or was simply a tactical pause. On 19 November, 
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when the situation looked its bleakest, Kennedy met with Secre- 
tary of State Rusk, Secretary of Defense McNamara, CIA Direc- 
tor McCone, and key aides Averell Harriman, Phillips Talbot, 
and Robert Komer. At the urging of McNamara, Kennedy ap- 
proved sending a mission to India "to find out what the real 
situation was." The President and his advisors also wanted more 
military support from the British Commonwealth, Kennedy 
deciding to call in the British Ambassador to press this point. 
Rusk thought the British should take the lead in the military 
mission, but the President decided to send a US team while 
urging the British to energize the Commonwealth.~°2 

Within the week, the mission headed by Averell Harriman 
was offto South Asia. Because of the cease-fire, the task became 
as much political as military. The joint State-Defense Depart- 
ment group was charged with proposing US South Asia policy 
for the period ahead as well as assessing India's military assis- 
tance requirements against the Chinese. The British, by then 
more actively engaged; sent a parallel political-military team led 
by Commonwealth Secretary Duncan Sandys.~°3 

Flying directly from Washington, with only a one-hour 
refueling stop in Turkey, the team met with Prime Minister 
Nehru almost immediately after arriving in New Delhi on 25 
November. As if embarrassed to find himself beholden to the 
United States, Nehru "took a general attitude of extreme relaxa- 
tion . . . quite at variance with the two letters he had sent to 
President Kennedy." WhenHarriman "with exquisite delicacy" 
hinted at the need for a Kashmir settlement and for taking joint 
defense measures, Nehru listened and made no comment.I°4 An 
account of the meeting by Roger Hilsman made clear Nehru's 
uneasiness: 

Nehru looked tired and strained. It must have been difficult 
to greet Americans over the ruins of his long-pursued policy 
of neutralism. And the very fact that we were determined 
there would be from us no hint or gesture of 'I told you so' 
probably made it even more difficult . . . .  Our welcome 
was not warm; it was pro forma, it was withdrawn, it was 
very limited. 105 

After shuttling between India and Pakistan, Harriman and 
his British counterpart Duncan Sandys achieved their immedi- 
ate goal: getting Nehru and Ayub to agree for discussions on 
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Kashmir. After having given his blessing, Nehru then nearly 
scuttled the talks by stating in the Indian parliament, on 30 
November, that "to upset the present arrangements in Kashmir 
would be very bad for the people there." Harriman was furious, 
telling the press Nehrn had "made it quite clear" he was ready 
for talks "without preconditions." Sandys, who flew back to 
New Delhi, got Nehru to issue a "clarification," denying he was 
imposing any restrictions on the talks. ''to6 

The report Harriman submitted after his mission pointed 
up the dilemma the United States faced. "The U.S. has long 
sought to build a close relationship with India . . . The present 
situation provides a unique opportunity to advance this aim."107 
At the same time, there was the risk of"serious adverse repercus- 
sions" of proceeding with a major arms program since this 
"could lead not only to a drastic weakening of Pakistan's ties 
with the West, but possibly also to its closer association with 
China. ''~08 Harriman recognized that Pakistan's price for form- 
ing a joint front with India against the Communists was a 
Kashmir settlement "on acceptable terms." The rub, he admit- 
ted, was that terms acceptable for Pakistan were unacceptable 
for India. 109 

On the eve of the start of the Kashmir talks, the Pakistanis 
managed to upset the apple cart even more than Nehru had 
during Harriman's visit. Ayub's government chose this moment 
to announce agreement in principle with Communist China on a 
border delimitation. The announcement made the Indians livid. 
Nehru regarded Ayub's action as a contemptuous rejection of his 
request that the Pakistanis not cooperate with China while India 
was in difficulty. 1~0 Washington was dismayed that Pakistan 
thumbed its nose at US advice by continuing to improve rela- 
tions with China. 

The Kashmir discussions dragged on through five dreary 
rounds of ministerial-level talks before ending in May 1963. 
They achieved almost nothing. Toward the end, the United 
States set forth some ideas in an effort to stir some life into the 
talks. After Prime Minister Nehru rejected the US proposals, 
Ambassador Galbraith commented, "I discovered we had, in- 
deed, brought about the first agreement in some years between 
India and Pakistan. Both have joined in denouncing our propos- 
als. ''~11 When Secretary of State Dean Rusk visited New Delhi 
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on 5 May, he suggested the idea of naming a Kashmir negotiator. 
On this occasion, Nehru's response to the suggestion was not 
negative, initiating a lengthy but ultimately unsuccessful effort 
to frame the terms of reference in a manner acceptable to both 
the Indians and Pakistanis.~2 

To compound the increasing difficulties the United States 
was having with Pakistan, the mood in India began to sour. Both 
in public and private, the Indians developed the view that the 
United States was taking advantage of their weakened position 
to force India to give away parts of Kashmir. 113 Although at the 
time Galbraith supported the Kashmir effort, with hindsight he 
regarded it as a blunder. The effect of leaning on Nehru was to 
advertise that he had become an American playing card. The 
Prime Minister had to compensate for his lack of strength by 
refusing to give on Kashmir. 114 

Disagreeing, Phillips Talbot felt that, despite failure, the 
effort was worthwhile. The border war had sufficiently shaken 
the Himalayan scene that there was at least a possibility of 
solving a dispute that otherwise looked as though it could con- 
tinue indefinitely to cause grave tensions in South Asia, quite 
apart from immensely complicating US foreign policy in the 
region.X ~ 5 NSC staffer Robert Komer said he was skeptical about 
the chances for success but was convinced by Talbot to go along 
with the Kashmir effort.~16 

Neither India nor Pakistan, in fact, showed any real enthu- 
siasm about the Kashmir talks, with pressure from Washington 
and London the only reason for their agreeing to participate. 
After departing from South Asia, Dean Rusk penned a gloomy 
assessment about the prospects for any early settlement.l~TTed 
Sorenson quoted President Kennedy as sayingmall too accu- 
r a t e l y - t h a t  India and Pakistan regarded the Kashmir dispute 
as "more important than the struggle against the Commu- 
nists. ''~ls Reconciliation between the two foes was not in the 
cards. 

In National Security Action Memorandum No. 209, ap- 
proved on 10 December 1962, Kennedy agreed to a three-phase 
military aid package but specified no price tag. First came aid to 
reequip battered Indian forces and to make up deficiencies in 
Indian mountain defense capabilities. Second was help for the 
Indians to increase their own arms production capabilities. 
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Third was a review of possible US-Commonwealth help for 
Indian air defense. ~19 On 20 December, President Kennedy and 
Prime Minister MacMillan, meeting at Bermuda, agreed on a 
$120 million short-term package split 50-50 between the United 
States and the Commonwealth. As the Indians were hoping for a 
far larger arms aid program, the Kennedy-MacMillan package 
was disappointing. Galbraith, sharing Indian hopes, described 
the talks at Bermuda as "a cheese-paring operation throughout" 
and asserted that a "great opportunity to bring India into much 
closer working association with the West" had been missed.~20 

In India, Prime Minister Nehru, although politically weak- 
ened, managed to maintain the basic thrust of Indian foreign 
policy despite pressure from conservatives within the Congress 
Party for a shift toward the West. Even though India was clearly 
no longer nonaligned when it came to China, the Prime Minister 
succeeded in blocking further change. He was willing to accept 
military aid from the West--with his teeth clenched, rather like 
a child swallowing castor oi l --but  he resisted a closer policy 
embrace. In January 1963, he wrote Sudhir Ghosh, who was 
urging a Western defense guarantee, that help from the United 
States, Britain, and others was all right, but going beyond that 
"will be purchased at the expense of giving up our basic policy of 
non-alignment. That is not merely some kind of moral issue but 
something which makes our people feel they have to be self- 
reliant and it also helps greatly in the balance of the world and 
our search for peace.'" ~ 2 

Several factors aided Nehru's efforts. First, the fact that the 
Chinese maintained the cease-fire, showing no serious signs of 
resuming military action, reduced the pressure on Nehru for a 
more fundamental shift in Indian policy. Second, once the Cuba 
missile crisis and the Himalayan war ended, Moscow shifted 
policy gears. The Soviets resumed a more neutral position on the 
border dispute with China, agreed to proceed with the shipment 
of MiG-21s to India, and showed "understanding" about In- 
dian requests for arms from the West. Pro-Soviet leftists in 
India, including Blitz, whose switching of sides proved of short 
duration, resumed ritual lambasting of the United States, this 
time claiming Washington was trying to force Kashmir conces- 
sions from a weakened India. Finally, the reluctance of the 



KENNED Y 213 

United States to firm up a longer-term arms assistance arrange- 
ment played into Nehru's hands, undercutting arguments for a 
broader reorientation of Indian policy since it became unclear 
what a shift toward the United States would yield in security 
terms. Galbraith and Komer warned Kennedy, "with further 
foot-dragging, we will have no rpt no progress on Kashmir and 
no rpt no Indians either. ''L22 

The US administration argued internally about the size of 
the India military aid program for the remainder of the Kennedy 
presidency. In April 1963, the President met to discuss the 
question with his top advisers and with Chester Bowles, whom 
he asked to replace Galbraith. Bowles wanted $500 million 
spread over five years. Secretaries McNamara and Rusk argued 
for a smaller program, worried about the problems the United 
States would have with Pakistan. Bowles, supported by Komer, 
countered, " I f  we don't do this right, they (India) will go to 
Russia." Rusk, Talbot, and McNamara disagreed. The Presi- 
dent remained silent throughout the meeting, not tipping his 
hand and not making a decision. He later asked Bowles to "see 
what kind of a proposition you can get out" in India and to 
"come back in six months, in November, and we'll see where we 
stand." ~ 23 

The following month, in May 1963, T. T. Krishnamachari, 
the new Indian Minister for Defense Production, came to Wash- 
ington to press the Indian case for a program with a price tag of 
$1.3 bil l ion--over twice what even Bowles was proposing and 
five times as large as the Pentagon wanted. Meeting with top US 
government figures, including President Kennedy, the Indian 
cabinet minister received a positive response on the air defense 
concept, but no specific commitment on military aid funding 
levels. The Pentagon, in particular, leaned strongly toward Paki- 
stan with whom the US military had developed many ties in the 
years since the arms relationship began in 1954. The future of 
the intelligence facilities in Peshawar was also an important 
factor weighing on the minds of senior American officials. 124 
Since the Chinese showed no signs of resuming the conflict, 
Kennedy felt no great pressure to force a decision in the face of 
disagreements within the government. He let the arms issue 
simmer. 
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John Kenneth Galbraith departed India in June 1963, end- 
ing two busy years as Ambassador. His timing was excellent. 
Indians since have remembered him fondly for his role in getting 
emergency aid so rapidly during the border crisis in October- 
November 1962, and for his outspoken support for increased 
economic aid, including the public sector steel mill at Bokaro. 
Chester Bowles, whose first tour a decade earlier was extraordi- 
narily successful, was initially reluctant to return to India when 
Kennedy offered him the chance. Frustrated in Washington 
where, after losing his post as No. 2 in the State Department, he 
was cut out of the policy loop, Bowles eventually decided to 
accept. He felt the Sino-Soviet split and Sino-Indian War had 
"created an unparalleled opportunity for a change in our Asian 
policies" and that he could aid this process from New Delhi. ~z5 
Bowles unrealistically envisaged a de facto American-Japanese- 
Indian alliance, a vision that went far beyond anything Washing- 
ton, New Delhi, or Tokyo was willing to consider. In any event, 
Bowles' influence over policy was limited. Bowles made Presi- 
dent Kennedy uncomfortable and did not get along with Dean 
Rusk. Senior levels in the administration no longer took Bowles 
seriously and ignored his prolix messages. 126 

Not long after arriving in New Delhi, Bowles had to mop up 
two problems left over by Galbrai th--an agreement to install a 
Voice of America transmitter and the Bokaro steel mill project. 
In early 1963, eager to bolster their radio broadcasting capability 
against the Chinese, the Indians agreed to locate a Voice of 
America transmitter in eastern India. The US government 
would be able to use the facility for daily VOA broadcasts at 
certain hours, but otherwise the Indians would control the trans- 
mitter. In effect, the agreement would have allowed the United 
States to use Indian territory for its propaganda broadcasts--an 
arrangement quite alien to the spirit of nonalignment. When 
opposition to the accord developed in Indian media and politi- 
cal circles, Nehru decided to cancel the agreement on grounds 
that it had not been properly staffed within the Indian govern- 
ment. Washington was annoyed by the Indian flip-flop, but 
could do little except fume. 127 

In the case of the Bokaro steel mill project, it was Washing- 
ton that had to back off. Despite strong support by President 
Kennedy for providing US financial aid for the public sector 
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steel mill, congressional opposition to the idea refused to go 
away. The administration concluded by the summer of 1963 
that it lacked the votes to gain approval for Bokaro without a 
major fight. When the situation became clear, the Indians 
helped Kennedy out by deciding to withdraw their request. 
Appreciative of US help against China and continuing large- 
scale economic aid, the Indians did not want to put Kennedy in a 
corner over Bokaro.128 The Soviets promptly stepped in to build 
the mill. 

A Meeting That Never Took Place 
In November 1963, Ambassador Bowles returned to Wash- 

ington. In line with Kennedy's instructions, he had worked with 
the new Indian Defense Minister Y. B. Chavan t29 and Defense 
Production Minister Krishnamachari to refine the Indian pro- 
posals, reducing them to a substantially more modest package of 
$375 million spread over five years, t30 According to Bowles, a 
pleased Kennedy called a meeting for 26 November, the day 
before Bowles was to return to India, and told the envoy he was 
ready to approve the arms program? 3t The meeting never took 
place. On 22 November 1963, an assassin's bullet ended the 
Kennedy presidency. 

It is not possible to know what might have happened had 
Kennedy presided over the 26 November session. Bowles 
claimed that he had the President's accord for a final go-ahead. 
Others close to the problemmTalbot, Komer, and Gran tm 
agreed that Kennedy would probably have approved a five-year 
arms aid package. ~32 Since the assassination cut short the Ken- 
nedy presidency, it is difficult to evaluate definitively his hand- 
ling of South Asia. In Kennedy's nearly three years in the White 
House, the United States placed considerable emphasis on rela- 
tions with India, making a massive commitment of economic 
assistance. After the 1962 border conflict broke out, Kennedy 
rapidly responded with US military aid. Even a battered Nehru 
was ready to accept what one first-hand observer described as 
"military reliance if not military alliance." 133 

When the war ended in only a matter of weeks, the Kennedy 
administration failed to nail down a closer relationship because 
of concerns about losing Pakistan. Washington, in effect, condi- 
tioned longer-term military aid to India on progress toward 
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settling the Kashmir  dispute. Trying to solve Kashmir - -s t i l l  an 
open wound between India and Pakistan in the 1990smwas 
doubtless a worthy goal, but once the administrat ion realized no 
agreement was possible, Kennedy  can be faulted for not  moving 
ahead more  expeditiously to but ton up an arms agreement  with 
India. Although Pakistan flouted US warnings not to expand its 
relations with Communis t  China, Kennedy  remained  reluctant 
to press the Pakistanis too hard. Washington cont inued to hope 
that it could somehow achieve closer ties with India without  
shattering the alliance links with Pakistan. In the end, however, 
as Galbraith and Komer  warned, the Uni ted  States was left with 
"with no progress on Kashmir  and no Indians either. ''134 
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Chapter VI 

Johnson: US Pullback from 
South Asia 

L ndon Johnson inherited a fluid situation in terms of 
US relations with South Asia. Military aid for India and the 
deteriorating relations with Pakistan needed White House 
attention, even if these questions did not require action 
immediately after Johnson assumed the presidency. Sure-footed 
on domestic matters, Johnson was far less knowledgeable about 
foreign policy than his predecessor. An earthy, hands-on leader, 
the new President deeply engaged himself in substance, but 
often concealed his motivesDa trait that would mark his 
dealings with South Asia, especially his handling of the 1965- 
1967 Indian food crisis. Kennedy's door was open to foreign 
envoys with B.K. Nehru a frequent caller. The new President 
had far less time for foreign diplomats. It was not until mid-1965 
that the Indian Ambassador was able to meet privately with 
Lyndon Johnson. 

Although Johnson broadly supported the bi-partisan policy 
of containment of Communism and assistance to the poorer 
nations of the world, he was skeptical about the favored position 
Kennedy gave to India in US South Asia policy. President Ayub 
Khan of Pakistan greatly impressed Johnson during his visit to 
Karachi in May 1961. On the same trip he was less taken with 
Jawaharlal Nehru. 2 After becoming President, Johnson moved 
somewhat closer to the Kennedy position. NSC staffer Robert 
Komer, who strongly supported putting the major emphasis on 

227 



228 ESTRANGED DEMOCRACIES 

India not Pakistan, said the most persuasive argument with 
Johnson related to the relative population of the two countries. 
The President agreed that it made more sense for the United 
States to line up with India, a country with 400 million people, 
rather than to choose its enemy Pakistan, with only 100 million 
population. 3 The policy argument Komer advanced was vintage 
Cold War: Were India to founder or go Communist, US interests 
in Asia would suffer a major loss. "India, as the largest and 
potentially most powerful non-Communist Asian nation," 
Komer told the President, "is in fact the major prize for which 
we, the Soviets, and Chicoms are competing in Asia. TM 

Johnson's first meeting as President with a senior Indian 
came in April 1964, when he received Prime Minister Nehru's 
daughter, Indira Gandhi, who was traveling in the United 
States. She gave the President a letter from her ailing father, in 
which Nehru praised Johnson's efforts for a nuclear accord with 
the Russians, assured the President India would persist in seek- 
ing better understanding with Pakistan, and expressed apprecia- 
tion for US economic and military assistance. 5 In their 
discussion, Johnson took friendly exception to remarks by Mrs. 
Gandhi to the New York Times that the United States favored 
Pakistan on the Kashmir issue. With a smile, the President said, 
"The Indians should realize that the Pakistanis . . . were far 
more unhappy about our policy toward India than India seemed 
to about our policy toward Pakistan. ''6 During the meeting with 
Indira Gandhi, Johnson did not discuss military assistance--the 
most important item then on the Indo-American agenda. 

As the session ended, the President asked Mrs. Gandhi to 
convey his "affectionate regards" to her sick father. 7 Three 
months earlier, in January 1964, Nehru had suffered a debilitat- 
ing stroke from which he never fully recovered. When Assistant 
Secretary Talbot and Ambassador Bowles called on the Prime 
Minister in March, they were shocked. Nehru's condition was 
far worse than they expected. He hardly knew who they were and 
had difficulty in conversing coherently. Bowles and Talbot con- 
cluded correctly that Nehru would not remain long on the 
scene. 8 
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Military Aid to India: Half  a Loaf 
The day after Johnson took office, NSC staffer Robert 

Komer, t r ied--and failed--to get the new President to consider 
the India arms aid proposal. "We've gotten up real momen- 
tum . . . unless we get the new President signed on now while 
he is still carrying out the Kennedy policy, we may lose a real 
opportunity," Komer urged his chief, McGeorge Bundy. The 
NSC chief, however, chose not to put the India issue to John- 
son. 9 Instead, the new President sent General Maxwell Taylor, 
Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, to India (and also Paki- 
stan) to review the situation. The policy advice received from 
Secretary of State Rusk was proven by later events off the mark: 

If we can move ahead, albeit somewhat jerkily in each 
country . . . .  these proposals for military assistance to In- 
dia and Pakistan will advance our strategic objective of 
resisting Communist pressure in the area without placing 
intolerable strains on our relations with either country.10 

Following his trip to South Asia, General Taylor recommended 
a five-year $500 million program for India, divided between 
grant aid and low interest credits. Taylor urged that the Indians 
draw up their own defense plan, setting their own priorities, 
rather than having Americans do this. 1~ After Secretary Rusk 
endorsed the proposal, President Johnson gave his blessing on 8 
February 1964.12 

In New Delhi, Defense Minister Y. B. Chavan worked 
closely with the newly established US military mission to shape 
a comprehensive five-year defense plan. The main US concerns 
were that India not hurt its economic development program by 
spending too much for defense and not seek equipment from the 
United States likely to create fresh trouble with Pakistan. Ameri- 
can defense specialists were therefore not responsive to Indian 
interest in obtaining three squadrons of supersonic F-104 air- 
craft.13 Although the United States had already given Pakistan 
F-104s, the Pentagon argued against India's procuring these 
aircraft on the grounds that supersonic fighters would be of 
limited utility against the Chinese and would eat up about one- 
third of the $500 million aid package. 14 

By May 1964, talks had advanced sufficiently that Chavan 
traveled to Washington to settle the final details with Secretary 
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of Defense Robert McNamara. Except for continuing disagree- 
ment about the F-104s, the two sides agreed upon a $500 
million five-year program that would help equip six Indian 
mountain divisions, better communications, transportation, 
and air defense capabilities and provide assistance to Indian 
defense industries. According to Komer, the Pentagon so 
strongly opposed including F-104s in the arms package that he 
did not think it necessary to put this issue to President 
Johnson. ~ 5 

After an initial round of meetings in Washington, the 
Indian Defense Minister was visiting military facilities in the 
western part of the country. He was due back on 28 May to meet 
President Johnson and to sign the arms aid agreement with 
Secretary McNamara. On 27 May, Jawaharlal Nehru died in his 
sleep. The US Air Force sped Chavan back to Washington where 
he immediately enplaned with Secretary of State Dean Rusk and 
Ambassador Chester Bowles for the funeral ceremonies in New 
Delhi. Although a few days before his death, Nehru brushed off 
questions about a successor, his appointment o f  Lal Bahadur 
Shastri, a popular but retiring North Indian leader, to the cabi- 
net, helped ensure a smooth transition of power. 

Nehru led his nation for so long that life without Panditji, as 
he was affectionately called, seemed hard to imagine. His 
achievements as Prime Minister were striking. He set his coun- 
try firmly on the democratic path, launched an ambitious eco- 
nomic development program, and charted a foreign policy 
course for India independent of the two contending power blocs. 
Even though after the 1962 China war, Nehru was only a shadow 
of his former self, his passing marked the end of an era for India. 

On 3 June, Secretary McNamara picked up the threads of 
the military aid discussions with Chavan, who remained as 
Defense Minister, and quickly settled the remaining questions.16 
In announcing the accord on 6 June, their statement indicated 
agreement on aid to be provided during US Fiscal Year 1965 but 
notedmunderscoring the disagreement--"the subject of air de- 
fense aircraft for India would continue under examination by 
both sides. ''17 

After the United States refused to provide supersonics, the 
Indians took up a Soviet alternative. In September 1964, 
Chavan signed an accord in Moscow under which the Soviets 
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agreed to provide 45 MiG-21 s and to set up factories in India to 
assemble another 400 MiGs, making the Soviet fighter the stan- 
dard Indian interceptor aircraft.18 As Bowles warned earlier, this 
development gave the USSR a "much closer relationship with 
Indian military and particularly with Indian Air Force than they 
have enjoyed previously" and had a major impact on Indian 
public opinion. 19 

In weighing the consequences of refusing to provide India 
with F-104s, the Johnson administration implicitly concluded 
that the price it would have to pay with Pakistanmperhaps even 
a final rupture in the alliance relationship--was not worth the 
potential rewards from the Indians. Once more, US ties with 
Pakistan set a limit on how far Washington was willing to go 
with India in the military supply areameven if, as in the case of 
the F -  104s, India was almost certain to turn to the Soviets as an 
alternative supplier of fighter aircraft. Despite Washington's 
rebuff of the request for supersonics, the military assistance 
agreement still seemed to represent a major development, estab- 
lishing a new and presumably long-term chapter in the security 
relationship between the United States and India. The chapter, 
in fact, turned out to be very short; fifteen months later, during 
the 1965 Kashmir War, the United States stopped arms exports 
and military assistance. 

India's Second Prime Minister 
If Jawaharlal Nehru dominated the Indian political scene 

like a great banyan tree in the shade of which others grew with 
difficulty, Shastri, barely five foot tall, frail.looking, and already 
in poor health, appeared overshadowed by powerful regional 
Congress Party political leaders. "Diminutive, retiring and 
moderate" were the words the CIA used in describing the new 
Prime Minister. 24 Lal Bahadur was more at ease in his home- 
grown Indian setting and had fewer of the psychological hang- 
ups from which English-trained Indians, like Nehru, seemed to 
suffer. 25 He had never traveled outside India before he became 
Prime Minister and initially felt shaky in dealing with foreign 
policy matters. 26 

With the 1962 War fresh in mind, Shastri's preference was 
to define nonalignment in terms of good relations with both the 
Soviet Union and the United States, or as some called it, 
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bi-alignment against the threat posedby  Communist China. 
America's prompt help in 1962 and the continued large amounts 
of economic and food assistance, running $1 billion annually, 
impressed the Indian leadership as a sign of US friendship. 
Although Washington's unwillingness to sell the F-104s under- 
scored the limits of the security relationship, Indo-US relations 
seemed on solid ground. They were, indeed, less troubled at the 
time than Washington's dealings with Pakistan. 

In March 1965, with Shastri in office a little under a year, 
veteran diplomat Averell Harriman visited New Delhi for three 
and a half days of talks. The change in atmosphere from his four 
earlier visits during the Nehru years struck Harriman. He cabled 
the President and Rusk: 

I feel today quite a new attitude towards us and the world 
situation reflected by Indian officials and the press. I almost 
felt I was in a different country . . . .  Discussions with 
Indian Ministers and officials were relaxed and flank with 
full agreement on such matters as aggressive intents of Red 
China, need to prevent Red's takeover in South Vietnam 
and SEA (Southeast Asia), willingness to consider objec- 
tively our policies and work with us for common objectives 
in other areas of world. 27 

Even though Harriman believed the Indians "remained 
over-hopeful of Soviet Union's good intent," and stubborn 
about Kashmir, "I had the feeling that I could talk freely with 
them without fear of being misunderstood and that we could 
reach understandings on a much broader area. ''28 

During the fall of 1964, Ambassador Bowles urged the 
Prime Minister to visit the United States. Shastri was willing, 
but wanted to wait a year in order to gain more experience at the 
helm of government. To fit President Johnson's schedule, Shas- 
tri agreed to travel to Washington in early June 1965; Pakistan's 
Ayub Khan was due in mid-April. 29 As planning for the Shastri 
trip proceeded, the mood in the American Embassy in Delhi was 
upbeat. Then in early April, President Johnson abruptly and 
unexpectedly decided to put off both Ayub and Shastri. 

Public criticism of US Vietnam policy by Canada's Prime 
Minister Lester Pearson, after he had met with Johnson, angered 
the President. He told the White House staff he did not want a 
repeat performance and further embarrassment. Worried that 
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Pakistan's cozying up to China and its unhelpful attitude on 
Vietnam could cause problems, Johnson decided to cancel Ayub 
Khan's trip, about to occur in two weeks. On' reflection, the  
Chief Executive concluded he should put Shastri off as well.30 

It was only on 14 April, after Rusk tried unsuccessfully for 
several days to change the President's mind, that Washington 
told Bowles what was up. In a telegram to New Delhi, Under  
Secretary of State George Ball expressed the vain hope: 

You can approach Shastri in such a way as to lead him to 
feel that a postponement of his visit until fall is in the 
interests of India. In our view it would not be useful for him 
to come while the aid bill is pending in spite of the fact that 
the Indian attitude on Vietnam has been generally helpful. 3~ 

A premature press leak in Washington the next day made 
matters worse. Bowles had no time to prepare the ground for 
what might have otherwise been passed off as a routine post- 
ponement. Instead, Johnson deeply offended Shastri, who was 
sensitive about his dignity and his lack of experience in foreign 
affairs. Indian officials, like Ambassador B. K. Nehru, felt in- 
suited by Johnson's cavalier treatment of the Prime Minister 
and the fact that India was once again bracketed with Pakistan. 32 

The main target of US anger, Ayub Khan, perhaps more 
familiar with Johnson's unpredictable style, swallowed hard and 
contained his annoyance. As Komer wrote to McGeorge Bundy, 
"The Paks, who probably see the blow as directed mainly at 
them, are lying low and letting the Indians get themselves in 
trouble. The Indians are showing their injured pride in many 
ways. Shastri is saying nice things about the Soviets . . . We've 
suffered a setback here . . . ,,33 Although, in time, tempers 
cooled, Johnson's rude treatment of the two leaders badly 
strained relations with India and Pakistan just as the two coun- 
tries began to edge toward a second Kashmir War. 

Serious clashes broke out on 9 April 1965 in a desolate and 
uninhabited marsh land called the Rann of Kutch. A tidal mud 
fiat near the Arabian Sea, the Rann became a problem in 1954 
when Pakistan staked a claim to half the area, asserting it was a 
landlocked sea. Under  international law, this put the boundary 
in the middle of the Rann rather than at its northern edge. The 
Indians disputed the Pakistani position, insisting the Rann was 



234 ESTRANGED DEMOCRACIES 

a marsh, not a sea, and that the boundary should remain 
unchanged. 34 

The problem had remained quiet for ten years until early in 
1965. The Pakistanis then began sending military patrols into 
the disputed area north of the Rann to assert their territorial 
claim. When the Indians countered, fighting erupted on 9 April. 
During the next two weeks, the clashes escalated into a brigade 
size battle between Indian and Pakistani forces. On 27 April, the 
Indians withdrew rather than risk having their troops cut off 
during the rainy season when the Rann flooded. New Delhi 
admitted suffering about 100 casualties in the fighting. 35 The 
impression was that the Pakistanis had the better of the affair. 
On the diplomatic front, the British, backed by Washington, 
pressed for early talks. London's efforts resulted in a formal 
cease-fire agreement on 27 June with India surprisingly agreeing 
to submit questions about the legal status of the Rann to arbitra- 
tion. Shastri's flexibility contrasted with Nehru's persistent re- 
buff to proposals for mediation or arbitration of the Kashmir 
dispute. 

Although the cease-fire took hold, India's pride suffered a 
fresh blow from the clash in the Rann of Kutch. It was one thing 
to be pushed around by China, quite another to be bested by 
Pakistan. The Shastri government came under angry criticism in 
the Indian parliament for its handling of the affair. Part of the ire 
was directed at the United States for its failure to prevent 
Pakistan from using US military equipment against India. This 
was a sensitive issue with New Delhi since the United States had 
given a stream of assurances that Washington would not permit 
the Pakistanis to use the arms to attack India. In the case of the 
Rann, Pakistan admitted using US-supplied equipment, but 
justified this on the grounds of "self-defense," claiming that 
India had begun the fighting. 

Not eager to enter the thicket of deciding who was the 
aggressor, the Johnson administration stressed the importance 
of stopping the fighting rather than assessing blame for the 
misuse of US weapons.36 In a testy exchange with Secretary Rusk 
on 8 May, B. K. Nehru expressed dissatisfaction with the US 
attitude: 



JOHNSON 235 

While India hopes the Kutch question will be resolved, a 
more important question of principle is involved. US assur- 
ances to India against Pakistani misuse of arms had been the 
foundation of Indian defense policy. If these assurances 
were eroded, it would be a very serious matter . . . .  as far 
as India was concerned, the U.S. reaction had been 
inadequateP 7 

The Second Kashmir War: August-September 1965 

If, following the Rann of Kutch episode, India- - in  the 
words of William Barnds--became "dangerously frustrated,'" 
Pakistan became "dangerously overconfident. ''38 Having ruled 
the country with hardly a misstep since 1958, Ayub Khan pro- 
ceeded to implement Operation Gibraltar, a gamble to seize 
Kashmir, supported by Foreign Minister Zulfikar Ali Bhutto 
and other Pakistani hawks. The bold scheme envisaged covertly 
infiltrating some five thousand Pakistani trained guerrillas 
across the cease-fire line in order to stir an uprising in Kashmir. 

Badly misreading the mood in India, Pakistan apparently 
did not expect Shastri to counter militarily, either from weak- 
ness or from fear that China would intervene. After the 1962 
debacle and India's poor showing in the Rann of Kutch, an 
overconfident Ayub Khan had difficulty in taking India, and 
especially its leader, "little" Shastri, too seriously. The Pakis- 
ranis may have also wanted to strike in Kashmir before the 
military odds swung too heavily in India's favor. Although in 
1965 Pakistan's armed forces could not match India's in num- 
bers, thanks to US aid, they had gained a qualitative edge in 
armor and air power. The Pakistanis feared that it was only a 
question of time until India, having embarked on a defense 
build-up after the 1962 fiasco, would erase their edge. 39 

Infiltration of the guerrillas began on 5 August. The Indians 
quickly grasped what was going on and captured many of the 
intruders. Sabotage caused some damage, but the raiders failed 
to spark a Kashmiri uprising. 40 Contrary to Pakistani expecta- 
tions, the Indians also responded militarily, crossing the Kash- 
mir cease-fire line to capture key passes and terrain features that 
the Pakistanis were using as infiltration routes. Operation Gi- 
braltar seemed doomed. 
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Rather than face defeat, the Pakistanis on 1 September 
escalated. Concerned about the fate of several thousand poten- 
tially stranded guerillas, Ayub Khan launched a major attack, 
led by US-supplied Patton tanks, across the cease-fire line in 
southern Kashmir. The objective was to cut the road that linked 
Kashmir's capital Srinagar with India. 41 "The Paks, having 
failed to spark off a 'war of liberation' via a Kashmiri uprising, 
may now feel they've got to enter the lists directly to forestall a 
humiliating failure," Komer told the President. 42 

After intelligence reports indicated the likelihood of the 
Pakistani attack, the United States pressed UN Secretary-Gen- 
eral U Thant to urge restraint on both sides. In New Delhi, 
Ambassador Bowles asked Indian Foreign Minister Swaran 
Singh to respond calmly, warning that a military "thrust by 
India at some more favorable point . . . will almost certainly 
touch off war." The Minister's reply was to protest the use by 
Pakistan of US Patton tanks contrary to American assurances. 43 

Bowles followed up with an urgent plea "for direct U.S. 
pressure at earliest possible moment on both sides in support of 
SYG's appeal." Bowles asked authorization to tell Shastri that if 
the Indians agreed to a cease-fire and troop withdrawal, and the 
Pakistanis refused, the United States would cut off military aid 
to Pakistan. 44 Washington turned Bowles down. 

President Johnson decided not to engage US influence di- 
rectly in pressing for an end to the fighting, continuing to leave 
this to the United Nations with the United States playing a 
supporting role. Rusk informed Bowles: 

Highest level decision taken here not to engage in direct 
pressure on either Paks or Indians for time being, but to 
place primary reliance on UN. Given existing strains on our 
relations with both parties, we do not believe such further 
action as threats to suspend military aid along lines you 
suggest likely to halt fighting at this time. 4~ 

In Washington, Ambassador Nehru echoed Foreign Minis- 
ter Swaran Singh's protests about Pakistan's use of US-supplied 
equipment. The Ambassador warned that unless Pakistan 
stopped its drive to cut off Srinagar, India would attack across 
the international border to the south of Kashmir. Sidestepping 
Indian complaints about Pakistan's misuse of American weap- 
ons, Rusk emphasized that a cease-fire was the most important 
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thing. 46 Bowles made the same point in New Delhi, while report- 
ing to Washington a crescendo of criticism in the media about 
Pakistan's use of American weapons against India. 47 

O n  6 Septembermas Ambassador Nehru warnedmthe In- 
dian Army struck across the international frontier only twenty 
miles east of the city of Lahore, the capital of West Pakistan. 48 
Despite the threat of all-out war between India and Pakistan, the 
United States held back from direct diplomatic intervention, 
continuing to rely on the United Nations as the main vehicle to 
stop the fighting. 49 Key members of the Senate Foreign Rela- 
tions Committee, during an 8 September breakfast, agreed with 
Dean Rusk that it was not "wise for us to get out in front of the 
UN to carry the burden of trying to force India and Pakistan to 
cease hostilities. ''5° The United States proceeded later the same 
day to embargo military exports and to suspend economic assis- 
tance commitments to India and Pakistan. Personally drafted by 
Rusk and approved by Johnson, the administration statement 
aimed at averting even more drastic measures following "a 
volcanic reaction" by Congressmen and Senators, angry that the 
United States was fueling both sides of the war. s~ Washington 
was dismayed that India and Pakistan were battling each other, 
endangering their economic development programs and shred- 
ding any slim hopes of their cooperating against the Chinese. 52 

Like Washington, Moscow threw its support behind UN 
efforts to stop the fighting, offering its good offices for peace 
talks at Tashkent. After Brezhnev ousted Khrushchev as Soviet 
leader in 1964, the Russians had adjusted their South Asia 
policy to adopt a more even-handed and less pro-Indian posture. 
The Soviets, indeed, worked with the United States in support of 
the UN, peace e f for t~a  rare instance of East-West cooperation 
during the Cold War. The British, who had brokered the Rann of 
Kutch cease-fire, lost their influence with New Delhi after Prime 
Minister Harold Wilson imprudently charged India with aggres- 
sion in crossing the international border. Notwithstanding US- 
UK-Soviet support, the United Nations made very slow prog- 
ress. Secretary-General U Thant failed, during a 9-1 4 September 
visit to South Asia, to obtain Indian and Pakistani agreement on 
a cease-fire. Although Ayub Khan and Shastri tried to get John- 
son to intervene directly, the President kept the focus on U 
Thant's peace efforts. 53 
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On the battlefield, despite the fact that the Indian army 
made initial gains, the front stabilized at the outskirts of Lahore 
about 15 miles inside the border. The Pakistani drive to cut off 
Kashmir bogged down, falling short of its objective. Fighting 
was often fierce with some of the heaviest tank battles since 
World War II. Pakistan's armor performed poorly, suffering 
heavy losses. In contrast to the 1962 war against the Chinese and 
the fighting in the Rann of Kutch, the Indian Army gave a good 
account of itself. 54 

On 17 September, concern about possible Chinese Commu- 
nist intervention suddenly loomed larger. Beijing issued an ulti- 
matum that India remove construction works on the Tibet 
border or face the consequences. When Shastri kepthis cool, and 
Moscow and Washington warned China against precipitate ac- 
tion, Beijing backed down by extending the deadline. The Chi- 
nese continued their verbal support for their Pakistani friends, 
but chose not to engage themselves militarily. 

Finally, on 22 September, the fighting stopped. India and 
Pakistan accepted a "demand" by the Security Council for a 
cease-fire. Although both sides lost heavily in men and materiel 
and neither gained a decisive military advantage, India had the 
better of the war. New Delhi achieved its basic goal of thwarting 

• Pakistan's attempt to seize Kashmir by force. Pakistan gained 
nothing from a conflict which it had instigated. 

Washington breathed a sigh of relief that an all-out struggle 
had been averted. When the Soviets again offered to mediate, 
the United States supported this move- -a  startling reversal of 
policy after a decade of trying to limit Moscow's role in South 
Asia. Dean Rusk explained: 

We encouraged the Russians to go ahead with the Tashkent 
idea, because we felt we had nothing to lose. If they suc- 
ceeded in bringing about any d6tente at Tashkent, then 
there would be more peace on the subcontinent between 
India and Pakistan, and we would gain from that fact. If the 
Russians failed at Tashkent, at least the Russians would 
have the experience of some of the frustration that we had 
for  t we n t y  years in trying to sort out  things between India  
and Pakistan. 55 

In January 1966, three months after the end of fighting, 
Ayub and Shastri met with Kosygin in the Soviet Central Asia 
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city of Tashkent. Shuttling between the two leaders, Kosygin 
proved a skilful diplomat. Eventually, on 9 January, he obtained 
their agreement to withdraw to positions held before the war, to 
exchange prisoners, and to try to solve their disputes peacefully. 
Given the enmity between India and Pakistan, the Tashkent 
agreement was a considerable achievement. 56 The conference 
came to a tragic end when Lal Bahadur Shastri suffered a fatal 
heart attack just hours after signing the accord. For the second 
time in a year and a half, India cremated a Prime Minister. 

US policy during the 1965 war pleased neither India nor 
Pakistan. The Indians were angry that the United States failed to 
prevent the use of American arms despite repeated promises 
that it would do so. Washington's even-handed action in stop- 
ping military and economic assistance to both countries also 
irked New Delhi, for there seemed little doubt that Pakistan 
started the trouble by launching Operation Gibraltar. The Pakis- 
tanis were even more bitter. That Washingtonmtheir  supposed 
al ly--not  only refused to help against India but even cut off the 
flow of military supplies seemed an act of betrayal. US-Pakistan 
relations plummeted. The alliance relationship appeared for all 
practical purposes dead. 

If  South Asians were indignant about Washington's reac- 
tion, the United States was dismayed that the two nations went 
to war with each other after a decade of heavy American invest- 
ment in economic assistance and major infusions of military 
equipment to Pakistan and lesser amounts to India. Comment- 
ing on the 1965 war, Secretary Rusk said India and Pakistan 
"allowed the matter to escalate very fast, on both sides, contrary 
to the advice that was being given them by the United States so 
we in effect shrugged our shoulders and said, 'Well, if  you're 
going to fight, go ahead and fight, but we're not going to 
pay for it. ''57 

The US response marked a major turning point in South 
Asia policy. As Rusk's remarks suggested, Washington, in effect, 
walked away from the region. A decadeof  intense involvement 
in the affairs of the subcontinent, numerous attempts to solve 
the Kashmir dispute and to promote Indo-Pakistani rapproche- 
ment, had yielded a skimpy harvest. Supposedly a US military 
ally against the Communists, Pakistan entered into a close rela- 
tionship with Communist China. The Indians, while seeking US 
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support against China in the Himalayas, were unwilling to work 
in close harness against the Communist threat in South 
Vietnam. 

To Washington policymakers, there appeared, in short, lit- 
tle justification for continuing the heavy political and security 
engagement in India and Pakistan. With the United States be- 
coming increasingly absorbed in the Vietnam War, South Asia's 
importance in US strategic priorities declined. Washington 
seemed content for the Soviet Un ion~which  the United States 
previously regarded as the major and sinister contender for 
inf luence~to assume the position of would-be security manager 
for the subcontinent. 

A " H a r d  N e w  L o o k "  at Economic and PL 480 Aid 
During his first year and a half in the White House, Presi- 

dent Johnson allowed the other main element of US involve- 
ment with Indiamthe large economic assistance and PL 480 
food programsmto continue largely unchanged along the lines 
previously established. In September 1964, at the expiration of 
the four-year PL 480 program approved in 1960, Johnson 
agreed to a new one-year food accord to Supply 4.5 million tons 
of wheat. In the spring of 1965, the Indians were back, seeking a 
two-year PL 480 program for 10 million tons. Few expected 
difficulties in proceeding with the new food agreement or with 
the annual economic assistance request. 

And then, without warning, in June 1965, the President 
surprised his own bureaucracy and the Indians. He called a halt 
to routine approval of new aid commitments for India (and also 
for Pakistan) and demanded a "hard new look . . . before we 
spend a lot more money. ''58 In a 9 June meeting, Johnson 
announced that he would personally approve new assistance for 
India and Pakistan until the Congress voted the Fiscal Year 
1966 aid bill. Johnson also asked for early recommendations on 
the pending Indian PL 480 request. 59 

What caused the President to bring the Indians (and Pakis- 
tanis) up short? A number of factors appeared to explain John- 
son's abrupt move. The Chief Executive's sensitive political 
antenna detected growing unpopularity for foreign aid with his 
former congressional colleagues, especially aid to South Asia 
which loomed large in the overall figures. Pakistan's flirtation 
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with China made it hard to justify large-scale help on political 
grounds. With India's economic performance lagging, there was 
growing feeling in Congress that New Delhi was taking US help 
for granted "regardless of what they did or how effectively they 
used it. ''6° 

Johnson sensed the foreign aid program was basically "fly- 
ing on automatic pilot" after the major increases of the late 
1950s and early 1960s. He found little questioning of perform- 
ance--whether the programs were achieving their purpose or 
whether the recipients were making any genuine self-help effort. 
There was, he believed, just the annual call for more money. 6~ To 
make sure that India understood what was happening, Under 
Secretary of State Thomas Mann reviewed the problem frankly 
with Ambassador Nehru during a private lunch on 1 july.6/ 
Although the exchange--according to Mann--became some- 
what heated, especially over the Indian attitude toward Viet- 
nam, Nehru had a chance to enlist the assistance of Mann, a 
prot6g6 of Johnson's, in finally getting to talk with the President. 
When they met, the two got along well. The door to the White 
House was thereafter open to a much relieved B. K. Nehru. 63 

About the same time that Johnson sensed aid weariness in 
the US Congress, the World Bank was encountering growing 
disillusionment among aid donors, disturbed by India's sluggish 
economic performance. Bank President George Woods decided 
to send economist Bernard Bell and a team of specialists to 
undertake a detailed review of the Indian economic situation. 
Bell and his team toiled through much of 1965, getting good 
cooperation from Indian counterparts and also keeping in close 
touch with the US AID Mission in New Delhi, then headed by 
prominent economist and former member of the Council of 
Economic Advisers, John P. Lewis. 64 

Sharply critical of Indian policy, Bell's Report recom- 
mended a shift of emphasis from industry to agriculture, the 
dismantling of the system of controls and licenses, and the 
devaluation of the Indian rupee. AID Director Lewis agreed 
with Bell's approach. Optimistic about India's long-term pros- 
pects, Lewis believed that with the necessary policy shiftsmand 
increased foreign assistance--India could surge to self-sus- 
taining growth, "Operation Big Push" in his words. 65 
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Responding to the President's signal of caution at the 9 June 
meeting, AID Director David Bell proposed a one-rather than a 
two-year PL 480 agreement with India (to provide six million 
tons of wheat and 200,000 tons of rice worth $390 million). Even 
though Bell stressed the "urgent need" to open negotiations to 
prevent "an interruption in shipments," Johnson sat t igh t .  66 
After a month had passed, the President surprised US and 
Indian officials by approving only a one million ton agree- 
ment--enough to provide food for two monthsmnot  the six 
million tons David Bell recommended. This unexpected step 
launched what became known as the "short tether" policy. 

For several years, Orville Freeman, the Secretary of Agricul- 
ture, had been voicing his unhappiness, first to Kennedy and 
then to Johnson, about the sluggishness of Indian efforts to boost 
agricultural production. Freeman returned from a May 1964 
trip to India in a gloomy frame of mind. He feared that US 
surpluses would one day disappear, leaving India in terrible 
trouble--unable to feed itself and unable to obtain food from 
abroad. Along with American and Indian specialists, however, 
Freeman was confident India could boost food production sub- 
stantially if it tried seriously to do so. What was needed was 
higher priority on agriculture, changes in agricultural price and 
distribution policies, expanded irrigation, better seeds, in- 
creased use of fertilizers and other agricultural inputs. 67 

PL 480 agreements, such as the 17 million and 4.5 million 
ton accords of 1960 and 1964, were a political and social boon to 
the Government of India, ensuring adequate grain Supplies at 
low prices for Indian cities. At the same time, the availability of 
US foodmat little or no cost--removed the incentive for New 
Delhi to adopt policies encouraging farmers to produce more. As 
long as the wheat fields of the US Middle West stood ready to 
take up any slack, India was under little pressure to raise the 
priority for agriculture. 

In 1964, Prime Minister Shastri appointed a new Agricul- 
ture Minister C. Subramaniam, who was promoted to New 
Delhi after a strong performance in the Madras State govern- 
ment. Serious about reforming agricultural policy, Sub- 
ramaniam soon concluded that India should make a major push 
for self-sufficiency rather than continuing to rely on foreign food 
aid, principally from the United States. 68 Subramaniam and 
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Freeman broadly agreed on the policy measures needed to boost 
agricul tural  output .  69 

President Johnson also agreed on the need to address the 
problem. Failure to do so, Johnson wrote in his memoirs, could 
have spelled disaster in the future if India's population growth 
outran food production and the United States were no longer 
able to fill the gap. 7° What was unusual was not so much John- 
son's support for a change in Indian farm policy as his intense, 
obsessive personal involvement. For the next two years, Lyndon 
Johnson, in effect, became the US government's "desk officer" 
for PL 480 food aid to India. According to Walt Rostow, "'It is 
hard to recapture how deeply Johnson felt about getting the 
Indians to do a better job in producing food. The India food 
question went right to where he lived. It was part of Johnson's 
fundamental concern for human beings and his hatred of 
poverty."71 

It was soon apparent that the 1965 summer monsoon rains 
had failed badly and, as a result, India faced the worst drought in 
a century. With foodgrain production plunging from 89 to 72 
million tons, food supplies from the United States became the 
critical factor in staving off famine. Just as the US Agriculture 
Department was getting geared up for large-scale exports, word 
came down through the bureaucracy that the President would 
personally decide on the release of food shipments to India. 
Thinking there was some mistake, Freeman called Johnson, who 
responded abruptly, "I'll take care of the problem." He refused 
to give the Secretary of Agriculture any explanation. Baffled, 
Freeman then called Secretary of State Dean Rusk, who said he 
would talk with Johnson and was sure things could be worked 
out. A few minutes later, Rusk called back, saying simply, "The 
President won't talk about it." Calls elsewhere drew similar 
blanks. 72 

Without tipping his hand to anyone, Johnson decided to 
exercise maximum leverage in trying to force a change in Indian 
agricultural policy--and to take personal charge of the effort. At 
the same time that he exerted pressure by holding back exports 
through the "short tether" policy, he was careful to avoid a break 
in the food supply pipeline. Not trusting the Department of 
Agriculture, the President had NSC staffer Robert Komer check 
out details of shipping grain from the Gulf of Mexico to India. 
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According to Komer, the President wanted to know exactly how 
long he could delay shipments. 73 In late September, Johnson 
approved another PL 480 shipment, this time for 500,000 tons, 
roughly one month's supply. 

The US press picked up word of the tougher approach. 1he 
Washington Post quoted one official, "We're using food to bar- 
gain all right, but to bargain for foodmlndia 's  own productiv- 
ity. ''74 When the Indian press interpreted the food holdup as an 
effort to pressure India to make concessions on Kashmir, Bowles 
was instructed to issue a denial, but to state frankly the United 
States--dissatisfied with India's own agricultural efforts--was 
not ready to proceed beyond short-term agreements until the 
signs of Indian self-help were clearer. 75 In late October, Bundy 
and Rusk pressed for another short-term agreement. Although 
Johnson approved, he insisted Bowtes tell the Indians the US 
government remained unhappy with their performance. The 
cable to Bowles stressed the view of the "highest authority" that 
a longer term accord "not be undertaken until such time as the 
USG has convincing evidence of the GOI's determination to put 
its food house in order. ''76 

At Johnson's suggestion, Freeman and Subramaniam met 
privately during a Food and Agriculture Organization meeting 
in Rome in late November to reach agreement on the agricul- 
tural reform program. Johnson told Freeman to cable the results 
"Eyes Only for the President." Almost paranoid about press 
leaks, Johnson warned Freeman, " I f  anybody finds out about 
this, your ass will be hanging from a yardarm. ''77 On 25 Novem- 
ber, the two ministers signed what became known as the Treaty 
of Rome. This document-- in fact a detailed statement of the 
specific steps India would take in order to boost food produc- 
t i o n - r e m a i n e d  a closely held secret for a number of years to 
avoid the suggestion of US pressure on India. 78 

Johnson was pleased with the results. As soon as the Indian 
government publicly announced the new policy, the President 
authorized a further 1.5 million ton wheat agreement, a $50 
million fertilizer commodity loan-- the first economic aid com- 
mitment since the 1965 war--and set up an interdepartmental 
committee under Freeman to expedite wheat exports. A relieved 
Prime Minister Shastri, speaking in parliament on 10 Decem- 
ber, expressed "sincere thanks to President Johnson, whose 
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decision to accelerate food aid would help substantially in tiding 
over the present food situation."79 

Two weeks later, Johnson invited Subramaniam to Wash- 
ington where they reviewed the situation with considerable out- 
ward cordiality. Instructing Freeman to do everything possible 
to help, Johnson said India's food problem "ought to be attacked 
as if we were at war.'" The President insisted he was not inter- 
ested in "disciplining anyone, in becoming the master of any- 
one, or in dominating anyone. ''8° Reflecting about Johnson a 
quarter of a century later, C. Subramaniam was skeptical, char- 
acterizing the President as "well-intentioned, but like the 'dis- 
trict nawab' wanting to be the driving force behind whatever was 
happening and unwilling to concede that others could also shoul- 
der responsibility."8 

Lyndon Johnson's short tether policy worked. India an- 
nounced a far higher priority on agriculture, marking a substan- 
tial shift from the earlier policy emphasis on industry. What was 
surprising was that Johnson could use strong arm tactics without 
ruffling well-known Indian sensitivities about foreign interfer- 
ence. The explanation was that key Indian leaders themselves 
wanted to reform agricultural policy just as much as the Presi- 
dent and, in fact, found US pressure not unhelpful in overcom- 
ing domestic political opposition. 82 In 1965n in  contrast to the 
following year--Johnson also quickly opened up the export 
pipeline for large-scale wheat shipments once the Indians an- 
nounced the revised agricultural policy. In 1966, the President 
would change his tactics. 

India 's  Th ird  P r i m e  M i n i s t e r  .... Indira  G a n d h i  

During the fall of 1965--after the end of the India-Pakistan 
Warn the re  was much discussion about rescheduling the Shastri 
visit to Washington. Although politically strengthened by his 
handling of the war, Shastri still badly needed US aid to deal 
with an increasingly difficult economic situation. Except for a 
$ 50 million fertilizer loan, the United States had held offmaking 
new assistance commitments. Johnson preferred to wait until 
Shastri came before moving ahead. Feeling the war had wiped 
the policy slate clean, the President wanted to build a new 
relationship. 83 The "central concern," Rusk cabled Bowles, "will 
be to develop an understanding of what constitutes a workable 
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relationship between aid donor and recipient." Rusk warned, 
"Aid is not a state of nature which the US (is) bound to 
respect."84 

In India, Shastri faced dissension in his cabinet about the 
World Bank's economic policy recommendations. Finance Min- 
ister T. T. Krishnamachari strongly opposed these, unhappy 
about the call for economic liberalization as well as the proposed 
easing of restrictions on foreign investment in fertilizer produc- 
tion. In the end, Shastri sided with supporters of change-- 
Subramaniam, Planning Minister Ashok Mehta, and L. K. Jha, 
Secretary to the Prime Minister  and Shastri's principal aide. 
When Krishnamachari continued to object, Shastri, who was 
proving that, despite his small stature, he could be a tough 
political leader, fired the Finance Minister. s5 

Shastri took this action just before leaving for Tashkent to 
meet with Pakistan's Ayub Khan and Soviet Premier Kosygin. 
Prior to the Prime Minister's departure, Averell Harriman came 
to New Delhi to discuss the Vietnam war. s6 As India under 
Shastri had been relatively cooperative on this issue, Washing- 
ton hoped to enlist the Prime Minister's help in urging Moscow 
to press Hanoi to open negotiations with the United States. 
Shastri agreed to take up the issue with the Soviets and, after 
talking with Soviet Premier Kosygin, wrote Johnson from Tash- 
kent on 6 January. s7 Four days later, the Indian leader was dead. 

The man who most wanted to succeed Shastri, Morarji 
Desai, an ascetic conservative from Gujarat in western India 
and former Finance Minister, lost out to Indira Gandhi. Dislik- 
ing Desai, Congress Party leaders--the so-called Syndicate--  
instead rallied to Nehru's daughter, who served as Minister of 
Information in Shastri's government. The Syndicate, particu- 
larly Congress Party president K. Kamaraj, regarded her as more 
pliable than the rigid and prickly Desai. ss Then in her mid- 
forties, Mrs. Gandhi had yet to define her strong political per- 
sonality. She appeared awkward and shy in public, unsure of her 
footing. 

In her initial weeks in office, the new Prime Minister fol- 
lowed in the footsteps of her predecessor, pledging support for 
the Tashkent Accords, reaffirming India's adherence to the 
nonalignment policy established by her father, and accepting 
recommendations to implement the economic policy changes 
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Courtesy of the LBJ Library 

28 March 1966, President Johnson with Prime Minister Indira Gandhi. 

proposed by the World Bank. When President Johnson renewed 
the invitation extended to Shastri, Mrs. Gandhi quickly ac- 
cepted. In late March, only two months after taking office, she 
traveled to Washington on her first foreign trip as India's Prime 
Minister. 

Mrs. Gandhi's arrival was preceded by extensive discus- 
sions, the President himself meeting with Ambassador Nehru on 
2 February to review the upcoming visit. When Nehru asked for 
emergency food aid, Johnson agreed to "take some interim 
action" but said he wanted to have a better idea of Congressional 
reactions and to talk with Mrs. Gandhi before making a major 
move. 89 A stop in New Delhi in February by Vice President 
Hubert Humphrey permitted another round of high level discus- 
sions and an occasion for Humphrey to announce the release of 
$200 million in aid funds in response to India's plea for help. 9° 
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Rostow had advised that Bowles send her  a "scorching personal 
letter" and Rusk " ta lked turkey" with the Indian charg6 
d'affaires. Rostow added that Mrs. Gandhi  may have been 
mouset rapped by poor staff work which failed to grasp the 
nuances in the proposed communiqu6  language. ~08 At a 2 1 July 
press conference, Johnson bristled in response to a question 
about the Indians,  saying it would be helpful to see what  NOrth 
Vie tnam would do, not just  the Uni ted  States. 109 

Still shaky in her first months  as Pr ime Minister  and weak- 
ened by the devaluat ion debacle, Mrs. Gandhi  wanted to avoid 
the impression India was leaning toward the Uni ted  States as 
suggested by the rousing visit in Washington and her acceptance 
of  devaluation.  Crit icism of  US policy on Vie tnam was a way to 
pacify her critics on the l e f tmor  so it may have seemed to Indira. 
Although American officialdom did not expect India  to endorse 
US policy toward Vietnam, Washington was clearly annoyed by 
Mrs. Gandhi ' s  less than nonaligned remarks.  Ambassador  
Bowles wrote that when he commented  Mrs. Gandhi  was not 
saying anything more than the Pope or the U N  Secretary-Gen- 
eral, the curt  response he got from Washington officials was, 
"The  Pope and U Thant  don ' t  need our wheat. "'110 The US- 
Indian political entente established during Indira 's  Washington 
visit proved a fragile and short-lived affair. 

1966: "One More Drought" 
As the summer  of  1966 progressed, it became increasingly 

apparent  that the monsoon rains were going to fail for a second 
year in a row. Coming on the heels of  the poor 1965 monsoon,  
the 1966 drought  proved a terrible blow, with Bihar in eastern 
India the worst hit area. The NSC history of  the Indian food 
crisis stated: 

For India the prospect was one more drought, one more year 
of acute dependence on PL-480 imports, one more year of 
submission to US demands, one more year of exposure to 
the world as paupers. This outlook produced a sense of 
frustration, pessimism and fatalism. ]~j 

Lyndon Johnson made things much harder  by following 
what  became known as the "ship to mou th"  po l icymkeeping  the 
supply line so tight that foodgrains had to move directly from 
ships to the consumers in order  to avert famine. On 23 August a 
r ecommenda t ion  from Secretaries Freeman and Rusk and AID 
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Administrator Bell urged the release of 2.5 million tons of wheat 
to prevent a break in the grain pipeline. Johnson refused to act, 
writing on the covering memo: "We must hold onto all the wheat 
we can. Send nothing unless we break an iron bound agreement 
by not sending."~ ~2 

Because the United States itself suffered from drought in 
1966, the crop outlook was poor. Wheat stocks were down, in 
part because of the large-scale PL 480 shipments to India in 
1965. Johnson worried that another year of massive wheat ex- 
ports to India could drive up bread prices, aggravating inflation- 
ary pressures that were already beginning to build up because of 
the Vietnam War. ~3 The President cautioned Mrs. Gandhi in a 
31 August letter, "We will do what we can to help you through 
the difficult food situation you face in the months ahead al- 
though the help we may be able to give may not be as much as we 
both would want. ''114 

In September and October, Walt Rostow sent the President 
more memoranda warning about a break in the food pipeline 
early in 1967 unless he authorized wheat shipments. Johnson 
continued to sit tight. He kept his own counsel, but followed the 
India situation intensely, even receiving detailed weekly rainfall 
maps.~15 Johnson's knowledge of Indian agriculture impressed 
B. K. Nehru, despite the fact that the President's refusal to 
authorize more food exports frustrated the envoy. ~6 In early 
November, the President rebuffed a plea from Secretaries Free- 
man and Rusk to approve an additional wheat shipment. 

Disturbed by reports from the Agriculture Department that 
India was not fully implementing the new policies, Johnson sent 
a team of Agriculture Department experts to make an on-the- 
spot assessment. He wanted his own private appraisal of the 
situation and of how well India was doing in implementing the 
new farm policies. Because Jol ~~son regarded Bowles as a special 
pleader for India, the Presi( ~nt lacked confidence in Embassy 
reporting. ~ 7 

In view of the possible need for congressional approval for 
another large-scale Indian food operation, Johnson also wanted 
to prepare the ground for sending a request forward to Capitol 
Hill. The President, therefore, had Freeman organize a separate 
bipartisan congressional group (Senators Miller and McGhee 
and Congressmen Poage and Dole--all  agriculture specialists) 
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to make its own assessment of India's needs and performance. 118 
Both the Agriculture Department and congressional teams 
found the food situation grave, concluded that the Indians were 
fulfilling their policy reform commitments, and urged prompt 
action by Johnson to prevent famine in the early months of 
1967. ll9 

When the American press became aware of Johnson's game 
of hardball, the New York Times and the Washington Post 
roundly criticized use of pressure tactics on an India confronted 
with the specter of famine. 120 Stung by the media criticism and 
with the recommendations from the teams in hand, Johnson 
finally decided to release some wheat. He had Ambassador 
Nehru, who left Washington for New York in anger about John- 
son's stonewalling tactics, called to the White House. The Presi- 
dent personally assured the envoy he was not going to let Indians 
starve. Although the administration made no public announce- 
ment until the congressional group formally submitted its re- 
port, Johnson instructed Freeman to start lining up the 
necessary ships to move grain as rapidly as possible to India.121 

On 22 December, four months after the initial memoran- 
dum recommending a food shipment, Johnson finally autho- 
rized Freeman to announce the allocation of 900,000 tons of PL 
480 wheat. The immediate crisis was averted. For Indian offi- 
cials trying to deal with the situation on the ground, Johnson's 
tactics were tremendously frustrating and irritating. "We were 
working in an emergency period then," Agriculture Minister C. 
Subramaniam recalled with some bitterness, "even a week's 
failure in supply would create grave difficulties. That, from far 
off, people couldn't realize. That is why I have said the United 
States always gives but does not give graciously." 122 

At one point during the crisis, Mrs. Gandhi telephoned 
Johnson to make a personal plea that he release wheat. Her press 
adviser, Sharada Prasad, present during the conversation, re- 
membered the Prime Minister clenching her fingers tightly on 
the telephone. Talking to Johnson, she was friendly and charm- 
ing, but when she hung up, she said angrily, "I don't ever want us 
ever to have to beg for food again. ''123 

Once satisfied that India's need was genuine and the farm 
policy performance good, Johnson turned his attention to enlist- 
ing other countries in sharing the burden with the United States. 
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He agreed to send five million more tons in 1967 to India--as  
State, Agriculture, and AID recommended--but to release the 
final three million tons only when other donors provided a 
similar amount. At Johnson's insistence, the World Bank orga- 
nized a Food for India Consortium to prod possible donors. To 
underscore his interest, Johnson sent Under Secretary of State 
Eugene Rostow (brother of the NSC's Walt Rostow) on a global 
sales mission. He told Rostow he wanted to raise more food for 
India, and also to show Congress that US allies, even if critical 
about Vietnam policy, were willing to cooperate with him in 
facing other grave problems, such as the potential Indian 
famine. 124 

After Rostow's return, Johnson transmitted a major mes- 
sage to Congress in early February urging the additional five 
million tons of PL 480 to help meet India's needs. Once more, 
Congress responded positively, approving a joint resolution en- 
dorsing food aid for India without significant opposition. The 
President signed the joint resolution on 1 April. Later in the 
month, two rounds of Food for India consortia meetings pro- 
duced substantial additional supplies from other countries. 125 

The Indian general elections in February 1967--the fourth 
since independence--resulted in unexpectedly severe losses for 
the Congress Party. The party barely gained an absolute major- 
ity in parliament, winning only 283 of 520 seats. In eight of 
seventeen states, the Congress lost control of the state govern- 
ments to opposition parties. Many Congress bosses, including 
the man most responsible for putting Mrs. Gandhi in office, K. 
Kamaraj, lost at the polls. The setback represented, in part, a 
vote of no-confidence about her handling of economic difficul- 
ties, the food crisis, and the unpopular devaluation of the rupee. 
Indira remained as Prime Minister, but agreed to accept Morarji 
Desai, her former rival, as Deputy Prime Minister and Finance 
Minister. 

India somehow made it through to the 1967 monsoon with- 
out suffering famine. Fourteen million tons of American wheat, 
or about 20 percent of the US wheat crop, made the crucial 
difference, providing food for 90 million Indians. In the summer 
of 1967, the rains were happily plentiful. Food production 
jumped ahead in response to the new agriculture policies, the 
first sign of India's green revolution that, over the next 
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decade, would result in self-sufficiency in food production. The 
crisis eased. 

The whole experience, however, helped sour Mrs. Gandhi's 
attitude toward Washington in addition to making her deter- 
mined never again to allow India to find itself in the same 
desperate food position, t26 A proud Mrs. Gandhi felt India's 
humiliating situation personally. As if to underline her country's 
independence from the United States, Mrs. Gandhi made a 
point of annoying Washington periodically by public gestures on 
Vietnam, such as the warm greetings she sent Ho Chi Minh on 
his seventy-seventh birthday. 127 

What motivated Lyndon Johnson in implementing the 
"ship to mouth" policy? What was he trying to achieve in 
putting the Indians through the wringer with his handling of 
food aid? Most Indian observers, and some Americans as well, 
including Agriculture Secretary Orville Freeman, believed he 
acted out of spite to punish Mrs. Gandhi for her public opposi- 
tion on Vietnam. 128 Others close to Johnson, while admitting his 
annoyance over India's Vietnam policy, denied this lay behind 
his tactics. Walt Rostow and Dean Rusk stoutly maintained the 
President was using the leverage of food shipments to press for 
agricultural policy changes and then to ensure the implementa- 
tion of the new policies.129 "The whole thing gained him not a 
nickel politically; He offended Indian nationalism by his tactics. 
But he was playing a long-term game to get India to feed its 
people, and he succeeded," Rostow asserted. 130 

Although Agriculture Minister Subramaniam disliked 
Johnson's approach, he did not "'connect it with Vietnam." 
Subramaniam stated, "Johnson thought he was driving Indian 
agriculture. We had already changed our policy, but implemen- 
tation was important. Perhaps he thought that unless this pres- 
sure was there the policy wouldn't be properly implemented." 13~ 
USAID Director John P. Lewis, no admirer of Johnson, also did 
not attribute his handling of the food crisis to Vietnam. Lewis 
believed the President was just following his "baseline mode" of 
being a bully in the way he dealt with the Indians. 13z Ambassador 
B. K. Nehru remained puzzled about what motivated Johnson, 
but commented that at no time did any American official men- 
tion India's policy on Vietnam in connection with the hold-up in 
food shipments.133 
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Harold Saunders, then on the NSC, thought Johnson was 
genuinely worried about the prospect of an India that would 
depend forever on the wheat fields of Kansas to feed it and was 
ready to exert enormous pressure to ensure full implementation 
of the new agricultural policies.  TM Other factors influencing 
Johnson's tactics, in Saunder's opinion, were the shortfall in US 
wheat supplies because of the US drought and 1965 shipments 
to India, the link between food exports to India and bread prices 
in US supermarkets, the impact on domestic inflation, the reac- 
tion of the Congress to the need to fund additional help for India 
and, presumably, Johnson's annoyance over Indira's stance on 
Vietnam.! 35 Howard Wriggins, on the NSC staff at the time, 
agreed with Saunders. Although Wriggins believed Vietnam was 
a factor, he did not doubt Johnson's sincerity in wanting to see 
India able to feed itself as well as the overall complexity of food 
issue. 136 NO one will ever know for certain what motivated 
President Johnson, but the author accepts Saunder's and Wrig- 
gins' views as the most plausible explanation. 

The green revolution would presumably have succeeded 
without Johnson's pressure tactics, but, because of them, Indi- 
ans from Mrs. Gandhi on down made certain that their country 
would become self-sufficient in foodgrain production and never 
again have to face the indignity suffered during the 1965 and 
1966 droughts. Johnson achieved his goal--India could feed 
itself--but the cost was high for Indo-American relations. As 
Lawrence Veit, US Treasury Attach6 in New Delhi in the early 
1970s wrote, "The United States reaped a harvest of Indian 
wrath which endured for more than a decade." 137 

In addition to the affront from Johnson's tight-fisted ap- 
proach to PL 480, the devaluation fiasco caused resentment in 
India, much of it directed against the United States. The failure 
of the consortium to provide the additional aid the World Bank 
had promised to cushion the impact of devaluation left Indian 
economic policy officials feeling they were badly let down. 138 
Although the Aid to India Consortium redeemed the pledge of 
$900 million in nonproject assistance in 1966--nearly ha l f  a 
year after devaluation--the consortium failed to provide prom- 
ised increased aid during the following two years. For 1967- 
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1968, when the World Bank estimated nonproject aid require- 
ments at $750 million, the consortium offered only $295 mil- 
lion. To make up the difference, the Bank called for $1.275 
billion in 1968-1969. At the May 1968 consortium meeting, the 
donors "came up miserably short," pledging only $642 mil- 
l ion- l i t t l e  more than half the amount the World Bank 
projected) ~9 

Senior Indian officials like I. G. Patel, then top economist in 
the Department of Economic Affairs and India's representative 
to the consortium meetings, were bitter. Patel told AID Director 
John Lewis: 

The government had entered into the 1966 transaction in 
good faith. At home it had sustained abuse, reverses and 
charges of boot-licking. Now the quid pro quo had withered 
. . . .  Never again would India allow itself to become so 
vulnerably dependent on external assistance.~40 

After the electoral setback, a weakened Mrs. Gandhi began 
to adjust her policies and her advisers. Despite Finance Minister 
Morarji Desai's conservative views, economic policies began to 
revert to the previous system of controls. Liberalization was set 
back. Foreign aid advisers and like-minded Indian colleagues 
lost influence. Pro-market policy voices like Subramaniam and 
Mehta were eased out. Politically, Mrs. Gandhi was in the 
process of shifting to the left, strengthening her base of support 
for the showdown that she felt was looming for control of the 
Congress with the party bosses.'4~ 

T h e  N o n - P r o l i f e r a t i o n  Trea ty :  I n d i a  Says  N o  

After China exploded a nuclear weapon in October 1964, 
one of Washington's major nonproliferation policy concerns 
was that New Delhi not follow suit to become the world's sixth 
nuclear power. And the threat was not merely theoretical. Ever 
since independence, India had developed a substantial civil 
nuclear energy program, headed by the dynamic Dr. Homi 
Bhabha until his death in an airplane crash in 1965. Jealous of its 
newly won independence, India had already proven difficult-- 
from the US standpointmin nonproliferation negotiations, op- 
posing American efforts to impose international controls as an 
infringement on sovereignty as far back as the 1947 UN discus- 
sions regarding the Baruch Plan for international control of 
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Courtesy of the LBJ Library 

12 September 1967, President Johnson with Morarji Desai, Deputy Prime 
Minister of India. 
atomic energy. India and the United States, nonetheless, cooper- 
ated in the Atoms for Peace program and in the construction of 
the Tarapur nuclear power plant near Bombay.'42 

The initial Indian response after the Chinese explosion was 
encouraging. The CIA reported that the Indian cabinet would 
continue the country's long-standing policy of not producing 
nuclear weapons. ~43 A secret session of Congress Party leaders 
endorsed Shastri's decision not to proceed with an Indian weap- 
ons program. '44 Several months later, in early 1965, Dr. Homi 
Bhabha reiterated this position when he met with Under Secre- 
tary of State George Ball. Bhabha stressed that India needed to 
show some "'peaceful" nuclear achievement to offset the prestige 
China had gained by testing. The Indian AEC chief asserted 
India, if it wished to do so, could produce a nuclear device in 18 
months. 145 

Prominent US scientist, Dr. Jerome Wiesner of the Massa- 
chusetts Institute of Technology, visited India in early 1965 at 
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the urging of Washington to explore ways to offset the Chinese 
explosion. Writing President Johnson, Wiesner said he found no 
"simple technical spectacular" but urged a "determined effort to 
ward off the Indian nuclear decision." Wiesner believed the 
Indians could produce a weapon in two to three years.146 

During this period, India tried to get a UN sponsored 
guarantee against the Chinese nuclear threat. Neither the Ameri- 
cans nor the Soviets were forthcoming. In the fall of 1965, 
Ambassador B. K. Nehru commented, "It is aI1 very well to ask a 
person not to defend himself, but then somebody else has got to 
take on that defense. ''~47 In June 1966, the NSC considered the 
Indian nuclear issue. Leading off the meeting, Johnson said he 
was worried by pressures for India to go nuclear, expressing his 
view that India's "economic progress and the stability of the 
whole area depend on India not going nuclear." The follow-on 
discussion was, however, diffuse and there were no clear-cut 
conclusions about how to influence India to close the door on the 
nuclear option. 148 

In the following two years, the United States and the Soviet 
Union worked together to shape the Non-Proliferation Treaty in 
an effort to bar further proliferation. Although India came under 
heavy pressure from both countries to adhere to the NPT, New 
Delhi in the end refused. The policy debate in India focused on a 
number of issues, but two were primary. First was India's con- 
tention that the NPT was an "unequal" arrangement between 
nuclear haves and have-nots. In contrast to the 1963 Limited 
Test Ban Treaty, which India signed and which imposed obliga- 
tions on all parties, New Delhi found the NPT a one-sided affair. 
Only the have-nots had to make concessions, forgoing any fur- 
ther prospect of developing nuclear explosions, even for peace- 
ful purposes, and had to accept safeguards on all nuclear 
facilities. The Indians complained that the nuclear weapons 
states--the haves--neither moved toward disarmament nor 
placed their own nuclear facilities under international 
safeguards. 

Second was Indian concern about the threat a nuclear China 
posed, especially in the hostile atmosphere that prevailed after 
the 1962 Sino-Indian War. New Delhi found the NPT silent on 
the question of security guarantees for non-nuclear powers 
against the threat of nuclear attack. ~49 Although Indira Gandhi 
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sent her principal aide and cabinet secretary, L. K. Jha, to 
Moscow, London, and Washington to explore nuclear guaran- 
tees against the Chinese threat, ~5° Jha was unable to develop a 
formula that satisfied all concerned. 151 

After considerable debate among nuclear and foreign policy 
officials and in the cabinet, Mrs. Gandhi decided not to sign the 
NPT. India became one of the handful of holdout countries, 
along with Pakistan, Israel, Egypt, South Africa, Argentina, and 
Brazil. Given US-Soviet pressures, this was not an easy decision, 
but, according to then Foreign Secretary C. S. Jha, India found 
the negative elements of the NPT too great to agree to 
adherence. 152 

Despite the decision to reject the NPT, Mrs. Gandhi reiter- 
ated that India was not going to develop nuclear weapons. The 
Prime Minister also refused to give the go-ahead for work on a 
peaceful nuclear explosion. A few years later, after the Ban- 
gladesh crisis, Mrs. Gandhi would change her mind and give the 
Indian AEC the green light to proceed with a nuclear test. At the 
end of the 1960s, however, India maintained a position of 
ambivalence. Its refusal to sign the NPT kept open the nuclear 
option. 

1967: Revised US Military Supply Policy 
Although the bilateral focus between the United States and 

India shifted to economic issues after the 1965 War, the ques- 
tion of US arms supply to South Asia continued to nag. m The 
new American envoy to Pakistan, Eugene Locke, a Texan friend 
of President Johnson who replaced career diplomat Walter Mc- 
Conaughy, fixed on this issue as the key to rebuilding the bat- 
tered relationship. Locke argued that if Washington wanted to 
restrain Pakistan from moving even closer to Communist 
China, it should case the arms embargo, as President Ayub 
requested, at least to permit the Pakistanis to obtain spare parts 
for aircraft and other equipment the United States previously 
supplied. ~ 54 

Ambassador Bowles vehemently disagreed. If $1 billion of 
arms aid failed to deter Pakistan from cozying up to Beijing, 
Bowles asked, why should $8 million in spare parts do the trick? 
The envoy warned that Washington should expect a "devastat- 
ing" Indian reaction to a change in the arms policy, which he 
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also thought would preclude any chance for Indo-Pakistan 
agreement on arms limitations, m The disagreement between 
the two ambassadors grew shriller. Not above sending private ad 
hominem arguments to Johnson via White House aide Marvin 
Watson, Locke charged Bowles favored India over Pakistan 
contrary to "the belief of President Johnson." Locke also alleged 
Bowles wanted to avoid the embarrassment of having personal 
statements that the United States would never again arm Paki- 
stan proven wrong.156 

After a lengthy interdepartmental review, Washington fi- 
nally announced a new arms policy in April 1967 that reopened 
the door for Pakistanmbut only a bit. Increasingly preoccupied 
with Vietnam and disinclined to reengage himself personally in 
the South Asian arms question, Johnson left the policy formula- 
tion to State and Defense. 157 The new approach called for cash 
sales of spare parts for weapons the United States previously 
supplied on a "case-by-case" basis, but continued the ban on 
sales of new weapons systems and barred credits or grant mili- 
tary assistance. ~ 58 The basic purpose was to align US arms supply 
policy with the reduced US security engagement in the 
subcontinent. ~ 59 

The new policy further upset Pakistan, contrary to Locke's 
prognosis. Still seething over Washington's treatment during the 
1965 War, Pakistan judged the partial lifting of the embargo as 
insufficient to cause any significant warming in relations with 
the United States or reduction in the burgeoning arms relation- 
ship with China. The Indians were relieved that the United 
States had not opened the door wider for a resumption of arms 
supplies to Pakistan. New Delhi publicly grumbled, nonetheless, 
about the change which it claimed would help Pakistan. ~60 The 
new policy, in fact, benefitted India more since New Delhi was 
far less reliant on US arms than Pakistan. 

If Washington was pulling back from South Asia, Moscow 
was stepping up its engagement, pursuing better relations with 
Pakistan. In the face of the deepening Sino-Soviet rift, Moscow 
hoped to counter China's growing influence with Pakistan and 
to reduce even further the US role with its erstwhile ally. In the 
spring of 1965, the Soviets received President Ayub Khan for a 
well-publicized state visit to Moscow. The communiqu6 issued 
at the end ofAyub vis i tmand the failure to speak of Kashmir as 
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belonging to India when Shastri came a month later--suggested 
a shift by the Russians toward a more neutral stance. 16~ The 
Soviets continued the more even-handed approach through the 
1965 Kashmir War and in their mediation at the Taskhent 
conference. 

Even though the Soviets substantially increased their arms 
shipments to India after 1965, they crossed an important policy 
threshold with Pakistan in 1968 when Moscow agreed to initiate 
exports of sophisticated arms, including tanks, jet aircraft, ar- 
mored personnel carriers, and artillery. ~62 The Pakistanis, in 
turn, said "Thank you" to Moscow by not renewing the lease for 
the US base at Peshawar. Despite the fact that the development 
of sophisticated space satellites greatly reduced the facility's 
importance to US intelligence agencies, closing the Peshawar 
base symbolized the dramatic decline in US-Pakistani relations. 
Pakistan's decision to withdraw from active participation in the 
SEATO alliance was a further reflection of the growing strains 
with Washington. 

The Indians were, not surprisingly, unhappy about the pros- 
pect of Soviet arms for Pakistan. Although opposition parties 
lost a vote in parliament to condemn the Soviets by a 200-61 
count, Mrs. Gandhi made her displeasure known through pri- 
vate channels and spoke critically in public of the Soviet ac- 
tion. 163 The relative restraint in Mrs. Gandhi's response w a s  
explained by her domestic move to the left politically, by India's 
increased dependence on the Soviets for military equipment, 
and by her own assessment that private diplomacy was the best 
way of influencing Moscow. 

For the same reasons, India reacted with relative restraint, 
in August 1968, after Soviet tanks crushed the liberal Commu- 
nist government of Alexander Dubcek in Czechoslovakia. De- 
spite the fact that Mrs. Gandhi strongly "deplored" the Soviet 
action, India refused to join in the vote to "condemn" Moscow 
in the United Nations, abstaining in the Security Council. As in 
1956 when the Soviets crushed the Hungarian revolution, India 
refused to join non-Communist nations in condemning the So- 
viet action in Czechoslovakia. 

At the end of 1968, India's relations with Moscow remained 
under strain. The attempt by the Soviets to pursue a more 
balanced policy in the subcontinentmby providing arms to both 
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India and Pakistan--encountered troubles not too dissimilar to 
those the United States experienced earlier. Soviet promises that 
the weapons furnished Pakistan would not be used against India 
met with incredulity after the experience with similar US 
pledges. ~ 64 

Relations with the United States also suffered. The backlash 
against Johnson's PL 480 policy and devaluation were one 
cause. Another damaging factor was the reaction in India to 
revelations of widespread funding of cultural and educational 
groups by the Central Intelligence Agency. 165 Indian intellectuals 
were greatly offended to learn that prestigious organizations, 
like the Asia Foundation, were secretly receiving funds from the 
CIA. Feeling tricked and betrayed, some Indian intellectuals led 
an anti-US crusade, alleging academic imperialism. 166 The Sovi- 
ets and their local Communist allies and fellow-travelers took 
full advantage of the exposures to further tarnish the US image 
in india. 

A Summing Up: Indo-US Relations On the Decline 

The five years Lyndon Johnson served in the White House 
saw a major shift in relations between India and the United 
States. For India, after the ignominious defeat by China in 1962, 
these were trying years, marked by sluggish economic perform- 
ance and near famine. Only the 1965 war, where India thwarted 
Pakistan's attempt to seize Kashmir by force, buoyed morale. 
Pandit Nehru passed from the scene in May 1964. His successor, 
Lal Bahadur Shastri, was in office barely nineteen months before 
he died at Tashkent. Indira Gandhi, who succeeded to power in 
January 1966, was still struggling to consolidate her political 
control when Johnson's term ended in January 1969. 

The United States, New Delhi thought, had treated India 
badly. Part of the problem related to Johnson's brusque Texan 
style, better designed for US Congressional arm-twisting than 
dealing with touchy South Asians. The rude canceling of the 
Shastri visit in 1965 and insensitive management of PL 480 
policy left scars, whatever the President's motives. The rupee 
devaluation debacle and Washington's unwillingness to meet 
what India saw as its legitimate defense needs additionally 
soured New Delhi's attitude toward the United States. 
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Americans were also disenchanted. India seemed to be go- 
ing nowhere economically. Unable to feed itself, India was 
hardly the model of democratic development Washington 
hoped other Third World countries would emulate as a rival to 
Communist China. Official Washington was asking what the 
point was of pouring hundreds of millions of dollars into a 
country that had performed poorly and remained at odds with 
much of US foreign policy? Was it worthwhile to continue to pay 
so much attention to South Asia, especially at a time when 
500,000 American troops were fighting to save South Vietnam 
from a Communist takeover? All the United States had to show 
for more than a decade of trying to promote peace between India 
and Pakistan was the 1965 War. The two countries had made 
graphically clear that they were far more worried about each 
other than any external threat. 

As the clock ran down on the Johnson administration, a 
sense of exhaustion with South Asia and its seemingly insupera- 
ble problems had taken hold even among liberal Democrats 
favorably inclined toward India. The glum mood of 1969 about 
India, contrasted strikingly with the optimism of January 1961, 
when John F. Kennedy became President. In the intervening 
eight years, because of the Vietnam war and the revised ap- 
praisal of the subcontinent's relevance to US interests, New 
Delhi no longer was seen as having major strategic importance. 
India, in Washington's eyes, had become just a big country full 
of poor people. 
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Chapter VII 

Nixon: The Tilt 

W h e n  Richard Nixon replaced Lyndon Johnson in the 
White House in January 1969, his main foreign policy concern 
lay on winding down the unpopular war in Vietnam. The new 
President was content to continue the disengaged approach 
toward South Asia which Johnson began after the 1965 India- 
Pakistan War.~ As Henry Kissinger, the Harvard international 
relations specialist Nixon named to head the National Security 
Council, wrote in his memoirs, "When the Nixon 
administration took office, our policy objective on the 
subcontinent was, quite simply, to avoid adding another 
complication to our agenda. ''2 There was little to suggest in 1969 
that US policy toward South Asia would stir great emotion and 
controversy. 

Nixon took office unusually experienced in foreign affairs 
after his eight years as Vice President under Eisenhower. He 
continued to pursue this interest as a private citizen in the 
1960s, his travels taking him to South Asia in 1964 and again in 
1967. On both occasions, the Indians received him with the 
minimum of appropriate protocol; the Pakistanis lionized the 
former Vice President. 3 This treatment presumably did nothing 
to lessen Nixon's preference for Pakistan, the erstwhile ally of 
the United States, and his dislike for India and its policy of 
nonalignment. "Nixon,  to put it mildly," Kissinger stated, "was 
less susceptible to Indian claims of moral leadership than some 
of his predecessors; indeed, he viewed what he considered their 
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alleged obsequiousness toward India as a prime example of 
liberal soft-headedness.'4 

The Indian Prime Minister reciprocated Nixon's lack of 
enthusiasm. She told one interviewer, "I think I had excellent 
relations with everybody [American presidents] except Mr. 
Nixon. And he had made up his mind beforehand. ''5 Mrs. Gan- 
dhi could scarcely conceal her boredom in receiving the former 
Vice President when he called on her in 1967. After about 
twenty minutes of desultory conversation, she asked the Minis- 
try of External Affairs escort--speaking in Hindi so Nixon 
would not understand--how much longer the session would 
last. 6 

Despite his personal leanings, Nixon's aim at the start of his 
administration was to have good relations with both India and 
Pakistan, continuing substantial economic assistance programs, 
as well as a large Peace Corps program in India. Nixon had 
no plans to revive the close military relationship with Pakistan 
which he strongly supported during the Eisenhower 
administration. 7 

In August 1969, six months after entering the White House, 
Nixon became the second serving Chief Executive to visit India, 
stopping there and in Pakistan en route from the Far East to 
Europe. The public welcome in New Delhi had none of the 
overwhelming enthusiasm Eisenhower received ten years ear- 
lier. 8 Official meetings were low-key, almost perfunctory. 
Neither Mrs. Gandhi nor Nixon displayed much warmth. The 
substantive discussions, mainly on Vietnam, lacked spark and 
animation. 9 

From New Delhi, Nixon flew to Lahore in West Pakistan, 
where he met President Yahya Khan, who had replaced Ayub 
Khan five months before. 10 The reception was warmer than in 
India, even though relations remained strained because of con- 
tinued Pakistani resentment over US arms restrictions. ~ 
Nixon's discussions with Yahya were also more substantive than 
his talks in New Delhi. Previously, Pakistan's close ties with 
China had caused great tension with Washington. Now Nixon 
took advantage of these good relations to ask Yahya Khan to  
convey to the Chinese leadership his interest in an opening to 
China. 12 Thus began two years of secret diplomatic exchanges 
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through the Pakistanis that led to the stunning Kissinger trip to 
Beijing in July 1971. 

Mrs. Gandhi Defeats the Syndicate: Shifts to the Left 

At the moment Nixon was traveling through South Asia, 
India was swept up in political civil war between Indira Gandhi 
and the Congress Party bosses. In 1969, after two years of shaky 
coexistence, Mrs. Gandhi and the Syndicate split over who 
would fill the largely ceremonial post of president after Zakir 
Husain died in April. The contest became a fight to the death 
after Mrs. Gandhi refused to support the choice of the party 
leadership, Sanjiva Reddy, instead backing the opposition can- 
didate, Vice President V. V. Girl, a former Congress politician 
and labor leader. 

Pro and anti-Indira politicians were furiously lobbying the 
country's national and state legislators, who formed the electoral 
college to pick the president. The struggle was rough for each 
side knew the loser would be finished politically. The battle was 
mainly over power, but had policy overtones as well. After the 
Congress Party's poor showing in 1967, Indira increasingly cast 
herself as a populist reformer, while trying to paint the bosses as 
right-wing supporters of big business and conservative rural 
interests. When she lost out to the Syndicate over the selection of 
the presidential nominee, the Prime Minister struck back by 
firing the Finance Minister, her conservative rival Morarji 
Desai, and nationalizing India's major banks, moves that the 
left-wing of the Congress Party and the Communists warmly 
welcomed. 13 

Mrs. Gandhi's candidate, V. V. Giri, won by an eyelashm 
420,077 to 405,427. Indira had vanquished the Syndicate. In the 
aftermath, a polarized Congress Party formally split in Novem- 
ber with 222 of 284 Congress members of parliament joining 
Mrs. Gandhi's faction, appropriately called the Congress (I)--  
short for Indira. Lacking the votes for a clear parliamentary 
majority, she depended on the support of the Communists and 
other small parties to remain in power until the 1971 elections. 
In struggling against the Syndicate, Mrs. Gandhi consciously 
shifted to the left politically, toward more socialist domestic 
policies, positioning herself as the champion of India's poor 
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1 August 1969, President Nixon addressing a state banquet in the Presidential 
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masses. Although foreign policy was not a basic issue, her popu- 
list domestic shift was paralleled by strengthened relations with 
the Soviets a trend hardly pleasing to the Nixon 
administration.14 

As Indira moved to the left and a conservative administra- 
tion took power in the United States, new frictions arose be- 
tween Washington and New Delhi. Wanting to do something for 
his Pakistani friends, Nixon in October 1970 approved what was 
called the "one-time exception" to the 1967 policy of not export- 
ing lethal weapons systems to India and Pakistan. Washington 
agreed to sell Pakistan 300 armored personnel carriers and same 
aircraft worth about $50 million, at the same time reaffirming 
the intention to continue the 1967 policy. 15 Although Pakistan 
hoped for more, Islamabad was pleased to get something from 
the United States. The Indians predictably were annoyed, re- 
maining ever allergic to US arms for Pakistan and suspicious of 
Nixon. 

Vietnam became a second cause of tension after India spoke 
of raising the level of its diplomatic mission in Hanoi to an 
Embassy. When Washington warned New Delhi that this step 
would mean a cutoff in US aid, Mrs. Gandhi prudently deferred 
action. Although assistance levels were declining, India was still 
receiving several hundred million dollars of American aid annu- 
ally. US assistance remained an important source of foreign 
funds for Indian development that she did not want to lose for an 
act of political symbolism. 16 

A third bilateral problem had an unusual originmthe unau- 
thorized construction of a Soviet cultural center in Trivandrum, 
the capital of the South India state of Kerala. After 1954, the 
Indians did not permit foreign governments to establish librar- 
ies or cultural centers outside New Delhi or consular cities. They 
did, however, allow United States Information Service (USIS) 
centers set up before 1954 in Lucknow, Patna, Hyderabad, 
Bangalore, and Trivandrum, where there were no US consular 
offices, to continue in operation. 

The Sovietsmperhaps with silent assent from friends in the 
Government of India--proceeded, contrary to the rules, to start 
building a center in Trivandrum, where the Communists were 
politically strong. Unfortunately, in December 1969, the build- 
ing collapsed, killing nine workers. Because of the publicity the 
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accident generated, the Indian authorities were under pressure 
to take some action. New Delhi's decision was to refuse to 
permit further work on the Soviet center in Trivandrum, but 
also to apply the 1954 rule to the American libraries. USIS was 
told to shut the five centers down. 

Indignant that the United States should suffer for a Soviet 
misdeed, the State Department reacted angrily. In the face of the 
stiff reaction, New Delhi watered down the ruling, saying the 
USIS centers could stay open provided they were placed under 
the auspices of the Indian Council on Cultural Relations 
(ICCR). But Washington was in no mood to compromise, mak- 
ing it a matter of principle that the centers remain under com- 
plete US control. Neither side budged, the libraries closed, and 
Indo-US relations suffered.17 The Soviets, who agreed to put the 
proposed Trivandrum center under the ICCR, and their friends 
in India doubtless concluded they had not done badly from the 
episode. Ever since revelations in the late 1960s about CIA 
funding for some groups, Indian leftists and pro-Soviet ele- 
ments, charging the United States with "academic imperial- 
ism," worked hard to reduce the extent of the US intellectual 
presence in India. 

The fourth pinprick occurred in the fall of 1970 when the 
United Nations celebrated its 25th anniversary. Numerous 
heads of government, including Prime Minister Gandhi and 
Pakistan's President Yahya Khan, attended the ceremonies in 
New York. Yahya and a number of other leaders accepted 
President Nixon's invitation for dinner at the White House to 
commemorate the UN anniversary. Perhaps reflecting her per- 
sonal feelings about Nixon--Mrs. Gandhi somewhat gracelessly 
turned down the invitation without much of an explanation. Is 
During Yahya's visit to Washington, Nixon talked further about 
the opening to China. He asked the Pakistani President, then 
planning a trip to Beijing, to tell the Chinese leaders that he 
regarded a Sino-American rapprochement as "essential. ''19 
Nixon is also said to have told Yahya, "Nobody has occupied the 
White House who is friendlier to Pakistan than me. ''20 

Meanwhile, the Soviets in late 1969 decided to abandon 
their efforts to pursue balanced relations with both India and 
Pakistan, reverting to the previous policy of closer links with 
India. In March 1969, border dashes with China brought the 
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Sino-Soviet split to the boiling point. As the China question 
became uppermost for the Kremlin, Moscow must have won- 
dered about the benefits from its even-handed approach in the 
subcontinent. The spirit of Tashkent proved brief, Indo-Paki- 
stani relations soon reverting to their usual state of mutual 
tension and suspicion. Despite the arrival of some Soviet arms 
and the promise of more, the Pakistanis rebuffed Moscow's calls 
for looser ties with Communist China. 

The leftward turn in Indira's domestic policies was highly 
pleasing to the Russians. The Soviet policy of balanced relations 
with Pakistan was, however, causing considerable strain in rela- 
tions. Mrs. Gandhi and others made clear they did not like 
Soviet arms shipments to Pakistan; the Indians began to make 
noises about a rapprochement with China. 2~ In late summer 
1969, Kosygin stopped in India en route to and from the funeral 
of Ho Chi Mirth. After talks on these occasions and during a 
September 1969 visit to Moscow by Indian Foreign Minister 
Dinesh Singhmregarded at the time as pro-Soviet--the Kremlin 
adjusted its South Asia policy. The Soviets gave up their efforts 
with Pakistan, deciding against further arms agreements with 
Islamabad, and returned to a South Asia policy anchored in 
close relations with India. Even though Indira Gandhi refused to 
agree to the anti-Chinese Asian Collective Security scheme 
Brezhnev proposed during 1969, Indo-Soviet tensions greatly 
eased and relations substantially improved, z2 

Pleased with the Kremlin's policy readjustment and deci- 
sion to back off from offering additional military equipment to 
Pakistan, New Delhi was willing to negotiate a treaty of friend- 
ship with Moscow, similar to the agreement Moscow had with 
Egypt, then in its pro-Soviet period. Negotiations proceeded 
quietly through the Indian Embassy in Moscow under Ambassa- 
dor D. P. Dhar, an outspoken supporter of closer Indo-Soviet 
relations. Although the two countries reached agreement, Mrs. 
Gandhi decided not to sign the treaty from concern that this step 
would cause a public stir about a change in India's nonalign- 
ment, both domestically and with the United States. Put on the 
shelf, the draft reemerged two years later as the basis for the 
1971 Indo-Soviet Treaty33 

During this period, Washington, in keeping with the spirit 
of Nixon's underlying low-key approach to the region, stayed 
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detached from subcontinental tensions. Relations with both 
India and Pakistan remained on the back burner. At the same 
time, the secret exchanges between Washington and Beijing 
through the Pakistanis, the Romanians, and others were wend- 
ing their slow course. 

Indira Gandhi's victory over the party bosses in 1969 un- 
derscored her evolution from the timid, stumbling "dumb doll" 
the Syndicate supported in 1966 rather than endure Morarji 
Desai. Outwitting her more experienced opponents, she had 
evolved into a shrewd political leader, showing unexpected skills 
and toughness. Once she set upon a course, she moved force- 
fully, exhibiting none of the tentativeness of her first year in 
office. 24 She differed greatly from Jawaharlal Nehru, the father 
she deeply lovedmand knew it. She told Italian journalist Ori- 
ana Fallaci, "He was a saint who strayed into poli t ics. .  I 
am a tough politician. ''25 

Although Nehru dominated the scene with his ideas, per- 
sonality, and enormous prestige, he allowed provincial Congress 
Party leaders to rule their domains. As Mrs. Gandhi battered her 
way to dominance, she learned from bitter experience to trust 
few of her colleagues. Once Indira emerged victorious, she 
tightly centralized control of power. Mrs. Gandhi did not, like 
her father, serve as foreign minister, but none of those who held 
the portfoliomM. C. Chagla, Dinesh Singh, Swaran Singh, Y. B. 
Chavan in the 1960s and 1970s and P. V. Narasimha Rao in the 
1980smexercised independent power. It was Madame Gandhi 
who made the decisions. The ministers loyally implemented her 
wishes or ceased to be ministers. 26 

She wanted India, although poor, to be respected as a coun- 
try of importance, as the dominant power in South Asia, as heir 
to a great civilization, and as a leader of the Non-Aligned Move- 
ment. Unlike her father, Mrs. Gandhi had no special policy 
formula to achieve her goals, lndira had, as Surjit Mansingh 
wrote, "no grand designs, no sweeping analysis of current affairs 
to educate her audiences, no world vision to point the way India 
should take . . . it was enough to accept facts, adjust to them 
and seek to use them to advantage. ''27 Unlike her eloquent 
father, Mrs. Gandhi spoke in a direct, unadorned, and concise 
manner; like him, she was given to moody silences in private 
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meetings that often put off visitors, who were also unsettled by 
her occasional flashes of sarcasm. 

Despite the fact that she paid much lip service to Nehru's 
vision of nonalignment, the movement was in the process of 
transforming itself from a grouping of newly independent Afro- 
Asian countries seeking to stand apart from the two quarreling 
power blocs into a platform for the world's poorer nations, the 
so-called Third World, to press their economic claims against 
the developed world. As the Non-Aligned Movement (NAM) 
swelled to over a hundred countries--even implausibly embrac- 
ing such aligned states as Castro's Cubamits  periodic gatherings 
became like UN General Assembly meetings, full of standard 
ritual speeches and the adoption of ritual resolutions--invari- 
ably more critical of the United States than of the Soviet 

Union.28 

In the United States, Richard Nixon also centralized con- 
trol over foreign policy. His chief aide, Henry Kissinger, fash- 
ioned a high-powered National Security Council staff that often 
operated independently of the State Department, which at 
t imesmfor example, in the China initiative--was left in the 
dark. To occupy the bureaucracy and to develop new ideas, 
Kissinger commissioned a wide array of policy studies called 
National Security Study Memoranda or NSSMs. In keeping with 
South Asia's low priority, it was not until NSSM No. 109 that 
policy toward the subcontinent received NSC attention. 29 

Nixon broke new ground in spelling out more clearly and 
publicly than previous Presidents the guidelines for US foreign 
policy in a series of annual reports to the Congress that pro- 
vided-- to  use the phrase popular at the t ime- -a  "conceptual 
framework" for US policy. 3° Looking beyond the Vietnam War 
and the rigidities of the Cold War, Nixon and Kissinger wanted 
to create a late 20th century global version of the 19th century 
European power balance. A key to this was bringing Communist 
China into the family of nationsmreversing two decades of US 
policy to isolate Beijing.3t Unlike the world view prevalent in the 
United States between 1956 and 1965, India and the Third 
World had little importance in the Nixon/Kissinger power 
equation. 32 

Reflecting South Asia's diminished role was the bland com- 
mentary in the 1970 reportma few paragraphs out of nearly 200 
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pages--and a low-key three pages in the 1971 report. In these 
passages, the President made three main points: 

0 US strategic concerns in South Asia were limited to 
seeing that neither China nor the Soviet Union gained a 
dominant position in the subcontinent; 

O The United States accepted Pakistan's altered foreign 
policy and India's nonalignment. "We have no desire to 
press on them a closer relationship than their own inter- 
est leads them to desire," Nixon declared; and, 

• The main US interests in the subcontinent were to pro- 
mote economic development, to respond to humanita- 
rian concerns and to encourage India and Pakistan to 
put aside their differences. 33 

But events did not allow South Asia to remain in the back 
waters. In 1971, the coincidence of the East Pakistan crisis and 
Nixon's China initiative unexpectedly placed the subcontinent 
at the center of US foreign policy concerns. 

The East Pakistan Crisis 

During the winter of 1970-1971, both India and Pakistan 
went to the polls India for its fifth democratic election since 
independence, Pakistan for its first. The result of Pakistan's 
December 1970 balloting gave the pro-East Pakistan autonomy 
Awami League a majority in the proposed National Assembly. 
The Awami League swept 167 of 169 seats in the east, but won 
none in West Pakistan. An unhappy President Yahya Khan set 
about seeking a political settlement, a task for which he showed 
neither skill nor inclination) 4 

Four months later, in March 1971, the Indian election 
results were unambiguous. In what was called the "Indira 
wave," Mrs. Gandhi won a landslide victory after she called 
India's first ever mid-term general elections, a year before the 
end of parliament's five year term. Pledging populist economic 
reforms to "eradicate poverty," Mrs. Gandhi crushed her more 
conservative opponents to win an unchallenged political man- 
date. Her Congress Party faction gained 362 of 520 seats in 
parliament. 
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In Pakistan, neither President Yahya Khan, Bengali leader 
Mujibur Rahman, nor the election winner in West Pakistan, 
Zulfikar All Bhutto, showed much statesmanship in the period 
leading up to the army repression. 35 By mid-March, negotiations 
for a political solution stalled on the key issuemhow much 
autonomy East Pakistan would enjoy. Yahya and Mujib seemed 
to be making progress in last-ditch talks in Dacca, the East 
Pakistan capital. However, after demonstrations on 23 March, 
Pakistan Day, got out of hand with widespread burning of 
Pakistani flags, Yahya abruptly ended the negotiations and flew 
back to Islamabad. During the night of 25 March, Pakistan 
military forces cracked down in the east. Yahya outlawed the 
Awami League, sought to arrest its leaders as traitors, and tried 
to disarm Bengali members of the armed forces. 36 

A period of confusion followed with little accurate informa- 
tion about the situation in East Pakistan. Only gradually, as 
thousands of refugees began to flee into neighboring India, did 
the story emerge of the Pakistan military's harsh suppression, 
especially of Bengali Hindus, a sizeable minority in East Paki- 
stan. Most East Pakistani political leaders escaped to India, but 
Awami League leader Sheikh Mujibur Rahman, who fatalisti- 
cally remained at home, was arrested and jailed in West 
Pakistan. 

The initial foreign reaction was relatively calm, largely lim- 
ited to expressions of hope that Pakistan could resolve its diffi- 
culties and return to a constitutional path. In a few weeks, the 
mood changed after the refugee trickle became a flood and the 
story of West Pakistani brutality became known. In India, there 
was an insistent clamor for military action to enable the people 
of "East Bengal," (the term adopted in India rather than "East 
Pakistan") to exercise their right of self-determination. Al- 
though Mrs. Gandhi strongly denounced Yahya, she resisted 
pressure for early Indian military interventionmher generals 
told her they needed six months to prepare for a campaign 
against East Pakistan. 

At the same time, the Prime Minister took a key decision 
not to allow the refugees to stay permanently in India, insisting 
that they eventually return home. The flood of refugees, India 
declared, transformed an internal Pakistani problem to one 
between India and Pakistan. 37 Nownumbering in the millions, 
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the refugees posed an enormous economic burden on India and 
a potentially serious political problem in West Bengal with its 
tradition of leftwing radicalism. 

By May, the main outlines of Indian policy were set: the goal 
was the undoing of Yahya's crackdown in East Pakistan, al- 
though not necessarily through the emergence of an independent 
Bangladesh. On the military side, the Indians increased covert 
help to the Bengali members of the Pakistani military who 
managed to escape. These became the core of the Mukhti Bahini 
or People's Brotherhood, a guerrilla force soon numbering in the 
thousands, which began to attack transportation, communica- 
tions, and power facilities in East Pakistan. The Indian Army 
also started to prepare for possible action against East Pakistan 
in the coming wintermwhen dry weather would make the ter- 
rain more suitable for fighting and the snows in the Himalayas 
would impede Chinese help to the Pakistanis. 3s 

On the political side, the Indians, together with the Ban- 
gladeshis, launched a vigorous diplomatic and public relations 
campaign to stir world public opinion against Pakistan. Senior 
Indian political leaders, like Jayaprakash Narayan and Foreign 
Minister Swaran Singh, roamed the globe seeking support. 39 The 
foreign response was not entirely to India's liking: there was 
much sympathy for the human suffering of the Bengali refugees, 
much criticism of Pakistani brutality, but little inclination to 
intervene. 40 The Soviet Union pressed Pakistan the hardest. To 
India's chagrin, however, Moscow continued its economic assis- 
tance to Pakistan and spoke of the need for restraint in solving 
the crisis. Although China spoke loudly in support of its Paki- 
stani friends, Beijing provided no tangible assistance beyond 
verbal encouragement. 41 

In the United States, the Nixon administration urged a 
peaceful settlement, but both in public and private acted gin- 
gerly in its dealings with Pakistan. 42 When the US Consul Gen- 
eral in Dacca, Archer K. Blood, forwarded a cable protesting US 
official silence about the human rights violations in East Paki- 
stan, Kissinger was livid. 43 The message from Dacca was simple: 
since the United States had no vital interests in Pakistan, tradi- 
tional concern for human rights should govern US policy, result- 
ing in condemnation of the West Pakistanis. 
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Blood and his colleagues in Dacca were, of course, unaware 
of the role Pakistan was playing in the secret negotiations with 
China, which--quite apart from Nixon's liking for Pakistan-- 
made the President disinclined to lean on Yahya. On 27 April, a 
month after the crackdown in East Pakistan, Agha Hilaly, the 
Pakistani Ambassador in Washington, delivered a key message 
to the White House from Chou En-lai, giving the green light for 
an American emissary to visit China and proposing that Paki- 
stan serve as the channel for the arrangements. 44 With Nixon's 
most dating diplomatic maneuver now approaching realization, 
the President had even less interest in upsetting Yahya, whose 
country had become centrally involved in the process. 

The trouble was that only a handful in the US government, 
not including the Secretary of State, knew either of the negotia- 
tions with China or of the role Pakistan was playing. Many in the 
government and the US public interpreted Nixon's reluctance to 
criticize Yahya as reflecting a callous attitude toward human 
tights and a lack of compassion for human suffering in East 
Pakistan. The force of opinion became so strong that, despite 
Nixon's pencilled note on a Kissinger memo, "To all hands. 
Don't squeeze Yahya at this time," the administration took 
some restrictive actions. 45 

Although Nixon and Kissinger tried to maintain tightly 
centralized control, their system broke down during the South 
Asia crisis. The White House failed to provide sufficiently pre- 
cise guidance to enable the bureaucracy to know what Nixon 
wanted it to do. This was especially true during the spring 
months of 1971 when the China trip was the administration's 
most closely held secret. After State asked how to deal with the 
Pakistan arms question, the White House failed to respond. 
State acted as it thought appropriate, 46 suspending licensing 
military exports to Pakistan lest these be used against the people 
of East Pakistan. Under the 1970 "one-time exception," Nixon 
had agreed to provide Pakistan some $50 million in equipment; 
sale of spare parts was also continuing under the policy Presi- 
dent Johnson announced in 1967. 47 

Bureaucratic confusion about the arms policy, a snafu 
which perhaps only someone who has worked in the US govern- 
ment can fully appreciate, made matters worse. The State De- 
partment thought it was embargoing all arms exports to 
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Pakistan, unaware the Defense Department acted only to bar 
new licenses. Licenses approved earlier remained valid. Equip- 
ment already in Pakistan's custody could also be exported. 
According to the State Department's top South Asia hand, Dep- 
uty Assistant Secretary Christopher Van Hollen, neither he nor 
others understood this distinction. As a result, the administra- 
tion incorrectly informed visiting Indian Foreign Minister 
Swaran Singh that the United States had ended all arms ship- 
ments to Pakistan. Out of ignorance, US officials misled the 
Indians and the public. 48 

Several days later, on 22 June, The New York Times re- 
ported that notwithstanding the embargo, several ships were 
about to depart from New York carrying arms for Pakistan. The 
news caused an uproar in India, where an incensed Swaran 
Singh charged US authorities lied to him. In Washington, oppo- 
sition Democrats, led by Senator Ted Kennedy, alleged duplic- 
ity, claiming that some $50 million in arms were being shipped 
to Pakistan at the time the embargo was supposedly in force. The 
US media had a field day lambasting the White House for saying 
one thing and doing the contrary. Although the administration 
shortly realized that the value of military equipment not covered 
by the embargo was only $5 million and not $50 million, the 
larger figure stuck in the public's mind. 

Super-sensitive on the issue of US arms for Pakistan and 
distrustful of Nixon, the Indians had no trouble convincing 
themselves of US duplicity. They chose to ignore American 
explanations of what went wrong, continuing to complain about 
"massive" US arms shipments and to link these with Pakistan's 
repressive policy in the east. Speaking in parliament on 24 June, 
Swaran Singh charged that US arms to Pakistan, "not only 
amount to a condoning of these atrocities, but could be con- 
strued as an encouragement to their continuation. ''49 From this 
point on, relations soured badly. 

Kissinger Visits Beijing 
Two weeks later, Henry Kissinger left Washington on a 

supposedly routine trip to the Far East and South Asia. Only a 
handful of people, including the Pakistani leadership but not the 
Secretary of State, knew his real mission was to slip away to 
China during the stay in Pakistan. After stopping for talks in 
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New Delhi, Kissinger flew to Islamabad, ostensibly for two days 
of discussions. 5° A week later, on 15 July, Nixon astonished the 
world by announcing the Kissinger China mission and his own 
upcoming trip to Beijing. 

The news startled the Indians whomqui te  apart from a US- 
China rapprochementmwere miffed that Kissinger's stop in 
New Delhi was only part of the cover for the China talks. "Here 
we were faced with a tremendous human problem," a high 
official stated, "we thought he had come to discuss it with us, 
and then we found we were just stepping stones on the way to 
China. ''5~ Although the Indians expected little help from Nixon 
in resolving the East Pakistan crisis, especially after the arms 
supply ruckus, closer US-Chinese relations jarred the regional 
power balance at the moment when South Asia faced possible 
war. 

Before the Kissinger trip, the prospect of Soviet and per- 
haps US support against China provided New Delhi with an 
ample security blanket. That Washington's help would no longer 
be forthcoming was made explicit when Kissinger called Indian 
Ambassador L. K. Jha to the Western White House in California 
on 1 7 July to inform the envoy, "We would be unable to help you 
against China" if there were a Chinese military response to a war 
between India and Pakistan. 52 

Indira sprung her own surprise a few weeks later. On 9 
August, New Delhi and Moscow signed the Indo-Soviet Friend- 
ship Treaty. Supporters of closer ties with Moscow, such as 
Foreign Secretary T. N. Kaul and Mrs. Gandhi's principal secre- 
tary, P. N. Haksar, convinced the Prime Minister that it would 
serve India's interest to cement the links with Moscow through 
the treaty that had been negotiated, but not signed, two years 
before. After the Soviets signalled their willingness to proceed, 
the two sides quickly agreed on the final shape of the treaty. The 
key articles provided for consultations in the event of crisis and 
pledged that neither country would support a third party against 
the other. 53 

Even though short of a formal alliance, the treaty forged a 
relationship sufficiently close that it was hard to assert--as 
India d idmthat  New Delhi remained true to the cardinal princi- 
ple of nonalignment, independence from either major power 
bloc. In the summer of 197 I, Nehru's daughter was willing to 
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overlook this lapse. With India facing the prospect of war with 
Pakistan, the important thing was to obtain political and mili- 
tary reinsurance against interference from China. Despite the 
fact that the treaty caused modest immediate ripples in Wash- 
ington, Kissingermin an after-the-fact overstatementmde- 
scribed the accord in his memoirs as a "bombshell" and as 
"throwing a lighted match into a powder keg. ''54 Al though~ 
despite the treatymthe Soviets continued to press for a peaceful 
settlement of the crisis, 55 Nixon regarded India as a Soviet client 
for the rest of the crisis. 56 It was, in fact, not until late October 
that the Soviets shifted to a strongly pro-Indian stance. 

After the Kissinger trip, the United States and China estab- 
lished direct communication through their embassies in Paris. 
Washington no longer needed the Pakistan channel to pass 
messages to the Chinese. US South Asia policy no longer had to 
be hostage to the opening to China. The Nixon administration 
could have kept its head downmmuch as Kissinger claimed was 
the original i n t e n t ~ a n d  let events in the subcontinent play out 
according to their o w n  log ic .  57 The White House chose, instead, 
to become more, rather than less, engaged. Operating from 
assumptions about South Asian events not shared by the US 
government's regional specialists, Nixon and Kissinger placed 
the crisis in a global context, but failed to communicate this 
rationale to the bureaucracy. 58 

Although Nixon urged Yahya to make political concessions 
in the East, he fell short of pressing the Pakistani leader to 
negotiate directly with Mujibur Rahman, the unquestioned Ben- 
gali political leader. American Consulate General officials in 
Calcutta also met with Awami League exiles to see what sort of 
compromise would satisfy them. Washington urged an ex- 
panded UN relief effort to help the refugees in India and im- 
prove economic conditions in East Pakistan. The White House 
hoped that, coupled with gradual political accommodation in 
the east, this approach would eventually ease the crisis. Even 
though "almost to a person, the officials working on South Asia 
were convinced the White House strategy would not work," 
Nixon and Kissinger persisted. 59 In early August, when asked at 
a press conference, Nixon flatly refused to put public pressure on 
Yahya, saying this would not be helpful in solving the crisis. 60 
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To visiting Indians, like political leader Jayaprakash 
Narayan, Henry Kissinger stressed US interest in a peaceful 
solution, support for Bengali self-determination, and confidence 
that in time this would be achieved. Indian officials were skepti- 
cal. 61 By now thoroughly suspicious of American motives, they 
saw the flurry of humanitarian activity as a smoke screen de- 
signed to allow Yahya to consolidate his grip over East Pakistan 
without making the only concessions that Delhi believed 
countedmthe release of Mujibur Rahman and direct negotia- 
tions with the Awami League leader. Yahya's decision in August 
to try Mujibur Rahman for treason hardly increased New 
Delhi's confidence in the likely success of US endeavors. 

As the monsoon ended and the flooded rivers of East Paki- 
stan began to subside, the terrain became more suitable for a 
military solution. By September, most Indians concluded that 
this would be the likely outcome. They did not see sufficient give 
on the Pakistani side to permit a peaceful settlement along lines 
they and the Bengalis would accept. Mrs. Gandhi pressed the 
Soviets hard to shift their position to a more pro-Indian stance 
and to supply additional military equipment needed for a cold 
weather campaign. Moscow hesitated. It was only on 2 1 Octo- 
ber, after Yahya spurned Soviet suggestions for political conces- 
sions, that the Russians fell fully in line with India's wishes. 62 

The next day, Indira Gandhi set offon a three-week tour of 
Western capitals. Her message was simple: India hoped for a 
political solution, but this required negotiations between Yahya 
and Mujibur Rahman. India was patient but would not bear the 
refugee burden indefinitely--an implicit threat of military ac- 
tion. Western Europe received her warmly, especially London 
and Paris. Her diplomatic spade work paid offwhen Britain and 
France split with the United States in December in the UN 
Security Council. 6s 

It was a different story in Washington where Mrs. Gandhi 
arrived on 4 November. As Kissinger and Nixon wrote later--  
and Indian participants confirmedmthe discussions were a dia- 
logue of the deaf. The visit began badly when in Nixon's welcom- 
ing remarks on the White House lawn, he offered sympathy for 
flood victims in the state of Bihar, but made no mention of 
Bengali refugees and their suffering. Untactfully, Mrs. Gandhi 
chided the President in her response for ignoring a "man-made 
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Courtesy of the National Archives, Nixon Presidential Materials Staff 

4 November 1971, President Nixon and Prime Minister Indira Gandhi during 
arrival ceremonies in Washington, DC. 
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tragedy of vast proportions.'64 The Chief Executive returned the 
Prime Minister's slight the next day by keeping her waiting 
forty-five minutes for a White House meeting. 65 

Things failed to improve in the discussions between the two 
leaders. Kissinger called these talks the worst and most painful 
in which he participated. 66 Mrs. Gandhi's longtime press adviser 
Sharada Prasad, who accompanied her on the trip, agreed. He 
recalled the White House state dinner as the most strained of the 
hundred or so such affairs he attended. According to Prasad, 
neither Nixon nor Mrs. Gandhi made much of an effort to 
converse with each other during dinner. Even though Mrs. 
Nixon tried unsuccessfully to break the tension with small talk, 
the atmosphere remained frostyY 

In the ritual after-dinner toasts, the President spoke rather 
aimlessly about famous statesmen who sat in the chair of honor 
at White House state dinners and recalled Pandit Nehru's re- 
marks when they first met in 1953 that India needed a genera- 
tion of peace. Nixon made no mention of the East Pakistan 
crisis. Mrs. Gandhi was blunter. "Our people," the Prime Minis- 
ter declared, "'cannot understand how it is that we who are the 
victims, we who are bearing the brunt and have restrained 
ourselves with such fortitude, should be equated with those 
whose action has caused the tragedy. T M  

Substantively, there was complete disagreement about the 
prospects for a political settlement. Nixon and Kissinger 
claimed that, if given sufficient time, the United States could get 
Yahya to concede self-determination for the East Pakistanis, 
either provincial autonomy or full independence. The Indians 
regarded the hope that the West Pakistanis would yieldmin 
effect admitting that their actions since 25 March were wrongm 
as utterly unrealistic. US South Asia specialists shared the view 
that Yahya would not compromise. 69 

If Mrs. Gandhi concluded that talking with the Americans 
would lead nowhere, 7° Nixon, for his part, wrote in his diary of 
Mrs. Gandhi's "duplicitous action toward us when she actually 
had made up her mind to attack Pakistan at the time she saw me 
in Washington and assured me she would not. ''71 Kissinger 
intoned, "Mrs. Gandhi was going to war not because she was 
convinced of our failure but because she feared our success. ''72 
Although Mrs. Gandhi's meetings with Nixon were a failure, her 
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Courtesy of the National Archives, Nixon Presidential Materials Staff 

4 November 1971, Prime Min i s t e r  Inflira Gandh i  speaking during her arrival at 
the White House. 

Courtesy of the National Archives Nixon Presidential Materials Staff 

4 November 1971, Pr ime Min is te r  Gandh i  and Pres ident  Nixon in the Oval  
Office. 
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public appearances in Washington were successful. An active 
pro-Bangladesh lobby in Washington won the emotional sup- 
port of many political activists, leading Democratic politicians, 
and even some Republicans. Those who criticized the Nixon 
administration for its handling of the Vietnam War were more 
than willing to fault its approach to the Bangladesh crisis. US 
public opinion, as measured by the Louis Harris poll, was two to 
one against administration policy. 73 

The Bangladesh Crisis: The December W a r  

In November, the tempo of military action increased. The 
Bangladesh "freedom fighters" were becoming more aggressive 
in their cross-border forays, receiving artillery support from the 
Indian military. Late in the month, Mrs. Gandhi authorized 
Indian forces to enter East Pakistan to "pursue" the Pakistani 
forces. Tensions mounted. An all-out Indian military assault 
against the East seemed imminent. 

Although there is dispute whether or not Indira fixed a D- 
Day to invade East Pakistan, Yahya resolved the problem for 
New Delhi. TM On the night of 3 December, Pakistan attacked 
eight Indian airfields in the western part of the country, and the 
next day declared war on India. 7S The Indians countered, attack- 
ing in the east and mounting probing operations in the west to 
pin down Pakistan forces. On 6 December, India recognized the 
Awami League government-in-exile as the government of 
Bangladesh. 

As tensions mounted during November, the United States 
perceptively hardened its stance toward India, which Kissinger 
and Nixon claimed was inciting the conflict. On 2 December, 
Washington announced a suspension of military sales to India 
(of which the most important was a $70 million communica- 
tions system designed to improve air defense capabilities). On 6 
December, the United States froze its economic assistance to 
India, including $87.6 million worth of aid already in the pipe- 
line. The next day Assistant Secretary of State Joseph Sisco 
declared in a State Department press background briefing that ~ . . . .  

India bore the major responsibility for the war. Kissinger was 
berating the NSC's Washington Special Action Group (WSAG) 
for not being more responsive to Nixon's desire to "ti l t" toward 
Pakistan. TM 
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The diplomatic scene shifted to the UN Security Council in 
New York. Acting under direct orders from Nixon, US Repre- 
sentative George Bush criticized India as responsible for the war 
and urged support for an immediate cease-fire. India's Soviet 
friends vetoed the resolution. Now that the war had started, 
India was bent on achieving its goal--freeing Bangladesh from 
Pakistani control. Participating for the first time as a Security 
Council member, Communist China joined the United States in 
supporting the resolution, but both Britain and France, the other 
permanent members and US allies in NATO, abstained in the 
Security Council vote. The United States and other supporters 
of Pakistan then shifted to the General Assembly where the call 
for a cease-fire won overwhelming support by a vote of 104-11 
with 10 abstentions. Sending troops across an international 
border, even for a popular cause, was not an action nation-states 
condoned. 

As badly outnumbered Pakistani forces retreated from the 
borders toward Dacca, the war in the east was for all intents over 
within a week. It was only a question of how long the Pakistanis 
would hold out. On 16 December, the Pakistanis ended the 
struggle, with some 93,000 soldiers surrendering. When, a week 
earlier, they discussed giving up, Yahya urged the troops in the 
east to fight on, apparently hoping for intervention from the 
United States and China. 

Unlike Kissinger or Yahya, India discounted the likelihood 
of Beijing's intervening militarily. New Delhi reached this con- 
clusion from an on-going assessment of the Chinese response 
since the crisis began in March--little or no increased military 
activity along the northern borders, a less negative public stance 
toward India than during the 1965 war, and the absence of 
tangible military aid to Pakistan as opposed to rhetoric. The 
Indians thus began the fighting assuming that the Chinese would 
limit their support to their Pakistani friends to verbal and moral 
encouragementJ 7 On the basis of talks with Chou and secret 
discussions in New York in December with the Chinese foreign 
minister, Kissinger--by his own admission--reached the oppo- 
site conclusion. He incorrectly expected the Chinese to inter- 
vene militarily, possibly precipitating a Soviet military 
rejoinder against China. 78 
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When the war ended in East Pakistan, Washington's atten- 
tion turned to West Pakistan. Nixon and Kissinger--although 
hardly anyone else--believed that India was about to attack 
what was left of Pakistan. 79 A 6 December CIA report to the 
effect that Mrs. Gandhi was considering moving against West 
Pakistan greatly strengthened this worry. US South Asia special- 
ists tended to give the intelligence report little credence, believ- 
ing any further Indian military action would be limited to 
retaking certain strategic points in Kashmir, returned to Paki- 
stan by the Taskhent agreement. "Virtually alone in the US 
Government in interpreting the report as they did," President 
Nixon and Kissinger were convinced they were right, making 
their concern to save West Pakistan the driving force behind US 
actions.S0 

India's capable Ambassador in Washington, L. K. Jha, as- 
sured Kissinger and the State Department that India had no 
designs against West Pakistan.S~ The Government of India gave 
similar assurances in New Delhi. Traditional Indian ambiguity 
about territory in disputed Kashmir sufficed to convince Nixon 
and Kissinger that India was lying, s2 Believing that Moscow was 
egging New Delhi on to humble US "ally" Pakistan, the Presi- 
dent decided to press the Soviets to get their South Asia "client" 
to call offits attack, s3 

The White House made this point through a variety of  
channels, including a meeting with a thoroughly surprised visit- 
ing Soviet Minister of Agriculture Vladimir Matskevich. Ex- 
pecting nice words about agricultural cooperation when ushered 
into the President's office, Matskevich was instead asked to 
convey to the Kremlin how seriously Nixon felt about the threat 
to West Pakistan. s4 In response to the flurry of messages from 
Nixon--including the first use of the hot l ine--Premier Kosygin 
sought assurances from visiting Indian envoy P. N. Dhar about 
Indian intentions in the West. Dhar promptly gave these with- 
out finding it necessary to seek instructions from New Delhi, so 
sure was he that India was not interested in attacking West 
Pakistan. s5 Based on what they heard from Dhar and from 
soundings in New Delhi, the Soviets passed on reassuring words 
about Indian intentions to Washington. These failed to satisfy 
Nixon. 
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The President  decided then to escalate a step further. On 10 
December,  he ordered a show of US naval force, directing the 
aircraft carrier Enterprise with supporting vessels to proceed as 
Task Group 74 from the Far East to the Bay of  Bengal. Its stated 
mission was to aid in the possible evacuat ion of  US personnel in 
Dacca. s6 The unstated mission of  the Enterprise, never  spelled 
out to the US Navy, was to send a signal to the Indians and the 
S o v i e t s n a s  Kissinger put  it, "To  give emphasis to our  warnings 
about West Pakistan."  The White House wanted  to show the 
Chinese that, ff they entered into a relationship with the Uni ted  
States they could count  on US steadfastness in t imes of  trouble. 87 

The Indians were unclear  what  the Enterprise was supposed 
to achieve. They failed to grasp the in tended signal about West 
Pakistan. They did  not believe the cover story about evacuat ing 
US nationals. They assumed the most  likely mission was to help 
evacuate West Pakistanis t rapped in the east. 8s Once Mrs. Gan- 
dhi achieved her  goal in the east with the surrender  of  Pakistani 
forces, she quickly decided that  cont inuing the war  was not in 
India 's  interests. 89 She announced  a cease-fire effective 19 De- 
cember.  Pakistan accepted, bringing to an end the seventeen-day 
conflict. Whatever  its in tended mission, the Enterprise appeared 
to have played no role in ending hostilities in the West. Despite 
Nixon's  and Kissinger's later claims, 9° US actions d id  not  seem 
to have been a significant factor in the decision not to move  
against West Pakistan. 

US policy, however,  deeply angered the Indians.  In a 
scorching letter to Nixon released to the New York Times on 15 
December ,  Indira  Gandhi  asserted that the Un i t ed  States paid: 

Lip service to the need for a political solution, but not a 
single worthwhile step was taken to bring this about . . . .  
We are deeply hurt by the innuendoes and insinuations that 
it was we who have precipitated the c r i s i s . . .  We have not 
received, even to this day, the barest framework of a settle- 
ment which takes into account the facts as they are. 91 

Nixon responded in a sharp but private letter to Mrs. Gandhi .  
He rebuked Indira  for having " s p u m e d "  his efforts to find a 
peaceful solution to the crisis, claiming he opposed the resort  to 
force when "s ta tesmanship could turn the course of  history away 
from war. ''92 
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A few weeks later, journalist Jack Anderson enormously 
embarrassed Nixon by publishing minutes of secret White 
House WSAG meetings dealing with the Bangladesh crisis. 
These documents revealed that contrary to what the administra- 
tion was publicly saying about an even-handed approach, Nixon 
was demanding "the tilt" toward Pakistan and giving Kissinger 
"hell every hour" for not  doing enough against India. The An- 
derson Papers were an appropriate postscript to a sorry chapter 
in US diplomacy. 93 

The US role during the crisis is reasonably clear; the ra- 
tionale for the Nixon-Kissinger policy has remained less clear. 
Part of the difficulty has been that the President and Kissinger 
perceived the crisis almost entirely in terms of its global implica- 
t ionsmas they interpreted these--and the US government's 
South Asia hands and most other observers considered the crisis 
as a regional affair with limited broader implications. For Nixon 
and Kissinger, the tilt was not just a means of expressing appre- 
ciation to the Pakistanis for their help in the opening to China, 
but, far more important, trying to impress the Chinese by the US 
handling of the crisis. Then NSC South Asia staffer Harold 
Saunders recalled Kissinger saying on several occasions: 

We are opening a relationship with China based on the 
proposition that we are both concerned about Soviet inten- 
tions . . . .  While we are in the process of opening up our 
dialogue with China, we face a crisis in South Asia for 
Pakistan, our traditional ally. China will be looking to see 
how we treat that ally . . . .  If the United States stands by 
and sees an ally dismembered what will the Chinese think 
about our reliability? 94 

This larger global dimension, according to Saunders, suf- 
fused the discussion of the crisis in the NSC. For Nixon and 
Kissinger, the human tragedy of the ten million refugees was 
"one of those unhappy things that happened" but not something 
on which one based foreign policy actions. 95 Nixon's thinking 
was also colored by his perception that the Soviets were egging 
on the Indians to "humiliate the United States" by dismember- 
ing Pakistan. The President's personal liking for Pakistan as well 
as his dislike of the Indians, especially Indira Gandhi, did "noth- 
ing but reinforce" the way Nixon reacted to the crisis, Saunders 
commented. 96 
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Stung by the criticism of his South Asia policy, Nixon 
devoted twelve pages to presenting his version of the crisis in the 
1972 Foreign Policy report. Nixon's main claims were that 
Indian impatience frustrated US efforts to nudge Yahya gradu- 
ally toward a settlement, and that the strong US stand reduced 
the chance of an Indian attack on West Pakistan. 97 In their 
memoirs, Nixon and Kissinger were less modest, asserting that 
their handling of events scared the Soviets into calling off their 
South Asian proxy, India, from attacking West Pakistan and 
showed the Chinese that the United States was willing to offer 
steadfast help to a friend during an unpopular crisis. 98 Kissinger 
went so far as to claim that administration policy saved"a major 
American initiative of fundamental importance to the global 
balance of power" and that the "very structure of international 
order was endangered by the naked recourse to force by a Soviet 
partner. ''99 

It is hard to agree with these assertions. Far from a diplo- 
matic victory, the whole affair proved an unnecessary, and em- 
barrassing diplomatic setback for the United States. Through 
their misreading of the crisis, and their pro-Pakistan bias, Rich- 
ard Nixon and Henry Kissinger succeeded in needlessly trans- 
forming a regional dispute into one which threatened to become 
a great power showdown.1°° The main consequences were severe 
and long-lasting damage to US relations with India and en- 
hanced Soviet influence with New Delhi. In Indian eyes, US 
handling of the crisis, especially sending the Enterprise toward 
the Bay of Bengal, provided tangible "evidence" of US desire to 
thwart India's regional hopes and aspirations. Vociferous pro- 
Soviet and anti-US elements in India have harped on the deploy- 
ment of the Enterprise as a symbol of US hostility for over two 
decades. An unintended result of the crisis was to strengthen the 
hand of Indians who supported proceeding with nuclear 
testing. 10 t 

After the Bangladesh Crisis: Relations At Low Ebb  

The first months of 1972 saw relations between Washington 
and New Delhi at low ebb. Mrs. Gandhi carried through on her 
threat to raise the level of the Indian diplomatic mission in 
Hanoi from a Consulate General to an Embassy--a step she had 
delayed since 1969. The Prime Minister ordered the closing of 
the US economic assistance mission, where more than 1,200 
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Americans and Indians worked. She directed that the Peace 
Corps be reduced from over 500 to 50 volunteers. 102 The Indian 
government also imposed Stringent restrictions on research by 
American academics, paradoxically, a group that had been 
among the vociferous opponents of Nixon's policy toward the 
Bangladesh crisis. American studies of India in US universi- 
t i e s - i n  the 1950s and 1960s a thriving discipline--have suf- 
fered greatly ever since, weakening one of the stronger voices in 
the United States for improved Indo-American relations. 

L. K. Jha and Kenneth Keating, the two hapless envoys 
during the Bangladesh crisis, ended their ambassadorial assign- 
ments in 1972. Despite a distinguished senatorial career from 
New York State, Keating proved himself a fusty lightweight in 
New Delhi. Nixon, nonetheless, named him to the sensitive post 
of ambassador to Israel. Jha, who won respectmeven from 
Henry Kissinger--as a highly intelligent and effective envoy, 103 
once more became a close adviser to Mrs. Gandhi after returning 
to India. 

Following her twin triumphs at the ballot box and over 
Pakistan, Mrs. Gandhi stood at the peak of her power in early 
1972. The Economist of London called her the uncrowned Em- 
press of India. 104 She possessed unparalleled political power and 
a strong mandate to implement domestic social and economic 
reform. She managed the Bangladesh crisis flawlessly from the 
Indian standpoint. Pakistan was humiliated and India gained 
unchallengeable regional predominance. After a dismal decade, 
the nation could once more hold its head high. 

In early July 1972, India and Pakistan concluded a peace 
accord at Simla, the town perched a mile high in the Himalayas 
that had served as the summer capital of the government of 
British India. Mrs. Gandhi agreed to the return of 5,000 square 
miles of West Pakistan territory, mostly desert, that India cap- 
tured during the war, Bhutto, who replaced Yahya as the Presi- 
dent of a shrunken Pakistan, agreed to settle all disputes, 
including the Kashmir issue, peacefully and bilaterally.~05 

At the time, Simla appeared to mark an important mile- 
stone in Indo-Pakistani relations, but, as in the case of the 
Tashkent agreement after the 1965 India-Pakistan War, the 
agreement unfortunately did not provide a basis for resolving 
bilateral antagonisms or promoting genuine rapprochement. 
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The Simla accord, nonetheless, led to a change in the US stance 
toward the Kashmir dispute. Previously, the United States stood 
behind relevant UN resolutions, including the call for a plebi- 
scite. After 1972, Washington shifted ground; the US position 
since Simla has been to support any settlement the Indians and 
Pakistanis were able to work out. 

Immediately after the Simla agreement, with Indo-US rela- 
tions still at their nadir, Nixon made a modest gesture. He sent 
Secretary of the Treasury John Connally, a person whom he 
greatly respected, to meet Mrs. Gandhi during an around-the- 
world trip. Given the hostility between Indira and Nixon and the 
coldness of bilateral relations, Connally was apprehensive about 
the talks. He was relieved when these went reasonably well.~06 

In December 1972, Nixon made a further gesture toward 
India, selecting as Keating's replacement as ambassador, 
Harvard government professor Daniel Patrick Moynihan. Al- 
though a Democrat and a former Assistant Secretary of Labor in 
the Kennedy-Johnson years, Moynihan headed Nixon's Domes- 
tic Council and sat in the Cabinet in 1969, gaining a considera- 
ble reputation for his wit and brains. During the 1971 UN 
session, as a public member of the US delegation, Moynihan 
opposed US policy toward the Bangladesh crisis. 

Nixon, with whom Moynihan remained on friendly terms, 
called him on several occasions about the crisis. The President 
said he could not spell out his reasons on the phone, but if 
Moynihan knew the whole story, he would understand the policy 
Nixon was following. Moynihan recalled his response, "We are 
dumb. We are going to lose, and what are we going to get for 
it? ''~07 When Nixon called late in 1972 to ask if he would go as 
Ambassador to India, Moynihan was not surprised. Nixon 
knew-- in  Moynihan's opinion-- that  he had messed up the 
Bangladesh affair. His way of trying to right things was to send 
someone as ambassador like Moynihan, who had a White House 
cachet and opposed the Bangladesh policy. Even though Nixon 
regarded India as a stooge of the Soviets, it was a big country and 
a democracy, hence not a place the United States wanted 
to write off.t°8 

The extensive section on South Asia in the 1973 Foreign 
Policy Report, which appeared shortly after Moynihan arrived 
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in India, confirmed US interest in moving beyond 1971. Nixon 
stated: 

We want to join India in a mature relationship founded 
on equality, reciprocity and mutual interest, reflecting In- 
dia's stature as a great free nation . . . The United States 
respects India as a major country. We are prepared to treat 
India in accordance with its new stature and 
responsibilities. 109 

It was not immediately evident that the Indian Prime Min- 
ister shared an interest in better relations. In an October 1972 
article in Foreign Affairs, she lambasted "the dispatch of the 
warship Enterprise to support a ruthless military dictatorship 
and to intimidate a democracy." The Prime Minister went on to 
lecture the President, "The United States has yet to resolve the 
inner contradiction between the tradition of the founding fa- 
thers and of Lincoln, and the external image it gives of a super- 
power pursuing the cold logic of power politics. ''1 ~0 In January 
and February 1973, she further angered Washington by charging 
in public that the "savage bombing" of Vietnam would not have 
been tolerated if the population had been European.~l~ 

Mrs. Gandhi's nomination of T. N. Kaul to succeed the 
respected Jha hardly suggested much desire for improved rela- 
tions. During tours as ambassador to Moscow and as Indian 
Foreign Secretary, Kaul established himself as a vocal advocate 
of closer Indian-Soviet relations. Washington regarded Kaul as 
no friend of the United States. After arriving, the Indian envoy 
rather confounded people by establishing good relations with 
Henry Kissinger, who by then had become Secretary of State. At 
the height of his power and prestige as the Watergate scandal 
engulfed Nixon, Kissinger became a regular attendee at Indian 
functions--one of the few embassies in Washington whose invi- 
tations the Secretary would accept.~2 

IfKaul found doors open in Washington, Moynihan did not 
find New Delhi as hospitable. The gregarious Ambassador 
looked forward to visiting Indian universities, much in the 
manner of his Harvard colleague, John Kenneth Galbraith, a 
decade before. But in the wake of 1971, Moynihan was scarcely 
ever invited on university campuses. The envoy, in turn, kept an 
uncharacteristically low profile in India. Moynihan held his first 
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and only press conference just one day prior to his departure on 
6 January 1975. ''3 

When Moynihan arrived in India, he faced the question of 
the future of US economic assistance. Formerly a central ele- 
ment of US relations with India, the aid program had all but 
vanished after Nixon froze assistance during the 1971 war. The 
only assistance that continued was food distributed free under 
Title lII of PL 480 by private voluntary agencies such as CARE 
and Catholic Relief. Neither Moynihan nor Washington was in 
any rush to resume regular economic assistancemfor which $ 75 
million was placed in the budgetmunless India requested this, a 
step Indira Gandhi was unwilling to take. Since the United 
States cut off aid, the Indians reasoned that it was up to the 
United States to take the initiative in turning on the aid tap and 
not for India to have to ask for Washington to do so. 

As a practical matter, with the World Bank and other do- 
nors increasing the size of their programs, a resumption of US 
aid had less significance than it had after the 1965 War. There 
was, in any event, considerable ambivalence on both sides. 
Some Indians resented what they believed was an intrusive US 
aid presence and chronic US arm twisting on economic policy. 
They feared the United States would again try to use aid to 
influence Indian policies, economic or political. Some US offi- 
cials, in turn, wondered about the wisdom of giving aid if the 
Indians felt so badly about receiving assistance from the 
United States.~L4 

Regarding PL 480, India made it a matter of national 
pride--after the bitter experience with Lyndon Johnson in 
1965-1967--not to resume food aid. Although food production, 
thanks to the green revolution, grew impressively, fluctuations 
in monsoons still affected harvests. When food stocks slumped 
after poor rains in 1972, the Indians used scarce foreign ex- 
change to buy US wheat commercially rather than seek a re- 
sumption of PL 480 aid. 

Moynihan did not basically disagree with the Indian atti- 
tude toward aid. He considered the economic assistance rela- 
tionship an unequal partnership between the giver and receiver. 
This had perhaps been acceptable earlier, in what he called the 
"Age of the Demi-Raj," but had no place in the new "mature" 
relationship Moynihan hoped to fashion with India. A few 
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months after his arrival in New Delhi, the Ambassador made a 
symbolic point by ensuring that the extensive complex of office 
buildings built for US AID a few years before with PL 480 rupees 
was handed over to the Indians. In a cable leaked to the press 
after Washington floated the idea of retaining some of the build- 
ings, Moynihan described the lavish complex as part of 
America's "edifice complex."~15 Located outside New Delhi 
near the 12th century Qutb Minar, the complex has since been 
converted by the Indians into a luxury-class tourist hotel. 

The Rupee Agreement: A Two Billion Dollar Check 
Another problem worrying Moynihan was the mountain of 

Indian rupees owned by the US government, repayment for 
millions of tons of PL 480 foodgrain programs. Since 1954, 
when the US Congress enacted Public Law 480, the Indians paid 
for food aid with rupees deposited into a special interest-bearing 
account with the Reserve Bank of India. The US right to spend 
these deposits was limited to paying for US government ex- 
penses in India plus a few other uses, such as loans to US 
companies for investment in India. 

Over the years, the deposits grew rapidly because of the 
enormous size of PL 480 food shipments and the limited possi- 
bility for spending the rupees. Indians feared that somehow the 
United States would use these huge currency claims--amount- 
ing in 1971 to over $3 bill ionmto destabilize the Indian econ- 
omy. Even a friendly observer like Kewal Singh, then serving as 
Foreign Secretary and later ambassador to Washington, com- 
mented, "It  was a dangerous thing for a country to have so much 
of its currency controlled by another power." 116 

Two factors stirred this anxiety which was stoked by anti- 
American elements. The first was the sheer size of the rupee 
deposits, amounting to as much as 20 per cent of Indian cur- 
rency. The second was that, far from declining, the holdings 
were likely to grow indefinitely. Expenditures for running the 
Embassy and other permitted usesmunder $100 million a 
yearmwere less than the interest earned annually on the depos- 
its. There thus seemed no end in sight to the problem. 

The possibility of writing off much of the rupee debt pre- 
dated Moynihan's arrival on the scene. Chester Bowles had 
unsuccessfully surfaced the proposal which was also urged by 
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India's L. K. Jha. After becoming ambassador, Moynihan 
pushed the idea with vigor arguing that if  left untouched the 
rupee problem would become a permanent psychological bur- 
den to an already shaky relationship. T. N. Kaul heartily secon- 
ded Moynihan. During the Indian envoy's presentation of 
credentials, Nixon asked how relations could be improved. Kaul 
mentioned solving the rupee problem. ~17 The US bureaucracy 
developed a negotiating proposal that called for the US waiving 
future interest payments, amounting to an estimated $4 billion 
dollars worth of rupees, writing off a third of the holdings and 
keeping the remaining two-thirds for US uses. Although he did 
not think the Indians would agree, Moynihan let the wheels of 
bureaucracy grind. He then saw Nixon at the Western White 
House in California and won his agreement to reverse the 
figuresmto write off$2.2 billion worth of rupees and retain $1.1 
billion for US uses. 118 

Having overridden the Washington bureaucracy, Moyni- 
han was able to negotiate the package with the Indians in fairly 
short order. The principal difficulty arose over efforts to tap the 
rupee pool for purposes other than the US government expendi- 
tures. One instance, a request for an endowment of$100 million 
worth of rupees for a medical school in Bangalore in South India, 
later proved a political bonus when the rupee agreement ran into 
trouble with the US Congress. The proposal's sponsor, a Catho- 
lic missionary priest named Father Bob Barrett, sought the 
funds to endow a center at the medical school in honor of former 
Speaker of the US House of Representatives John W. McCor- 
mack. Supporting the proposal as a goodwill gesture, Moynihan, 
after some arm-twisting, gained Indian acceptance. 

Although the rupee agreement was an executive agreement 
not requiring approval of the Congress, there was trouble brew- 
ing on Capitol Hill. Labeling the accord a multi-billion dollar 
give-away, Senator Harry Byrd Jr., a conservative Virginia 
Democrat, succeeded in September 1973 in tacking an amend- 
ment onto the defense appropriation bill that would require 
congressional authorization for the rupee agreement. Since this 
was highly unlikely, a dejected Moynihan returned to New 
Delhi, fearing the rupee deal was dead. 

Despite the fact that Nixon was by then deeply mired in 
Watergate, the President refused to accept defeat on the rupee 
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agreement, giving the green light for administration supporters, 
with Moynihan in the lead, to work to overcome the Byrd 
amendment. In order to ensure funding for the Bangalor medical 
center, retired Speaker McCormack plunged actively into the 
fray, lining up many Democrats, including Senator Ted Ken- 
nedy and AFL-CIO Chairman George Meany, to lobby for the 
rupee agreement. This unusual bipartisan cooperation at the 
height of the Watergate scandal succeeded in killing the Byrd 
amendment and saving the rupee agreement. 

The formal signing took place in New Delhi on 18 February 
1974. Ambassador Moynihan marked the ceremony with typical 
flourish, presenting the Government of India a check for $2.2 
billion worth of rupees, the largest check ever written until then. 
Moynihan deserved great credit for persevering in the effort to 
solve the problem. Ironically, Richard Nixon, never regarded as 
a friend of India, deserved part of the credit because of his 
willingness to back Moynihan on the issue. 

With the rupee question resolved, the prospects for a re- 
sumption of bilateral assistance improved. The United States 
had, for some time, signalled its willingness to talk about new 
assistance, for which $75 million remained budgeted. In early 
1974 with the Indian economy reeling after the abrupt rise in oil 
prices following the 1973 Arab-Israeli War and other inflation- 
ary pressures, New Delhi, at last, signalled interest. ~9 Before 
anything was worked out, a new problem arose. 

India Becomes the World's Sixth Nuclear Power 
On 18 May 1974, just three months before Watergate drove 

Richard Nixon from office, the Indian Atomic Energy Commis- 
sion exploded an underground nuclear device at Pokharan in the 
deserts of Rajasthan, several hundred miles west of New Delhi. 
The explosion made India the world's sixth nuclear power. 

This reversal of Mrs. Gandhi's stance of the late 1960s may 
have been one of the most important, if unintended, conse- 
quences of the 1971 Bangladesh crisis. ~20 The episode strength- 
ened the hands of proponents of India's going nuclear, as well as 
the voice of Indian scientists who wished to demonstrate their 
capability to detonate a nuclear device. Mrs. Gandhi also re- 
garded the test as a way to boost her government's lagging 
popularity by appealing to Indian national pride at joining the 
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nuclear club. 121 She had failed to implement  her  1971 campaign 
promises and, after poor  harvests and the 1973 j u m p  in oil 
prices, the country was suffering badly from rising unemploy-  
ment  and inflation. 

Although American specialists were long aware India had 
the capability to explode a device, the act caught the US govern- 
ment  by surpr i se .  122 The State Depar tment ' s  initial inclination 
was to criticize the Indian test as a damaging breach in the non- 
proliferation wall. Then on one of  his Middle East shuttles, 
Secretary Kissinger disagreed, substituting milder  and more 
neutral  wording as the official reaction to the event. 123 Since the 
Indian explosion was an accomplished fact, Kissinger believed 
public scolding would not undo the event, but  only add to US- 
Indian bilateral problems and reduce the influence Washington 
might  have on India 's  future nuclear policy. 124 

Canada,  which closely cooperated with India  on its nuclear 
program, reacted in a far stronger fashion. Pr ime Minister  Tru- 
deau had earlier warned Mrs. Gandhi  that Canada  would cut off 
nuclear cooperat ion if India  tested a device. He now proceeded 
to carry through on this threat. Canada  was particularly annoyed 
because the p lu tonium used in the test was produced in a re- 
search reactor the Canadians  had given India. In responding to 
criticism, Kissinger stated (incorrectly it turned out later) that, 
unlike Canada,  the Uni ted  States had no involvement  with the 
Indian test. 125 

One of  the immedia te  consequences of  the test was the 
announcement  that India 's  neighbor and enemy,  Pakistan, was 
going to launch its own "peaceful"  nuclear program. Mrs. Gan- 
dhi 's assurances of  India 's  peaceful intentions carried little 
weight in Islamabad. Pr ime Minister  Bhutto charged that In- 
d ia ' s  motives were to employ nuclear blackmail  against Paki- 
stan. ~26 When Ambassador  Moynihan  saw Mrs. Gandhi  to 
present the official US reaction to the test, he added some 
personal thoughts, telling the Pr ime Minister: 

India has made a huge mistake. Here you were the No. 1 
hegemonic power in South Asia. Nobody was No. 2 and call 
Pakistan No. 3. Now in a decade's time, some Pakistani 
general will call you up and say I have four nuclear weapons 
and I want Kashmir. If not, we will drop them on you and 
we will all meet in heaven. And then what will you do. 9127 
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The Prime Minister, according to Moynihan, remained silent 
and offered no response. 

The US nuclear nonproliferation lobby, far stronger among 
Democrats than Republicans, regarded the reaction of the ad- 
ministrationmwhich at this point meant Kissinger since Nixon 
was almost sunk by Watergate--as weak and inadequate. If 
India, one of the world's poorest countries, could explode a 
devicemand get away with i t - - the  anti-nuclear proponents 
feared it would only be a matter of time before others followed 
suit. The lobby wanted the United States, like Canada, to punish 
India by ending nuclear cooperation. 

Looking for ways to hit at India, the nonproliferation sup- 
porters found an ally in a longtime critic of India, Rep. Clarence 
Long, a Maryland Democrat and chairman of the foreign aid 
appropriations subcommittee. Shortly after the test, Long won 
acceptance for a bill directing the US government to vote against 
all loans to India in the World Bank. The action had no practical 
effect since the United States lacked a majority in the Bank. It 
was, however, a symbolic slap that made clear the force of 
congressional annoyance about the nuclear test. 12s Apart from 
nonproliferation concerns, many in Congress and elsewhere 
criticized India's diversion of scarce resources from economic 
development into the nuclear program. The retort from Mrs. 
Gandhi, hurt and stung by foreign criticism of the test, was to 
emphasize India's need for technical development such as the 
nuclear program and to suggest that the critics were trying to 
keep India down.lZ9 

Among the things that particularly irked the anti-nuclear 
lobby was Indian insistence that the explosion (or implosion as 
the underground blast was technically called) was in pursuit of a 
peaceful uses program and did not represent a shift to nuclear 
weapons. India, Mrs. Gandhi self-righteously maintained, was 
different from the five other nuclear powers; it was not inter- 
ested in military uses of nuclear energy. India refused to fit into 
the standard equation on nuclear policy matters, trying to assert 
its o w n ~ a n d  different--route. 

Critics scoffed at the Indian explanation. By then, few 
specialists believed in the utility of peaceful nuclear explosions, 
which the Nonproliferation Treaty explicitly barred since it was 
deemed impossible to detect the difference between military and 
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peaceful explosions. The Pokharan test would have been a viola- 
tion of the NPT, but since India had not signed the treaty, the 
point was legally moot. 

The attention of the US nonproliferation lobby turned to 
the nuclear power plant at Tarapur outside Bombay, built as a 
showpiece AID project and the major element in US-India 
nuclear cooperation. Tarapur received US enriched uranium 
supplied under a 30-year commercial contract in return for 
which the Indians agreed to bilateral and later International 
Atomic Energy inspections and safeguards designed to ensure 
that sensitive material not be diverted for non-authorized uses. 
For the next eight yearsmuntil  alternative fuel supply arrange- 
ments were worked out in 1982rathe question of licensing ex- 
ports of enriched uranium for Tarapur became a major problem 
between New Delhi and Washington. When Nixon resigned 
from the presidency in August 1974, the issue was left 
simmering. 

India's going nuclear badly damaged its standing in the 
United States among its traditional liberal supporters. Although 
not happy about the test, Republicans like Kissinger, in effect, 
shrugged their shoulders. They did not believe trying to punish 
the Indians would do much good. In contrast, liberal Demo- 
cratsmmany of whom bitterly criticized Nixon's handling of the 
Bangladesh crisismturned their wrath on New Delhi for breach- 
ing the nuclear barrier. The action in mid-1974 to absorb the 
tiny protectorate of Sikkim further tarnished the Indian image. 
The fact that the ruler of Sikkim was married to a former US 
citizen Hope Cooke meant the Indian action received considera- 
bly more publicity than would otherwise have been the case. 

Few Indian Tears Shed Over Nixon's Disgrace 

In August 1974, Richard Nixon resigned from the presi- 
dency rather than face impeachment charges over the Watergate 
scandals. Although many abroad regretted his departure, regard- 
ing him as one of the more skilful foreign policy practioners 
among US presidents, India was one country where few shed 
tears over Nixon's disgrace. Twenty-one years earlier, then Vice 
President Nixon's first meeting with Jawaharlal Nehru went 
badly. Nixon disliked the Prime Minister of India and found 
Indira Gandhi, whom he also met at the time, "in every way 
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. . . her father's daughter. ''is° The Vice President left South 
Asia, after the December 1953 visit, strongly opposed to India's 
policy of neutralism and strongly in favor of Pakistan. During 
the 1971 Bangladesh crisis, Richard Nixon's actions made it 
clear that his sentiments toward India and Indira had not 
changed. 

After  entering the White House in 1969, Nixon did not at 
first alter Johnson's policy of reduced US involvement in South 
Asia. Nixon's handling of the Bangladesh crisis during 1971, 
however, caused the US-India bilateral relationship to plunge to 
its nadir. Considerations of global policy--as seen by Nixon and 
his chief lieutenant Henry Kissinger--aligned the United States 
with Pakistan, supported by China, against India, backed by the 
Soviet Union. Disagreeing with US government South Asia 
specialists, Nixon saw India as a Soviet pawn and thought Mrs. 
Gandhi was not just out to dismember, but to destroy, Pakistan. 
He and Kissinger felt it important, in order to strengthen US 
credibility with China, that Washington continue to support 
Pakistan in the crisis regardless of the regional realities and costs 
in  terms of US-India relations. The costs were high. 

Once the crisis ended, the United States was willing enough 
to reestablish more normal relations with India, although Wash- 
ington refused to take the first step in renewing economic aid. 
Nixon, to his credit, supported Ambassador Moynihan's effort 
to solve the smoldering rupee debt problem--an issue that if left 
unattended would have eventually caused serious trouble. Moy- 
nihan hoped to shape a "new and mature" relationship, but not 
enough time had elapsed for the wounds and bruises left by 1971 
to heal. Probably, the goal was impossible as long as Nixon 
remained in the White House. 

For New Delhi, the administration's policy during the Ban- 
gladesh War cast the United States as a foe of India's national 
aspirations. Before the fighting began, India interpreted US 
diplomacy as trying to assist Yahya in weathering the crisis in 
East Pakistan. Once the war started, Nixon went even further, 
pillorying India by accusing New Delhi of having designs on 
West Pakistan, and, in a late 20th century version of gunboat 
diplomacy, threatening India by sending the aircraft carrier 
Enterprise toward the Bay of Bengal. With pro-leftists fanning 
the flames, the prevalent Indian perception became one of US 
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hostility, o f  Washington ' s  trying to "keep  Ind ia  d o w n "  and  
prevent  the  count ry  f rom assuming its natural  place as the  
leading power  in South  Asia. Fol lowing the r e sen tmen t  over 
L y n d o n  Johnson ' s  handl ing  o f  the 1965-1967 food crisis and  the  
devalua t ion  fiasco, anger over  US policy in 1971 bl ighted the  
bilateral Indo-US relat ionship.  Moscow seemed f irmly estab- 
l ished as India 's  f r iend in t imes  o f  need.  It wou ld  take a long t ime  
unti l  the legacy o f  R ichard  Nixon  and the Enterprise would  be 
forgotten.  
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Chapter VIII 

Ford: "Fragile and Thin" 

I n  August 1974, Gerald Ford succeeded Richard Nixon as 
President after having spent over twenty years as a middle of the 
road Republican Congressman from Michigan and a year as 
Vice President. Ford seemed like an ideal replacement for Spiro 
Agnew when the then Vice President resigned on corruption 
charges, but few considered "good old Gerry" presidential 
timber. All the same, Ford helped restore dignity to the White 
House in his two years in office after the Watergate scandals. 

The new President had limited experience in dealing with 
South Asia. As in most foreign policy matters, he took his lead 
from Secretary of State Kissinger, whom he greatly admired. 
The unsettled state of the Middle East following the 1973 war 
and the oil embargo, the future ofd6tente with Moscow, and the 
coming apart of US policy in Indo-China all stood high on the 
foreign policy agenda. South Asia did not. 

In October 1974, Kissinger, nonetheless, took a personal 
step to repair the damage with India, spending three days in New 
Delhi during one of his many foreign trips--sandwiching South 
Asia in between talks in Moscow and stops in the Middle East. 
Although the Secretary was never one to say "I am sorry," his 
trip signalled Washington's interest in patching things up. 

Kissinger appeared upbeat on arrival and throughout the 
stay in New Delhi. At a 28 October official dinner, he spoke of 
past misunderstandings as removed and of a "better, more 
realistic relationship" between the two countries in the future.' 

327 
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The next day, the Secretary delivered a major policy statement 
in a speech to the Indian Council of World Affairs. Kissinger 
underscored US hopes for a "mature" relationship, stressed US 
acceptance of India as the preeminent power in the region, and 
indicated Washington had no quarrel with India's policy of non- 
alignment. "The United States recognizes India as one of the 
major powers of the world and conducts its policy accordingly," 
Kissinger declared3 These were all words the Indians had long 
hoped to hear from the United States, especially from someone 
like Henry Kissinger, regarded by New Delhi as antagonistic. 

At the same time, Kissinger alluded to sensitivities over US 
aid, commenting, "Our relationship cannot be based on depen- 
dence of one on the other." The Secretary added, "Nor can our 
relationship survive constant criticism of one by the o ther"ma 
reference to India's habit of sniping at US policies and Mrs. 
Gandhi's periodic allegations of US interference in India's inter- 
nal affairs. In a press conference on 30 October, Kissinger flatly 
denied that the CIA was interfering in Indian affairs. He stated, 
"The United States is not engaged, directly or indirectly, in any 
attempt to influence the domestic situation in India. ''3 

Although the US Embassy and much of the Indian press 
talked of the visit's removing bilateral bad blood and ushering in 
a brighter period of relations, 4 Mrs. Gandhi made it clear she 
still harbored resentments. The day before the Secretary of 
State's arrival, in an interview with the National Herald, a 
newspaper founded by the Nehru family, she complained India 
was regarded as "marginal" by Washington and said tartly that 
India was not going to beg for US aid. 5 The Prime Minister met 
and had lunch with Kissinger during his first day in New Delhi, 
but then abruptly left the capital for Kashmir in what appeared 
to be a calculated snub. 6 

In substantive meetings with Mrs. Gandhi and Foreign 
Minister Y. B. Chavan, the most important topics related to 
South Asia and nuclear policy. Kissinger was non-committal 
when the Indians pressed for a continuation of the US arms 
embargo toward the region. Kissinger, in turn, pressed India not 
to become a proliferator by exporting sensitive nuclear material 
to other Third World countries. Appealing to Indian pride, the 
Secretary did not sermonize about the nuclear test, but stressed 
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that the United States "takes seriously India's affirmation that it 
has no intention to develop nuclear weapons. ''7 

During the stay, Kissinger and Chavan also signed an agree- 
ment to establish an Indo-US Joint Commission. Although the 
Indians had wanted such a body for some time, until Kissinger 
agreed, US officials were unenthusiastic. They felt the approach 
smacked too much of the way Communist countries managed 
relations, placing everything under the governmental umbrella. 
The Indians countered that given the poor state of Indo-US 
bilateral ties, few cooperative activities would move forward 
without New Delhi's agreement. 

The Joint Commission structure was simple. At the top, it 
consisted only of the Secretary of State and the Indian Minister 
of External Affairs, who would meet from time to time. Below 
the ministers came the heart of the structuremsubcommissions 
dealing with science and technology, education and culture, and 
economics and trade. 8 Overall, in its two decades of existence, 
the Commission has succeeded modestly in sheltering useful 
joint activities from the ups and downs of the political relation- 
ship. The Science and Education Subcommissions have over- 
seen a host of joint projects, ranging from the 198 5 Year of India 
art exhibition to hundreds of scientific research projects. The 
Economic and Trade Subcommission and a parallel private 
sector Joint Business Council have served as convenient plat- 
forms for periodic airing of Indian and American views on 
current economic issues. 

After the K.issinger visit, Moynihan was nearing the end of 
two years in India and planning to return to Harvard. He could 
take credit for solving the rupee debt problem and restoring the 
bilateral dialogue. Under the circumstances, it was not realistic 
to have expected more. In an interview with the New York 
Times, the envoy seemed in a "melancholy mood." Talking 
about relations, he said, "We've now reached a kind of plateau," 
less volatile and unstable than in the past, but also "fragile and 
thin. ''9 Events would soon underscore the accuracy of Moyni- 
han's remarks. 

Arms to Pakistan: "Reopening of Old Wounds" 
President Ford nominated William Saxbe, Nixon's last At- 

torney General and a former Republican Senator from Ohio, as 
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the new Ambassador to India. While serving in the Senate, 
Saxbe gained a reputation for political independence and public 
frankness; during the 1971 crisis he strongly criticized US policy 
toward South Asia. Pleased by the nomination of a cabinet 
member, New Delhi granted agrrment the day it was sought by 
Charg6 d'Affaires David Schneider. As a further gesture, For- 
eign Secretary Kewal Singh got Mrs. Gandhi and President 
Fakruddin Ali Ahmed to agree that Saxbe would present his 
credentials the day after arriving, enabling the new envoy to 
avoid the usual waiting period. With Nixon no longer in the 
White House, the Indians wanted to make a friendly nod toward 
Gerald Ford's emissary. ~0 

The US-Pakistan arms relationship, however, once more 
caused problems. Pakistan's Prime Minister Bhutto had, for 
some time, been urging Washington to lift the embargo on sales 
of new weapons systems--he would have liked military aid but 
recognized this was not in the cards. When Bhutto visited Wash- 
ington in February 1975, K.issinger wanted to oblige. He was 
impressed by Bhutto and the skilful way in which he restored a 
sense of self-confidence after the disaster of the 1971 war. ~1 
Following India's crushing victory and the continued inflow of .  
large amounts of Soviet arms, Kissinger thought New Delhi had 
little basis for complaint if Pakistan bought modest amounts of 
weapons from the United Statesmperhaps $100 million annu- 
ally. Since the United States was not contemplating major 
weapon shipments, the Secretary saw no reason why ending the 
embargo would either undercut India's military predominance 
or trigger a new regional arms race. 

After President Ford gave his blessing to the policy change, 
the State Department announced the lifting of the embargo--in 
effect since September 1965--on 24 February 1975, just days 
before Saxbe was scheduled to take up his post in New Delhi. 
The State Department assumed it would be better to make the 
announcement before Saxbe arrived so the new ambassador 
would not be blamed for a decision that was going to upset the 
Indians. 

Even though Washington anticipated a strong reaction, it 
was even stiffer than expected. In parliament, Foreign Minister 
Y. B. Chavan vehemently criticized the decision, charging the 
resumption of US lethal arms sales to Pakistan would unsettle 
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the process of normalization between India and Pakistan. To 
underscore Indian ire, Chavan canceled a planned trip to the 
United States for the initial meeting of the new Joint Commis- 
sion. ~2 Two days later, Mrs. Gandhi asserted the US decision 
amounted "to reopening of old wounds."~3 

The shrillest reaction came not from New Delhi, but from 
T. N. Kaul, India's ambassador in Washington. The envoy 
sharply denounced Kissinger's action, declaring it would have 
"an adverse affect" on relations. "We do not accept or agree," 
Kaul told newsmen, "that the lifting of the arms embargo will 
not lead to an arms race or hinder the process of normaliza- 
tion. ''~4 Annoyed by public criticism from a resident ambassa- 
dorma breach of normal diplomatic conductmthe Secretary of 
State fired back testily, "The comments of the Indian Foreign 
Minister are restrained and statesmanlike, but those of the In- 
dian ambassador are unacceptable." Kissinger went on to stress 
US interest in India while claiming that an arms embargo 
against a friendly country like Pakistan was "morally, politically 
and symbolically improper." ~ 5 

The Indian envoy lost his vaunted access to Kissinger 
through his brash and undiplomatic outburst. The Secretary no 
longer appeared at Kaul's curry dinners and no longer agreed to 
private meetings. The ambassador's usefulness in Washington 
came to an end. He later defended his outspoken reaction on the 
grounds that Kissinger refused to delay lifting the embargo to 
give Foreign Minister Chavan a chance to present Indian objec- 
tions directly to President Ford.~6 

With the controversy over the arms decision still swirling in 
the Indian media and Washington, Saxbe decided it better that 
he wait a few days in Bangkok before traveling to New Delhi. 
Meanwhile, Kewal Singh, who arranged the early presentation 
of credentials, found himself scoffed at by colleagues skeptical 
about the prospect for friendlier relations with the United 
States. "You see what happens when you try to be nice to the 
Americans," they told the embarrassed Foreign Secretary. ~7 

Although Washington found the Indian response to lifting 
the arms embargo an overreaction, US officials could, at least, 
comprehend Indian concerns given the history of bitter antago- 
nism between India and Pakistan. The State Department had 
much less understanding for New Delhi's chronic sniping about 
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alleged CIA interference in India.  Nor  did US officials appreci- 
ate the Indian government 's  reaction to the fall of  South Viet- 
nam and Cambodia  to the Communis ts  in April 1975--a  
postwar low point  for US foreign policy and national pride. An 
almost gloating Foreign Minister  Y. B. Chavan applauded these 
developments  which he called the culminat ion of  " the  heroic 
struggle of  the people of  Indo-China to assert their independence 
and sovereignty and a "gratifying vindicat ion for India 's  
policy."18 

Saxbe, who genuinely liked India and Indians, quickly be- 
came pessimistic about the prospects for better relations. Speak- 
ing as freely as Ambassador  to India as he had as Senator from 
Ohio or Attorney General,  Saxbe startled Indian officialdom by 
his frankness. To make sure the Indians got his message, Saxbe 
gave a number  of  interviews with the US press in his first months  
in New D e l h i - - a  sharp contrast with Moynihan 's  low profile 
approach. 

In March 1975, Saxbe told the New York Times that the best 
he could hope for with India  was "grudging respect" and de- 
scribed US interests as l imited to "humani ta r ian  and cultural" 
matters. 19 Talking about lifting the arms embargo- -wh ich  he 
had opposed- -Saxbe  commented  to the Washington Post that 
relations did not improve whether  the Uni ted  States sold arms 
to Pakistan or not. "I t 's  hell i f  you do and hell if  you don ' t ,"  the 
envoy bluntly stated. 20 Continuing his public diplomacy, Saxbe 
told the New York Times, " I f  India is de termined  to make an 
enemy of  the Uni ted  States there is not a whole lot we can do 
about it. ''21 Expressing the annoyance many US officials felt 
about Indian cr i t ic isms--but  rarely voiced in public Saxbe 
commented:  

When I call on cabinet ministers, the President, or Gover- 
nors, they all love to talk about their sons, sons-in-law and 
daughters in the United States and how well they are doing 
and how well they like things. The next day I read in the 
papers that the very same people are denouncing the United 
States . . .22 

Saxbe adopted a novel style in other  ways, refusing to make 
the usual diplomatic  rounds of  senior officials and ministers or 
to court the Indian media.  If  the Indians wanted to see him, he 
was available. He was not going to run after people. The point  he 
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was trying to get across was that the United States wished India 
well, but Mrs. Gandhi needed to decide whether she wanted 
better relations with Washington or not-- this  was something 
only the Indian government could determine. 

Implicit in Saxbe's approach was the fact that by the mid- 
1970s India no longer had great strategic importance for the 
United States. Although Washington through its South Asia 
policies, its role in international financial institutions, and the 
US position as a major trading partner remained a major exter- 
nal factor for New Delhi, India cast a much reduced shadow on 
US interests than in the late 1950s or early 1960s. With time, 
Saxbe's unorthodox tactics might have had more impact, but the 
proclamation of the Emergency on 24 June 1975 radically al- 
tered the situation. 

If Saxbe's open-mouth diplomacy upset Indians, il failed to 
silence Mrs. Gandhi's periodic allegations about "foreign ele- 
ments trying to destabilize India." Although she did not usually 
specify the CIA, people knew this was what she had in mind, 
especially after the overthrow of Salvador Allende in Chile in 
1973. Since Kissinger explicitly and publicly stated the United 
States was not engaging in any covert activities against India, the 
Prime Minister's refusal to stop her criticism galled Washington. 
US officials generally assumed that Indira alleged US interfer- 
ence as a sop to leftist supporters and also as a way to divert 
attention from domestic problems by raising the specter of a 
foreign threat. 

T h e  E m e r g e n c y :  T h e  E n d  of  I n d i a n  D e m o c r a c y ?  

By 1975, three years after Mrs. Gandhi stood at the peak of 
power, the Prime Minister's political position was badly erod- 
ing. Having gained an unchaUengeable electoral mandate in 
1971, Indira seemed unable to accomplish any of the promised 
reforms. Her election slogan of eradicating poverty turned out to 
be not much more than words. Although she shone in dealing 
with crises like East Pakistan, she showed little flair for imple- 
menting a coherent domestic program. Her main concern 
seemed to be the maintenance of her own political power. 
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A combination of bad harvests and the sharp rise in oil 
prices after the 1973 Arab-Israeli War badly weakened the In- 
dian economy. The country began to experience an unprece- 
dented wave of domestic unrest and trade union strikes. The 
disparate and fractious political opposition, although badly de- 
feated in the 1971 general elections, revived as Mrs. Gandhi's 
popularity slumped. Gaining strength, the opposition united in 
support of the Janata (Hindi for Peoples') Party, mounting mass 
rallies and demonstrations against Indira's rule. In April 1975, 
Janata hopes for the 1976 general elections soared after the 
Congress lost in state balloting in Gujarat in western India-- the 
home of Morarji Desai, who had become a Janata leader. 

And then the courts delivered an unexpected blow to Mrs. 
Gandhi. For some time a lawsuit by Raj Narain, her opponent in 
the 1971 elections, sought to have Mrs. Gandhi's election to 
parliament set aside because of minor technical irregularities 
during the campaign. The judge stunned India by ruling against 
Mrs. Gandhi. Even though she had six months to win a parlia- 
mentary seat and could continue in office as Prime Minister 
during this period, the court decision sapped Mrs. Gandhi's 
moral and political authority. An elated opposition called for 
mass demonstrations in the hope of forcing Indira from office 
even before the 1976 general elections. Mrs. Gandhi found 
herself in grave political danger once more. 

Her response--typical of Indira's style when cornered-- 
was to strike back with all the force at her command. At her 
behest, the pliable President of India, Fakruddin All Ahmed, 
proclaimed a national emergency during the night of 24 June 
1975. Imposing de facto martial law, the authorities arrested the 
principal opposition leaders along with thousands of their fol- 
lowers. Press censorship was imposed~ Civil liberties were re- 
stricted. Stunned by the force of Mrs. Gandhi's action, Indian 
democracy seemed at an end. Once so proud of its political 
freedoms, India became just another Third World dictatorship. 

Abroad, especially in the United States where India's big- 
gest plus had been its adherence to democracy, the reaction was 
harshly negative. Already upset over the nuclear test, liberals 
turned against India, joining conservatives as biting critics of 
Mrs. Gandhi. The hero of the Bangladesh war became one of the 
most disliked foreign leaders for Americans. The New York 
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Times, formerly a staunch backer of US support for Indian 
development and a leading critic of US policy in the Bangladesh 
crisis, denounced Mrs. Gandhi's action, z3 Other critics were less 
civil, including former Ambassador Moynihan, who acidly told 
an interviewer from Playboy, "When India ceased to be a de- 
mocracy, our actual interest there just plummeted. I mean, what 
does it export but communicable disease? ''24 Although crude, 
Moynihan's basic point was valid: it was India's adherence to 
democracy tha t - - in  the absence of other major interestsmmade 
the country of importance to the United States. z5 

The administration avoided joining in the chorus of criti- 
cism of Mrs. Gandhi, despite chiding from India's one-time 
liberal supporters. Secretary Kissinger believed that the United 
States should not base its external relations on whether or not it 
liked the domestic political character of foreign governments. 
He also did not want to provide Mrs. Gandhi ammunition to 
blame the United States for her country's domestic troubles or to 
have gratuitous US criticism serve as an impulse for an even 
further strengthening of Indo-Soviet relations. Because of the 
Emergency, President Ford, nonetheless, decided to postpone 
indefinitely a trip to South Asia talked about for late 1976. 26 

Through this period, Indo-Soviet relations remained cor- 
dial and close. The Russians applauded the imposition of the 
Emergency, labelling Mrs. Gandhi's opponents as right-wing 
reactionaries. Trade and cultural exchanges increased. The mili- 
tary supply relationship was stronger than ever. A vocal pro- 
Soviet lobby among intellectuals, journalists, politicians, and 
civil servants beat the drums to support Moscow and Marxism 
and to criticize the United States. The Prime Minister was, 
nonetheless, uncomfortable in India's appearing so reliant on 
one of the two superpowers. In a sense, as Kissinger wrote in his 
memoirs, z7 Mrs. Gandhi gave indications of wanting to main- 
tain a certain distance from the Soviets and to seek better 
relations with the United States despite the scars left by 1971 
and the insistent US media criticism of the Emergency. 

The Prime Minister refused to agree with Brezhnev's Asian 
Security scheme, and, in spite of the large-scale Soviet military 
aid, reportedly spurned feelers from the Kremlin for naval facili- 
ties. Mrs. Gandhi's younger son, Sanjay, also began to play an 
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important political role, even though he held no official posi- 
tion. Unlike his mother or grandfather, Sanjay was skeptical 
about Indian socialism. Like many in the younger generation of 
the Indian elite, Sanjay looked to the West--particularly to the 
United Statesmas an economic model, not to the Soviet Union 
and the Communist bloc. 

At the official level, bilateral relations between Washington 
and New Delhi improved somewhat. In October 1975, Foreign 
Minister Chavan--after  a delay of over a yearmvisited Wash- 
ington for the first meeting of the Joint Commission. In early 
1976, Mrs. Gandhi appeared to make a gesture toward Washing- 
ton in personnel shifts. She named as Foreign Secretary, Jagat 
Mehta, who had long argued that friendlier Indo-US relations 
were in India's interests. To replace T. N. Kaul in Washington, 
she appointed former Foreign Secretary Kewal Singh. In con- 
trast with the confrontational Kaul, Kewal Singh had a polite, 
soft-spoken style and was not regarded as pro-Soviet. 

Despite these signals suggesting her interest in better rela- 
tions and the Ford administration's silence about the Emer- 
gency, Mrs. Gandhi continued to talk darkly of a US threat to 
India. At a January 1976 Congress Party gathering at Chandri- 
garh in northwestern India, Mrs. Gandhi charged that the pow- 
ers that destabilized Chile "nurtured similar designs against 
India. ''zs In Washington, the State Department reacted by ex- 
pressing "concern and dismay"mlanguage that conveyed offi- 
cial exasperation over Indira's remarks. 29 

As if to offset her attacks at Chandrigarh, the Prime Minis- 
ter unexpectedly attended Saxbe's reception to celebrate the 
bicentennial of the US Declaration of Independence and praised 
the United States for its dynamism. The Chandrigarh episode, 
however, exhausted Washington's patience. The State Depart- 
ment instructed Saxbe to inform the Indians that because of 
Mrs. Gandhi's unfounded allegations the United States would 
not proceed with a resumption of aidmfor which there was $75 
million in the budget. 30 

Whether Mrs. Gandhi really believed the charges about CIA 
was debatable. In Moynihan's book, A Dangerous Place, the 
former envoy pointed out that since Mrs. Gandhi he r se l f t a s  
Congress Party president--received money from CIA in the late 
1950s to help oust the Communist government of Kerala, it was 



FORD 339 

not surprising that she thought the CIA was helping others. After 
having the Embassy check on US covert activities in India, 
Moynihan concluded that apart from the help CIA gave the 
Congress Party, "We had been up to very little. ''31 Some Indians 
who knew Mrs. Gandhi well thought that despite the fact that 
she was quite capable of using the United States as a political 
scapegoat, she was genuinely worried that she might be a CIA 
target, especially after events in Chile. The assassination of 
Mujibur Rahman in Bangladesh in the summer of 1975 added to 
the Prime Minister's anxieties. 32 

With the Emergency in force and Mrs. Gandhi's periodic 
sniping at the United States, Saxbe and the Ford administration 
concluded that, for the time being at least, relations would 
remain in the doldrums. Easing off on his statements to the 
press, Saxbe seemed content to spend his time improving his 
golf game and traveling around India. 

Tarapur: To License or Not? 
In 1976, the problem of shipping enriched uranium fuel for 

the Tarapur nuclear power plant reactor returned to center stage. 
Before the May 1974 test, the US AEC had routinely approved 
fuel exports for Tarapur--there was a legally binding supply 
contract between the US and Indian AECs and satisfactory 
safeguards were in place. After the test, however, Tarapur fuel 
shipments became the focus of controversy. The US AEC 
delayed a shipment in 1974 until Homi Sethna, the Chairman of 
the Indian AEC, gave written assurances to US AEC Chairper- 
son Dixie Lee Ray that: 

Special nuclear material that has been or is hereafter made 
available for, or used, or produced in the Tarapur Atomic 
Power Station . . . will be devoted exclusively to the needs 
of that Station unless our two governments, hereafter specif- 
ically agree that such material be used for other p u r p o s e s .  33 

In 1975, a reorganization of US nuclear activities shifted 
licensing authority to the newly created Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission (NRC). Unlike the AEC, the NRC was an indepen- 
dent body, not part of the Executive Branch and not subject to 
presidential direction. In March 1976, the NRC voted 3-1 to 
approve hal fofa  pending fuel shipment or nine tons of enriched 
uranium and to hold public hearings regarding the export of the 
other nine tons in late July. 
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At the hearings--a first for the NRC--administration 
spokesman Myron Kratzer of the State Department regretted 
the Indian test, but said this did not bear on the shipment of 
enriched uranium for Tarapur. Since the United States had a 
legal obligation to supply the fuel, Kratzer argued that failure to 
do so would risk losing the safeguards on Tarapur as well as 
influence over the future course of India's nuclear policy. Krat- 
zer stressed the view that non-compliance with the Tarapur 
contract would harm US interests by suggesting the United 
States was not a "reliable supplier" of nuclear fuel-- then a 
major element in US nuclear policy. 34 

Anti-nuclear groups, such as the National Resources De- 
fense Council, the Sierra Club, and Ihe Union of Concerned 
Scientists, paraded several dozen witnesses who urged the NRC 
to reject the license application. The opponents wanted the 
United States, like Canada, to end nuclear cooperation with 
India because of the 1974 test. They asserted that India's using 
heavy water supplied by the United States in the production of 
the plutonium for the test was a violation of the 1956 agreement 
under which the heavy water was supplied. The opponents 
argued that if India had violated this agreement, it could violate 
others in the futuremlike the one coveting Tarapur. 35 To but- 
tress their assertion, the critics cited a 1970 unilateral US state- 
ment that any use of US-supplied nuclear material in an 
explosion would violate earlier Indo-US nuclear agreements. 
Even though the Indians refused to accept this after-the-fact 
interpretation, opponents claimed the presence of US heavy 
water in the Canadian reactor, which produced the plutonium 
for the Pokharan test, constituted a violation of the 1956 "peace- 
ful uses" agreement for the heavy water. The weakness with this 
argument was twofold: First, in 1956, "peaceful uses" did not 
rule out "peaceful nuclear explosions," and, second, a unilateral 
US redefinition of an agreement fifteen years after signing did 
not bind the Indians. While politically appealing, the argument 
was legally weak. 

The Ford administration's position, however, suffered 
whenmbecause of an internal m i x u p ~ a  State Department re- 
ply to a query from Senator Abraham Ribicoff(D., Conn.) stated 
in error that the heavy water sent to India in 1956 had evapo- 
rated and therefore could not have been involved in producing 
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'the plutonium for the nuclear device.36 Ribicoffand others in the 
anti-nuclear lobby jumped on the mistake to charge the adminis- 
tration with trying to mislead the public--a particularly sensi- 
tive matter in the post-Watergate atmosphere. In a 2 August 
letter to Ribicoff, Kissinger admitted the error, but the damage 
w a s  d o n e ,  37 

Even though the Indians remained silent during the NRC 
hearings, as a sign of their desire to maintain the Tarapur supply 
relationship, Homi Sethna, head of the Indian AEC, assured US 
officials India would not act irresponsibly in exporting sensitive 
nuclear materials. The Indians also offered to re-export all the 
used Tarapur fuel to the United States, physically ensuring the 
spent fuel could not be reprocessed to produce plutonium for 
nuclear explosions. 38 

Split down the middle, the NRC finally decided to delay a 
decision until after the 1976 US presidential elections. The 
Democratic Party candidate, Jimmy Carter, familiar with nu- 
clear questions from his experience on US Navy nuclear subma- 
rines, was already criticizing the Indian case as an example of a 
flabby US nonproliferation policy. During the campaign, he 
made a tougher approach on nonproliferation one of his major 
foreign policy planks. In response to Carter's attacks, Ford 
announced revised and tougher nuclear export controls in Octo- 
ber 1976, shortly before the election. 

When the Democrats won a narrow victory in November, 
the prospects for continued nuclear cooperation with India 
seemed poor. On this issue--and indeed on Indo-US bilateral 
relations in generalmtraditional liberal and conservative posi- 
tions had reversed themselves. US liberals, who had lambasted 
Nixon's Bangladesh policy and supported good US-Indian rela- 
tions, were pressing to cut off nuclear cooperation and to casti- 
gate Mrs. Gandhi for the Emergency. US conservatives, 
formerly critics of India, were cast in the role of supporting 
continued nuclear cooperation and wanting to avoid further 
disruption of relations through US sniping at the Emergency. 

1969-1977: A Summing Up 
The bilateral relationship sustained grievous damage dur- 

ing the 1970s, first from US policy during the Bangladesh crisis 
and later from Indian actions--the 1974 nuclear test and the 
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1975 proclamation of the Emergency. Psychologically, the US 
approach during 1971--especially the Enterprise episode-- 
etched an image of US hostility into the Indian historical mem- 
ory. Nixon's termination of the economic assistance program, 
previously a positive offset to political frictions, removed an- 
other important element of the bilateral relationship. Even 
though the aid links brought their own problems, US help was a 
tangible sign of American interest in supporting the economic 
development of the world's largest democracy. 

Despite there being few incentives for Washington to seek 
improved relations, US interests still put a limit on how bad 
thingswould get. The United States felt that it could not entirely 
ignore India, even if, during the two-year Ford presidency there 
was only a modest desire to find a modus vivendi. India re- 
mained the most populous developing nation apart from China, 
of limited strategic importance as the White House viewed the 
world in the 1970s, but of some significance because of its size 
and leadership role in the nonaligned movement. 

Even more so, India could not ignore Washington. US 
South Asia policies, especially ties with Pakistan and China, 
could directly affect Indian security. Through the strong US 
voice in international financial institutions, the Americans also 
influenced multilateral aid flows, of growing importance as a 
source of external finance for Indian development. As much as 
US policy during 1971 offended New Delhi, it was not in India's 
national interest to make hostility with Washington a perma- 

n e n t  foreign policy feature. Despite Indira Gandhi's chronic 
sniping at Washington, she was wary of India's becoming so 
closely linked to the Soviet Union that nonalignment would 
become a fiction. A firm nationalist, the Prime Minister wanted 
to maintain her country's freedom of maneuver in the interna- 
tional arena. To realize this goal, India needed at least the 
semblance of a working relationship with the United States. 39 

N O T E S  

1. New York Times, 28 October 1974. 
2. Ibid., 29 October 1974. 
3. Ibid., 31 October 1974. 
4. Ibid., 3 November 1974. 
5. Ibid., 28 October 1974. 



FORD 343 

6. According to then Foreign Secretary Kewal Singh, Mrs. Gandhi 
found Kissinger too full of  his own importance and cleverness. Singh 
said she intended to put him in his place by leaving New Delhi in the 
middle of his stay. (Interview with the late Kewal Singh, 1 March 1991) 

7. New York Times, 29 October 1974. 
8. A subcommission on agriculture was added in 1979. 
9. New York Times, 15 December 1974. 
10. Interview with Ambassador Kewal Singh, I March 1991. 
11. Henry A. Kissinger, White House Years (Boston: Little, Brown 

& Co, 1979), p. 907. 
12. New York Times, 25 and27 February 1975. 
! 3. Ibid., 29 February 1975. 
14. Ibid., 25 February 1975. 
15. Ibid., 26 February 1975. 
16. Interview with T. N. Kaul, 18 January 1991. 
17. Interview with Kewal Singh, 1 March 1991. 
18. New York Times, 24 April 1975. 
19. Ibid., 25 March 1975. 
20. Washington Post, 19 March 1975. 
21. New York Times, 25 April 1975. 
22. Ibid. 
23. New York Times, 1 July 1975. 
24. Playboy, March 1977, p. 78. 
25. In retrospect, Moynihan regretted the remarks about "'commu- 

nicable disease," but still thought the thrust of his remarks was correct. 
(Interview with Senator Moynihan, I August 1991). 

26. New York Times, 12 August 1976. 
27. Kissinger, p. 916. 
28. Washington Post, 1 January 1976. 
29. Ibid. 
30. New York Times, 29 February 1976; Washington Post, 19 Febru- 

ary 1976. 
31. Daniel Patrick Moynihan, A Dangerous Place (Boston: Little, 

Brown & Co, 1978), pp. 40-41. Moynihan revealed that India cooper- 
ated with the CIA in placing secret nuclear-powered sensoring devices 
in the Himalayas capable of collecting technical data on Chinese 
nuclear tests. 

32. Interviews with Sharada Prasad, Inder Malhotra, and Kewal 
Singh, January-February 1991. 

33. Sethna-Ray letter of 17 September 1974, quoted in N. Ram, 
"India's Nuclear Policy," paper prepared for the Association of Asian 
Studies' April 1982 annual meeting, pp. 20-21. 

34. Washington Post, 19 and 22 July, 1976. 
35. Washington Post, 19, 21, and 22 July 1976. 



344 ESTRANGED DEMOCRACIES 

36. The author recalled that technical information on the rate of 
evaporation of heavy water, relayed by telephone from the nuclear 
specialists to the State Department, was garbled in transcription, indi- 
cating more rapid evaporation than, in fact, occurred. Based on this 
misinformation, the State Department wrote Ribicoffthat since it had 
already evaporated, US heavy water could not have been present in the 
reactor when the material for the Indian explosive device was 
produced. 

37. New York Times, 9 August 1976. 
38. The author's personal recollections of discussions with the 

Indians. 
39. This idea is developed in Thomas P. Thornton's "U.S.-India 

Relations in the Nixon and Ford Years," in Harold A. Gould and 
Sumit Ganguly, eds., The Hope and the Reality: U.S.-Indian Relations 
from Roosevelt to Bush (Boulder: Westview, 1992). 



Chapter IX 

Carter: Unfulfilled Hopes 

A s  Jimmy Carter led the Democrats back to the White 
House, the prospects for Indo-US relations were mixed. If Ford 
and Kissinger were willing to look the other way about 
dictatorship in India on the grounds that internal political 
arrangements of foreign countries were not a concern of the 
United States, Carter felt differently. The new President pledged 
to make respect for human fights a cardinal principle of US 
foreign policy. Carter's thinking was not far from that of liberal 
Congressman Donald Fraser (D-Minnesota), who declared in 
hearings just after the inauguration, that the United States ought 
to avoid "endorsing implicitly or otherwise India's suspension 
of civil rights."1 The new President's emphasis on human rights 
threatened to collide head on with the Emergency. 

During the campaign, Carter stressed his desire for a 
tougher policy against nuclear proliferation. Within days of 
taking the oath of office, the new President ordered a major 
review of nuclear policy. Having criticized Ford's response to 
the Indian test as too weak, Jimmy Carter would have to decide 
how to deal with India--specifically, whether to continue to 
provide enriched uranium fuel for Tarapur. 2 

Balancing human rights and nonproliferation as issues 
likely to have a negative impact on relations, Carter's National 
Security Adviser, Columbia Professor Zbigniew Brzezinski, 
sketched out a foreign policy agenda that gave India a higher 
priority than had been the case under Nixon and Ford. The 
overall strategy was to deemphasize Cold War or East-West 

345 
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concerns and to pay more attention to North-South issues, 
strengthening relations with nations likely to move into posi- 
tions of prominence by the end of the 20th century. Along with 
Saudi Arabia, Iran, Indonesia, Nigeria, Brazil, and Venezuela, 
Brzezinski listed India as one of the "regional influentials. ''3 
Carter himself was also favorably predisposed towards the Third 
World, in general, and India, in particular? 

Exactly how this policy mix would play out with regard to 
india was unclear when unexpectedly a major cloud over the 
relationship lifted. Just a week before Carter's inauguration, 
Indira surprised everyone by ending the Emergency, easing re- 
strictions on democratic rights, releasing thousands from jail, 
and scheduling general elections for March 1977. 5 The Prime 
Minister explained that with India stable and the economy 
improved, "There seemed no reason not to have elections. ''6 
Even if Mrs. Gandhi vehemently denied a desire for approba- 
tion from the West, 7 her frequent interviews with Western jour- 
nalists suggested the opposi tenas  did her comment that the 
elections would "uphold the fair name of India. ''8 

In February, just as the campaign was getting under way, 
India's President, Fakhruddin Ali Ahmed, died. To represent 
the United States at the funeral, Carter designated his mother, 
"Miss Lillian," who had direct association with India from 
having served two years as a sixty-year old Peace Corps volun- 
teer near Bombay during the late 1960s. Sending Miss Lillian 
was a nice way of showing the Indians that the KAssinger-Nixon 
era of realpolitik was over, and of signalling the new President's 
personal interest in better relations. As Thomas Thornton, the 
NSC staffer on South Asia during the Carter administration, 
wrote, "The symbolism was warm and personal. ''9 

When India went to the polls in March, Mrs. Gandhi and 
her Congress Party suffered a stunning defeat. Running under 
the banner of the Janata Front, the opposition won an unex- 
pected landslide victory, gaining 295 seats in parliament to 153 
for the Congress Party. Although the Janata campaigned princi- 
pally against the trampling of democracy during the Emergency, 
coercive birth control policies promoted by Sanjay Gandhi 
probably stirred as much resentment among the mass of India's 
rural voters. In a matter of weeks, Morarji Desai, Mrs. Gandhi's 
long-time opponent, moved from jail to become India's fourth 
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prime minister. Although defeated in his run for the prime 
ministership after Shastri's death in 1966, and ousted in 1969 
from the finance ministry by Mrs. Gandhi, the former Congress 
Party veteran unexpectedly emerged as India's leader at the age 
of 81. His Janata Front possessed a large parliamentary major- 
ity, but the numbers were deceptive. The Front comprised an 
unstable alliance of former Congress Party opponents of Indira, 
onetime socialists, and conservative Hindu nationalists from 
the Jan Sangh party. The glue holding the Janata together was 
the struggle against Mrs. Gandhi and the Emergency. After only 
two years in power, the glue would come unstuck, the coalition 
would be rent by internal rivalries, and the Janata would fall 
apart. 

Carter and Desai: Two Moral and Moralistic Leaders 

Despite their vastly different backgrounds, the onetime US 
Navy officer and peanut farmer from Plains, Georgia, and the 
austere octogenarian Gandhian from Gujarat had a good deal in 
common. Both owed their election to popular reaction against 
major domestic t rauma-- the  Watergate scandal in the United 
States and the Emergency in India. Both were deeply moral and 
moralistic leaders. Both shared genuine concern for the princi- 
ples of human rights, democracy, disarmament, and the eco- 
nomic growth of developing countries. 

In Washington, there was a quick and enthusiastic reaction 
to the Indian elections. Jody Powell, White House press spokes- 
man, called them "something that should be an inspiration." 
The State Department sounded equally upbeat: "This naturally 
is very good news that the world's second largest country has 
once again carried out a free and fair election. ''1° With former 
Vice President Hubert Humphrey, again a senator from Minne- 
sota, taking the lead, the US Congress repealed the law adopted 
after the 1974 nuclear test requiring the United States to vote 
against all World Bank loans to India.~ 

On the Indian side, the signs were similarly positive. Over 
the years, Morarji Desai had gained a reputation as friendly 
toward the United States and critical of the Soviet Un ion - - in  
contrast to Washington's view of Mrs. Gandhi 's as pro-Soviet 
and anti-American. During the campaign, Desai criticized Mrs. 
Gandhi's policies as leaning too closely toward Moscow and 
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Courtesy of the Jimmy Carter Library 

1 January 1978, Prime Minister  Morarji  Desai welcomes President and Mrs. 
Jimmy Carter on their arrival in New Delhi. 
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called for "genuine" nonalignment in India's foreign policy with 
more balanced relations with Moscow and Washington. 12 The 
new Foreign Minister Atul Bihari Vajpayee of the Hindu nation- 
alist Jan Sangh shared Desai's views about the need to bring 
better balance into India's ties with the two superpowers. Desai 
continued in office Foreign Secretary Jagat Mehta, who believed 
friendly ties with both Washington and Moscow were in India's 
interest as part of a broader policy of"beneficial bilateralism," 
not only with the United States and the Soviet Union, but with 
India's smaller neighbors in South Asia as well. 13 As the NSC's 
senior South Asia staffer, Brzezinski brought Thomas Thornton 
over from the State Department's Policy Planning Staff, so that, 
for the first time in a decade, the White House had a staffer with 
direct expertise on the subcontinent. 

The selection of ambassadors similarly signalled mutual 
interest in better relations. Carter named former Princeton Uni- 
versity President Robert Goheen, born in India of missionary 
parents. Goheen, who retained strong links with India, served as 
the co-chairman of the educational and cultural subcommission. 
Desai selected Nani Palkhivala, a respected Bombay lawyer, 
human rights activist, and outspoken opponent of the Emer- 
gency. A senior director of Tata's, one of India's most prestigi- 
ous business enterprises, Palkhivala was an articulate booster of 
the free enterprise system and of close relations with the West. 

When Ambassador Goheen met Carter before departing for 
India, the President focused on the nuclear problem, instructing 
Goheen to tell the Prime Minister, "If  India would restrain from 
developing atomic weapons and agree to discuss nonprolifera- 
tion, he would clear the pending Tarapur shipment. ''~4 A few 
days later when Goheen relayed Carter's message, the Prime 
Minister responded positively, "I will never develop a bomb 
and, yes, we will engage in discussions." ~ 5 The new governments 
were thus off to a good start in dealing with the one serious issue 
that clouded an otherwise promising bilateral scene. 

On 28 June, the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), 
under pressure from the Carter administration, approved the 
long-pending export license for nine tons of enriched uranium 
fuel. Even though opponents briefly blocked the shipment in the 
US District Court, the US Appellate Court, after a strong plea 
from the Justice Department, permitted the fuel to be exported 
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to India. About the same time, Foreign Secretary Jagat Mehta 
and former Harvard Professor Joseph Nye, who became the top 
nuclear policymaker for the new administration, held private 
discussions in London after Nye visited India. The talks were 
positive in tone, but inconclusive.16 

President Carter initiated a friendly and extended corre- 
spondence with the new Indian Prime Minister. ~7 Confirming 
the exchanges in an interview with the New York Times, Desai 
commented, "From what he says, he believes in the same values 
that I believe in."18 A round of high-level talks took place in July 
1977 when Warren Christopher, the Deputy Secretary of State 
and right-hand man to Secretary Cyrus Vance, visited New 
Delhi. In line with the administration's desire to upgrade rela- 
tions with India, Christopher pointedly did not follow the usual 
practice of coupling a visit to New Delhi with a stop in neighbor- 
ing Pakistanma practice that annoyed the Indians since it sug- 
gested that the United States equated relations with the two 
countries. On this occasion, Christopher further upset the Pakis- 
ranis by telling the press in New Delhi that the United States 
looked "to India as the leader in South Asia. ''~9 

The United States and India seemed to be coming closer 
together in other areas in the early months of the Carter adminis- 
tration. Carter and Vance made clear they cast a jaundiced eye 
on sales of sophisticated weapons to the subcontinent, always a 
subject of deep concern in New Delhi. In its last days, the Ford 
administration was leaning toward approving a Pakistani re- 
quest to buy A-7 fighter-bomber aircraft. The outgoing adminis- 
tration justified such a sale as a way of inducing Pakistan not to 
proceed with developing its own nuclear explosive capability. 
The proposed A-7 sale received a chilly reaction from the new 
administration. Carter and Vance flatly rejected the idea. 2° 
When Sweden expressed interest in selling India its Viggen 
fighter, powered by a US General Electric engine, Washington 
was similarly negative. Carter sincerely believed that the United 
States should not be in the business of promoting sales of sophis- 
ticated weaponry to the subcontinent. 

In keeping with his strong personal support for disarma- 
ment, Carter also sparked consideration of an expanded arms 
control agenda with the Soviets, in addition to SALT II talks on 
strategic nuclear arms limitations. One of the ideas was for the 
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total ban on nuclear testing through a Comprehensive Test Ban 
Treaty. Another was to explore with the Soviet Union the possi- 
ble "demilitarization" of the Indian Ocean, a position positively 
received by the Indians, long opposed to big power naval pres- 
ence in the region. 21 

After the British in the mid-1960s announced the with- 
drawal of most of their military forces east of Suez, Washington 
established a small naval communications facility on the tiny 
British-controlled atoll of Diego Garcia, about a thousand nauti- 
cal miles south of the southern tip of India. India strongly 
opposed this action and supported a 1971 Sri Lankan initiative 
in the United Nations for an Indian Ocean Zone of Peace. In the 
wake of the 1973 Arab-Israeli War and the oil embargo, the 
facility at Diego Garcia was expanded to support a larger US 
naval presence near the Persian Gulf. 22 

Formal talks with the Russians on theIndian Ocean began 
in Moscow in June 1977. Paul Warnke, the head of the US 
delegation and Director of  the Arms Control and Disarmament 
Agency (ACDA), clarified the US aim as the more modest goal of 
seeking to "stabilize" naval forces in the Indian Ocean rather 
than complete demilitarization. 23 A second and third round of 
negotiations in Washington and Switzerland addressed techni- 
cal questions, but did no t  deal with the broader policy issue 
posed by intervention by Washington or Moscow unrelated to 
naval deployments. Before this larger question could be tackled, 
the talks stalled in early 1978 after the Soviets strengthened their 
position in the Horn of Africa through their own and Cuban 
military assistance to Ethiopia. The Indian Ocean negotiations 
finally collapsed following the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan in 
December 1979. 24 

Carter's Visit to India 
In the fall of 1977 preparations were under way for Jimmy 

Carter to visit India. As Ambassador Goheen put it, the trip 
would help show "the irritants of the past have been removed, 
and now the groundwork for better relations, better mutual 
respect and trust is there. ''25 In keeping with the new approach to 
South Asia, and unlike Eisenhower and Nixon, the two previous 
presidential travelers to the subcontinent, Carter did not couple 
his trip to India with a stop in Pakistan. 
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Courtesy of the Jimmy Carter Library 

3 January 1978, President and Mrs. Carter visiting an Indian Village. 
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By the time the President arrived in New Delhi on New 
Year's Day 1978, the Janata government's version of Indian 
nonalignment had become clearer. A hurried visit by Soviet 
Foreign Minister Gromyko in April 1977, only a month after the 
Janata took office, and then an October trip to Moscow by 
Morarji Desai confirmed a basic continuity in India-Soviet rela- 
tions, even though cooperation was less close than when Mrs. 
Gandhi was Prime Minister. The Janata emphasized to a skepti- 
cal Kremlin that it desired good Indo-Soviet relations, but did 
not believe these needed to be at the expense of improving New 
Delhi's ties with Washington. 26 

When Jimmy Carter became the third serving US President 
to visit India, the welcoming crowds in New Delhi were friendly 
and large although nothing like the throngs that greeted Eisen- 
hower in 1959. In a major speech before the Indian parliament, 
the President drew attention to the triumph of democratic val- 
ues in the two countries, praised India's achievements since 
independence, and proposed a broad effort to develop the eco- 
nomic potential of the major rivers of eastern India, Bangladesh, 
and Nepal .  27 

To emphasize the importance attached to the Indo-US rela- 
tionship, the President and Prime Minister issued a "Delhi 
Declaration" at the conclusion of the trip instead of the usual 
communiqu6. Carter and Desai stressed common support for 
democracy and economic development, expressed their deep 
opposition to "the specter of war," and pledged that India and 
the United States "will do their utmost to resolve disputes with 
others amicably." In keeping with the personal convictions of 
the two leaders, the Delhi Declaration closed on a note of 
principlem"Ends can never justify evil means. Nations, like 
individuals, are morally responsible for their actions. ''28 

Although the visit demonstrated the tangible improvement 
in relations and the good ties between the President and Prime 
Minister, bad luck made it embarrassingly clear that a tough 
substantive problemmthe Tarapur i s sueuhad  yet to be solved. 
An open microphone caught some private remarks between 
Carter and Vance, revealing that the two sides remained far 
apart on the nuclear issue. The media reported the President's 
advising the Secretary of State, "I told him (Desai) I would 
authorize the transfer of fuel now . . It didn't seem to make 
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an impression on him . . . .  When we get back, I think we 
should write him another letter, just cold and very blunt. ''29 

Despite the fact that the incident created much stir in the 
press, Morarji Desai pointedly played down the gaffe, taking the 
position that remarks "not intended to be heard, were not 
heard. ''30 The remark, nonetheless, had a damaging impact in 
India, suggesting to many that even "friends" in the West, like 
Jimmy Carter, were two-faced. The open microphone incident 
played into the hands of the strong and active Soviet lobby 
which was stressing the line that only the Soviets were "true 
friends" of India. 3t 

On the Indian side, Desai's unwillingness to pick up on the 
major initiative by Carter--US support for a multi-billion dol- 
lar effort to develop the Eastern Watersmrevealed that the 
Janata government was not up to embracing this ambitious, if 
difficult, international development undertaking. An eastern 
version of the 1960 Indus waters accord, a Ganges-Brahmaputra 
agreement, would have led to massive financial investments in 
flood control, hydroelectric power, and irrigation to spur devel- 
opment in the subcontinent's poor and densely populated north- 
eastern corner. The World Bank stood ready to help--as it had 
with the Indus project--financially and with complex negotia- 
tions on water sharing between Nepal, India, and Bangladesh. 

The Indians did not, however, respond to Carter's initia- 
tive. They were politically reluctant to drop their opposition to 
an international, rather than a bilateral, approach to regional 
South Asia issues and concerned about involving the Commu- 
nist government of West Bengal in such a potentially touchy 
problem. 32 Indian water specialists in the Ministry of Irrigation 
also opposed the idea of an international regime for the eastern 
waters, echoing their long-standing view that India had lost out 
to Pakistan in water-sharing arrangements under the Indus 
treaty. 33 

Although by mutual agreement, the President and Desai did 
not take up the question of economic aid, a few days later, John 
Gilligan, the former Ohio Governor whom Carter named to 
head AID, came to India to announce a resumption of US 
bilateral assistance after a six-year break. The Janata's Finance 
Minister, H. M. Patel, during a visit to Washington in October 
1977, had made no bones about Indian interest in US aid. Patel 
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said bluntly he was not going to engage in the "hypocrisy" of 
pretending India did not need help, or the "alphonse-gaston" 
routine of waiting for the other side to ask first. India, according 
to Patel, needed "both trade and aid. T M  

Gilligan had only $60 million in his pocket--the amount 
the Congress on its own initiative approved for India. The AID 
Administrator told the press in New Delhi that President Carter 
hoped for an expanded program, with $90 million in 1979 and a 
larger amount later, in addition to $100 million in food aid the 
United States was providing annually to voluntary agencies. 35 
Negotiating projects to fit the revised US AID focus on "basic 
human needs" took a number of months. Only on 26 August 
1978 were Ambassador Goheen and the Indian Finance Secre- 
tary able to sign three project agreements to use the $60 
million. 36 

With memories of past frictions over aid questions, many 
US government specialists on India--including NSC staffer 
Tom Thornton and State Department Deputy Assistant Secre- 
tary Jane Coon--were at best lukewarm about the idea of resum- 
ing bilateral assistance. They worried that the economic benefits 
might well not outweigh the potential political disadvantages) 7 
Nor did all Indians share Finance Minister Patel's enthusiasm, 
recalling US efforts to influence Indian economic policy as 
"interference" in India's internal affairs. In any case, the sub- 
stantial increase in multilateral assistance to India during the 
1970s, much of which the United States funded through its 
contributions to the World Bank's soft money loan window, 
IDA, ensured large assistance inflows for India and reduced the 
relative importance of bilateral American aid. 

T h e  Nuclear Nonproliferation Act: 
Trouble for Tarapur 

The "cold and very blunt" message to Desai came not in the 
form of a letter from Carter, but in the 1978 Nuclear Non- 
proliferation Act (NNPA), the legislative cornerstone of the 
administration's nuclear policy. The US Congress adopted the 
NNPA with virtually no dissent, the Senate by an 88-3 margin 
and the House of Representatives by a unanimous 411-0 vote. 3s 
The heart of the new policy, as it related to India, was that the 
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United States could henceforth export sensitive nuclear materi- 
als, such as enriched uranium fuel, only to countries that placed 
all their nuclear facilities under International Atomic Energy 
Agency (IAEA) safeguards. Countries like India that had previ- 
ously refused to accept "full scope safeguards" had 1 8 months to 
conform to the requirements of the NNPA. They would other- 
wise be ineligible for further exports from the United States, 
regardless of existing contractual arrangements. 

Trouble clearly lay ahead. Unless the Indians accepted 
IAEA safeguards on all their nuclear facilities, not just Tarapur, 
the United States would have to stop supplying enriched ura- 
nium fuel. In order to get foreign assistance, the Indians agreed 
to safeguards on individual nuclear facilities, such as Tarapur 
and nuclear power reactors in Rajasthan funded by the Canadi- 
ans, but stoutly refused to accept safeguards on nuclear facilities 
which the Indian AEC built without outside help. The Indians 
argued vehemently that full scope safeguards would be an unjust 
infringement on their sovereignty. 

The Carter administration was aware that legislating unilat- 
eral requirements on existing international agreements could 
cause a negative reaction that "would be severely counter- 
productive to our nonproliferation objectives." Testifying in 
Congressional hearings, Carter nuclear spokesman Joseph Nye 
explained, "We simply do not have the leverage to exact compli- 
ance with sweeping new provisions, insistence on which could 
be seen by many of our nuclear partners as a breach of our supply 
commitments. ''39 With the India case in mind, the administra- 
tion tried but failed to gain acceptance for an exemption 
for existing contracts from the new full scope safeguard 
requirement. 40 

Shortly after the new law passed, the NRC made matters 
worse by refusing to license the next shipment for Tarapur on a 
split 2-2 vote-- the first time the NRC had turned down an 
export request. Paradoxically, the two Democrats on the NRC 
voted against the export to Tarapur and the two Republicans 
supported the administration. There was no fifth or swing vote 
as the President had yet to fill an NRC vacancy. 41 In India, 
Prime Minister Desai responded sharply, warning that if the 
United States blocked the enriched uranium shipment, India 
would regard it a breach of the Tarapur contract. India would 
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then be free, Morarji stated in parliament, "to adopt any course 
we like to safeguard our own interest. ''42 Although aware that 
Carter was likely to overrule the NRC, Desai nonetheless threw 
down a marker that would remain the Indian position: as long as 
India adhered to the Tarapur contract, the United States could 
not unilaterally alter its terms. Legally, the Indians had a strong 
case, quite apart from policy considerations. 

After the NRC rejected the license, the issue went to the 
White House. President Carter kept his promise to Desai, over- 
turning the NRC ruling to approve the export. In a 27 April 
statement, Carter expressed concern that rejection of the license 
would "seriously undermine" ongoing efforts to negotiate on 
safeguards with India before the NNPA's deadline of March 
1980. Carter said he wanted to use the period to "find mutually 
acceptable ways of meeting both India's need for the continued 
operation of the Tarapur atomic power station and our own 
need for full-scope safeguards and the attainment of other non- 
proliferation objectives. ''43 

The Tarapur question then moved to Congress where the 
export could still be blocked if both Houses voted to override the 
President. As Morarji Desai visited Washington just at this 
moment, Tarapur rather than the improvement in bilateral 
relations became the center of attention during the Prime Minis- 
ter's stay, Meeting on Capitol Hill with some fifty lawmakers, 
Morarji outlined his opposition to what India regarded as dis- 
criminatory safeguards, explained with sincerity why he was 
against developing nuclear weapons, and made clear India was 
not going to sign the Nonproliferation Treaty in order to get fuel 
for Tarapur. The Prime Minister went on to say that if the Big 
Powers stopped making weapons and adopted nuclear disarma- 
ment measures, India might change its mind. 44 At the National 
Press Club, Desai was equally forthright, asking why "must 
India be singled out for disfavor by a friendly country like the 
United States through a unilateral modification of its contrac- 
tual obligations? ''45 

Overall, despite the preoccupation with the nuclear prob- 
lem, the Desai visit went well. According to the White House, 
the two leaders ranged the globe in their talks with few areas of 
disagreement: Carter and Morarji looked forward to progress on 
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disarmament, on human rights, on self-determination in south- 
ern Africa, and for continued peace and stability in South Asia. 
The President and Prime Minister hoped that "the significant 
improvement in bilateral relations over the past year . . . 
would be continued and deepened . . . .  ,,46 In a nice touch, 
Carter took Morarji on a private and unscheduled visit to the 
Lincoln Memorial after the 14 June White House dinner. Ac- 
cording to The Statesman, "This gesturenunprecedented by 
any US President speaks for itself when Indians back home 
ask how is the visit going? ''47 

Desai's straightforward approach had a positive impact in 
Congress. On 12 July, the House of Representatives supported 
the President on Tarapur. Although opponents, like liberal 
Democrat Richard Ottinger of New York, declared, "If  we do 
not apply the act with respect to India, we have no reason to 
expect anybody to think we would apply it to anybody else, ''48 
the majority agreed with the President, voting to sustain the fuel 
export to Tarapur, 227-181. 

The two governments continued to seek a formula to solve 
the Tarapur issue even though the 1978 NNPA and Indian 
opposition to full scope safeguards gave the negotiators little 
leeway. Hopes that New Delhi would give ground faded after the 
Carter administration decided not to proceed with a Compre- 
hensive Test Ban Treaty, one of the severalconditions Desai laid 
down for serious Indian consideration of full scope safeguards. 
Side issues relating to the disposition of spent fuel rods and a 
reprocessing plant built at Tarapur complicated the situation. 

Since the plan for the Tarapur complex developed in the 
early 1960s included reprocessing the spent fuel, the Indians had 
constructed a plant for this purpose. At the time, the United 
States did not regard reprocessing as a proliferation risk and 
interposed no objection. The only legal requirement was for a 
joint US-Indian determination that the reprocessing plant could 
be adequately safeguarded. 49 In 1969, Myron Kratzer, then head 
of international activities at the US Atomic Energy Commis- 
sion, gave a preliminary go-ahead on this question. After the 
1974 Indian test, however, US nuclear policy gradually shifted 
against reprocessing. In 1976, Kratzer, serving as the top State 
Department nuclear specialist, equivocated when the Indian 
AEC formally sought the joint determination. 50 By 1978, with 
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Courtesy of the Jimmy Carter Library 

13 June 1978, India-US Meeting at the White House. On the US side, left to 
right, Peter Lande, Harold Saanders, Vice President Walter Mondale, Warren 
Christopher, President Carter, and David Aaron. 

Courtesy of the Jimmy Carter Library 

14 June 1978, Vice President Walter Mondale, President Carter, and Prime 
Minister Morarji Desai at the White House. 
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the Carter administration in power, US policy was firmly 
against reprocessing, which was now regarded as a major 
proliferation risk. In line with the new policy, Louis Nosenzo, 
Kratzer's successor, stated officially that the United States 
would not approve using the plant to reprocess the Tarapur 
spent fuel rods. 51 

If the Indians could not reprocess Tarapur spent fuel, what 
could be done with the nuclear waste? Because the original 
Tarapur concept envisaged reprocessing, the facility had limited 
storage capacity. After the 1974 test, the Indian AEC offered to 
sell the spent fuel rods back to the United States. The Indians, in 
effect, said: If you are worried about misuse of the fuel, buy it 
back. Washington said, "No, thank you," unsure how to pay for 
the rods or where to store them. 52 The US stance remained 
unchanged after the Democrats took office. In 1979, when Presi- 
dent Jimmy Carter was asked in a press conference about taking 
back the fuel as a solution to the Tarapur problem, he replied, 
"We have no authority and no plan now for the shipment of 
those waste products back to our own country. ''53 

In addition to the frustration over the idle reprocessing 
plant and the disposal of the spent fuel, the question of enriched 
uranium supplies remained unresolved in 1979. Passing through 
Delhi in March, Deputy Secretary of State Warren Christopher 
received a barrage of Indian complaints about the delay in 
shipments from Prime Minister Morarji Desai, Foreign Secre- 
tary Jagat Mehta, and others. 54 Carter had by then appointed a 
fifth commissioner to the NRC, John Ahearne, whose vote 
would decide the issue since the other four commissioners re- 
mained split two-two. After much soul searching, Ahearne fi- 
nally came down in favor of issuing the license. In an 
explanatory statement, Ahearne said the Desai government "has 
acted responsibly and courageously," showing "a strong com- 
mitment towards world nonproliferation. ''55 

By this time, it should have been clear that a mutually 
satisfactory agreement on Tarapur was not in the cards. Since 
India was unwilling to accept full scope safeguards, under the 
NNPA the United States would have to terminate fuel exports in 
March 1980, eighteen months after the new law went into effect, 
regardless of whether India continued to fulfil its obligations 
under the Tarapur contract. The situation argued for finding a 
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graceful way to end the Tarapur arrangementmupholding US 
nonproliferation policy without doing more damage to bilateral 
relations. The President did not, however, want to face the 
problem head-on. Carter, according to Ambassador Goheen, 
was an optimist; even though the talks were going nowhere, he 
believed in dialogue and remained hopeful that somehow the 
Indians could be brought around. 56 

The President himself gave mixed signals in dealing with 
the issue. He told visiting Indian Foreign Minister Vajpayee in 
April 1979 that after the March 1980 NNPA cutoff date the 
United States would be hard put to continue the supply of 
Tarapur fuel. 57 At the same time, Carter publicly lamented that 
US actions toward nuclear disarmament and testing "have not 
yet been adequate to encourage other countries like India to 
meet those very high standards that we hope to make more 
stringent in the future." Carter said he found it "a little bit 
difficult" to talk about the nuclear question with Morarji Desai 
when "we ourselves have not yet restrained the spread of nuclear 
weapons."58 

For the Indians, the proliferation issue became more com- 
plicated with evidence that its long-time foe Pakistan was 
mounting a serious covert effort to develop nuclear weapons. 
Former Prime Minister Bhutto's call for his country to develop 
nuclear weapons was proving more than mere rhetoric, s9 By 
early 1979, US intelligence about the Pakistan nuclear program 
became sufficiently hard that the Carter administration felt 
compelled to invoke the Symington amendment to the Foreign 
Assistance Act. This provision barred providing economic assis- 
tance to countries that the United States believed were moving 
toward a nuclear weapons capability. Predictably, after the 
United States suspended economic aid, US relations with Paki- 
stanmnever good during the Carter administration in view of 
the emphasis on improving ties with Indiamsharply 
deteriorated. 

"Thin Below the Levels of Broad Principle" 
The improvement in the political relationship between the 

United States and India was real, but somewhat deceptive. 
According to Ambassador Goheen, relations remained "thin 
below the levels of broad principles and personal diplomacy. ''6° 
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The two governments had difficulty in moving much beyond the 
stage of better political atmospherics. There just was not that 
much going on between the United States and India. 

A hoped-for expansion in the economic relationship re- 
mained largely unfulfilled. Two-way trade grew somewhat and 
the United States again became India's largest trading partner 
during the Carter-Desai years. Expectations of increased US 
investment were, however, stillborn. The Janata government 
proved as touchy and nationalistic as Mrs. Gandhi's in dealing 
with foreign investors. Rather surprisinglymgiven the Janata's 
pro-private sector rhetoric--George Fernandes, a vocal socialist 
labor leader, became Minister of Industries with responsibility 
for foreign investment. Far from easing controls, Fernandes 
insisted on strict enforcement of the restrictive Foreign Ex- 
change Regulation Act (FERA) enacted by Mrs, Gandhi. Under 
the FERA, foreign investors could not own more than 40 percent 
of the share capital of Indian enterprises. Existing foreign own- 
ers were supposed to reduce their equity holdings to this level. 

US business strongly opposed Fernandes' approach. In a 
meeting of the Joint Business Council, the American side made 
clear that it regarded the 40 percent limitation, along with high 
taxes and chronic red tape, as major barriers to attracting more 
US investment to India. 6L When Fernandes pressed ahead with 
rigid enforcement of the FERA, two major US companies--  
Coca-Cola and IBM--decided to shut down their India opera- 
tions. In the case of Coca-Cola, Fernandes claimed the soft drink 
company was making excessively large profits--10-I 5 million 
rupees annually on an initial investment of only 600,000 rupees. 
Although Coca-Cola was willing to restructure its Indian subsid- 
iary to comply with FERA regulations, the US company refused 
to relinquish control of its formula for coke s y r u p .  6~ When 
Fernandes found the offer inadequate, Coca-Cola decided to 
pull out. The damage to India's image in US business circles 
caused by Coca-Cola's departure was considerable. 63 

The damage was even worse in the case of IBM. After 
Fernandes insisted IBM comply with the FERA requirements, 
the US company refused. Fernandes recalled IBM telling him, 
"General de Gaulle couldn't make us do it and we won't for 
India either. ''64 IBM, nonetheless, wanted to remain in India 
and proposed a compromise. IBM would split its operations, 
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leaving the sales and leasing operation under IBM control, but 
converting the service and repair division into a separate Indian 
registered company, in which IBM would own only 40 percent of 
the share capital. IBM also offered to fund joint research 
projects in India to promote technology development. When the 
offer was not good enough for Fernandes, IBM packed up and 
left. 6s 

Unlike Coca-Cola, IBM's departure, just before the start of 
the personal computer revolution, proved a major technology 
loss for India. Nationalist sentiments against foreign business 
won the day, but  India paid a price. The twin episodes dealt a 
one-two punch to India's image as a good place for US invest- 
ment. Ambassador Goheen wrote, "The negative vibrations in 
the US business community . . . were immediate, widespread 
and in some quarters lasting. ''66 US investment in India during 
the late 1970smand in the years since thenmremained small. 
Declining US interest in India was reflected in attendance at the 
1979 Joint Business Council meetings. Twenty-eight of India's 
top business executives traveled to Washington; only sixteen 
middle-level US executives and 11 observers bothered to 
attend.67 

If the private sector engagement was disappointing, re- 
newed US economic assistance also failed to grow as much as aid 
supporters hoped. Instead of rising to a $300 million annual 
level, bilateral development assistance topped out at about $100 
million annually. The revived assistance effort, while not insub- 
stantial, remained more an expression of goodwill rather than a 
major policy commitment to Indian development as it had been 
during the Eisenhower and Kennedy years. With other issues 
higher on Jimmy Carter's foreign policy agenda--for example, 
the Panama Canal treaty, the Middle East peace negotiations, 
and SALT II - - the  President never made the personal political 
commitment to an expanded foreign assistance program. As a 
result, aid funds were simply not available to increase the India 
bilateral program much above the $100 million annual range. 

In 1979, even though Tarapur remained a chronic problem, 
India-US relations were, nonetheless, better than they had been 
for more than a decade. 68 When Foreign Minister Vajpayee 
visited Washington in the spring of 1979, the US side was 
positively glowing about his talks with Secretary Vance and 
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President Carter. "It  was the best exchange we have had with 
India for years. It had warmth, but it had more than that. 
Nobody was scared of disagreeing and every conceivable subject 
was brought up .  ''69 

By this time, however, two major developments negatively 
influenced the bilateral environment. In early 1979, the Shah of 
Iran, long the mainstay of US strategy in West Asia, was driven 
from power by virulently anti-American Shiite fundamentalists. 
Although Carter's achievement of the Camp David peace accord 
between Egypt and Israel brought far closer US-Egyptian secu- 
rity cooperation, the loss of Iran shook the US position in the 
region. After the Iranians seized hostages from the US Embassy 
in Tehran later in the year, this problem became the White 
House's major preoccupation for the rest of Carter's term. 

In India, the Janata coalition, weakened by political infight- 
ing among rival leaders, finally collapsed. Morarji Desai re- 
signed in July 1979, to be replaced by North Indian peasant 
leader Charan Singh. The new Prime Minister was never able to 
muster a parliamentary majority and served six months as a 
caretaker leader, the life of his government dependent on the 
support of Indira Gandhi and her Congress Party. 

Given its weakness, the new government could do little 
more than mark time in foreign affairs. Although in no position 
to negotiate on Tarapur, Charan Singh adopted a tougher line on 
nuclear policy than Morarji Desai. Talking with visiting Senator 
Charles Percy a few weeks after taking office, the new Prime 
Minister said India might reconsider its approach to nuclear 
weapons if Pakistan persisted in trying to get a bomb. Singh 
stressed India would make its own decision "with nobody on the 
outside having any say in this. ''7° The annual meeting of the 
International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) in New Delhi in 
December 1979 provided an opportunity to air Indian nuclear 
grievances. "In the name of nonproliferation," Charan Singh 
complained," smaller nations are forced to accept restraints and 
restrictions, none of which the nuclear weapons powers are 
prepared to accept for themselves. ''71 

New general e lect ionsnlndia ' s  seventh since indepen- 
dencenwere  called for the first week of January 1980. With the 
Emergency past history, Mrs. Gandhi campaigned vigorously 
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against the squabbling Janata, promising a return to stable gov- 
ernment. Although foreign policy was not an important cam- 
paign issue, Indira's Congress Party criticized Janata's handling 
of foreign relations, heaping scorn on the concept of "genuine 
non-alignment," urging closer ties with the Soviet Union, In- 
dia's "true friend," and calling for Indian recognition of  the 
Heng Samgrin regime imposed by the North Vietnamese on 
Kampuchea. 

Afghanistan, Mrs. Gandhi, and "Peanuts" 
Just a week before the elections, on 27 December 1979, the 

world was stunned and the superpower relationship shaken 
when the Soviet Union intervened militarily in Afghanistan to 
oust President Amin and install the more pliable Babrak Kamal 
regime. As a shocked President Jimmy Carter reversed course, 
the Cold War again became the order of the day. Disarmament 
talks collapsed. The President tried to prevent further erosion of 
the West's strategic position through stepped-up defense spend- 
ing. Washington sought to punish the Soviets through measures 
like boycotting the 1980 Moscow Olympics and embargoing 
grain exports. 

The impact on US policy toward South Asia was immedi- 
ate. The day after the Soviet intervention, President Carter 
picked up the telephone to speak with Pakistan's President Zia 
ul-Haq to offer US support and to revive the moribund US 
security commitment under the 1959 bilateral agreement. Paki- 
stan ceased to be a nuclear delinquent and became a frontline 
state against the threat of Soviet expansionism. The Carter 
administration and the Congress acted to unfreeze arms sales to 
Pakistan with Rep. Clement Zablocki (D., Wisconsin), Chair- 
man of the House Foreign Affairs Committee, arguing that the 
Soviet threat overrode nonproliferation concerns. In the Senate, 
parallel moves were launched to get around Symington amend- 
ment bars to a resumption of military and economic aid to 
Pakistan. 72 

In India, the outgoing Charan Singh government expressed 
its displeasure with the Soviet action, but these were just words. 
Within the week, Charan Singh was on his way out as Prime 
Minister. After the Congress Party routed the divided Janata at 
the polls, Indira Gandhi was on her way back in. Three years 
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after the electoral defeat in 1977, Mrs. Gandhi's Congress swept 
3 50 of 542 parliamentary seats. Indira regained political power 
in a remarkable comeback. 

At the United Nations, the United States sought Security 
Council condemnation of the invasion of Afghanistan, only to 
be blocked by the Soviet veto. The US position was unambigu- 
ous: "No state would be safe against a larger neighbor if the 
international community appears to condone the Soviet 
Union's intervention. ''73 Attention shifted to the General As- 
sembly where NATO members, virtually all Muslim states, and 
most of Latin America and Africa joined in censuring Moscow's 
action. 

In New Delhi, the Ministry of External Affairs decided to 
clear the statement India would make on Afghanistan with the 
incoming Prime Minister. Besieged by the preparations for tak- 
ing office, Mrs. Gandhi turned the task over to T. N. Kaul, long 
known for his pro-Soviet views, and G. Parthasarathy, another 
veteran foreign policy adviser. Ministry officials tried to soften 
the language, but were able only to gain acceptance for a few 
changes. TM Delivered in New York by Indian UN Representative 
Mishra on 11 January, the statement whitewashed the Soviet 
action: 

We are against the presence of foreign troops and bases in 
any country. However, the Soviet government has assured 
our government that its troops went to Afghanistan first at 
the request of the Afghan Government on December 26, 
1979 and repeated by his successor on December 28, 1979. 
And we have been further assured that Soviet troops will be 
withdrawn when requested to do so by the Afghan Govern- 
ment. We have no reason to doubt assurances, particularly 
from a friendly country like the Soviet Union with whom we 
have many close ties. 75 

By chance, Ambassador Goheen met with President J immy 
Carter the afternoon Mishra spoke in the UN General Assembly. 
On learning of the Indian statement, Carter was livid. 76 Goheen 
calmed him down saying, "We don't really know the circum- 
stances. Let me go back to New Delhi and report before we do 
anything about this. ''77 At the State Department, according to 
then India Country Director Howard Schaffer, "The statement 
hit people like a ton of bricks. When we first heard the wholesale 
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acceptance of the Soviet line, we just couldn't believe it.'78 As in 
the case of Hungary in 1956 and Czechoslovakia in 1968, India 
chose to stand apart from the world community in not condemn- 
ing the Soviet Union's use of force against another country. 

On returning to New Delhi, Goheen spoke frankly with 
Mrs. Gandhi. He stressed, "What a devastating statement it had 
been from the American point of view and what a terrible 
backlash it had caused in the United States." When the Prime 
Minister responded, "Oh, it wasn't that bad," the Ambassador 
countered, "Oh, yes it really was."79 Goheen made similar points 
with Parthasarathy, whom he had gotten to know well when they 
co-chaired the Indo-US education and culture subcommission. 
The envoy told Parthasarathy, "The terrible statement mis- 
judged the United States and it really wasn't in India's interests 
in siding so openly with the Russians." Like Mrs. Gandhi, 
Parthasarathy tried to explain away the remarks as less serious 
than Goheen suggested. 80 

In Washington, where US officials were still angered about 
the Indian position on Afghanistan, Pakistan's Foreign Minister 
and Secretary General for Defense arrived for discussions with 
President Carter and other US leaders about a possible renewal 
of US military aid. Smarting from Carter administration treat- 
ment of Pakistan, President Zia played hard to get. sl In broader 
strategic terms, January 1980 saw the emergence of the Carter 
Doctrine in the State of the Union message. In a far-reaching 
policy step, Carter declared on 23 January 1980 that the United 
States would regard any move by the Soviet Union toward the 
oil-rich Persian Gulf as a threat to US vital interests and would 
counter by all necessary means, including the use of force. 82 

In India, Mrs. Gandhi edged her public stance away from 
blanket acceptance of the Soviet position. After meeting with 
British Foreign Secretary Lord Carrington on 18 January, she 
commented to the press, "I don't think that any country is 
justified in entering another country. ''83 In an interview with 
Time magazine, she said she "disapproved" of the Soviet action 
in Afghanistan. 84 To soften the public criticism, however,the 
Prime Minister often added that the Soviets intervened only 
after Pakistan started arming Afghan rebels against the Kabul 
government. 85 
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At the end of January, President Carter sent two separate 
missions to South Asia: a high-powered group led by his Na- 
tional Security Adviser, Zbigniew Brzezinski, and Deputy Secre- 
tary of State Warren Christopher to Pakistan and special 
presidential emissary Clark Clifford to India. Although news- 
men photographed Brzezinski supposedly pointing a rifle at 
Soviet troops across the Khyber Pass86--dramatizing US con- 
cern about the Soviet threatmPakistan's cagy President Zia ul 
Haq disdainfully rejected the proffered $400 million as 
"peanuts."87 

In New Delhi, Clark Clifford, adviser to Democratic presi- 
dents back to Harry Truman and Johnson's former Defense 
Secretary, sought to allay Indian concerns about renewed US 
arms aid to Pakistan and to urge Mrs. Gandhi to use her influ- 
ence in Moscow to press for a Soviet withdrawal from Afghani- 
stan. During Mrs. Gandhi's difficult times during the Janata 
period, the Americans had treated Indira politely. President 
Carter set the tone by sending a nice letter immediately after the 
March 1977 elections, ss Ambassador Goheen had made a point 
of calling on Mrs. Gandhi- - to  the annoyance of Foreign Minis- 
ter Vajpayee--and of chatting in a friendly manner when they 
met at diplomatic and social gatherings. Having shown Mrs. 
Gandhi respect, Goheen felt Mrs. Gandhi returned the courtesy 
after she returned to power. Even though their discussions were 
often substantively difficult, Goheen never received the 
haughty, silent treatment for which Mrs. Gandhi was well 
k n o w n .  89 

Clark Clifford did not change the Prime Minister's mind, 
but US observers believed she appreciated his visit which 
showed that Washington took India seriously enough to send an 
envoy of stature and prestige. 9° Mrs. Gandhi found Clifford a 
good listener as she carefully spelled out her main points: if the 
United States rearmed Pakistan, this would pose a threat to 
India, limiting India's ability to press Moscow and placing India 
in a situation in which it did not want to be. 91 She also suggested 
to Clifford that the Soviets were not entirely to blame, citing 
"'interference" from outside in Afghan affairs. The Indians 
tended to equate "intervention" and "interference," then and 
later. 92 
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After the talks, Clifford told the press: "The goal of our two 
governments is exactly the same--to have the Soviets withdraw 
their troops from Afghanistan." The Indians, however, did not 
believe that the US approach was the best course of action. "The 
Indian government," Clifford stated, "believes that negotiation, 
positive persuasion, might be more effective." Referring to US 
arms for Pakistan, Clifford said, "We understand this is not a 
popular move with the Indian government and yet with the 
gravity of the threat we believe it is a helpful policy for us to 
follow."93 

Because Zia continued to play hard to get, nothing came of 
the Carter administration's effort to resume US arms aid to 
Pakistan during 1980. Events, nonetheless, underlined the strik- 
ingly different reactions in Washington and New Delhi to the 
Soviet intervention. For Washington, it was as if  the 19th cen- 
tury ,Great  Game" for the control of Afghanistan between the 
British Empire and Tsarist Russia was being replayed. Opposing 
Moscow was the force of Afghan nationalism embodied in the 
tough tribal fighters. Three times, the Afghan tribesmen had 
thwarted British efforts to dominate their country. Battling a 
similar attempt by the Russians in 1980, the Afghan guerrillas 
were soon receiving covert military help from Saudi Arabia, 
Pakistan, China, and others, although not initially from the 
United States. Washington had, nonetheless, full sympathy and 
support for the Afghan cause, and for the country through which 
most external help flowed--Pakistan. 

In New Delhi, even if  few Indians were pleased by Mos- 
cow's intervention, the prevailing view was that the revival of 
US military aid to Pakistan posed a greater threat to Indian 
interests than the Soviet military presence in Afghanistan. Hav- 
ing bested the Pakistanis in 1965 and 1971, the Indians no 
longer feared their neighbor militarily. They were still viscerally 
opposed to the United States resuming a role as the principal 
arms supplier to Pakistan, thereby reestablishing itself as an 
important player in the subcontinent's security scene. The stan- 
dard Indian Ministry of External Affairs response on arms to 
Pakistan made this clear--"Neither the quality nor the quantity 
of the arms mattered; it was the attitude that caused concern. ''94 

Unlike the mid-1950s when some in Washington ques- 
tioned the wisdom of providing US arms to Pakistan, Indian 
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expressions of concern in 1989found few sympathetic Ameri- 
can ears. Given the dramatic change in the strategic environ- 
ment after the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan, Carter 
administration officials listened to the Indians, but paid little 
attention to their complaints about US help for Pakistan. 95 

Tarapur: Next to the Last Act 

And yet, the Carter administration did not write India off 
entirely. Washington recognized that Mrs. Gandhi might have 
some influence with the Soviets, and did not want to push her 
any closer to Moscow. Following the logic that led to the reversal 
of the arms supply policy toward Pakistan, Carter also changed 
course on supplying arms to India. Although the administration 
had refused permission earlier for Sweden to sell its General 
Electric-powered Viggen fighter to India, Washington now en- 
couraged New Delhi to consider arms purchases from US com- 
panies. In a major departure, an Indian military procurement 
team visited the United States in 1980 to explore procurement 
of large numbers of TOW anti-tank missiles and long-range 
howitzers, with the package perhaps totalling $300 million. The 
Carter administration similarly reversed its earlier action to 
disapprove the use of an advanced US electronic guidance sys- 
tem in the Jaguar aircraft India was buying from Great Britain. 96 

In the nuclear area, despite anticipated Congressional op- 
position, Jimmy Carter decided to give the green light for two 
more enriched uranium fuel shipments for Tarapur-- the last 
that would be legally possible under the 1978 NNPA because the 
transition period would have expired without India's agreeing to 
full scope safeguards. Mrs. Gandhi, like Desai, was adamant on 
the safeguards issue; unlike Desai, she refused to rule out further 
"peaceful nuclear experiments." In spite of this, Carter accepted 
State Department recommendations--over Brzezinski's objec- 
t i o n - t h a t  he transmit two long-pending Tarapur fuel export 
applications to the NRC. The State Department reasoned that in 
light of the Afghan situation avoiding further strains with India 
took priority over nonproliferation objectives. 97 

That the going would be rough quickly became apparent. 
On 16 May, the NRC unanimously rejected the license requests 
by an unprecedented 5-0 vote. With the transition period over 
and India refusing to accept full scope safeguards, the NRC saw 
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no basis for approving the licenses. After considerable delibera- 
tion, President Carter decided, nonetheless, to override the 
NRC and to authorize the shipments. This action set the stage 
for a major battle on Capitol Hill where the Congress could 
block the President's action if a majority in both Houses voted 
against the fuel shipment. 

Carter's decision came under heavy criticism with the two 
most prestigious US newspapersmThe New York Times and 
The Washington Postmattacking the administration position 
editorially on 22 June. The Washington Post called Tarapur "the 
ultimate test of the seriousness of U.S. nonproliferation pol- 
icy. "'98 The New York Times argued that " i f  the United States 
yields on safeguards to the only nation known to have carried 
out an explosion . . . it can hardly expect other suppliers and 
receivers of fuel to give the protective stipulations a high 
priority."99 

Presenting the administration case, Ambassador Gerard 
Smith, veteran disarmament negotiator, argued that failure to 
provide the fuel would risk loss of safeguards on Tarapur and 
undercut the US reliability as a nuclear supplier. Smith asserted 
there was no question of yielding to India on safeguards since the 
shipments fell within the two-year grace period permitted by the 
law. 100 Writing in the Washington Post, former Kennedy aide 
McGeorge Bundy also supported the administration, saying the 
Soviet Union would probably step in to supply Tarapur if the 
United States backed out. 101 

In the Congress, the tide was running against Carter, espe- 
ciaUy in the House of Representatives. With Indira back in 
power and refusing to condemn the Soviet action in Afghani- 
stan, there was only modest congressional concern about main- 
taining good relations with New Delhi. Mrs. Gandhi's 
recognition of the Palestine Liberation Organization and the 
Vietnamese-installed and dominated Kampuchea regime 
caused additional negative ripples. News that New Delhi was 
procuring $1.6 billion worth of arms from Moscow did not 
strengthen the administration's case. 

In the House, which Carter supporters gave up as a lost 
cause, Tarapur opponents won an 18 September vote by a wide 
298-98 margin. In the Senate, Secretary of State Edmund Mus- 
kie, the respected former Senator from Maine who had replaced 
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Cyrus Vance, ~°z strenuously lobbied his former colleagues. Al- 
though the administration lost an 8-7 vote in the Foreign Rela- 
tions Committee, the President eventually eked out a razor-thin 
48-46 victory on 24 September. At the end of seven hours of 
debate, a two-vote majority heeded the plea of Senator Frank 
Church to give the President "the benefit of the doubt"rebut  
only after Secretary Muskie agreed to hold back one of the two 
shipments. ~03 Even though the presidential election campaign 
was under way, many Democrats voted against Carter, while the 
Republican leadership in the Senate supported the President's 
position. 

The victory proved a Pyrrhic affair. With the two-year 
deadline past, and no prospect of India's accepting full scope 
safeguards, the Congress was clearly not going to approve any 
further fuel shipments for Tarapur. In India, the United States 
won few thanks through the exercise. New Delhi contended--  
not without justification--that Washington's failure to supply 
the fuel would amount to a breach of contract relieving India of 
the obligation to maintain safeguards. Because the delays in fuel 
shipments had caused a drop in Tarapur power production, 
some argued the United States was already in breach of the 
c o n t r a c t .  104 

In retrospect, one must question whether Carter's enor- 
mous effort to gain approval for the Tarapur shipment in 1980 
was worthwhile. In the process, the administration weakened its 
overall nonproliferation posture without substantially helping 
relations with India or advancing a solution to the problem. It is 
hard to disagree with the editorial comment of The Statesman of 
Calcutta: 

It should have been clear long ago that there would be no 
accord on nuclear policy, and both countries should have 
accepted the consequences. By keeping the Tarapur issue 
alive, they succeeded merely in exacerbating feelings. 
Tarapur has been allowed to sour Indo-U.S. relations quite 
out of proportion to its importance.~05 

A Disappointing Four Years 
Relations between the United States and India at the end of 

Carter's term in the White House stood about where they were at 
the beginning. The intervening four years saw a period of high 
expectations in 1977 after the end of the Emergency and the 
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return of democracy to India, followed by a renewed slump in 
1980 after the Soviet invasion of Afghanistan and Mrs. Gandhi's 
return to power. 

When Jimmy Carter and Morarji Desai took office, there 
were genuine hopes that the two countries would at long last 
enjoy a sustained period of positive relations. As India adopted a 
more balanced approach toward nonalignment and Washington 
took its distance from Pakistan, traditional bilateral frictions 
lessened. The United States began to pay more attention to India 
as a "regional influential." Both countries stressed their com- 
mon faith in democracy and human rights. Even though the 
Tarapur problem cast a long shadow, the two basically well- 
disposed governments might have been able to work out an 
amicable divorce over this contentious issue--as Mrs. Gandhi 
would do with the Reagan administration in 1982--had the 
Carter-Desai period lasted longer. Indian political develop- 
ments and the Soviet intervention in Afghanistan, however, 
ensured that India and the United States were again at odds in 
1980. 

If the relationship soured in the final year of the Carter 
administration, the outlook after Ronald Reagan won the No- 
vember election was for worsening relations. Highly critical of 
Carter's policies toward the Soviets, Reagan stated his primary 
foreign policy goal would be to stem rising Communist influence 
in Afghanistan, Africa, and Central America. The new Republi- 
can administration could be expected to address arms supply to 
Pakistan as a matter of top priority. Reagan was likely to be far 
more generous than the Democrats in providing military help to 
Islamabad and less concerned about India's reaction. As the 
Soviet Union's most prominent non-Communist friend, India 
could anticipate receiving even shorter shrift from the White 
House than during Jimmy Carter's last year as President. 
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Chapter X 

Reagan: Gradual Warming 

O n  20 January 1981, Ronald Reagan took the oath of 
office as President of the United States. Within the hour, Iran set 
free the American Embassy hostages it had held for over a year, 
relieving Reagan from having to deal with the problem that 
consumed Jimmy Carter's final year in the White House. The 
new administration could devote full energy to its primary 
foreign and national security policy goal: rebuilding US military 
power so that the United States could counter the spread of 
Soviet influence in various parts of the world-- in Central 
America, in the horn of Africa, in Angola, in Southeast Asia, and 
in Afghanistan. 

As the Republicans assumed charge, South Asia was an area 
of concern principally because of the Soviet invasion of Afghani- 
stan. The administration saw covert military assistance to the 
Afghan guerrillas, humanitarian aid to the refugees, and re- 
newed military and economic assistance to Pakistan as the 
prime US measures. Washington wanted to act quickly and 
decisively to help the Afghan resistance and to revive the US- 
Pakistan security relationship. The Reaganites, led in the foreign 
policy area by Secretary of State Alexander Haig, Henry Kis- 
singer's deputy during the Bangladesh crisis, had little interest in 
India--and the Third World in general--except as a battle- 
ground in the contest with the Soviet Union and its allies. The 
new team had scant sympathy for India, disliking above all New 
Delhi's close links with the Soviets and its stance on Afghani- 
stan. Despite the fact that the Reaganites viewed Indira Gandhi 

379 
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as an apologist for Moscow, they had no special animus against 
her or India. The Republicans were back in the White House, 
but not Richard Nixon. Their differences with India were 
spawned by geopolitics, not emotional antagonism. 

Although US determination to press ahead with arms for 
Pakistan was the major worry, New Delhi had other concerns 
with the incoming administration. The Tarapur problem re- 
mained unresolved. How would the Reagan administration deal 
with this dispute? Even if the Republican attitude on non- 
proliferation was less fervent than that of the Democrats, the 
White House had little incentive to expend political capital with 
theCongress for India's benefit. In terms of US law there was, in 
any case, no basis to continue exports of enriched uranium fuel. 
The new administration's attitude toward international finan- 
cial institutions was another cause for anxiety. India was in- 
creasingly dependent on the World Bank and the International 
Monetary Fund for external financial support. If the Reagan 
administration insisted on tougher loan terms and stricter con- 
ditionality and opposed capital increases, India could suffer. 

Despite these concerns and her reputation for being un- 
friendly to the United States, Mrs. Gandhi for a number of 
reasons wanted to narrow, not widen, the gap between New 
Delhi and Washington. Indira did not want India to lose its 
freedom of maneuver or to become a Soviet satellite or surro- 
gate. Achieving this goal required greater distance between New 
Delhi and Moscow and a better relationship with the United 
States. Although she disparaged Morarji Desai's attempt to 
bring greater balance in India's nonalignment between the two 
superpowers, Mrs. Gandhi pursued a similar goal after settling 
back into office in 1980.1 A case in point was the Soviet military 
presence on the Afghan/Pakistan border. Whatever the Indians 
may have said in their 11 January 1980 UN statement, the 
presence of the Red Army on  the Khyber Pass was something 
few in New Delhi found congenial. In private discussions, the 
Indians made clear that they wanted the Russians to withdraw 
from Afghanistan. Much to India's discomfort, the Soviets 
showed no signs of leaving. 

Indira Gandhi wanted to reduce her country's dependence 
on Soviet arms supplies as a way to avoid overdependence on 
Moscow and to have access to better technology. Despite the fact 
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that the Soviets remained by far the largest arms supplier, offer- 
ing payment terms the West could not match, India had already 
begun to diversify military equipment procurement. New Delhi 
acquired Jaguar bombers from Great Britain, submarines from 
West Germany, and Mirage aircraft and other equipment from 
France. For the first time since 1965 the Indians were talking 
about the possibility of arms purchases from the United States. 

Realizing the limits of Soviet technology, the Indians hoped 
for greater access to the more advanced technologies of the West, 
especially the United States, not only in the defense sector but 
across the economic spectrum. Better ties might also, the Indi- 
ans hoped, influence Washington to continue a positive attitude 
toward India in international financial institutions and to take 
greater account of India's views in US dealings with Pakistan. 2 

Whatever Indira Gandhi's tough-mindedness as a political 
leader, personal considerations may have been a factor in Mrs. 
Gandhi's seeking a less barbed relationship with Washington. 
During the Janata years, the Americans treated her courteously; 
in contrast, the Soviets maladroitly snubbed Mrs. Gandhi, virtu- 
ally ignoring her when she was out of office. Ever sensitive about 
personal slights, Indira did not forget. On Soviet Foreign Minis- 
ter Gromyko's first visit after she returned to power, he received 
less than the welcome an ally might expect. 3 

Indian interest in friendlier ties with the United States was 
influenced by the growing Indian immigrant community. Al- 
though Mrs. Gandhi's generation had strong educational and 
emotional ties with Great Britain, the younger generation of the 
elite was flocking to the United States for higher education by 
the thousands. So many stayed on that by 1980 the Indian 
immigrant community had swelled to o v e r  3 0 0 , 0 0 0 .  4 The immi- 
grants, typically professionals with advanced degrees, had the 
highest per capita income of any ethnic group in the United 
States. 5 Helped by their fluency in English, the Indian immi- 
grants fit in with relative ease; at the same time, they usually 
retained close ties with India. The fact that many immigrants 
were members of the Indian elite magnified the impact--and 
the at t ract ionmofthe United States. 6 

Even before Ronald Reagan took office, the Prime Minister 
signalled her interest in better relations. She sent her cousin, B. 
K. Nehru, who served as Ambassador to John Kennedy and 
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Lyndon Johnson in the 1960s, with a private message to the 
President-elect. 7 Nehru spent several hours with William Casey 
and Richard Allen, respectively the incoming heads of Central 
Intelligence and the NSC staff, but had great difficulty in getting 
to see Reagan. In the end, with the help of elder statesman John 
McCloy, the Indian envoy was able to spend a few minutes with 
the incoming chief executive--quite a feat as otherwise Ronald 
Reagan saw only West German Chancellor Helmut Schmidt 
among foreign dignitaries, even rebuffing the Israelis. 

Arranged to convey the impression of a chance encounter, 
the session took place in the Capitol Hill office of Senator Paul 
Laxalt, a close friend of the President-elect. 8 The gist of Indira's 
message was that she wanted friendly relations with the United 
States and had no anti-American feelings. Although Nehru was 
not sure how much impact the words had on Reagan, the fact 
that Indira chose to send such a message underscored the seri- 
ousness of her desire not to return to the frosty hostility of the 
Nixon years. 9 

Arms to Pakistan: No Longer "Peanuts" 
The Prime Minister may have thought the effort fruitless 

for, once in office, the Reagan administration wasted little time 
in implementing the new policy toward South Asia. The media 
reported approval of covert assistance to the Afghan freedom 
fighters channeled through Pakistan. Coupled with covert aid 
was the preparation of a far larger military and economic assis- 
tance package than the Carter administration had contemplated 
for Pakistan. Totalling $2.5 billion, the aid program envisaged a 
multi-year commitment, including 40 F-16 fighters, the most 
advanced US aircraft, previously supplied only to NATO allies, 
Egypt, and Israel. The Pakistanis, in effect, made the F-16 the 
test of US seriousness, the price Zia ul-Haq insisted that Wash- 
ington pay to offset lingering bitterness about the way the 
United States treated Pakistan in the 1960s and 1970s. Is- 
lamabad pressed hard to receive these state-of-the-art aircraft, 
superior to anything India possessed and capable of repelling 
possible Soviet or Afghan air incursions. 

In April 1981, Mrs. Gandhi sent two high-level envoys to 
lobby the administration on the arms issue: long-time foreign 
policy adviser G. Parthasarathy, regarded as a pro-Soviet voice, 
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and Ministry of External Affairs Secretary Eric Gonsalves, for- 
mer second-in-command of the Embassy in Washington with 
much experience with things American. Rejecting Indian con- 
cerns out of hand, Secretary of State Haig told Parthasarathy US 
help to Pakistan was in the interest of "global peace and stabil- 
ity. ''~° Two weeks later, Haig asserted to Gonsalves, "A weak 
Pakistan only serves the interests of the Soviet Union. A 
strengthened Pakistan, in close relationship with the USA, poses 
no threat to India, and indeed should contribute to the overall 
stability of the subcontinent."'J 

On 15 June 1981, Under Secretary of State James Buckley 
reached agreement in Islamabad on the $2.5 billion arms and 
economic aid proposal, including the F-16s. The Indians re- 
acted sourly, the Ministry of External Affairs expressing concern 
the F-16s might trigger an arms race, threaten Indian security, 
and undercut the "serious effort" under way to improve Indo- 
Pakistan relations, t2 The timing of the announcement upset 
New Delhi since Foreign Minister P. V. Narasimha Rao, in 
Pakistan just the week before, was hopeful that "a new and fresh 
relationship" was emerging. The Indians felt the Pakistanis, in 
effect, were thumbing their noses by announcing the resumption 
of the arms relationship with the United States so soon after the 
talks. 

Unimpressed by New Delhi's complaints, Washington re- 
sponded bluntly, "Our aid to Pakistan is not aimed at India. The 
USA is not fuelling an arms race." At the same time, the State 
Department called attention to a recent Indo-Soviet arms agree- 
ment, 13 and further justified the aid as "addressing those secu- 
rity concerns which have motivated Pakistan's nuclear 
program."14 The administration argued that by providing Paki- 
stan greater confidence about its security US arms assistance 
would make it easier for that country to forego nuclear weapons. 

Under Secretary Buckley expressed Washington's overall 
exasperation with India in Congressional hearings on the Paki- 
stan aid package. "I am not an international psychologist," 
Buckley declared, "I honestly don't understand the Indian reac- 
tion. But the US cannot have its actions and decisions comman- 
deered (sic) by considerations that do not have any factual 
basis." The Under Secretary commented that even if Pakistan 
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acquired the 40 F-16s, India would have a 6-1 edge in fighter 
aircraft.15 

Although initially the downturn in relations after the deci- 
sion to resume large-scale US arms aid to Pakistan suggested a 
replay of 1954, when US arms aid to Pakistan began, the situa- 
tion in 1981, in fact, developed quite differently. First, in 1981, 
few in Washington, whether Republican or Democrat, disagreed 
with the decision. Bolstering Pakistan against the Soviet threat 
drew wide support. The aid was seen as good in itself and as a 
reasonable quid pro quo for Pakistan's serving as the channel for 
covert aid to the Afghan mujaheedin, an enormously popular 
cause. The main impact of Indian complaints was to damage 
New Delhi's credibility. As a senior State Department official 
put it: 

The Soviet army is standing on the marchlands of India and 
they are screaming about F- 16s, not the Soviets in Afghani- 
stan. People on the India desk could explain how India 
looked at things, the historic perspective of Pakistan, but 
people higher up who made policy had much greater diffi- 
culty in understanding India's response. 16 

Second, the Reagan administration avoided the trap Eisen- 
hower fell into of offering assurances that the arms provided 
Pakistan would not be used against India. Although emphasiz- 
ing that the United States was not giving the arms to harm India, 
the administration offered no guarantee Pakistan would refrain 
from deploying the weapons against its neighbor. Even though 
the Indians grumbled, the new US stance had the virtue of 
candor. 17 The experience of the 1960s showed that guarantees 
were meaningless, and only prompted recriminations in the 
event of India-Pakistan conflict.18 

Third, the Pakistani attitude in the 1980s differed substan- 
tially from that of the 1950s. In return for US arms in 1954, 
Pakistan became a US ally and camp follower, joining two 
mutual security pacts and bringing its foreign policy into line 
with the US anti-Communist stance. As Pakistan's primary 
concerns in the 1950s were not the Communists, but the Indi- 
ans, Washington and Karachi had different and ultimately con- 
flicting motivations in entering the alliance relationship. In 
1981, the US-Pakistan arrangement responded to the situation 
in Afghanistan and a shared perception of the Soviet threat. The 



REAGAN 385 

relationship was more realistic, closer to a marriage of conve- 
nience than an alliance. Pakistan did not change its foreign 
policy, remaining a nonaligned state. Bilateral tensions contin- 
ued over Islamabad's quest for a nuclear capability, even though 
the Reagan administration obtained congressional approval to 
ease restrictions on aid to Pakistan in the interest of countering 
the Soviets in Afghanistan. 

Frictions between Washington and New Delhi continued to 
mount during the summer of 1981. Ambassador to the United 
Nations Jeanne Kirkpatrick clashed with Indian leaders regard- 
ing US South Asia policy during a 24-27 August visit to New 
Delhi. When Kirkpatrick denied that Pakistan arms aid posed a 
problem for India, Mrs. Gandhi publicly "disagreed" with her 
assessment.~9 

A dispute over US diplomatic personnel made matters 
worse. In an unusual action, India refused to grant a visa for 
George Griffin, a State Department South Asia specialist, as- 
signed to become political counselor at the US Embassy in New 
Delhi. During the 1971 crisis, Griffin, then political officer in 
Calcutta, stirred suspicions he was a CIA operative through 
meetings with members of the Bangladesh government-in-exile. 
A decade later, while serving in Kabul, Griffin irked the Soviets 
by briefing Western journalists on developments in Afghanistan 
during visits to New Delhi to see his family. 20 After the diplomat 
was assigned to India, the Soviets mounted a successful dis- 
information campaign to discredit Griffin as a spy. Accepting 
Soviet fabrications--despite categorical US denials--the Gov- 
ernment of India refused to issue him a visa. Mrs. Gandhi 
herself told the press India denied the visa because Griffin was 
an intelligence officer. Angry that Mrs. Gandhi believed the 
Soviets, rather than the United States, the State Department 
retaliated, refusing entry for the diplomat India wished to assign 
as its political counselor in Washington. 2~ 

The Griffin incident pointed up an important fact of life in 
Indo-US relations: the ability of the pro-Soviet lobby to stir up 
trouble between Washington and New Delhi. In harness with 
friends in Indian government and media circles, the Soviet 
Embassy for many years was able to mount disinformation 
campaigns against US interests, such as the successful effort to 
discredit Griffin. No episode by itself was earthshaking, but 
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cumulatively disinformation by the Soviets and their Indian 
friends added to US problems in India, in particular, strengthen- 
ing suspicions that the CIA was interfering in Indian internal 
affairs. 22 

The most serious substantive dispute arose over India's 
application for a $ 5.8 billion loan from the International Mone- 
tary Fund (IMF)--the largest ever sought by a member country. 
After US Treasury Secretary Donald Regan spoke against the 
loan at the annual World Bank-IMF meetings, US Executive 
Director Richard Erb criticized the proposal as not justified by 
India's financial situation. 23 In the endmafter  President Reagan 
and Mrs. Gandhi met at Cancun, Mexico--the United States 
softened its position to abstain rather than to vote against the 
loan. The fact that no other major economic power joined the 
United States created the impression that the US position was as 
much politically as economically motivated. 24 As the Economist 
wrote, "It  is difficult to believe that the US administration 
would have dealt in this way with one of its friends. ''25 

Cancun and Tarapur: Back from the Brink 

When President Reagan named Harry Barnes as his Ambas- 
sador to India-- the first career diplomat to hold the post since 
George Allen in the mid-1950s--Indians interpreted the ap- 
pointment as a sign of the administration's indifference. Al- 
though that judgment was probably correct, India was doubtless 
better off with a capable professional like Barnes than with a a 
non-career envoy; with a few exceptions, Reagan political ap- 
pointees were poorly qualified. 

Barnes, who had South Asia experience from earlier assign- 
ments in Bombay and neighboring Nepal, served as Director- 
General of the Foreign Service and Ambassador to Romania 
before coming to Delhi. Bringing a quiet but intense activism to 
the assignment, his game plan was to look for things that India 
and the United States could do together, could cooperate on, as a 
way to build a bilateral relationship that could eventually stand 
on its own feet. "Basically the thrust," Barnes said, "was to look 
at the whole range of the relationship and try to find those 
aspects that might be susceptible of some development in order 
to try to put the relationship with India in a broader, fuller 
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context without so much focus on our relationship with Paki- 
stan. ''26 Barnes reviewed this approach with Robert McFarlane, 
Secretary Haig's right-hand man and Counselor of the State 
Department, who was just back from the subcontinent. McFar- 
lane concurred with Barnes' ideas, although he was skeptical 
that much could be done with India. 27 

In October 1981 mshortly before the new envoy arrived in 
New Delhi--Mrs. Gandhi, President Reagan, and other heads 
of government from key industrialized and developing nations 
held a summit at Cancun, Mexico, to consider global economic 
issues. The Indian and American approaches differed drasti- 
cally. India pressed for concessions on debt, aid, and trade 
policy by the industrialized nations, vigorously supporting the 
call of the Non-Aligned Movement for a new world economic 
order that would favor the developing world. Strongly opposing 
these ideas, the United States stressed the importance of enlarg- 
ing the scope for private enterprise and capitalism to spur eco- 
nomic growth for the Third World. 

Reagan and Mrs. Gandhi got to know each other during the 
summit economic policy discussions, and, more important, also 
had a private meeting at Cancun. Although the two apparently 
discussed little of substance during this get-together, the per- 
sonal chemistry between the Prime Minister and the President 
was positive. When word of this spread in Washington and New 
Delhi, the Indo-American diplomatic atmosphere began to 
improve. 28 

In the meanwhile, a settlement of the Tarapur problem was 
proving as elusive as ever. In keeping with its lower priority on 
nonproliferation, the Reagan administration signalled its inter- 
est in finding a quiet solution. On 2 March 1 981, the US Em- 
bassy in New Delhi presented an aide mfmoire on Tarapur 
seeking Indian views "informally and without commit- 
ment . . . on an orderly disengagement. "29 In April, Indian 
Atomic Energy Chairman Homi Sethna and External Affairs 
Secretary Eric Gonsalves traveled to Washington for talks. Even 
though they learned officially that the United States would no 
longer ship fuel for Tarapur, the Indian visitors described the 
Reagan team as more pragmatic than its predecessors, "who got 
themselves painted into a corner with President Carter's ideal- 
ism over trying to stamp out nuclear proliferation.'30 
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21 O c t o b e r  1981, President Ronald R e a g a n  a n d  Prime Minister Indira Gandhi, 
Cancun, Mexico. 

Two key issues remained: would India continue the safe- 
guards after the United States pulled out, and who would replace 
the United States as the supplier of enriched uranium fuel? A 
second round of talks in New Delh~ in July did not advance a 
solution. A third round in the fall also failed to bridge the gap. 
When Ambassador Barnes arrived in New Delhi, the Tarapur 
negotiations seemed near the breaking point. The Indians were 
threatening to denounce the agreement, to cancel the safeguards, 
and to fuel the reactors with indigenously produced mixed oxide 
or enriched uranium obtained from the Soviet Union. 

Then, unexpectedly, the Indians stepped back from the 
brink, and agreed to seek a compromise solutionman event that 
Ambassador Barnes saw as a significant turning point. 3L Indira 
Gandhi - - in  line with her underlying desire for better relations 
with Washingtonmdecided to avoid further bilateral trouble 
over Tarapur, overruling those pressing for a break with the 
United States. In December, the Prime Minister publicly ruled 



REAGAN 389 

out unilateral action on Tarapur; she told the parliamentary 
consultative committee any decision to terminate the fuel sup- 
ply agreement would be taken in the context of "the national 
interest and overall bilateral relations with the U.S. ''3z 

In early 1982, the Tarapur negotiations began to make 
progress. The main elements of a settlement took shape. The 
Indians dropped the idea of repudiating safeguards. The United 
States gave up its demands for perpetual safeguards beyond the 
expiration of the supply contract in 1993. France would replace 
the United States as the fuel supplier--a far more preferable 
substitute politically to Washington than the Soviets, who were 
the most likely alternative. Although some details remained to 
be ironed out, the dispute that caused rancor for nearly a decade 
seemed near solution. 

In the spring of 1982, Barnes proposed that President Rea- 
gan invite Mrs. Gandhi to the United States. Since Indira's 
action on Tarapur suggested an interest on her part in better 
relations, Barnes believed an official visit might advance the 
process, especially given the indications of good personal chem- 
istry with Reagan. When Washington approved an invitation, 
the Prime Minister accepted with alacrity. She had, in fact, been 
eager for an invitation ever since returning to office in 1980. 33 
Except for a one-day stop to see a friend in Lake Placid, New 
York, in 1973, Mrs. Gandhi had not been to the United States 
for eleven years, since the ill-fated November 1971 meetings 
with Nixon during the Bangladesh crisis. 

As if to underscore her interest in strengthening ties with 
Washington, Mrs. Gandhi decided she would defer paying a 
visit to Moscow until after she had been to the United Statesma 
move some of her advisers opposed since it might displease the 
Soviets. 34 Indian rhetoric regarding US arms to Pakistan also 
began to taper off. In addition to wanting to create a positive 
atmosphere for the US visit, the Indians recognized that their 
protests were not going to alter US policy toward Pakistan. 
Although their feelings remained unchanged, according to then 
Foreign Minister P. V. Narasimha Rao, India tried 
"to be more persuasive and less rhetorical" in addressing the 
arms question. 35 

The Indians were in any case more confident of their ability 
to meet a military threat from Pakistan. The standoff in the 1965 
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Kashmir War and the victory in 1971 had made clear India's 
military superiority over its neighbor. New Delhi knew that its 
armed forces could, if necessary, deal with Pakistan, even a 
Pakistan bolstered by the latest US weaponry. 36 New Delhi knew 
also that the Pakistanis understood their inability to match 
Indian strength. Pakistan in the 1980s no longer thought that it 
could best India in a test of arms, as it had hoped to do in the 
Ayub era. 

Barnes and Indian Foreign Secretary Rasgotra worked to- 
gether to develop an agenda for the Prime Minister's visit that 
stressed those i temsmeven if modest in scope--on which India 
and the United States could cooperate. 37 When Mrs. Gandhi 
realized the Tarapur problem was not fully solved, she sent 
Rasgotra ahead to Washington to work out the final details. She 
did not want to deal with nuclear negotiations during the visit, 
fearing media coverage would focus on the Tarapur dispute as it 
had during the 1978 Carter and Desai trips. 38 

Mrs. Gandhi's pre-departure interviews with US newsmen 
made clear she wanted a successful visit. "My major aim is to try 
to convince people that you can have friendship even if you do 
not agree on all matters," she told the Washington Post. 39 Talk- 
ing with the New York Times, the Prime Minister stressed her 
desire to "correct" US misperceptions about India's relations 
with the Soviets. "We are friends with the Soviets and that does 
not prevent us from being friends with--trying to be friends 
with China or with the United States . . ."4° She told j ournalist 
Tad Szulc, "We didn't join the chorus of condemnation (on 
Afghanistan) but we do not approve of the Soviet presence there, 
and we have told them privately, as we have said it publicly. ''41 

Indira Gandhi Charms Washington 
The Prime Minister arrived in Washington on 30 July. To 

greet her at Andrews Air Force Base was George Shultz, the new 
Secretary of State, who had just replaced Alexander Haig after 
the latter's stormy resignation. Landing a bit later by helicopter 
on the White House lawn, Mrs. Gandhi was welcomed by a 
smiling and relaxed Ronald Reagan--a marked contrast with 
Richard Nixon's tense reception eleven year~ before. Reagan 
spoke of his hope "to broaden and deepen the dialogue we began 
last autumn at Cancun" and of "renewed recognition of the 
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mutual importance of strong, constructive ties between India 
and the United States. ''42 In replying, Prime Minister Gandhi 
described her journey as "an adventure in search of understand- 
ing and friendship . . . .  to find a common area, how so ever 
small, on which to build and enhance cooperation. ''43 

Just as she charmed Washington during her 1966 visit, 
Indira, now a matronly sixty-four years old, repeated her success 
in 1982. Whether it was the White House, Capitol Hill, the 
National Press Club, or the Indian Embassy, the anti-American 
dragon lady of the 1970s transformed herself into a soft-spoken 
leader of the Third World, seeking to convince Americans that 
even if their two countries disagreed on issues like arms to 
Pakistan, they could still be friends. Only occasionally did Mrs. 
Gandhi bare her teeth, for example, when she compared the 
Soviet presence in Afghanistan to US involvement in E1 Salva- 
dor on "'Meet the Press," the television news program. 44 

Mrs. Gandhi's friendly attitude toward the United States 
had a positive impact on the White House, the State Depart- 
ment, and elsewhere in the US Government. Official Washing- 
ton was pleasantly surprised to find Indira in person different 
from her image as a haughty anti-American moralist. 45 The 
Prime Minister achieved her goal; the tensions began to lessen 
between Washington and New Delhi. Substantively, the visit 
notched up three achievements. First, the two leaders an- 
nounced the Tarapur settlement, rather akin to a no-fault di- 
vorce. Under this, France was to replace the United States as the 
enriched uranium fuel supplier and India would continue the 
safeguards on the plant. Second, Reagan and Mrs. Gandhi 
launched an initiative for science and technology cooperation.46 
Third, they named 1985 as "the Year of India," during which a 
mammoth Indian art and cultural exhibition would tour the 
United States. 47 

In the following months, the two countries pursued the 
science and technology initiative seriously. In Washington, the 
President's science advisor, Jay Keyworth, and Allen Bromley, 
President of the American Association of Science (AAS), sup- 
ported the effort, helping to ensure the necessary funding. On 
the Indian side, Mrs. Gandhi took a personal interest, meeting 
with the American team when it visited India to explore science 
projects with their Indian counterparts. 48 
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On bilateral economic aid, the Reagan administration con- 
tinued the program restarted under Carter, at first maintaining 
roughly the same $100 million annual level of development 
assistance and $100 million of food aid distributed through 
voluntary agencies. Under Ambassador Barnes' leadership, US 
AID shifted its emphasis from traditional agricultural and 
health programs into innovative venture capital and technology 
transfer areas. US bilateral aid was, however, too small to have 
any significant impact on Indian development or to offset the 
annoyance with US policy toward international financial 
institutions. 

Running about $2 billion annually, World Bank lending 
dwarfed US bilateral assistance. Officials of the US AID Mission 
in New Delhi major powers on the Indian economic scene in 
the 1950s and 1960s--became secondary players in the 1980s, 
treated somewhere between sufferance and disdain by Indian 
economic ministry civil servants. The issues that mattered for 
New Delhi were not the amount and nature of US bilateral a idm 
there was no question of any linkage to policy changes--but 
rather the US stance toward multilateral financial institutions 
and international trade issues, which were dealt with in Wash- 
ington, mainly by the Treasury Department and the White 
House Office of the Special Trade Representative. 49 

In the year after Mrs. Gandhi 's  visit, the relationship be- 
came more positive as Washington responded to Indira's over- 
tures while continuing the good ties with Pakistan. The gradual 
improvement in the bilateral political atmosphere eased the way 
for renewed talks about the sale of US arms to India, focused on 
155ram howitzers and TOW anti-tank missiles. Giving official 
blessing to these discussions, State Department spokesman John 
Hughes said, "We want to help India meet its legitimate security 
needs and believe military sales would make a positive contribu- 
tion. ''50 An unexpected source of support for selling arms to 
India came from conservative Republican Senator Orren Hatch 
of Utah. Speaking on the Senate floor, Hatch raised eyebrows by 
asserting that "a historic shift" was under way in Indo-US 
relations brought about by the "strategic vision" of the Reagan 
administration. Urging the President to play the "India card," 
the Utah Senator encouraged the administration to approve any 
military equipment sale "India dares to request. ''51 
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Underlying Hatch's enthusiasm was the hope that the 
United States could gradually wean New Delhi away from Mos- 
cow by reducing India's dependence on Soviet weaponry. The 
approach was rather unrealistic given the closeness of India's 
foreign policy and defense links with the Soviet Union which the 
United States had neither the funds nor desire to displace. 
Support from a right-wing Republican Senator for an opening to 
India, nonetheless, provided a politically helpful boost to Am- 
bassador Barnes' non-ideological approach of trying to con- 
struct an Indo-US relationship of sufficient substance that it 
could stand on its own. 52 

The arms talks did not lead to sales. In Washington, despite 
the improvement in atmospherics, many officials, especially in 
the Defense Department where anti-Indian and pro-Pakistani 
sentiments persisted, did not like the idea of selling weapons to 
India. Opposition focused on security issues, specifically on 
New Delhi's ability and willingness to prevent US-supplied 
equipment from falling into the hands of India's Soviet friends. 
This worry applied with equal force to exports of non-military 
items, especially civilian electronic and computer technology, 
that might have military application--so-called dual use items. 

Military purchases from the United States raised different 
problems in India. Although the Indian Army wanted to procure 
US 155mm howitzers and TOW anti-tank missiles, their civil 
service masters in the Ministry of Defense had doubts about the 
reliability of the United States as an arms supplier. After the 
unilateral cutoffduring the 1965 war and US reluctance to carry 
out the Tarapur contract, the Indians were sensitive to the terms 
of US government contracts. They did not like US insistence on 
the right to break an agreement at any time; New Delhi wanted 
assurances Washington would not arbitrarily cut off supplies. 
The Indians also disliked a standard provision that barred for- 
eign governments from claiming refunds of prior payments in 
the event of a unilateral US cutoff. 

In the end, India decided that with so many uncertainties, it 
would not proceed with the TOW and howitzer procurement. 
This decision seemed less motivated by politics than concern 
about US terms and conditions. As there had been no significant 
contacts since 1965, more than a decade and a half, Indian 
Defense Ministry civil servantsmwho had basic responsibility 
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for negotiations, not the mil i tarynwere on unfamiliar ground, 
uncomfortable with formidable US contractual requirements 
and suspicious about US bona tides. 53 

After the unsuccessful talks, and chronic problems encoun- 
tered in exporting electronic and other dual-use technology, 
Washington and New Delhi realized that they needed a better 
means of addressing security and related concerns. This realiza- 
tion led to the start of negotiations on a Memorandum of Under- 
standing on sensitive technology exports. Without an agreement 
that would satisfy US export control requirements, neither tech- 
nology transfer nor military procurement would be feasible to 
any substantial extent. 54 The conclusion of an MOU thus be- 
came a key to expanding cooperation in these areas between the 
United States and India. 

Shultz and Bush Visits: An Improvement in Relations? 

In July 1983, Secretary of State George Shultz became the 
highest level American visitor to India since President Carter in 
1978. 55 Unlike Carter, Shultz reverted to the practice of combin- 
ing trips to India and Pakistan. Even though the administration 
sought improved relations with India, the keystone of its South 
Asia policy remained Pakistan, essential for continuing support 
for the guerrilla war in Afghanistan against the Soviets. Despite 
the fact that the discussions between Shultz and Mrs. Gandhi 
featured long pauses when neither spoke, the two appeared to get 
along personally. Their talks maintained the dialogue begun 
during the Prime Minister's 1982 visit to Washington. 56 

The most pressing substantive issue was an unresolved left- 
over from Tarapur: what to do about spare parts India badly 
needed for the nuclear power plant. In the absence of a presiden- 
tial waiver, the 1978 Nuclear Nonproliferation Act prohibited 
the export of spares to countries like India that refused to accept 
safeguards on all its nuclear facilities. Shultz solved the problem 
by giving assurances the United States would provide the spares 
if India could not obtain them from other suppliers. 57 He, in 
effect, guaranteed a presidential waiver in extremis. This gesture 
drew a sharp reaction from critics of the administration's non- 
proliferation policy; the New York Times, for example, called 
the decision "not only a gift but a giveaway" and "appeasement" 
of the Indians. 58 
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All was not, however, sweetness and light between New 
Delhi and Washington. Indian annoyance about US arms ship- 
ments to Pakistan continued; US annoyance about India's un- 
willingness to condemn the Soviets over Afghanistan continued. 
There was chronic trouble about US policy toward multilateral 
lending institutions, the major source of external financing for 
India's development plans. The World Bank, its soft-money 
affiliate, the International Development Authority (IDA), and 
the Asian Development Bank had all  come under direct and 
indirect pressure from Washington in ways that affected India. 
The United States supported the membership of China in the 
IDA and a related drop in India's traditional 40 percent share of 
low interest IDA loans. 

The Reagan administration was, in addition, reluctant to 
increase its contributions to IDA which could lead to a reduction 
in IDA loan levels. Washington was, at the same time, pressing 
India to borrow more from commercial financial markets and 
from the World Bank, both with higher interest rates and shorter 
terms than IDA loans. Finally, the United States opposed In- 
dia's borrowing from the Asian Development Bank, a financial 
institution whose resources India had not until then tapped 
although it was a member of the Asian Bank. 59 

In January 1984, Prime Minister Gandhi sounded anything 
but upbeat in an interview with the Associated Press in New 
Delhi. Her good relations with Ronald Reagan were "entirely on 
a personal basis;" US government policy was "opposed to ours," 
Indira said, charging Washington played up to dictators but was 
indifferent to a democracy like India. She could not object to US 
arms to the Pakistanis, "but they are being armed to an extent 
that is well beyond their need" and the "guns are pointed toward 
us and not Afghanistan." She alleged reduced US funding for 
international lending agencies seemed "to be done in such a way 
that it hits India. ''6° 

The State Department review of voting records in the 
United Nations for 1983 provided striking confirmation that 
India and the United States continued to have major differ- 
ences. India opposed the US position on all ten UN questions 
that Washington judged important in 1983. By contrast, on the 
same ten issues, Pakistan voted with the United States five 
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times, Bangladesh four times, and Sri Lanka three times. Over- 
all, India sided with the United States on only about 20 percent 
of votes, and with the Soviets on 80 percent. 61 

The US administration, nevertheless, continued to promote 
the high level dialogue, sending Vice President George Bush to 
India in May 1984. Relaxing protocol, the Indians invited the 
Bushes to stay in the Rashtrapathi Bhavan, the presidential 
home and palatial former residence of the British Viceroys, a 
courtesy not accorded Vice President Hubert Humphrey when 
he visited in 1966. Mrs. Gandhi devoted a whole day to discus- 
sions with the Vice President, hosting both an official State 
function as well as a quieter and more intimate family dinner. 

Substantively, the talks broke no new ground. Although 
Foreign Minister Rao said flatly there was "no agreement" on 
arms to Pakistan, Bush was more positive with the press. The 
Vice President saw "no major stumbling block" between the 
United States and India and praised Indira Gandhi's leadership 

Courtesy of the National Archives: Reagan Presidential and Bush Vice Presidential  Collection 

12 May 1984, Vice President Bush, Ambassador Harry Barnes, and Prime 
Minister Indira Gandhi. 
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of the Non-Aligned Movement. As if to answer her criticism of 
US support for dictatorships, Bush pointedly called on Pakistan 
to hasten its return to democracy. 6z 

The Vice President's visit helped the negotiations on the 
high technology MOU, which were dragging because of internal 
differences within the Reagan administration. Together with 
Ambassador Harry Barnes' persistent prodding, intervention by 
the Vice President after he returned from India helped advance 
the MOU toward agreement by the end of 1984. These negotia- 
tions were not easy. Although the State and Commerce Depart- 
ments took a positive attitude, Defense, Energy, and the Arms 
Control and Disarmament Agency (ACDA) dug in their heels, 
suspicious of India because of its close links with the Soviets and 
its nuclear policy. For its part, New Delhi was reluctant to 
concede anything in the way of a review procedure by US 
officials that could be construed as an infringement on India's 
sovereignty. The Indians maintained they had ample experience 

Courtesy of the National Archives: Reagan Presidential and Bush Vice Presidential Collection 

12 J u n e  1985, President Reagan and Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi on the 
la t te r ' s  arrival in Washington, 
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and a good record in protecting foreign equipment from un- 
friendly hands. The US side, in particular the Defense Depart- 
ment, doubted the Indian control system was leak proof. 63 

Rajiv Gandhi Replaces His Mother 
On 31 October 1984, Indira Gandhi died, assassinated by 

two Sikh bodyguards in retaliation for her having ordered the 
Indian Army in June 1984 to storm the Golden Temple of 
Amritsar, the holy shrine of the Sikh religion. Sikh militants, 
who were agitating for an independent homeland, had occupied 
the temple in June as unrest mounted in the Punjab, the north- 
west Indian state bordering on Pakistan. The bloody army as- 
sault caused many casualties, severely damaged the temple 
complex, and alienated the Sikh community still further from 
the Gandhi government. 

Mrs. Gandhi's violent death shocked the world; President 
Reagan, who signed the condolence book at the Indian Embassy, 
sent Secretary Shultz along with former US ambassadors John 
Sherman Cooper, John Kenneth Galbraith, Daniel Patrick Moy- 
nihan, and Robert Goheen to participate in the funeral ceremo- 
nies. 64 In a moving meeting with Mrs. Gandhi's son and India's 
new Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi, each envoy, at Shultz's re- 
quest, spoke of their personal dealings with Indira. 65 

Even though Mrs. Gandhi's associates insisted that she had 
no bias against the United States, Indira made no bones over the 
years about her suspicions and dislike of US policy toward India 
and US foreign policy in general. She never seemed to shed the 
negative attitude about the United States developed in her stu- 
dent days in Britain in the 1930s, and, to some extent, passed on 
from her father. This attitude was strengthened by her view of 
US policy as unfriendly toward India, a perception that emerged 
from her unhappy personal experience during the Johnson and 
Nixon administrations. A pragmatic politician and, above all an 
Indian nationalist, she was still prepared to seek better relations 
in her last years with Washington when she concluded this was 
in India's interest. 

Whatever Mrs. Gandhi personally thought of the United 
States, her impact on US attitudes toward India was on the 
whole quite negative. If, in the 1950s, Krishna Menon became 
the symbol of Indian antagonism to the United States, Mrs. 
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Gandhi assumed this role during most of her years as Prime 
Minister. Her often cold manner, her occasional cutting sarcasm 
and her frequent public criticisms alienated many Americans. 
Quite apart from her mannerisms, Indira succeeded in offend- 
ing liberals and former India supporters through her decision to 
explode a nuclear device in 1974 and her imposition of the 
Emergency in 1975. She disenchanted conservatives by aligning 
India closely with the Soviet Union, a policy symbolized by her 
unwillingness to condemn the Soviet invasions of Czechoslova- 
kia in 1968 and Afghanistan in 1980. 

Yet over time, Indira earned grudging respect from US 
leaders as a major world figure. There was belated recognition 
that she was not a puppet of Moscow, but rather a nationalist, 
pressing India's interests as she saw them. Despite chronic pol- 
icy differences, Washington appreciated that Indira supported a 
relatively moderate line in Non-Aligned Movement (NAM) de- 
l iberations--in 1983 Mrs. Gandhi hosted the NAM summit at 
New Delhi. Although she lacked the eloquence or vision of her 
father, she still articulated aspirations for a better life for hun- 
dreds of millions of Indians and others in the Third World. At 
the time of her death, Indira had been India's Prime Minister for 
fifteen years. In 1964 it was hard to think of India without 
Nehru; in 1984 it seemed equally hard to think that his daughter 
was no longer ruling India. 

Stunned by Mrs. Gandhi's assassination, the ruling Con- 
gress Party swiftly chose Indira's son, Rajiv, as its leader and 
India's new Prime Minister. Unlike his often austere mother, or 
gregarious and cerebral grandfather, the third member of the 
Nehru dynasty was a reluctant politician. A handsome profes- 
sional airline pilot, Rajiv showed little interest in political life 
before his mother pressed him to help in ruling India after her 
younger son Sanjay died in a glider accident in 1980. As Prime 
Minister, Rajiv got off to an impressive start, initially represent- 
ing a generational change as well as a new look in Indian politics. 
His coming to power appeared to herald the arrival of a modern 
Indian leadership, one that marked the passing of a British- 
trained and oriented elite, often with a strong anti-American 
strain. Reflecting the prevailing views of the younger urban elite, 
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Rajiv leaned toward the private sector and had a healthy skepti- 
cism about the socialist economic dogma adopted by the Con- 
gress Party. Capitalizing on the sympathy vote and his image as 
representing a new younger generation, he won a record 415 
seats in parliament in the general elections in January 1985ma 
bigger victory than either his mother or grandfather had ever 
achieved. 

In his first year in office, the young Prime Minister pressed 
for solutions to the Sikh problem in the Punjab and proposed a 
variety of measures to modernize and reform the Indian econ- 
omy. Raj iv earned the nickname of"Computerj it" (j'ii is a Hindi 
honorific and sign of affection added to names) because of his 
emphasis on using modern technology to address India's prob- 
lems. His popularity stood high. The country again seemed to be 
on the move. 

In foreign policy, Rajiv continued the policies inherited 
from his mother and grandfather. He accepted the Soviet Union 
as India's chief foreign partner and quickly made friends with its 
new leader, Mikhail Gorbachev. When Rajiv became Prime 
Minister, Washington and New Delhi were still in the early stage 
of groping their way out of the impasse which had made their 
relations largely hostage to US ties with Islamabad and India's 
with the Soviet Union. The immediate challenge was to over- 
come the obstacles to technology transfer from the United 
States to India by finishing up the negotiations for the 
technology MOU. 

In December 1984, little more than a month after Rajiv 
succeeded his mother, US and Indian negotiators successfully 
reached agreement on the MOU. The two sides then tackled 
questions of implementation, how specifically to deal with US 
concerns about diversion of technology from agreed uses. 66 In 
May 1985, Ambassador Barnes and Foreign Secretary Romesh 
Bhandari, who had replaced Rasgotra, signed the MOU imple- 
mentation agreement. US Commerce Secretary Malcolm Bal- 
drige, visiting New Delhi when the accord was signed, hailed the 
event as providing a mechanism for speedier review of the 
export of controlled items. Baldrige predicted a large increase in 
US computer sales and cooperative technology agreements with 
India. 67 
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Also in May, the Pentagon's Under Secretary for Policy, Dr. 
Fred Iklr, paid a significant visit to New Delhi. A conservative 
strategist, Iklr's main purpose in coming to India- - in  accor- 
dance with the overall approach of the Reagan administrat ion--  
was to try to enlarge the scope of Indo-American security coop- 
eration in the hope of reducing Soviet influence. 68 Ikl6 explored 
the possibility of technical cooperation in India's development 
of a next-generation fighter aircraft, the so-called Light Combat 
Aircraft (LCA). In keeping with the policy of creating indigenous 
defense production capabilities rather than relying on imported 
equipment, India hoped to produce the LCA as its Air Force 
mainstay in the 1990s. Ikl6 also discussed ways to speed up US 
processing of Indian applications for exports of defense-related 
equipment, at the same time stressing Washington's concerns 
that India's system of internal controls needed strengthening to 
prevent diversion of items to the Soviets. 69 

Iklr's talks about the LCA and follow-on discussions later in 
May, involving Secretary of the Air Force Vern Orr, signalled an 
important shift in US arms policy toward India: Washington 
was agreeing in principle--after a break of two decades--to 
cooperate with India's growing defense industry by providing 
technical assistance and high technology components for the 
production of advanced weapons systems. Although this type of 
cooperation was standard in India's military supply arrange- 
ments with the Soviets and West European countries, collabora- 
tion on the LCA would be a first with the United States after the 
limited and brief defense production arrangements twenty years 
earlier following the 1962 India-China war. 

In his public remarks during his stay, Ild6 urged US-India 
military cooperation to see how the two countries "can work 
together much as we try to work together with other major 
powers now to enhance our long-term security aims. ''70 Looking 
to the 21st century, Ild6 said he envisaged possible security 
cooperation in which India together with the United States 
could contribute to  world stability. "And that I think," Ikl6 
stated effusively, "is an exciting possibility and perhaps a new 
chapter in United States-Indian relations. ''71 
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Courtesy of the National Archives: Reagan Presidential and Bush Vice Presidential Collection 

12 June 1985, President Reagan and Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi meeting in 
the White House. 

T h e  N e w  P r i m e  M i n i s t e r  I m p r e s s e s  W a s h i n g t o n  

In June 1985, a month after the signing of the MOU imple- 
mentation agreement and the Ikl6 trip, Rajiv Gandhi made an 
excellent impression on his American hosts during an official 
visit to Washington. The handsome young Prime Minister dif- 
fered from the preachy, arrogant Indian stereotype. He was 
quiet, seemed to listen to what American leaders had to say, 
spoke softly but directly, and had a touch of humor, n 

In Washington, where he opened the Festival of India exhi- 
bition agreed upon during his mother's visit in 1982, Rajiv did 
all the right things. He handled himself calmly and with dignity 
in his meetings with Ronald Reagan and senior US officials, at 
the National Press Club, and on Capitol Hill. There hefollowed 
in the footsteps of his grandfather in addressing the Congress, an 
honor not offered his mother during her three official visits to 
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the United States. When Vice President George Bush accompa- 
nied Rajiv on a trip to the NASA space center at Houston, Texas, 
the two developed friendly personal ties. 73 

The Prime Minister departed from the United States having 
lived up to his advance billing as a "young, modern, 
well-informed, pragmatic" leader, someone Americans can like, 
understand, and deal with. TM Rajiv's penchant for modern tech- 
nology and gadgetry and his conscious adoption of an "Ameri- 
can" management style made him appear more approachable 
for many Americans as did the fact that some of his closest 
advisers were US-trained. 75 Even though Rajiv made clear he 
was not going to alter the basic thrust of his country's foreign 
policy, pointedly visiting Moscow before Washington, his 
change of style from his mother's made India look different. As 
Ambassador Harry Barnes put it, "There was a disposition to see 
and hear the promise that lots of Indians saw, that this was a new 
start, good for India and good for the United States. "'76 

After the positive visit, the challenge was to put more sub- 
stance into the bilateral relationship to accompany the substan- 
tially improved atmospherics. In the State Department's view, 
this meant implementing the MOU in a way that demonstrated 
to India and also to the Washington bureaucracy that the Reagan 
administration was serious about making advanced technology 
available to India. In 1981, providing F-16s became the test of 
US credibility with Pakistan. With India in the mid-1980s, the 
test of credibility came in US willingness to provide a highly 
sophisticated Cray supercomputer model XMP-24 to the In- 
dian Institute of Science to help the country's weather research 
p r o g r a m .  77 

One of the world's most advanced computers, superior to 
anything the Soviet Union possessed, the Cray XMP-24 which 
India sought had the capability of being used for nuclear weapon 
and ballistic missile development, for deciphering crypto- 
graphic codes, and for a host of theoretical tasks and military 
applications that had little to do with India's stated objective of 
aiding agriculture through enhanced tracking of global weather 
patterns. Since the United States had not sold a computer as 
powerful as the Cray XMP-24 outside the circle of close allies, 
its export to India was a difficult decision, raising security 
questions about the Soviets and concerns about the computer's 
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Courtesy ofthe National Archives: Reagan Presidential and Bush Vice Presidential Collection 

13 June 1985, Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi addressing a Joint Session of 
Congress, applauded by Vice President Bush and Speaker Tip O'Neil. 
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possible use for nuclear weapons and missile guidance develop- 
ment. 78 The Cray provided a genuine test of the Reagan adminis- 
tration's seriousness about improving relations. 

Perhaps less controversial, but not less significant, were the 
discussions about the transfer of military technology. In Septem- 
ber 1985, the Science Adviser to the Defense Ministry, Dr. 
Arunachalam, a key figure in India's defense industry, visited a 
number of US defense plants as part of the continuing explora- 
tion of possible US collaboration in the LCA. In the end, the 
Indians expressed interest in procuring the General Electric 404 
engine as the initial power plant for their next-generation 
fighter. Used in the F-18, the GE 404 was one of the most 
advanced US aircraft engines. Early approval in principle by the 
Pentagon and the White House for its sale to India was a tangible 
sign of the more forthcoming US stance on security cooperation 
with India. 79 

About this time, Harry Barnes completed his tour in New 
Delhi, where he was succeeded by another career diplomat, John 
Gunther Dean. Barnes' quiet determination, energy, and bu- 
reaucratic skill, as well as his good rapport with Indians, helped 
the two countries take advantage of Mrs. Gandhi's opening 
toward the United States. Getting a skeptical Washington to 
respond to the Indian overture, developing the science and 
technology initiative, and shepherding the difficult negotiations 
for the high technology MOU were substantial achievements 
given the considerable residual sentiment against India in the 
Washington bureaucracy. Another striking success by Barnes 
was obtaining legislation to set aside $100 million from the 
dwindling pool of US-owned PL 480 rupees to fund science, 
technology, and education programs. 8o 

During part of Harry Barnes' tenure, India had one of its 
most effective envoys in Washington, K. Shankar Bajpai. The 
son of the Indian Agent-General to the United States during 
World War II, Bajpai had the unusual experience of returning as 
ambassador to the house where he had lived as a teenager. Baj pal 
was fully at home in Washington, able to represent the Indian 
position forcefully without ruffling American sensitivities. 81 
During his tour, Bajpai worked to broaden Indian Embassy 
contacts beyond the normal diplomatic realm of the State De- 
partment and the National Security Council. He focused, in 
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particular, on developing relations with the Defense Depart- 
ment and the Treasury, two agencies not notably well disposed 
toward India in the early years of the Reagan administration, 
but increasingly important in bilateral relations. 82 

In the fall of 1985, Rajiv returned to the United States for 
the UN General Assembly session. Like a number of other 
leaders, he met with President Ronald Reagan in New York. 
Although impressive in private sessions, the Prime Minister 
gave a lackluster reiteration of Indian foreign policy in his UN 
speech that compared poorly with Pakistan's Zia ul-Haq's more 
dramatic call for a nuclear agreement with India.83 In New York, 
Rajiv also seemed to take a more pro-Soviet line than during his 
visit to Washington in June. 84 A hurried trip to Moscow on the 
way back to India raised eyebrows in Washington. 

On his return to New Delhi, the Prime Minister told the 
press that the Americans had no cause to be upset. India had 
built its good relations with the Soviet Union over the past 30 
years. It was not possible to build up similarly good relations 
with the United States in six months. The two countries, he 
stressed to American leaders, still were at odds on important 
issues like apartheid, disarmament, and Pakistan. 85 As Rajiv's 
comments made clear, underlying policy differences between 
India and the United States remained even if there were im- 
provements in style and form since Rajiv succeeded his mother 
as prime minister. 

In October 1986, Caspar Weinberger became the first US 
Secretary of Defense to visit India. His trip underscored US 
interest in expanding contacts and dialogue in the security 
areamand the lack of this in the first four decades of Indian 
independence. During Weinberger's four days in India, the Sec- 
retary met top Indian leaders to continue discussions about 
possible US cooperation in Indian defense production. Emerg- 
ing from his talk with Prime Minister Gandhi, Weinberger was 
upbeat about the improvement in relations and the possibility of 
proceeding with the sale of the Cray supercomputer and the 
GE-404 engine. 86 

A few days later, in neighboring Pakistan, the Secretary of 
Defense managed to set relations back when he unexpectedly 
announced that the United States was in favor of providing 
Pakistan with the Boeing 707 Advanced Warning and Control 



REAGAN 409 

System (AWACS) as part of a new multi-year military and 
economic aid package that was being discussed with Pakistan. 
Despite an informal understanding with the Indians to avoid 
springing surprises on each other, Weinberger said nothing 
about the AWACS during his stay in New Delhi. 87 

Quite apart from being annoyed by being caught off guard, 
the Indians were genuinely upset by the prospect of Pakistan's 
acquiring the AWACS. The sophisticated aircraft would sub- 
stantially enhance the Pakistani Air Force's capability, enabling 
it to track enemy aircraft at great distances. Launching a vigor- 
ous counterattack, New Delhi argued that the AWACS would be 
of limited use against the Soviets, were not needed against the 
Afghans, but would be enormously helpful against India. In 
Washington, Indian Ambassador P. K. Kaul, former Cabinet 
Secretary and successor to Shankar Bajpai, protested the 
AWACS in meetings with Weinberger and senior State Depart- 
ment officials. Adding to the chorus, visiting Indian Foreign 
Secretary A. P. Venkateshwaran warned Washington in January 
1987 that providing the AWACS would trigger a "very destabi- 
lizing" arms race in South Asia, requiring heavy Indian expendi- 
tures to match Pakistan's new capability. 88 

Even though aid to the Afghan resistance remained tremen- 
dously popular in the United States, the idea of giving Pakistan 
the AWACS encountered opposition on Capitol Hill. With US- 
Indian relations improved, New Delhi's views carried more 
weight than previously. In a first, members of the Indian immi- 
grant community staged a demonstration against sending the 
AWACS to Pakistan during House of Representative hearings by 
Representative Stephen Solarz of New York. The Democratic 
Congressman, who was establishing himself as an expert on 
Asia, opposed the AWACS because he did not believe Pakistan 
was sufficiently responsive to US desires that it stop its nuclear 
weapons program. 

In the Senate, John Glenn of Ohio and others urged the 
Reagan administration to go slow on AWACS unless Pakistan 
provided firmer assurances it was halting its nuclear program. 
The opposition was strengthened by voices of concern from the 
Republican right, from Senators Orrin Hatch of Utah and 
Gordon Humphrey of New Hampshire, who urged that if 
AWACS were provided Pakistan, this should be balanced in 



410 ESTRANGED DEMOCRACIES 

some way acceptable to India. 89 In the face of Congressional 
doubts, the administration wavered about the AWACS, explor- 
ing a less expensive and less capable early warning aircraft to 
meet the genuine air security concerns posed by Afghan air 
attacks inside Pakistani territory. Islamabad, however, rebuffed 
US efforts to substitute a more modest system, such as the E2C, 
insisting on the AWACS. With the Soviets bogged down in a 
genuine war of national liberation in Afghanistan, the Reagan 
~administration had a strong policy incentive to pay Pakistan's 
price as part of the new multi-year aid package. 90 

As if the possibility of the AWACS were not enough trouble 
for bilateral relations, the sale of the Cray supercomputer was 
encountering major obstacles within the US government. 
Hardliners in the Defense Department were digging in their 
heels against selling the computer to India. The concerns were 
familiar: the possible leakage of technology to the Soviets and 
possible use of the Cray for nuclear weapons and missile devel- 
opment. 91 Revelations about Soviet technology espionage in the 
United States heightened anxiety about sending sensitive tech- 
nology to India. " I f  they can steal it from Silicon Valley, they can 
steal it from Bangalore," a Pentagon official told the Wal lS t ree t  
Journal.  92 

The debate over the Cray matched the State and Commerce 
Departments (which favored moving  ahead with the sale) 
against Defense, Energy, and the National Security Agency 
(NSA), which disliked the proposal. An unstated, but nonethe- 
less real, factor was the preference among some Defense Depart- 
ment officials for Pakistan and a related reluctance to expand 
security relations with India. In March 1987, the Reagan admin- 
i s t ra t ion-af te r  much delay--finally decided on a compromise 
solution: it would approve the sale to India of a Cray model 
XMP-14 computer which had less capability than the 
Cray XMP-24 India wanted. US specialists asserted the Cray 
XMP-14 could do sophisticated weather research work but 
lacked the code cracking capabilities that aroused NSA 
c o n c e r n s .  93 

The decision disappointed the Indians. One official source 
alleged the Reagan administration had raised high expectations 
and then reneged by providing the Cray XMP-14 rather than 
the more powerful Cray XMP-24. 94 As India's Minister of State 
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for External Affairs Natwar Singh put it during an April 1987 
visit to Washington, US-Indian relations were like the titles of 
two novels of Charles Dickens, Great Expectations and Hard  
Times. 95 New Delhi did not, however, reject the US counter- 
offer out of hand. Foreign Secretary Venkateshwaran urged 
Prime Minister Gandhi to accept, arguing it was in India's 
interest to buy the XMP-14 in order to gain entryinto  the US 
high technology world. Rejecting the offer, Venkateshwaran 
warned, would freeze India out of high technology cooperation 
with the United States. In the end, Rajiv accepted this reasoning 
and approved the purchase of the XMP-14. 96 

Things were also not going smoothly for India in the US 
Congress. Michigan Republican Congressman William Broom- 
field led a successful initiative in the foreign aid committee to 
slash the bilateral assistance program for fiscal year 1988 from 
$50 million to $35 million. After Broomfield criticized Indian 
foreign policy support for the Kabul regime, for the Sandinistas 
in Nicaragua, and for the pro-Vietnamese Kampucheans, the 
members voted 18-14 in favor of the reduct ions  Even if the 
vote itself was not of great consequence--given the aid pro- 
gram's small size--the episode was an eye opener regarding 
continuing resentment about India on Capitol Hill. 

The Reagan administration itself had gradually reduced the 
level of development aid to India in the mid-1980s from $100 
million down to $ 50 million. 98 During a period of tight develop- 
ment assistance budgets, AID headquarters in Washington 
shifted funds from India to boost development aid programs in 
other countries. Knowing how difficult a battle in Washington 
against the cuts would be, Ambassador John Gunther Dean 
decided not to contest the reductions. Dean doubted the benefit 
in terms of better relations with India would be worth the 
bureaucratic struggle.  99 

The administration's handling of the AWACS and the 
Cray--as well as congressional sniping at India over bilateral 
assistance--cooled off New Delhi's enthusiasm about the pros- 
pects for enhanced relations. When members of parliament, 
including some from Rajiv's own Congress Party, lashed out at 
his government for not being firm enough with Washington, the 
Prime Minister bent under the criticism. He adopted a tougher 
stance, demonstrating Indian displeasure by abruptly canceling 
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a visit by External Affairs Minister N.D. Tiwari a week before he 
was due in the United States. 1°° 

Rajiv Gandhi: The Glow Wears Off 
By 1987, when Rajiv had been prime minister for two years, 

the glow had begun to wear off from his political reputation. 
With many early expectations unrealized, he was increasingly 
seen as a well-intentioned but ineffective politician in handling 
pressing domestic matters. AlthoughRajiv pledged democratic 
reforms for the Congress Party, he failed to deliver on his 
promise to hold internal party elections. Reverting to his 
mother's style of tightly centralized control, Rajiv frequently 
shuffled ministers at the central and state level, more with an eye 
to maintaining personal political power than improving effi- 
ciency or rewarding achievement.10~ 

In foreign affairs, Rajiv, like his mother and grandfather, 
retained effective control of policy; unlike them he lacked a sure 
touch in dealing with substantive issues. Shuffling foreign minis- 
ters four times during his four years as prime minister, Rajiv 
earned a reputation in the Ministry of External Affairs as a well- 
intentioned intellectual lightweight. Rajiv continued, nonethe- 
less, to make a favorable impression abroad. His handsome 
presence and well-mannered approach helped retain a star qual- 
ity in international gatherings and travels even though his repu- 
tation was dimming at home. 

In policy terms, Rajiv continued the course Indira mapped 
out after returning to office in 1980. In addition to seeking better 
balance in India's nonalignment through improved relations 
with Washington, Rajiv showed increasing willingness to assert 
India's primacy in the subcontinent based on its size and in- 
creasing military power. In 1987, India began a major initiative 
by sending several thousand troops against the insurgency 
mounted by Tamil separatists in the neighboring island republic 
of Sri Lanka to India's south. Although the Sri Lanka govern- 
ment agreed to the intervention, the actionmunder which 
50,000 Indian troops were eventually deployed--provided a 
dramatic signal of greater Indian readiness to flex its muscles 
regionally. Uncertain how the United States would respond, 
New Delhi was relieved when Washington gave its blessing to 
the venture. Paradoxically, in light of the accommodating US 
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reaction, the Indo-Sri Lankan accords made gratuitous reference 
to "outside powers" seeking to gain a foothold on the island and 
to foreign radio broadcasts from Sri Lanka. Since the Voice of 
America had been using a transmitter in Sfi Lanka for many 
years, the criticism of the United States was thinly veiled. 

About the same time Indian troops intervened in Sri Lanka, 
worrisome developments regarding Pakistan's efforts to develop 
nuclear weapons surfaced. In late July 1987, Arshad Parvez, a 
Canadian national of Pakistani origin, was arrested in Philadel- 
phia and charged with trying to bribe US customs officials to 
permit the export of certain prohibited material essential for 
Pakistan's nuclear program. 102 The incident underscored fears 
that the Pakistanis, despite their protestations to the contrary, 
were pressing ahead with their covert effort to develop a nuclear 
capability. The news also played into the hands of those critical 
of providing the AWACS aircraft to Pakistanma proposal al- 
ready under fire as a destabilizing system. After the Parvez 
episode, the AWACS was effectively shelved. 

The administration was, in any case, having increasing 
difficulty in dealing with the Pakistan nuclear issue. The Con- 
gress modified the legislative approach to the Pakistan nuclear 
issue in 1985, adopting an amendment by Senator Larry Pressler 
(Republican, South Dakota), that required annual certification 
by the President that Pakistan did not have a nuclear device in 
order to continue economic and military aid. By establishing a 
line that Pakistan could not cross if it were to receive US aid, the 
amendment, in effect, gave Pakistan a choice: either hold off 
crossing the bomb threshold or forgo US aid. Although Presi- 
dent Reagan continued to provide the certification, US officials 
were uncomfortablemcaught between mounting evidence about 
the Pakistan nuclear program and the desire to maintain the 
pressure on the Soviets in Afghanistan. 

In the fall of 1987, Rajiv Gandhi, after attending the United 
Nations session, paid his second official visit to Washingtonm 
the first time an Indian Prime Minister returned to the US 
capital after an interval of only two years. ~03 The trip under- 
scored Rajiv's belief that expanded dialogue was useful despite 
continuing policy differences. Lower key and briefer than the 
1985 visit, Rajiv still touched the major bases during his stay: 
talks and lunch with President Reagan and meetings with Vice 
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President Bush, Acting Secretary of State John Whitehead, NSC 
chief Frank Carlucci, and Secretary of Defense Caspar 
Weinberger. 

During the visit, Rajiv confirmed his decision that India 
would accept the Cray XMP- 14 supercomputer. He received, in 
turn, an implicit US promise to provide additional computers in 
line with "India's need for upgraded capability and the growing 
mutual confidence that implementation of our agreement will 
provide. ''104 According to the White House, the President and 
Rajiv also "agreed to expand defense cooperation, proceeding 
along the lines we have already established in working together 
on aspects of the Light Combat Aircraft, and in other areas. ''1°5 

In assessing relations after his trip, the Prime Minister was 
upbeat, except for his comments on the Pakistan nuclear pro- 
gram. Rajiv asserted, "If  the U.S. really exerts pressure, I have 
no doubt that Pakistan will change its attitude toward the nu- 
clear weapons programme. ''1°6 Turning to US-Indian defense 
cooperation, the Prime Minister stated, "We have seen progress 
on that confidence-building exercise. We have completed every- 
thing we had targeted to do. Now we have got to start a new 
phase." Overall, Rajiv declared, "We had ups and downs and 
our differences. But these two years have seen a very substantial 
improvement in our relations." 107 

By 1988, the final year of the Reagan administration, grow- 
ing domestic political troubles plagued Rajiv. The taint of cor- 
ruption, acknowledged to be widespread within the Congress 
Party, for the first time threatened to touch the Prime Minister. 
When former Finance and Defense Minister V. P. Singh quit the 
Congress Party over Rajiv's alleged failure to investigate scan- 
dals in a billion-plus dollar contract procuring Bofors howitzers 
from Sweden, the Prime Minister's image as a reformer suffered. 

V. P. Singh started building an anti-Congress coalit ionm 
the National Frontmthat  spanned the Indian political spectrum 
from fight to left. Presenting himself as Mr. Clean, Singh lam- 
basted Rajiv and his Congress Party colleagues for corruption 
and neglect of India's economic and social problems. Raj iv also 
failed to make progress in containing Sikh violence and unrest in 
the Punjab. The breakdown of law and order continued amidst 
charges that Pakistan was aiding Sikh terrorists from across the 
border. Restiveness in Kashmir in the north and a resurgence of 
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disturbances in Assam in the northeast added to domestic disar- 
ray and a general sense of rising instability. Rajiv appeared to be 
floundering. 

Regionally, with fits and starts and continued friction over 
alleged interference in Kashmir and the Punjab, the Prime 
Minister pursued more normal relations with Pakistan. This 
effort strengthened after the death of Zia ul-Haq in a mysterious 
plane crash in the summer of 1988 and the democratic election 
of Benazir Bhutto as Prime Minister-- the first genuinely free 
polling in Pakistan since the December 1970 elections. To the 
South, in November 1988, India flexed its muscles once more as 
Rajiv ordered an Indian Army battalion flown to the Maldives, a 
thousand miles from India's southern tip, to squelch a coup 
attempt. Although India was responding to a request from the 
small island republic's legitimate government, this striking pro- 
jection of power far into the Indian Oceanmin some ways more 
dramatic than sending troops into Sri Lankamundedined In- 
dia's growing military capability and its willingness to use this 
power in a big brotherly fashion. 

The treatment of Nepal, nestled uncomfortably in the 
Himalayas between India and China, was another example of 
India's increased disposition to lean on its smaller neighbors. 
When the Nepalese irked New Delhi by procunng some arms 
from China, Rajiv responded by imposing the restrictions on the 
flow of import into the landlocked kingdom. India seemed 
intent on demonstrating to the Nepalese that failure to heed 
Indian policy sensitivities would have a cost. As Ambassador 
John Hubbard, whom Reagan appointed as US envoy to replace 
John Gunther Dean in the summer of 1988, declared, India is 
now "the biggest kid on the block and she's beginning to 
feel her oats. ''i0a 

The United States was cautious about reacting publicly to 
India's increased assertion of power, a development which 
caused worry and suspicion among India's subcontinental 
neighbors. In the case of the dispute with Nepal, Washington 
maintained a discreet public silence. The intervention in the 
Maldives won Washington's approval and was closely coordi- 
nated with the United States, from whom the Maldives first 
sought intervention before turning to New Delhi. A US navy 
ship helped the Indians vector in on the escaping mercenaries 
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and their hostages--a good example of US-Indian cooperation 
that did not infringe on US interests. 

At the same time, Washington and New Delhi continued 
the expanded high level dialogue, especially in the security area. 
Frank Carlucci, who replaced Weinberger as Secretary of De- 
fense, visited New Delhi and Islamabad in April 1988. Although 
no Secretary of Defense had traveled to India during the first 39 
years of independence, two Secretaries came in less than two 
years. During his stay in India, Carlucci announced further 
agreement for cooperation in developing the Light Combat Air- 
craft, approving use in the LCA of a highly advanced gyroscope, 
something the Pentagon had previously been unwilling to 
permit. ~09 

An important backdrop for the gradual improvement be- 
tween Washington and New Delhi was the changing and less 
confrontational US-Soviet relationship as Gorbachev's policy of 
perestroika took hold, and increasing signs that Moscow genu- 
inely wanted out from Afghanistan. On the margins of US- 
Soviet talks, Rajiv let the Russians known that India also wanted 
Moscow to leave and occasionally served as an unofficial chan- 
nel between the United States and the Soviet Union. tt° Rajiv 
also continued trying to mend relations with China, especially 
after Gorbachev initiated an effort to reduce the frictions be- 
tween Moscow and Beijing. In December 1988, Rajiv became 
the first Indian Prime Minister to visit China since his grandfa- 
ther traveled there in 1956. Although the long-standing dispute 
over the Himalayan borders remained unresolved, the two 
Asian giants pledged to work harder to improve relations so as to 
negotiate a border settlement and to ensure that in the meantime 
the situation along the disputed frontier remained calm. ~t 

1981-1989: A Gradual Warming 
Just before the 1988 US elections, P. V. Narasimha Rao, 

whom Rajiv had reappointed as foreign minister, called on 
President Reagan and had a friendly breakfast with Secretary 
George Shultz during the UN session in NewYork. The amica- 
ble talks underscored the change in Indo-American relations 
during the eight years Ronald Reagan occupied the White 
House. In January 1981, prospects for friendlier relations 
seemed bleak, yet the two terms of the Reagan presidency saw a 
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27 S e p t e m b e r  1988, President Reagan meeting then Foreign Minister P. V. 
Narasimha Rao.  

gradual warming between Washington and New Delhi. Al- 
though neither country substantially altered their basic--and 
often conflicting--policies, either globally or toward the sub- 
continent, Indo-US relations paradoxically improved. 

The Reagan administration initially wrote offlndia as polit- 
ically opposed and economically irrelevant to US interests. In 
South Asia, the Reagan team had its eyes on rearming Pakistan 
and promoting resistance against the Soviets in Afghanistan; to 
the extent India mattered, it was primarily as a function of New 
Delhi's continuing leadership role in the nonaligned world. 

Gradually that view changed. After Mrs. Gandhi was all 
smiles during her 1982 visit, Washington perked up. When 
Rajiv Gandhi succeeded his mother, the United States saw new 
opportunities with India. Washington eased barriers to technol- 
ogy transfer and approved some advanced technology coopera- 
tion with India's defense industry. Although the bilateral 
rhetoric became more positive, adding substance to the better 
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atmospherics was not easy. Basic policy differences cont inued 
and a legacy of  mutual  distrust remained.  Despite skepticism 
about how far the improvement  in relations could carry, how- 
ever, nei ther  capital gave up the effort. During Reagan's  eight 
years in office high-level dialogue greatly increased. The Vice 
President,  Secretary of  State, two Secretaries of  Defense, and 
three other cabinet members  visited India  112; Indira and Rajiv 
paid Reagan three visits to Washington. Mutual  understanding 
increased at the top levels of  government.  

By 1988, both the Uni ted  States and India  seemed more 
realistic about what they could and could not expect f rom each 
other. Even though the bilateral f ramework remained fragile and 
progress toward substantive cooperat ion was uneven,  there were 
smiles not frowns in New Delhi when Vice President George 
Bush, a friend of  Pr ime Minister  Rajiv Gandhi ,  defeated the 
Democrats  in the November  1988 elections. 
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Chapter XI 

Bush: 
End of the Cold War 

Pres iden t  George Bush was familiar with the issues in 
South Asia from his eight years as Vice President, as well as from 
his earlier service at the United Nations, and his tenure as 
Director of CIA. Most others in his administration, however, 
had limited previous exposure to India and the subcontinent. 
Although Washington had at first no need to undertake 
initiatives in South Asia, the dramatic shifts in Soviet policy 
greatly affected the US stance toward the region. 

In 1988, the final year of the Reagan administration, 
Mikhail Gorbachev signalled his intention to withdraw Soviet 
military forces from Afghanistan. As Moscow began to imple- 
ment this stepmpart  of the Soviet leader's unexpected decision 
to end the Cold War between Moscow and Washingtonmthe 
United States began to look at South Asia through a different set 
of lenses. The departure of Soviet troops drastically reduced 
Washington's interest in the guerrilla conflict between the Kabul 
regime and its Islamic opponents. Although the United States 
continued to funnel arms aid through Pakistan to the 
Mujaheedin to parallel continuing Soviet aid to Afghan govern- 
ment forces, Pakistan ceased to be a "frontline" state. 

Once the Red Army pullback began, support for maintain- 
ing so large a US military and economic assistance program for 
Pakistan declined--only partially offset by Pakistan's transition 

425 
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from a military dictatorship to a democratically elected govern- 
ment under Benazir Bhutto. 1 In congressional testimony in 
1989, the Bush administration altered its justification for mili- 
tary aid, especially for providing Pakistan with additional F- 16s. 
Defense and State Department witnesses no longer urged these 
aircraft as a way to meet a Soviet threat but justified them to help 
boost Pakistan's self-confidence in the transition to democracy 
andmdoubtless the strongest argument--in order not to lose out 
to French competition. 2 

Beclouding Benazir Bhutto's positive political image was 
continuing concern about Pakistan's clandestine efforts to de- 
velop a nuclear weapons capability. In October 1989, President 
Bush provided the waiver required by the Pressler amendment 
to permit economic and military aid to continue, but as direct 
Soviet participation in the Afghan War was winding down, there 
was less reason for Bush to expend political capital with Con- 
gress for Pakistan's benefit)  

A year later, in October 1990, in the middle of the Persian 
Gulf crisis, although not directly related to it, the shoe finally 
fell. With the Soviet military departed from Afghanistan and 
mounting information regarding the scope of Pakistan's nuclear 
program, the administration concluded it could no longer defer 
taking action. The President decided he would not certify that 
Pakistan did not possess a nuclear weapon, and, as a conse- 
q u e n c e a i n  keeping with the Pressler amendmentmstopped US 
military and economic assistance. Press reports attributed the 
decision to Islamabad's refusing to roll back its uranium enrich- 
ment p r o g r a m a a  key element in its covert effort to develop a 
weapons capability. 4 Whatever the reason, Bush's action caused 
much satisfaction in India. Uneasy about Pakistan's nuclear 
aspirations, New Delhi had believed the United States was 
applying insufficient pressure against Islamabad to stop the 
move toward weapons. In addition to the nuclear dimension, the 
Indians were pleased that the flow of US arms aid to Pakistan 
bad--for  the time being at least~ended.  

1989: Rajiv Gandhi Loses the Indian Elections 

As the Bush administration got under way, Rajiv Gandhi 
was preparing to face the Indian electorate with his five-year 
term as Prime Minister nearing its end. His overall record was 
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mixed--considerable economic progress, much less in dealing 
with India's domestic difficulties. The central government's 
heavy-handed management of Sikh separatist unrest failed to 
calm the Punjab where terrorist intimidation rather than l aw 
and order became the norm. As if the crisis in the Punjab and 
unrest in Assam in eastern India were not sufficient trouble, 
Rajiv began to face major turbulence in Kashmir. 

Sheikh Mohammed Abdullah, the popular Kashmiri na- 
tionalist leader ousted in 1953, returned to power in the 1970s 
after he and Indira Gandhi reached a political accord. With the 
Sheikh at the helm in Srinagar, the state's position as part of 
India seemed secure. Although chronically poor economic con- 
ditions stirred discontent, pro-Pakistan or pro-independence 
elements appeared to be an unthreatening minority. After the 
Sheikh died in 1982, however, the situation gradually began to 
unravel. The blatant rigging of state elections by Abdullah's son, 
the then Chief Minister, and allegations of widespread corrup- 
tion sparked serious disorders in Kashmir. 

Reports of alleged human rights violations by India, espe- 
cially in the Punjab, began to draw criticism in the US Congress. 
Active lobbying by supporters of the separatist movement and 
disapproval of harsh Indian tactics by human rights groups, such 
as Amnesty International and Asia Watch, stirred Congressional 
interest. One of the most outspoken and persistent critics was 
Republican Wally Herger of California, whose district included 
Yuba City, the home of many Sikh immigrants, including Didar 
Singh Bains, an outspoken supporter of Khalistanmthe name of 
the Sikh homelandmand the largest peach grower in the United 
States. 5 

During 1989, Herger introduced legislation to eliminate US 
economic aid to India entirely because of  human rights viola- 
tions. Congressional perception of India as a country unfriendly 
to US policy helped Herger come within four votes of winning in 
the House of Representatives. The ban on aid to India was 
narrowly defeated 204-208, but only after Congressman Ste- 
phen Solarz saved the day by mounting a last minute counterat- 
tack. 6 With the assistance program already reduced to just over 
$20 million annually, the measure had mainly symbolic impor- 
tance. That it nearly carried underscored India's lingering public 
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relations difficulties in the US Congress despite the gradual 
warming in official relations that had occurred since 1982. 

To help combat this chronic image problem and to improve 
relations with Capitol Hill, Indian Ambassador P. K. Kaul, the 
former cabinet secretary, whom Rajiv sent as successor to K. 
Shankar Bajpai, proposed that India hire a lobbyist familiar with 
the byways of political Washington. Despite the fact that Kaul 
was one of India's most senior civil servants, having served as 
secretary to the ministries of finance and defense, as well as 
cabinet secretary, he could not convince his fellow mandar insm 
colleagues in the prestigious Indian Administrative Service, the 
elite career cadre that filled India's most important civil service 
positions--that hiring a lobbyist was an appropriate way to 
spend Indian government money. 7 India's rival, Pakistan, had 
no such reluctance in seeking support for its cause in Washing- 
ton; during most of the 1980s, Pakistan was represented by 
Denis Neill, regarded as one of the more skilled Washington 
lobbyists. 8 

In 1989, the impetus for better bilateral relations through an 
enhanced dialogue seemed to slacken. Bush and Secretary of 
State Baker had nothing against better US-Indian relations, but 
their attention turned elsewhere, especially toward the startling 
whirl of events in Eastern Europe as Gorbachev allowed the 
Soviet Union 's  former satellite states freedom to discard com- 
munism and to end their security ties with Moscow. With the 
Soviet Union disengaging itself around the globe from former 
battlegrounds with the United S t a t e s A n g o l a ,  Ethiopia, and 
Nicaragua, as well as eastern Europe and Afghanistan--the Cold 
War wound down. The goal of trying to wean India away from 
the Soviet Union thus had a much reduced strategic relevance in 
Washington. 

In terms of defense and security cooperation, Defense Min- 
ister K. C. Pant paid a friendly official visit to the United States 
in July 1989--the first time an Indian defense minister had 
come to Washington since Y. B. Chavan's trip in May 1964. In 
September, senior Indian official and non-official security spe- 
cialists also held informal talks with their counterparts at Fort 
McNair in Washington. This discussions were organized by the 
National Defense University's Institute of National Strategic 
Studies (NDU/INSS) and India's Institute of Defense Analysis 
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(IDA), a think tank affiliated with the Indian Ministry of De- 
fense. Although the United States had informal exchanges of this 
sort with many countries, the fall 1989 meetings were the first 
ever with India. A year later, the US group traveled to India for 
similar discussions in Pune (Poona), establishing what Washing- 
ton and New Delhi hoped would develop into an ongoing dia- 
logue on security matters. 

The most significant item of defense cooperation remained 
the US Air Force collaboration on the Light Combat Aircraft. 
Progress on the LCA was slow, but continuing. No new projects 
came to fruition, however, nor did there appear to be any serious 
consideration about major military procurement initiatives. In 
the absence of a push from the political level, the Pentagon's 
traditional reluctance to expand high technology sales to India 
again became apparent. Even though the MOU was supposed to 
facilitate technology transfer, the export review process began to 
drag once more. 

Congressional concerns focusing on India's space program 
added to the problem. The fact that in April 1989 India was on 
the verge of launching an intermediate-range rocket, the Agni, 
prompted Senator Jeff Bingaman, a Democrat from New Mex- 
ico, to call the development "profoundly disturbing to the coun- 
tries of the region and indeed to the world community" and to 
urge the US government to end "cooperation with their space 
program."9 

The licensing for export o fa  $1.2 million Combined Accel- 
eration Vibration Climatic Test System (CAVTS), a sophisti- 
cated rocket testing device that simulated the heat and vibration 
of reentry into the earth's atmosphere, became an issue. Al- 
though Washington initially leaned toward approval, after India 
successfully tested the Agni in June, the Bush administration 
reversed field. The United States refused to approve the export 
on the grounds that CAVTS could aid in developing a nuclear 
missile system.10 

The export of a second supercomputer, discussed during 
Rajiv Gandhi's 1987 visit, also encountered serious delays. 
When India asked for a Cray XMP-22, twice as powerful as 
XMP-14, US export review authorities reargued the pros and 
cons of selling a supercomputer to India. Defense, ACDA, and 
Energy expressed unhappiness about proceeding because the 
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Cray XMP-22 could help develop a nuclear weapons capability; 
State and Commerce urged approval of the license for the $50 
million sale. 1~ It was only in December 1990, over two years 
after the Indians broached the subject, that President Bush 
finally ruled in principle in favor of the export license. Oppo- 
nents of the sale gained some satisfaction, however, when Bush 
required the negotiation of supplementary controls to guard 
against the computer's use in nuclear weapons development.12 

As the general elections drew nearer, Rajiv Gandhi had 
little time to worry about bilateral relations with Washington. 
Rajiv's once lustrous image as a bright young reformer was 
replaced by that of a bumbling successor to his mother, equally 
autocratic but politically less astute or effective. His standing 
was further tarnished by continued refusal to investigate corrup- 
tion charges surrounding the purchase of Bofors guns from 
Sweden. The Congress Party appeared to be in considerable 
difficulty at the polls. 

The opposition, led by Rajiv's former finance and defense 
minister, V. P. Singh, forged an unlikely electoral alliance. Its 
components were the right-wing Hindu fundamentalist Bhara- 
tiya Janata Party (BJP), Singh's centrist National Front, com- 
prising his Janata Dal and several regional parties, and the 
left-wing Communists. Hurt by Rajiv Gandhi 's flagging popu- 
larity, the public's growing discontent with corruption in the 
Congress Party, and V. P. Singh's image as a "Mr. Clean," the 
Congress lost more than half its seats in the December 1989 
election. Although Congress still emerged as the largest party 
with 195 seats, Rajiv lacked sufficient allies to form a new 
government. 

V. P. Singh Forms a Minority Government 

The National Front, which came through with 145 seats, 
formed a minority government headed by V. P. Singh, with 
support from the BJP on the right and the Communists on the 
left. Raj iv became the Leader of the Opposition in parliament. 
Like the Janata in 1977, the National Front and its allies agreed 
on opposing the Congress, but on little else. Personal rivalries 
and animosities among National Front leaders, as well as policy 
contradictions with the BJP and the Communist supporters, 
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suggested V. P. Singh was going to have a difficult time staying 
in power. 

India's seventh prime minister hailed from the landed aris- 
tocracy of Uttar Pradesh, India's most populous state in the 
Ganges heartland and the home of all previous prime ministers, 
except Morarji Desai. A relative loner in politics, Singh had 
progressed up the Congress Party ladder as a loyal supporter of 
Indira Gandhi. After a term as Chief Minister of Uttar Pradesh, 
Singh established his reputation as Rajiv's reform-minded fi- 
nance minister. His 1985 budget marked a sharp turn away from 
traditional Congress socialism and toward a more market-ori- 
ented economy. Shifted later to the Defense Ministry, Singh ran 
afoul of Rajiv over the Bofors scandal. Dismayed by the Prime 
Minister's unwillingness to investigatembelieved by many to 
cover up his own involvement or that of people close to h i m - -  
Singh quit the government and was subsequently kicked out of 
the Congress Party. 

In foreign policy, V. P. Singh made few overall changes 
except to adopt a less domineering approach toward India's 
smaller neighbors, with the exception of Pakistan. In a sense, the 
National Front government followed a "good neighbor policy" 
rather like that of the 1977-1979 Janata government. Singh 
accelerated the withdrawal of Indian troops from the anti-insur- 
gency struggle in Sri Lanka, a costly and largely unsuccessful 
venture instituted by Rajiv Gandhi. The National Front govern- 
ment also settled the trade dispute with India's small northern 
neighbor, Nepal, in a relatively amicable fashion. Even though 
neither of these developments drew much reaction from Wash- 
ington, this was not the case when the Kashmir dispute flared up 
early in 1990, threatening war between India and Pakistan. 

The internal situation in Kashmir came to a head in Decem- 
ber 1989 as the Kashmiri dissidents switched to terrorist tactics, 
kidnapping the daughter of the Home Minister in V. P. Singh's 
newly installed government. With the dissidents, allegedly aided 
by Pakistan, stirring mass disturbances, the Kashmir govern- 
ment collapsed and New Delhi imposed direct rule. As violence 
swept the state, Indian security forces responded harshly, trig- 
gering further alienation among Kashmiris and radicalizing the 
insurgency. Support for joining Pakistan or for an independent 
Islamic Kashmir grew. As in the case of the Sikh separatist revolt 
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in the Punjab, New Delhi met violence with violence. Angered 
by its inability either to quash the trouble or to find a political 
solution to its liking, India blamed neighboring Pakistan for 
arming the dissidents in Kashmir and in the Punjab. 

A frustrated New Delhi strengthened its military forces and 
increased their readiness along the de facto Kashmir border. 
Pakistan, in turn, responded. Cross border firing, chronic in 
Kashmir, became more intense. India-Pakistan tensions rose to 
the highest level in years. In New Delhi, Prime Minister Singh 
warned the country to prepare itself for possible war with 
Pakistan. 

In Washington, with anxiety about an India-Pakistan con- 
flict growing, Under Secretary of State for Political Affairs Rob- 
err Kimmett publicly called on the two countries to avoid steps 
"which could lead events to spin dangerously out of control." ,3 
The United States was worried not just about a possible fourth 
conventional arms war between India and Pakistan, but about 
the possibility that the conflict might escalate into a nuclear 
confrontation. Although India had tested its nuclear capability 
only once, it was assumed that, in the intervening fifteen years 
since the 1974 implosion, New Delhi had developed a weapons 
capability. Similarly, observers believed that Pakistan's secret 
nuclear development program had advanced to the point where 
Islamabad could assemble a nuclear device for use against India. 

As tensions continued to increase, President Bush sent his 
deputy National Security adviser, Robert Gates, and Assistant 
Secretary of State John Kelly to South Asia to urge caution on 
India and Pakistan. Arguing against resort to force and propos- 
ing confidence-building measures, Gates warned leaders of both 
countries that relations with the United States would suffer 
badly if they went to war. TM After Gates visited New Delhi and 
Islamabadmand Moscow and Beijing also urged cautionmthe 
threat of a third India-Pakistan conflict over Kashmir receded. 
The two countries lowered their guards and agreed to initiate 
talks regarding confidence-building measures, hot lines, ad- 
vanced warning on troop movements, and other ways of avert- 
ing conflict through mutual mispereeptions. 

Despite skepticism within the US government about its 
ability to resolve the underlying India-Pakistan conflict, the risk 
of nuclear confrontation impelled Washington to involve itself 



434 ESTRANGED DEMOCRACIES 

more directly in subcontinental tensions than it had for many 
years. The development of a nuclear capability which provided 
Pakistan with a way to balance India's overwhelming conven- 
tional arms superiority also meant that the threat of mass de- 
struction from a nuclear exchange lay over the subcontinent. 
The 1990 crisis was, thus, qualitatively different from the sub- 
continent's previous confrontations. 

India's willingness to accept US intervention was in itself a 
marked departure from past practice. Concern about possible 
nuclear confrontation, the gradual warming bilaterally between 
India and the United States, and the emerging reality that, as the 
power of the Soviet Union faded, the United States was becom- 
ing the sole military superpower helped explain this shift in New 
Delhi's attitude. Gates and Kelly also made clear that Washing- 
ton no longer backed a UN plebiscite as the preferred way to 
solve the Kashmir dispute, but instead supported bilateral In- 
dia-Pakistan talks in accord with the 1972 Simla agreement 
between the two countries. U S  Kashmir policy thus corre- 
sponded with India's own strongly held preference for bilateral 
negotiations and was at odds with Pakistan's traditional desire 
to involve outsiders in settling the dispute. The United States 
had, in fact, favored this approach ever since the 1972 Simla 
accord. Because the Kashmir dispute remained quiet until the 
1990 flare-up, the shift in the US position had attracted little 
attention. 

The Super 301 Dispute: A New Source of Friction 
Even though political relations were becoming more pro- 

ductive, a nasty trade dispute erupted shortly after George Bush 
entered the White House-- the Super 301 problem. Dissatisfied 
with the Reagan administration's handling of international 
commercial policy, the US Congress enacted tougher and more 
protectionist legislation in 1988 for dealing with trade disputes. 
Paragraph 301 of the Omnibus Trade Competitiveness Act of 
1988--known as Super 301--required the President to take 
retaliatory action against countries that restricted US commerce 
in instances where, as in the case of India, the United States was 
running a trade deficit. The volume of Indo-US trade grew 
gradually during the 1980s to reach $5.8biUion in 1989, with 
India showing a $690 million trade surplus with the United 
States in that year. Over time, the United States had emerged as 
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India's most important trading partner, absorbing about 18 
percent of India's exports and providing 11 percent of imports. 
India, in contrast, was a minor commercial partner for the 
United States, accounting for less than 1 percent of total 
US trade. 

In June 1989, when the Bush White House issued the first 
Super 301 watch list, Japan, India, and Brazil were cited as trade 
offenders with three complaints about India. The first con- 
cerned India's policy toward foreign investment, which, in the 
US view, effectively excluded foreign companies by limiting 
their equity participation to 40 percent. Although the Indians 
vehemently denied the accusation, the extremely small size of 
foreign investment lent credibility to the charge. In 1989, overall 
investment from abroad was just $200 million, that of the 
United States only $37 mil l ion--a  minuscule amount for an 
economy as large as India's. 

The second complaint concerned insurance. Ever since 
New Delhi nationalized the insurance industry, including for- 
eign companies, US concerns had complained about the amount 
of compensation and the denial of access to the Indian market. 
In view of the fact that India nationalized the entire industry, 
including domestic as well as foreign insurance companies, the 
basis for a complaint of discriminatory treatment was hard to 
justify. It appeared as if Washington raised the problem mainly 
as a sop to US insurance companies. 

The third and most contentious dispute related to so-called 
intellectual property, specifically the length and character of 
certain types of patent protection, especially for pharmaceutical 
products. The US drug industry asserted that India's policy of 
limiting patents to five years, instead of twenty, and of protect- 
ing the manufacturing process rather than the actual product, 
worked unfairly against sales of American pharmaceuticals in 
the Indian market. The Indian government countered that its 
drug patent policy had important social implications, enabling 
India's vast, poor population to have access to medicines at far 
lower prices than US and other foreign pharmaceutical compa- 
nies charged.~S 

The US action to put India on the Super 301 list caused a 
stormy reaction in New Delhi. According to the Congressional 
Research Office, Washington's move "offended India's deep- 
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seated sense of economic nationalism and long-held views that 
its status as a developing country entitled it to favorable treat- 
ment by the industrialized world."~6 The fact that India, with its 
low per capita income and almost de minimis $690 million trade 
surplus, was lumped together as a trade policy sinner with 
wealthy Japan, which boasted an enormous $60 billion trade 
surplus, further incensed New Delhi. 

The upshot was that India, unlike Japan or Brazil, refused 
to negotiate or even to talk with the United States about the 
disputed policies. This stance irked US trade negotiators, al- 
ready annoyed by India's penchant for serving as a self-ap- 
pointed spokesman for the interests of the world's poorer 
countries.17 Upset by Indian tactics, US trade negotiator Carla 
Hills took a tough line in a speech to the Indo-US Joint Business 
Council in Washington in mid,April 1990. Calling Indian eco- 
nomic policy shortsighted and flawed, Hills warned that the 
United States "would not hesitate to retaliate against India" if 
Super 301 issues remained unresolved. On 27 April, Hills re-  
moved Japan and Brazil from the Super 301 watch list, leaving 
only India. As New Delhi flatly refused to talk about the issues, 
an unnamed US trade official asked, "How can you not name 
India and maintain the credibility of our law? '''8 New Delhi 
responded angrily. Rejecting trade talks, Arun Nehru, Com- 
merce Minister in the V. P. Singh government, told parliament 
that India was not going to be "intimidated or policed by any- 
body on the issue of sovereignty or economic independence." In 
a display of bipartisanship, Rajiv Gandhi's former Commerce 
Minister, Dinesh Singh, inveighed against the "sheer arrogance 
of power" of the United States.~9 Because the 1988 Act called for 
formal retaliation unless circumstances changed, serious bilat- 
eral trouble seemed imminent. 

Arriving in Washington at just this time, new Indian Am- 
bassador Abid Hussein had his hands full trying to prevent the 
Super 301 controversy from boiling over. An energetic career 
civil servant and economic specialist, Hussein was named by V. 
P. Singh to replace Karan Singh, the heir apparent to the last 
Maharajah of Kashmir and a Congress Party cabinet minister, 
whom Rajiv Gandhi appointed as India's envoy in Washington 
in 1989. Hussein quickly developed good relations with US 
trade policy officials and succeeded in convincing them that 
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talks in the framework of the multilateral Uruguay Round of 
GATT negotiations provided a basis for postponing Super 301 
penalties. Although in announcing this action, the White House 
criticized Indian trade practices, it declared retaliation "inap- 
propriate at this time given the ongoing negotiations on services 
and investments in the Uruguay Round of global trade talks. ''2° 
Hussein found US Special Trade Representative Carla Hills 
"understanding," but believed some Americans needed to real- 
ize that "'India is a place where if  you try to push in the door, the 
tendency is to push it right back. ''21 The White House decision 
cooled off the Super 301 dispute even though the underlying 
issues remained unresolved. 

One sidelight of the fracas was to highlight the tiny size of 
foreign investment in India. As bad as the figures were for 1989, 
they were worse in 1990. With political instability and rising 
violence further damaging the investment climate, foreigners 
put only a paltry $ 76 million in India. US investment shrank to a 
derisory $19 million. The only positive US investment note 
during 1990 was Indian government approval for Pepsico to 
enter the Indian market in a food processing/soft drink venture. 
Accepting the 40 percent ownership restriction, the US con- 
glomerate agreed to a joint venture with Tatas to produce and 
market its soft drink and other food products. The V. P. Singh 
government, as weak as it was, held fast against lobbying by 
domestic Indian soft drink interests, who were fearful they 
would lose market share to the better-known foreign brands. 22 

The Indian economy, both under the Congress and Na- 
tional Front governments, remained relatively closed to the 
outside world with high levels of protection for domestic indus- 
try and an investment climate that foreign business judged as 
unfriendly. The lengthy and bitter legal controversy that fol- 
lowed the tragic 1984 industrial accident at the Union Carbide 
chemical plant in Bhopal--involving vast reparations claims 
and criminal charges against US-based Carbide executives-- 
hardly reassured American investors. 

Overall Indian economic growth more than kept pace with 
the increase in population, but was far less dynamic than that of 
the "young tigers" of AsiamThailand, Malaysia, Indonesia, 
Hong Kong, Taiwan, and South Korea--or  of Communist 
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China. The large public sector industries, developed in the hey- 
day of Nehruvian socialism, continued to run large deficits, 
proving a major drag on the economy. Much of the private 
sector, working in close harness with government officials and 
politicians, enjoyed large profits from a protected and highly 
controlled domestic market. The Economist spoke of India's 
condemning itself to "the Hindu rate of growth. ''23 

In the 1950s and the 1960s, when US aid represented a 
significant portion of India's external financial help, Washing- 
ton had unsuccessfully urged a more market-oriented policy 
approach. In the 1980s and 1990s, the United States limited its 
bilateral actions to dealing with instances where it believed US 
trade interests were being harmed. In the World Bank and IMF, 
however, the United States continued to urge a more liberal 
economic policy, as did both the Bank and Fund themselves. 
Although indirect assistance through the US share of multilat- 
eral lending remained as high as $1 billion annually, the tiny 
bilateral program of $20 million placed the United States way 
down on the donor l is t - -a  far cry from the 1950s and 1960s. 

1990-1991: Indian Politics in T u r m o i l u  
Persian Gulf W a r  

Prime Minister V. P. Singh, as anticipated, had trouble 
holding his minority government together. Initially, the biggest 
problem came from the internal rivalries in his own Janata Dal. 
In an effort to strengthen his leadership position, Singh in mid- 
1990 precipitously announced acceptance of a plan-- the 
Mandal Commission Report-- to favor India's backward social 
classes, the lower castes in Hindu society, by guaranteeing them 
a larger share of government jobs. The action backfired when the 
Hindu nationalist BJP, seeing Singh's move as an effort to 
challenge its appeal to Hindu voters, launched a highly emo- 
tional campaign in northern India to strengthen overall Hindu 
consciousness against the Muslim minority. The BJP's vehicle 
was a drive to replace a mosque at Ayodhya in the state of Uttar 
Pradesh--supposedly located on the birth site of the Hindu God 
Ram--wi th  a Hindu temple. Massive demonstrations in favor 
of the demand brought the BJP leadership national attention, in 
the process heightening communal tensions between Hindus 
and Muslims. 
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When V. P. Singh tried to suppress the Ayodhya agitation, a 
BJP-Janata Dal showdown led to the collapse of Singh's govern- 
ment. After the BJP withdrew the support of its 85 members of 
parliament, V. P. Singh's own governing Janata Dal fell apart. A 
rump group of fifty deputies, led by Chandra Shekhar, was able 
to form an even shakier minority government, but could stay in 
power only at the sufferance of Rajiv Gandhi and his 195 
Congress Party deputies, the single largest group in parliament 
and arch-rivals of both the BJP and V. P. Singh. 

Originally from Bihar, Chandra Sekhar first achieved note 
in the late 1960s as a young leftist leader in the Congress Party. 
By the early 1970s, he left the Congress and became an impor- 
tant figure in the Janata Party. When V. P. Singh put together the 
Janata Dal, Chandra Shekhar served as party president. Outma- 
neuvered by Singh in the contest for the prime ministership after 
the 1989 elections, Chandra Shekhar realized his ambition a 
year later. Opposed on the right by the BJP and to the left by V.P. 
Singh's Janata Dal and their Communist allies, the new govern- 
ment was extraordinarily weak. Chandra Shekhar staggered 
from crisis to crisis through the winter, as Rajiv and the Con- 
gress sought to pull the strings without the responsibility of 
office. In March 1991, the Prime Minister finally gave up, 
calling for fresh general elections in May. 

I.ndia, thus, found itself in domestic political disarray 
throughout the Persian Gulf crisis. After the trouble began with 
Iraq's seizure of Kuwait in August 1990, the V. P. Singh govern- 
ment's first concern was the fate of nearly 200,000 Indian na- 
tionals trapped in Kuwait and Iraq. Traditionally, India and 
Iraq had friendly relations. Baghdad was a major supplier of 
petroleum, backed India on Kashmir--unlike most Arab 
statesmand, like India, had close ties with the Soviet Union. 
Foreign Minister I. K. Gujral made an early visit to Iraq to seek 
favorable treatment for early evacuation of Indian nationals. As 
part of the diplomatic effort, Gujral effusively embraced Iraqi 
dictator Saddam Hussein, provoking controversy in India and 
abroad. In the event, no special treatment was accorded Indian 
nationalsmthough the Indian Air Force performed remarkably 
in ferrying thousands of stranded indians out of the Gulf 
without mishap. 
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Despite the initial kowtowing to Saddam Hussein, India did 
not want to be seen as rewarding aggression and decided to join 
the international consensus in support of UN economic sanc- 
tions against Saddam. The fact that the Soviet Union was work- 
ing in harness with the United States in the first post-Cold War 
crisis doubtless eased India's decision, which also reflected the 
improvement of relations with Washington. 

In the fall, the V. P. Singh government took another step 
toward the United States, allowing US military aircraft on sup- 
ply runs from the Philippines to the Persian Gulf to refuel at 
Indian airports. Washington appreciated the gesture which, by 
reducing the amount of fuel the planes needed to carry, in- 
creased cargo load. 24 Since New Delhi did not publicize its 
decision, the media and most politicians were unaware that US 
military aircraft were refueling in India. 

When Chandra Shekhar replaced V. P. Singh, his govern- 
ment maintained India's support for UN action against Iraq and 
agreed to continued US refueling even after diplomatic efforts to 
resolve the crisis failed and the bombing of l raq began. Chandra 
Shekhar's basically supportive stance drew increasing criticism 
from his main bulwark, Rajiv's Congress Party, which thought 
by taking a different tack  it could bolster prospects for new 
elections anticipated in 1991. Rajiv felt restless about India's 
being on the sidelines, playing no role in the Persian Gulf crisis, 
and calculated that his party would gain at the ballot box by 
playing to a combination of nonalignment, Indian nationalism 
(i.e. opposing superpower domination), and Indian Muslim sup- 
port for Iraq. Like coreligionists elsewhere in Asia, some Mus- 
lims in India sympathized with Baghdad, especially after the air 
attacks against Iraq began in January 1991. 

Into this charged atmosphere exploded the accidental dis- 
covery by an Indian press photographer that a US military 
transport was refueling on the tarmac at Bombay airport. 25 Once 
the Indian media revealed that refueling was taking place on a 
regular basis, a political storm broke over Chandra Shekhar's 
head. With Rajiv Gandhi taking the lead, the entire Ind ian  
political spectrum, except the BJP, denounced the government's 
continuing to grant the United States refueling rights when 
bombs were raining down on Baghdad. Charging betrayal of 
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nonalignment, Gandhi threatened to withdraw Congress sup- 
port from the government. The Rajiv who stridently criticized 
US bombing attacks on Iraq in 1991 hardly sounded like the 
man that, as Prime Minister from 1984 until 1989, was eager for 
better relations with Washington. A cornered Chandra Shekhar 
had no choice but to ask the United States to end refueling stops. 
Understanding the political bind inwhich the Prime Minister 
found himself, Washington agreed quickly, seeing no advantage 
in trying to force the issue. 26 Since the war ended just a day or so 
later, the loss of refueling facilities had little impact on the US 
supply pipeline, z7 

In part as a way of expressing its thanks for the Chandra 
Shekhar government's cooperation, the United States played a 
positive role in supporting New Delhi's quest for a large emer- 
gency loan from the International Monetary Fund to meet the 
financial drain caused by the Gulf crisis. This 180-degree switch 
from the negative stance the United States took when India 
sought help from the IMF in 1981 was also facilitated by the 
Indian government's promise to undertake major economic 
reforms. The dire straits in which the Indian economy found 
itself was another factor. 28 

After India joined the UN Security Council in January 1991 
as one of the rotating, non-permanent members, New Delhi 
gained an important voice in deliberations on the Persian Gulf 
crisis. India's weak government also found itselfmlike all Secu- 
rity Council membersuunder  great pressure from the Bush 
administration to join the consensus for keeping Saddam's Iraq 
out in the cold. In a show of hardball diplomacy over Security 
Council votes, Secretary Baker announced cessation of US aid to 
Yemen, after that countryualong with Cubamsupported Iraq 
and voted against US favored resolutions. To Washington's 
annoyance, India seemed to be leaning toward Yemen and Cuba 
in its initial 1991 vote to oppose proposed reparations. 

In a more important subsequent vote on 3 April, however, 
New Delhi changed its position, dropping its opposition and 
voting for the key resolution that spelled out the groundrules for 
dealing with Iraq. This important switch in the Indian stance, 
for which the US government pressed hard, came only after a 
tough internal struggle within the by-then caretaker Chandra 
Shekhar government between those who stressed good relations 
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with the United States and others leery of doing the US bidding 
and worried about the precedent of UN infringement of Iraq's 
sovereignty. 

1991 General Elections Assassination of 
Rajiv Gandhi 

India's tenth general election since independence, and the 
second in two years, focused almost entirely on domestic issues. 
The 1991 polling was unprecedented in that three major and 
distinct political groupings were viable contenders. The fight- 
wing BJP appealed to Hindu nationalism and fundamentalism. 
V. P. Singh's center-left grouping of the Janata Dal and the 
Communists urged radical social change to help the middle and 
lower castes. Straddling the center, the once all-powerful Con- 
gress Party campaigned on a platform of stability and support 
for traditional secularism and opposition to Hindu/Muslim 
communalism. 

Foreign policy played no role in the election campaign. All 
major parties pledged to continue nonalignment; none defined 
what this meant in the post-Cold War world. Although intellec- 
tual and media circles were beginning to debate how India 
should shape its foreign policy in the changed circumstances, 
this question had no immediate spill-over politically. India's 
voters were completely absorbed in how to deal with the coun- 
try's growing economic, social, and communal problems. 

The gruesome murder of Rajiv Gandhi at a rally in a small 
town in Tamil Naadu in South India the night of the first day of 
balloting on May 21--presumably by Sri Lankan Tamil ter- 
r o r i s t s -  stunned the nation and the world. Like the assassina- 
tion of his mother Indira in 1984, Rajiv's death underscored the 
rising tide of violence and instability in India during the 1980s. 
A wave of sympathy voting, particularly in the South, in the last 
two days of the election--postponed until June--enabled the 
Congress Party to emerge as the electoral victor. Congress won 
215 seats in parliament, short of a majority but enough to form a 
government. 29 The right-wing BJP finished second, winning 115 
seats, while V. P. Singh's Janata Dal-Communist coalition 
trailed with 85 seats. Professional pundits concluded that had 
Gandhi not been assassinated, the result--like the first day's 
voting--would probably have yielded a larger swing to the BJP, 
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leaving the Congress with roughly the same number of seats it 
had in the previous parliament, just under 200. Forming a 
Congress government would have been a difficult task. 

Shaken by Rajiv's murder, the Congress Party chose as its 
leader--and hence India's new Prime Minister--P. V. 
Narasimha Rao, a respected but until then undynamic 70-year- 
old Congress veteran from Andhra Pradesh in southern India. 
The former foreign minister, who was still recovering from open 
heart surgery, paradoxically had not contested the elections and 
was planning to retire from politics. 

The new government faced as tough a series of challenges as 
any since India became independent in 1947. Prime Minister 
Rao confronted a severe financial and economic crisis, continu- 
ing unrest and violence in Kashmir, Punjab, and in the north- 
eastern state of Assam, the threat of communal disturbances in 
the populous Hindi heartland, and the need to reform a Con- 
gress Party dominated by the Gandhis and their entourage for 
two decades with no semblance of internal democracy. 

In foreign policy, the new government faced a major intel- 
lectual challenge--how to come to terms with the end of the 
Cold War and the emergence of the United States as the sole 
superpower, in effect victorious over India's longtime friend, the 
Soviet Union. Although both V. P. Singh and Chandra Shekhar 
as Prime Ministers pronounced India's intention to renew the 
Indo-Soviet Treaty, the relationship with Moscow in either eco- 
nomic or security terms was of increasingly questionable rele- 
vance. Under Rao, the treaty was quietly extended with a 
routine exchange of notes. 

For the first time since independence, India thus had to 
consider the basic assumptions of its foreign policy--not an easy 
task at any time, particularly difficult in the summer of 1991 for 
a country confronted by so many threatening domestic prob- 
lems. The remnants of the battered pro-Soviet lobby urged a 
policy of redefined nonalignment, focusing on India's role as the 
rhetorical leader of the world's poorer nations against the 
United States and other industrialized countries. The prevailing 
view rejected this approach, recommending strengthened ties 
with Washington and, at the same time, a greater effort to build 
bridges to Western Europe, Japan, and the economically suc- 
cessful nations of Southeast Asia. Yet, despite satisfaction over 
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the US freeze on arms aid to Pakistan, uneasiness still lingered 
about American policy toward South Asia. 

New Delhi was much at sea in adjusting to the new realities 
in the wake of the collapse of the familar Soviet counterweight. 
Regionally, India remained the dominant power, but relations 
with Pakistan continued to be tense and nerves frayed over the 
belief that Islamabad was fanning the flames of unrest in  Punjab 
and Kashmir. At the same time, the possibility that an armed 
showdown with Pakistanmsomething discussed more than oc- 
casionally in New Delhi political circles--might become a nu- 
clear confrontation lent a new and far greater danger to the 
India-Pakistan rivalry. 

For Washington, George Bush's first two years as president 
brought the enormous satisfaction of seeing the end of the Cold 
War and the threat posed by the Soviet Union. The United 
States emerged as the sole superpower, its ideology of demo- 
cratic capitalism victorious over Marxist communism. The suc- 
cessful conduct of the Gulf crisis was further source for 
satisfaction, even if Saddam Hussein remained in power. De- 
spite the US global success and India's economic policy shift 
toward market forces, the Bush administration showed little 
inclination for closer bilateral engagement even though Wash- 
ington wished India well in dealing with its enormous domestic 
problems. In contrast to the heavy traffic during Ronald Rea- 
gan's second term, not a single US cabinet level officer visited 
India in the first two years of the Bush presidency. Vice Presi- 
dent Dan Quayle represented the United States at the funeral of 
Rajiv Gandhi in May 1991, although that hardly counted as an 
official visit for substantive talks. The one issue that continued 
to get high-level attention in Washington was the threat of 
nuclear confrontation between India and Pakistan. 

A half century of diplomatic relations between the United 
States and India concluded in the summer of 1991, the end point 
of this history. In New Delhi, there was a desire for better 
relations with the Uni ted  States after the end of the Cold War. 
The Indian authorities seemed, however, unsure how to go 
about this and more broadly how to define India's foreign policy 
after the collapse of the Soviet Union. In the United States, there 
was a similar lack of clarity about US policy toward South Asia 
and toward India. Washington seemed unsure how it wanted to 
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relate to India in the changed global env i ronment  and where 
India fit into President Bush's "New World Order ."  Bilateral 
ties between Washington and New Delhi were thus superficially 
friendly, but considerable uncertainty lay just below the surface. 
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Chapter XII 

Concluding Thoughts 

I n  1941, India and the United States initiated diplomatic 
relations when India's Agent-General Sir Girja Shankar Bajpai 
and US Commissioner Thomas Wilson presented their letters of 
introduction to President Roosevelt and Viceroy Lord 
Linlithgow. India was already engaged in World War II at the 
behest of the Viceroy and without the consent of the Indian 
people. The United States would be at war before the year was 
over. By the end of the decade India would become free, but in 
the process lose a quarter of its population to the newly created 
state of Pakistan, with which it would fight three wars. After the 
defeat of the Axis powers, the allied wartime coalition would 
crumble and the United States would find itself engaged in a 
global struggle with the Soviet Union that lasted forty-five years. 

In this environment, a half-century of relations between 
India and the United States have been uneven on occasion 
friendly, sometimes hostile, but, more often, just estranged. 
Given their different historical, social, and economic exper- 
iences, India and the United States were almost certainly des- 
tined to adopt conflicting policies on many issues. Their 
differences, however, might not have been as jagged in the 
absence of more profound sources of friction. Why have these 
two nations, both democracies, so often found themselves at 
odds with each other in the international arena? What lies 
behind their difficulties in getting along politically? 

This history suggests that the root cause can be found in the 
clash over national security issues of major importance to each 
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country. For India, the principal stumbling block has been the 
US,Pakistan relationship. In arming and aligning itself with 
Pakistan, the entity born of the traumatic partition of British 
India, the United States linked arms with the country which 
independent India considered its principal security threat. For 
the United States, the decisive problem has been India's attitude 
toward the Soviet Union. In establishing the policy of nonalign- 
ment under Nehru, India annoyed the United States by refusing 
to agree with America's perception of the Soviet threat. Under 
Mrs. Gandhi, India went much further, establishing close secu- 
rity and political ties with Moscow, making common cause with 
the nation which the United States regarded as the major threat 
to its security and to global peace and stability. 

Given these disagreements on issues tied to national sur- 
vival and the time they lasted, it is not surprising the bilateral 
relationship between New Delhi and Washington has been so 
uneven and difficult; indeed, it is surprising the estrangement 
has not been worse. Until the mid-1960s, Indo-US policy differ- 
ences were, to some extent, offset by the perception of India's 
strategic importance as a democratic alternative to Communist 
China, and by the large-scale commitment of US resources to 
support India's economic development. Since then, the fact that 
the United States and India have shared few important security 
interests has contributed, albeit in a passive manner, to the sense 
of mutual estrangement. The two countries have had little in 
common other than their adherence to political democracy. 

Certain factors have, however, limited how far Washington 
and New Delhi have been willing to let their relationship deteri- 
orate. For India, the United States has had great economic 
importance--for two decades, from 1951 until 1971, as the 
major donor of bilateral aid and, more recently, as a result of US 
influence over the decisions of international financial institu- 
tions. The United States has become India's largest trading 
partner and an important source of investment and technol- 
ogymeven though, conversely, India has played only a minor 
role in US external commerce. Politically, also, especially after 
the signing of the Friendship and Cooperation Treaty with 
Moscow in 1971, India needed at least the semblance of a 
working relationship with the United States to lend credibility to 
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its policy of nonalignment and to avoid being tagged as a Soviet 
camp follower. 

For its part, as a global power pursuing global interests, the 
United States has needed India less than India has needed the 
United States. Ever since Washington lowered the priority ac- 
corded South Asia after the 1965 India-Pakistan war, this unbal- 
anced equation of needs has been a fact of life. The United 
States, however, has not been able to ignore New Delhi. With 
one-sixth of the globe's population, India's on-going and--de-  
spite all its domestic troublesmso far largely successful experi- 
ment in democracy has obvious relevance for the United States 
and the entire community of nations. Until the collapse of 
communism in the Soviet Union, half of the people under 
democratic rule were Indians. Its geographical location astride 
the strategic oil supply routes of the Indian Ocean and along the 
southern rim of China has reinforced India's own sense of 
national importance as heir to one of the world's great civiliza- 
tions. Growing military power has also made India a factor to be 
reckoned with as the preeminent force not only in South Asia, 
but in the Indian Ocean region at large. 

As the fifty years reviewed in this history of Indo-US rela- 
tions concluded in 1991, the global strategic environment un- 
derwent a fundamental change. Gorbachev's reforms and the 
accelerating disintegration of the Soviet Union and its version of 
Communism brought to an end the Cold War which had deci- 
sively shaped US and Indian policies. The United States 
emerged as the sole superpower, its ideology of democratic 
capitalism victorious over Marxist communism. 

US relations with India slowly improved during the 1980s, 
but a legacy of suspicion and mistrust remained. Although 
Washington wished New Delhi well in tackling its enormous 
domestic problems, the United States showed little disposition 
to rethink its relationship with India. Washington seemed un- 
ce r t a in - some  would say uninterested in - -how to fit India into 
the post-Cold War policy framework. It was almost as if the 
United States did not know what to make of India. The contin- 
ued poverty of a majority of the country's vast population of 850 
million contrasted with the rising affluence of the burgeoning 
middle classes. Unrest and terrorism in Punjab and Kashmir 
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and Hindu-Muslim communal tensions contrasted with the re- 
silience and strength of Indian democratic institutions. India's 
growing military power, the world's fourth largest army, the 
beginnings of a blue water navy, and the presumption of a 
nuclear weapons capability contrasted with an economy that 
continued to progress far more slowly than most other Asian 
countries and remained hobbled by bloated and inefficient pub- 
lic sector industries. 

If Washington lacked interest, New Delhi seemed hesitant 
as it tried to address relations with the United States in the midst 
of domestic turmoil and after the disappearance of its long-time 
anchor, the Soviet Union. Many foreign policy and security 
specialists and economists were in favor of building on the 
gradual improvement in relations with Washington during the 
1980s in order to press ahead with the development of friendlier 
ties, including expanded security cooperation. The rapid growth 
of the Indian immigrant community in the United States, num- 
bering some 850,000 in the 1990 US census--almost three times 
the 1980 count--reinforced this view. An alternate approach, 
reflected in the outburst of anti-US sentiment during the Gulf 
War, was for India to remain antagonistic to the United States. 
Washington was seen as continuing to be unfriendly, trying to 
"keep India down," and unwilling to respect India's position as 
the preeminent power in South Asia or as spokesman for the 
world's poorer nations. 

Whatever policy conclusions Washington and New Delhi 
ultimately draw, the end of the Cold War should in theory have a 
positive influence on Indo-US relations. By removing or reduc- 
ing the significance of the two principal sources of past fric- 
t i o n s - U S  arms to Pakistan and India's close ties with the 
Soviet Unionmthe  altered international environment has of- 
fered a new point of departure. Indo-US relations need no longer 
be hostage to US-Pakistan and Indo-Soviet relations. Whether 
the two countries will take advantage of this opportunity re- 
mains uncertain. The history of past estrangement has left its 
scars. Public opinion, of particular importance in the case of 
democracies such as India and the United States, poses an 
obstacle to improvement in relations. The same is true for the 
often negative attitudes among the foreign policy and national 
security establishments. 



CONCLUDING THOUGHTS  451 

Indians and Americans are each given to moralizing, yet 
suffer from having thin skins. Just as Americans need to realize 
that the voice of New Delhi is no longer Krishna Menon or 
Indira Gandhi. Indians need to realize that John Foster Dulles 
and Richard Nixon no longer direct US foreign policy. If India 
makes US-bashing a national political pastime, progress toward 
better relations will probably be impossible. If Washington func- 
tionaries continue to have an almost knee-jerk negative attitude 
of distrust toward India, it will be difficult to advance relations. 
Were those concerned with foreign policy and national security 
affairs in Washington and New Delhi to accept that their oppo- 
site numbers are not per se anti-American or anti-Indian and 
that pursuing respective national interests can bring the two 
countries closer together on many issues, a constructive rather 
than an estranged relationship may yet prove attainable. 

For Washington, the most logical policy would be to con- 
tinue along the trail begun in the late 1970s and resumed in the 
mid-1980s: to treat India as a significant Asian power with 
which the United States should seek friendly relations, including 
expanded security cooperation. India and the United States now 
have a shared interest in stability in the Indian Ocean region and 
a viable balance of power in Asia. India is large enough, and 
economically and militarily of sufficient importance, that the 
Indo-US relationship could have strategic importance in its 
own right. 

There is one essential pre-condition--and here the lessons 
of the past are transparently clear. The United States needs to 
respect India's security sensitivities and to avoid actions, in 
particular a renewal of a major arms relationship with Pakistan, 
that New Delhi finds threatening to its vital interests. India's 
apprehensions about a military threat from Pakistan--a country 
with one-eighth India's population and a greatly inferior mili- 
tary capability--may be irrational and illogical; they are, none- 
theless, real for Indians. 

In the economic area, the United States should show more 
understanding of India's enormous problems and poverty, espe- 
cially in relation to trade policy questions. Expanded commer- 
cial and economic ties, however, lie largely in India's hands. 
Unless the Indian government vigorously carries through with 
its economic reforms, genuinely modifying India's economic 
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policies to open the country to the rest of the world and to give 
greater scope for market forces, US business is unlikely to show 
much greater interest in India than it has in the past. New Delhi 
also needs to understand that investment and other commercial 
decisions are in the hands of the US private sector, with the 
government's role at best a modest one. 

For India, a better relationship with the United States re- 
quires a strengthening of the approach initiated by the Janata 
government in the late 1970s and resumed after Mrs. Gandhi's 
1982 visit to Washington. Without the double burden of the US- 
Pakistan and the Indo-Soviet relationship, the pace of improve- 
ment could quicken if encouraged by the government of India. 
But relations are unlikely to become more cooperative if India 
decides almost viscerally that opposing the United States is the 
natural state of affairs for Indian foreign policy. Related to this is 
the future of nonalignment, after the end of the Cold War more a 
slogan than a guide to policy. The prospects for improved rela- 
tions would dim should New Delhi redefine nonalignment in 
North-South termsmpositioning itself as a leader of the Third 
World in a strident struggle against the United States and the 
industrialized West. 

One of the most difficult issues before the two countries in 
the 1990s is the nuclear question. With both India and Pakistan 
now acknowledged as nuclear weapon capable countries, the 
proliferation issue and the related problem of missile capability 
are certain to remain maj or bilateral preoccupations. This devel- 
opment has made conflict-avoidance between the two antago- 
nists a key US regional security interest in South Asia. The goal 
is to avoid a crisis that could lead to nuclear war between India 
and Pakistan, and, if possible, to induce New Delhi and Is- 
lamabad to renounce nuclear weapons. The quasi-nucleariza- 
tion of the subcontinent could, indeed, mark as important a 
change in South Asia as the end of the Cold War. A nuclear 
Pakistan has, in effect, achieved strategic parity with India, 
something it could never have hoped for with conventional 
weapons. How effectively and calmly Washington and New 
Delhi deal with this difficult and dangerous problem is certain to 
have a major impact on the future course of the US-Indian 
relationship. 
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The first half century of relations between the United States 
and India, in retrospect, has been disappointing. The clash of 
interests that began during World War II when Indians and 
Americans differed on basic priorities continued through the 
more than forty years of the Cold War. The two countries found 
themselves on opposite sides of major foreign and security 
policy issues despite their common adherence to the democratic 
system. With the Cold War over, Indo-US relations could be- 
come more positive. It is uncertain, however, that the two 
governments will take advantage of this opportunity. Even 
though past problems are for the moment out of sight~ they are 
not out of mind. New Delhi and Washington need to study and 
absorb the lessons of the past five decades if India and the 
United States are to forge a more constructive relationship in the 
years ahead. 
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